
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 18 March 2020 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Committee Suite, Civic Centre, Poole BH15 2RU 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr V Slade 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr M Howell 

Cllr L Allison 
Cllr D Brown 
Cllr L Dedman 
 

Cllr A Hadley 
Cllr S Moore 
Cllr M Phipps 
 

Cllr Dr F Rice 
Cllr K Wilson 
 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend. 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 795273) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d
 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

10 March 2020 
 



 

 tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

mailto:tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 9 - 26 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
12 February 2020. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%2
0-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf  

The deadline for the submission of public questions is, Wednesday 11 
March 2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 17 
March 2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 17 
March 2020. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Community Governance Review - Throop and Holdenhurst – Final 
Recommendations 

27 - 42 

 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (Part 4) 
devolved power from the Secretary of State to principal councils to carry out 
community governance reviews and put in place or make changes to local 
community governance arrangements. 

The Council commenced a review following the receipt of a valid 
community governance petition. The Council published draft 
recommendations which were subject to public consultation.  

Cabinet is asked to consider the final recommendations of the Task and 
Finish Group and to make a recommendation to Council. 
 
 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf


 
 

 

 

7.   Wessex Fields Site Development Strategy 43 - 52 

 This report is brought before Cabinet in order to determine the next steps in 
deciding the use of the land at Wessex Fields. It follows a period of public 
consultation and a public engagement day held on 7 January 2020 where 
attendees had the opportunity to suggest uses for the land fitting all the 
essential criteria of Financially Viable, Environmentally Sustainable and 
Socially Responsible.  

The scope of the consultation was specific to the theme of use for the land 
and not to the existing road scheme. Although this was inevitably discussed 
at the event the objective was limited to generation of ideas for the land 
use, not to gauge support for road.  

This report summarises the public feedback and proposes a course of 
action that reflects this whilst securing and safeguarding the future use of 
the site. The feedback preferred development which accommodates 
healthcare, research and education themes as well as seeking to include 
key worker or affordable housing and realise the vision of the Living Lab.  

Any future development should incorporate plenty of open access green 
space to promote wellbeing and wildlife habitats, as well as improved 
controlled access to the hospital and improved transport links in all forms 
fitting the essential criteria. 
 

 

8.   Arts and Culture development in BCP Council 53 - 96 

 
The Cultural Enquiry for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has been 
published, recommending we “utilise its three themes – talent, infrastructure 
and quality of place – to mobilise a new era of partnership and co-
investment.”  

In support of the recommendations, and of the development of a Cultural 
Collective, cultural vision, cultural strategy and implementation plan, the 
Council has at the recommendation of the Deputy Leader approved an 
additional investment in arts and culture (generally abbreviated here as 
culture) of £150k in 2020/21, with an additional budget request of £320k in 
2022/23. 

The £150k will support key actions of the Corporate Strategy, the Local 
Industrial Strategy, the emerging Local Plan and Destination and Tourism 
Strategy.  

BCP Council funds six independent arts and heritage organisations to 
deliver cultural services for residents and visitors in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole. This funding enables them to deliver community-
focused activity which supports the Corporate Strategy. A three-year 
funding settlement, for these organisations, guaranteeing no reduction in 
funding, would better enable them to plan and to apply for external funding 
than recent annual settlements have allowed. 

Arts Council England’s new ten-year strategy “Let’s Create” emphasises 
the importance of wide community participation in culture and is in tune with 
our belief it embraces all aspects of creative life, from popular to high 
culture. 
 

 



 
 

 

9.   BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme 97 - 160 

 
BCP Council must bring into operation a Street Works Permit system in lieu 
of its existing noticing system.   

This report follows the Cabinet report in October and reports on the results 
of the consultation carried out with all statutory consultees, with 
recommendations of the permit conditions to be applied for the new BCP 
Council Street Works Permit Scheme, taking into consideration the 
responses received. 
 

 

10.   Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 Supplementary 
Planning Document 

161 - 266 

 To adopt the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 
Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

 

11.   Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 2020-2025 267 - 302 

 
The Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Capital Investment Strategy (Non 
-Treasury) 2019-2022 (CIS) was approved by the Shadow Authority 
Executive Committee on 12 February 2019 prior to the creation of BCP 
Council on 1 April 2019. 

The revised strategy has been updated to reflect the new Corporate 
Strategy and investment ambition of Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
(BCP) Council. 

The strategy sets out the basis by which the Council wishes to assemble 
and hold a portfolio of investments assets that reflect its values and 
priorities in order to; 

 promote the financial health of the organisation by generating a target return 
across the portfolio; 

 make a positive contribution to the current or future delivery of services, in 
terms of scope, quality or cost; 

 contribute towards a Sustainable Environment;  

 deliver socio-economic benefits to the town; and/or 

 create Dynamic Places through strategic regeneration or redevelopment 
opportunities. 

It provides a means of developing alternative sources of income to offset 
cuts to Council spending arising as a consequence of the Government’s 
austerity programme and to provide a degree of protection to frontline 
services. 

The CIS approved by the Shadow Authority referenced not only investment 
assets but other legacy authority assets which generated an income such 
as finance leases and ground rents, however these will fall within the 
business as usual estate management remit of the Council and will be 
managed in accordance with the BCP Council Corporate Asset 
Management Plan. 

The investment portfolio has therefore been realigned to consist of only the 
key assets acquired or held solely for investment purposes and includes 
legacy Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole assets and it is appropriate to 
provide an updated financial projection.  

 



 
 

 

A financial appraisal attached in Appendix B focuses on the current position 
in relation to the two largest multi-tenanted investments within the portfolio, 
Mallard Road Retail Park and Wessex Trade Centre.  
 

12.   Grass Cutting, Wildflower &  Grassland Habitat Management Policy 303 - 322 

 There are over 2,500 hectares of open space within the combined BCP 
area. Of this, a significant percentage is grassland which requires some 
form of management, depending on location, use or designation (e.g. 
highway verge, sports pitches or conservation areas) 

The type of area managed, and the method used influences a number of 
factors including the time and resources required and the sustainability of 
the operations. 

At present, there are a number of different methods used across BCP. This 
is largely influenced by the type of area being maintained, however there 
can be variations in the approach to these methods between historic 
authorities, for example, differences in the frequency of cutting highway 
verges. 

A consistent approach to grass management is required throughout 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  Financial pressures and the 
Council’s declaration of a climate and ecological emergency will require the 
development of policies and practices that recognise and address these 
factors in front line operations.  

Future policy will aim to increase biodiversity and carbon capture through 
the promotion of sustainable land management 
 

 

13.   Tackling street-based anti-social behaviour 323 - 330 

 Street-based anti-social behaviour, such as begging, street drinking and 
discarded needles, has a visible impact on the appearance of, and feelings 
of safety, in our Town Centres.  To date, there have been slightly different 
approaches to tackling these issues across the preceeding authorities. 

With the introduction of Community Safety Accredited Officers into Poole 
Town Centre there is an opportunity to harmonise our approach based on a 
balance of enforcement and support.  Using legal tools and powers where 
necessary but also through better engagement, ensuring there are referral 
pathways into support organisations.  This would require that the Council 
consults public, businesses and partners on varying the conditions of the 
Public Spaces Protection Order in Poole. 
 

 

14.   Recommendations from the Transportation Advisory Group 331 - 408 

 
This covering report asks the Cabinet to consider representations made in 
response to the advertisement of a number of Traffic Regulation Orders.  

Additionally, Cabinet is asked to approve the sealing and advertisement of 
a number of other Traffic Regulation Orders. 

The reports have been considered by the recent meeting of the 
Transportation Advisory Group. 
 

 



 
 

 

15.   Coronavirus - Update To Be 
Tabled 

 In view of the constantly changing position in relation to the Coronavirus, 
the Cabinet will receive a position statement at the meeting and may be 
requested to take urgent decisions if considered necessary. 
 

 

16.   Cabinet Forward Plan  

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

 

17.   Exclusion of Press and Public  

 In relation to the items of business appearing below, the Committee is 
asked to consider the following resolution: - 
 
‘That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraphs 1 and 2 in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act and that 
the public interest in withholding the information outweighs such interest in 
disclosing the information.’ 
 

 

18.   Kerbside Recycling Collection Service (Bournemouth) 409 - 416 

 
Household kerbside recycling collection services across Bournemouth 
conurbation have been contracted to Urbaser Ltd since April 2016. 

As part of contractual review discussions Urbaser Ltd have indicated that a 
consensual early termination of the contract is achievable.  All other waste 
collection services for BCP Council are in-house direct delivered.  

The creation of BCP Council and the need for a single revised waste 
strategy finds this to be an expedient time to review collection methodology 
across the conurbation and understand the financial implications of the 
options put forward including in-house service delivery.  
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 February 2020 at 9.30 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr V Slade – Chairman 

Cllr M Howell – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr L Allison, Cllr D Brown, Cllr L Dedman, Cllr A Hadley, 

Cllr S Moore, Cllr M Phipps, Cllr Dr F Rice and Cllr K Wilson 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr S Bartlett, Cllr P Broadhead, Cllr M Brooke, Cllr D Butler and 
Cllr J Beesley 

 
118. Declarations of Interests  

 
There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

119. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 15 January 2020 were 
confirmed and signed as a correct record. 

Voting: Unanimous 
 

120. Public Issues  
 
The Leader reported that two questions had been received and 3 
statements. 

Further to this the Leader advised that unfortunately one of the 
questionners was unable to attend the meeting and that she would be 
provided with a written response to her question. 

Question from Conor O’Luby 

The Cabinet has made numerous public statements regarding the 
destructive nature of Phase 2 of the A338-Wessex Fields Link proposals. 
Given the fact that the Council has the power to strike Phase 2 out of the 
planning application, will the Cabinet commit to doing so? 

Response by the Leader of the Council 

Thank you for your question about Phase Two of the Wessex Fields 
infrastructure.  This was first requested at the consultation event last month 
by another member of the Holdenhurst community and I have received a 
number of emails making the same request. 

I have huge sympathy for the position of people living in Holdenhurst who 
feel that without positive action this project could come forward in the 
future, as the planning consent was submitted and approved in a single 
application.  I recognise that you have accepted our assurance but that 
your concerns rest with a future council taking a different political direction. 

9

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
It is possible for the Local Planning Authority to revoke part of the planning 
consent but it is a lengthy and costly process and would be subject to public 
consultation.  There remain many individuals and groups who believe that 
the building of the flyover should go ahead and so it is inevitable that 
objections would be made. 

I have been advised that objections to the scheme would then instigate 
referral to the Secretary of State, and I do not consider there is sufficient 
benefit to the community to take these steps incurring additional work and 
costs for officers at a time when we need to create a new local plan, speed 
up the planning process and deal more robustly with cases of planning 
enforcement.    I can offer my assurance and other portfolio holders that we 
have no intention of building out the second phase of the Wessex Fields 
infrastructure. 

Statement from Conor O’Luby 

The Winter Gardens development: large numbers of trees destroyed; 
entirely car dominated; not a single affordable, let alone council, home; 
culturally destructive as evidenced by Historic England's objection; sky-high 
carbon emissions due to associated cement production. Is this what the 
Council had in mind for Bournemouth when it declared a Climate Change 
Emergency? 

Statement from Annette Brooke, Member of the Steering Group of 
Dorset Equality Group 

1. DEG welcomes BCP taking a unified approach to CIL across the 

three previous separate councils.  

2. We broadly support Option 2 which provides opportunities for bids to 

be submitted to the ‘central pot’ from community groups in wards 

with deprivation and needs but perhaps without the level of 

development experienced in more advantaged wards. 

3. However, we do feel it is important that all the processes of 

allocating CIL accord with fundamental principles of fairness, 

openness, transparency, accessibility, good community 

engagement, and strong evidence of community ownership of any 

proposed project. 

4. Selected projects should be financially sustainable, meet the highest 

environmental standards and equality principles should be applied.  

Statement from Susan Chapman 

Unfortunately the Community (item 15) is not yet motivated, educated and 
incentivised to decarbonise in time to guarantee harvests, productive soils, 
safe shelter or freedom from climate wars, migrations or civilisation's 
collapse.  The overwhelming concerns of our YouthStrike4Climate activists 
meeting this Friday, Valentine’s Day, as they beg for a safe future.    

Blue carbon problems are adding to nightmare global overheating threats 
as Future Earth warn that environmental crises could tip the planet into 
"global systemic collapse".  Clearly a safeguarding failure.  Evidently the 
many £billions funding normalised extinction behaviour lifestyles and fossil 
energy use needs robustly challenging by BCP council.  

10



– 3 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
 

121. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
Cabinet were advised that there were no additional recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board on items not otherwise included on the 
Cabinet Agenda on this occasion. 
 

122. 2020/21 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'A' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider and recommend to Council the 
proposed 2020/21 budget and council tax.  

Cabinet were advised that the budget as presented had been drafted on a 
base 3.99 per cent increase in council tax as adjusted in each of the 
predecessor areas by the application of the policy to achieve harmonisation 
from 1 April 2021 onwards. It included provision to mitigate the deficit in the 
high needs budget of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). 

The Leader outlined an amendment to recommendation ‘d’ and an 
additional recommendation at ‘gi’. The revision to recommendation ‘d’ was 
to reduce the transfer from early years funding to the high needs block to 
nil. The reduction would increase the predicted accumulated deficit on the 
Dedicated Schools Grant as at 31 March 2021 to £8.5 million. With the in-
year deficit assessed at £3million based on a £4million transfer from the 
schools block. The additional recommendation at ‘gi’ proposed a further 
£0.2million one-off contribution to the Financial Liability Reserve to bring 
the balance to £8.5million as at the 31 March 2021. This had been 
identified as £0.2million of principle repayments on assumed acquisitions 
were not due to commence until the 2021/22 financial year. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board outlined its 
recommendation to request that the Leader write to the Minister of 
Education to express Councillors concerns over the funding formula applied 
to BCP giving rise to the pressure on the Dedicated Schools Grant and the 
growing deficit to the High Needs Block. The Leader confirmed that the 
local MPs had already been written to on this subject and she confirmed 
she would also write to the Secretary of State for Education. The Chairman 
and Leader of the Conservative Group advised that they would like to co-
sign the letter and this was welcomed.  

Cabinet members welcomed the work in each of their portfolio areas that 
had been undertaken to produce a balanced budget which also delivered 
on the Council’s priorities and harmonised Council Tax in the authority 
more quickly than that proposed by the Shadow Authority. The Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Finance thanked the Chief Financial Officer and all of 
the finance staff for their support in production of the budget, a process 
which had been underway since July 2019 and noted that the process for 
setting the following year’s budget would be starting soon.   

11



– 4 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

1) a recorded vote be undertaken in relation to the following items as 
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendments) Regulations 2014 which came into force on the 25 
February 2014; 

a) A net budget of £283m, resulting in a total Council Tax Requirement of 
£217.1m, is set for 2020/21 based on the settlement figures published 
by Government in December 2019. This is based upon: 

i. an increase in council tax in 2020/21 which means that the BCP 
Unitary Charge will not increase above 3.99 per cent for any 
residents and individual resident charges are determined in line 
with the approved council tax harmonisation strategy as set out in 
Appendix 1a and summarised as; 

1. Bournemouth’s BCP Unitary charge council tax being an 

increase of 3.84 per cent over that levied in 2019/20. 

2. Christchurch’s BCP Unitary charge Council Tax being a 

reduction of 3.55 per cent over that levied in 2019/20.  

3. Poole’s BCP Unitary charge Council Tax being an increase of 

3.83 per cent over that levied in 2019/20. 

These increases can be compared to the 3.99 per cent maximum 
permitted increase for 2020/21 and recognises that the Government 
continue to promote council tax increases via the social care 
precept as a funding mechanism for Social Care. 

ii. the key assumptions and provisions made in the budget as 
proposed, set out in paragraph 39 to 55 of the associated report; 

iii. the allocations to service areas in the budget as proposed and as 
set out in Appendix 2a of the associated report; 

iv. the Capital Investment Programme (CIP) as set out in paragraphs 
93 to 109 and Appendix 4 of the associated report; 

v. the use and level of all reserves to be held by the Council further to 
the advice of the Chief Finance Officer as set out in paragraphs 109 
to 121 and Appendix 3 to this report; 

vi. Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) and prudential indicators as 
set out in paragraphs 122 to 126 and Appendix 5; 

vii. the Chief Officers’ Pay Policy Statement for consideration and 
approval by the council in accordance with the provisions of the 
Localism Act 2011 as set out in paragraphs 128 to 129 and 
Appendix 7 of the associated report; 

viii. that councillor allowances for 2020/21 will be increased in line with 
the national salary award as discussed in paragraphs 130 to 132 of 
the associated report; 

b) the flexible use of capital receipts strategy to deliver significant 
resources towards the BCP Council transformation programme as set 
out in paragraphs 62 to 73 of the report be approved; 

c) a £2 million 2020/21 Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO) to 
provide a minimum level of annual investment in the capital 
programme be approved;  

12



– 5 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
d) it approves to support the high needs block of the DSG by a £4 million 

(1.9 per cent) transfer from the schools block, and a nil transfer of 
early years funding; 

e) a £1.2 million contribution to a Financial Liability Earmarked Reserve 
to be approved to provide a sustainable funding source to help 
mitigate the estimated 2020/21 deficit on the High Needs Block of the 
DSG; 

f) the allocation of reserves received from the disaggregation of the 
balance sheet of Dorset County Council with the residual Financial 
Planning Earmarked Reserve be approved to further support the 
Financial Liability Reserve; 

g) it notes the intention, that should the Government agree to provide a 
specific grant to cover the accumulated deficit on the High Needs 
Block of the DSG, to redirect the Financial Liability Reserve to further 
support the Councils corporate priorities including transformation; 

gi) a further £0.2m contribution to a Financial Liability Earmarked Reserve 
by a further one-off contribution to the reserve in 2020/21 be approved; 
and 

h)      that the Chief Finance Officer provides council with a schedule setting 
out the rate of council tax for each category of dwelling further to 
councillors consideration of the decision required in respect of (a) 
above and after taking account of the precepts to be levied by the local 
Police and Fire Authorities, Neighbourhood, Town and Parish 
Councils, and Chartered Trustees once these have been determined 
prior to the Authority meeting on the 18 February 2020. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Finance 
 

123. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Schools and Early Years Funding 
Formulae 2020/21  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
Cabinet were advised that the Council is required to set funding formulae 
for: 

 Early education and childcare for those aged 2 and 3 & 4 

 Mainstream schools for reception to year 11 
In relation to this Members were advised that consultation had taken place 
with all relevant providers, schools and the Schools Forum.  

This report and recommendations were considered by the Cabinet at the 
same time as the Medium Term Financial Plan Budget report. 

RECOMMENDED that:- 

(a) the early years formula set out in Table 2 of paragraph 21 be 
approved; 

(b) the mainstream school’s formula set out in Table 6 of Appendix 2 
of the report be approved allowing for a £4 million (1.91%) 
transfer of Schools Block funding to High Needs;  

13



– 6 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
(c) if DfE approval is given for a transfer up to only £1.8m, the local 

formula is to adopt the NFF funding values and mechanisms; 

(d) delegation of the final decision on the mainstream school’s 
formula, when all DfE decisions are known, be given to the 
Corporate Director, Children’s Services, in consultation with the 
Children’s Services Cabinet Member, taking into account the 
methodology recommended by the Schools Forum in Table 8 of 
Appendix 3 of the report; and 

(e) the Minimum Funding Guarantee for specialist providers is set at 
0 per cent to allow maximum budget flexibility.  

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Finance 
 

124. Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Report 2019-20  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were advised of the council’s performance against budget for the 
period 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

In relation to this the Portfolio Holder confirmed that savings had been 
made from each directorate. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the report contents and the projected outturn position be noted;  

(b) the reports from the Corporate Directors of Adult Social Care 
and Resources in the appendices to the report be noted; and  

(c) the forecast year end outturn positions for capital, reserves and 
Housing Revenue Account neighbourhood accounts be noted. 

RECOMMENDED that Council agree to release up to £2.7 million of the 
Financial Resilience earmarked reserves to support the 2019/20 
annual budget as detailed in paragraph 47 of the associated report. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Finance 
 

125. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Setting 2020/21  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval and recommendation was sought for the proposed budget 
for the HRA for 2020/21 and the key principles on which it based. 

Cabinet were informed that the report set out the proposals regarding the 
rents, service charges and other charges to tenants as well as the 
expenditure plans for the 2020/21 rent year. These proposals and the 

14



– 7 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
actions within the delivery plans for each neighbourhood all support the 
priorities set out in the Council’s new Corporate Strategy. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board outlined concerns raised 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Board regarding the recommendation ‘2x’ 
relating to the £2 million to be contributed from the HRA towards BCP 
Council’s transformation programme and the benefit that this would bring 
for residents. The Portfolio Holder advised that the HRA was not a separate 
fund but a ring-fenced account of certain defined transactions, relating to 
local authority housing, within the Councils General Fund. The HRA was 
governed by a statute as to what could be charged to and credited against 
the account. Including proportionate costs of a corporate nature borne by 
the Council. 

RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends that Full Council approves 
the following:- 

1. The set of key principles proposed for the HRA operating in both 
Bournemouth and Poole neighbourhoods for 2020/21 be approved 
as follows:- 

(i) Deliver strong financial management of the HRA which 
maximises the ability to collect income, gain efficiencies and 
service outstanding debt 

(ii) Ensure HRA stock is adequately and efficiently maintained 
particularly in relation to the Council’s legal obligation to 
ensure the health, safety and welfare of its tenants 

(iii) Focus on the delivery of effective housing management 
services to support successful tenancies and strong and 
sustainable communities   

(iv) Continue to secure funding opportunities to deliver 
additional social rented and affordable housing through new 
build and acquisitions 

These principles, and the actions that will be linked to them in the 
Delivery Plans, support the newly agreed themes within the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy.  

Note that these objectives are broadly stated in order of priority. As a 
landlord, it is important that debt is serviced in the first instance, 
followed by ensuring the effective and efficient maintenance and 
management of the properties and support for tenants. Subsequent 
surpluses and borrowing will then be maximised to bring forward 
additional affordable housing.  

2. That revenue budgets for 2020/21 and provisionally for 2021/22 
and 2022/23 are set using the following principles: -  

(i) That dwelling rents are increased by 2.7 per cent (CPI for 
September 2019 + 1 per cent) in line with the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
Policy statement on rents for social housing published in 
February 2019.   

15



– 8 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
(ii) That garage rental charges are increased by RPI which for 

September 2019 was 2.4 per cent across both the 
Bournemouth and Poole neighbourhoods.  

(iii) That leasehold services are charged to leaseholders in line 
with actual costs incurred.  

(iv) That the following tenant service charges are budgeted for 
based on an increase of 2.4 per cent: 

 Scooter charges (both neighbourhoods) 

 Laundry (Bournemouth neighbourhood) 

 Window cleaning (Bournemouth neighbourhood). 

And that a 2 per cent increase is applied to caretaker charges 
and a 3 per cent decrease for utility charges in the Poole 
neighbourhood.  

(v) That service charges within the Bournemouth 
neighbourhood for communal gardening and cleaning will be 
adjusted based on the cost of providing the service. The 
previously approved tenant service charge policy will 
continue to be rolled out with communal electricity charges 
applied from 1 April 2020. 

(vi) That the PHP management fee paid from the HRA is 
increased by £203,000 to reflect pay award and employer 
contribution pension increases and new annual IT licencing 
costs. 

(vii) That the bad debt provision is held at 2019/20 levels for both 
neighbourhoods - £188,000 for the Bournemouth 
neighbourhood and £197,000 for the Poole neighbourhood.  

(viii) That the depreciation budget for the Bournemouth 
neighbourhood is decreased by £65,000 and by £21,000 for 
the Poole neighbourhood.  

(ix) That HRA reserves should be maintained at a minimum level 
of 5 per cent of total expenditure. This equates to £1.103 
million for the Bournemouth neighbourhood and £803,000 for 
the Poole neighbourhood for 2020/21, totalling £1.906 million. 

(x) That a one-off contribution of £1 million from each 
neighbourhood HRA to the General Fund is proposed in 
support of the overall cost of BCP Council’s transformation 
programme to implement organisational change on the 
proviso that the HRA also benefits from the savings that are 
made because of the programme.   

3. That capital budgets for 2020/21 and provisionally for 2021/22 and 
2022/23 are set using the following principles: -  

(i) That funding totalling £4.3 million is carried forward from the 
2019/20 Bournemouth neighbourhood capital programme 
and that funding totalling £5.659 million is carried forward 
from the 2019/20 Poole neighbourhood capital programme, to 

16



– 9 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
more accurately reflect cash flow of agreed projects between 
financial years.  

(ii) That the planned maintenance programmes as set out in 
Appendix E to the associated report are agreed. 

(iii) That the major projects plan as set out in paragraphs 81 to 94 
and Appendix F to the associated report is agreed.  

(iv) That the development of Luckham Road/Charminster Close 
and the determination of the final funding arrangements 
delegated to the s151 Officer in consultation with the Cabinet 
Holders for Housing and Finance are agreed.  

(v) That final approval is provided for the development of 
temporary accommodation at Herbert Avenue to progress 
through to completion in line with the approved Business 
Case.  

4. That the Delivery Plans for each neighbourhood to support the 
key principles for the HRA and the Council’s new Corporate 
Strategy are agreed as set out in appendices G and H to the 
associated report. 

5. That further work is supported regarding the financial remodelling 
of the HRA and its two neighbourhood accounts to: - 

(i) Agree a Housing Development Strategy for new build activity to 
consolidate the way forward on issues such as the delivery 
of social rented homes and the achievement of sustainable 
new build housing with these being brought forward during 
2020.  

(ii) Review options for current stock and a refresh of the Asset 
Management Strategy to assess opportunities for delivering 
higher standards of sustainability for all existing homes. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Housing 
 

126. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought for the governance of BCP Council CIL 
receipts. Cabinet were advised that the report covered proposed 
governance for both strategic and neighbourhood portion CIL monies. 

Cabinet were further advised that the second part of the report focused on 
the CIL Neighbourhood Portion, which requires 15% to 25% of CIL to be set 
aside for local projects. Cabinet were informed that the options for this were 
to either adopt the system of collecting the Neighbourhood Portion on a 
ward basis or pooling the monies into a single pot. Whilst both options had 
merits the pooling option seemed to be a fair and equitable way of 
distributing CIL. 

17



– 10 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board outlined the 
recommendations from the Board which requested the Cabinet agree to the 
ward-based option whilst recognising the opportunity to pool resources 
should they wish to. The reasons for the Boards recommendation was that 
the neighbourhood portion should be used for the communities directly 
impacted by developments. It was also noted that many areas did not have 
community groups who could put forward bids for the monies and ward 
councillors had a good knowledge of their local areas and what was 
needed. 

A Councillor present at the meeting raised issues regarding the distinction 
between the strategic portion of the CIL and the use for local 
neighbourhoods and improvements for the whole community which were 
not necessarily strategic issues. In respect of this it was highlighted that 
previously money had been used for projects that benefited the wider 
community rather than the immediate local, in relation to this it was felt that 
these were strategic and should have been funded from the strategic fund. 
The Councillor also raised that the strategic fund should be subdivided into 
two portions when developing the IFS. In addition the Councillor addressing 
Cabinet suggested that because the Neighbourhood Forums, especially 
those with Neighbourhood plans, were statutory bodies they should be 
involved in all aspects of the development of the new policy, and that where 
they are impacted by developments in surrounding areas they should also 
be allowed to bid into the second strategic pot. The Portfolio Holder advised 
that he supported the view that Neighbourhood Forums as statutory 
planning consultants should be consulted in regards to the selection of 
projects for the Strategic CIL. 

The Cabinet were requested by another Councillor that whatever decision it 
takes is kept under review and questioned the information provided on the 
number of schemes supported within each of the legacy Councils and the 
date that this pertained to. The Portfolio Holder undertook to provide this 
information. 

Further to this Cabinet were also asked to consider a more inclusive panel 
to consider the distribution of the fund than that which was outlined in the 
report at paragraph 28. The Portfolio Holder agreed that there was a need 
for the Panel to be more inclusive. 

Cabinet members outlined their support for option 2, noting that 
neighbourhoods were not necessarily defined by wards and there were 
areas which were nil rated for CIL who wouldn’t have access to CIL despite 
developments taking place. It was also felt that there was still a strong role 
for Ward Councillors. 

The Leader requested that there should be some evaluation on what 
success looked like for use of CIL and its impact on communities. 

RECOMMENDED that:- 

(a) the Director for Growth & Infrastructure  be authorised to lead 
production of the BCP Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) by 
December 2020. The IFS will outline the allocation of strategic 
CIL proportionately across the BCP area once published; 

18



– 11 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
(b) the Director for Growth & Infrastructure  be authorised to 

commence work on a consolidated BCP Charging Schedule that 
will replace the legacy charging schedules in due course and 
will be the subject of full consultation; 

(c) the 15% neighbourhood proportion collected in the previously 
unparished areas of Christchurch is passed on to Christchurch 
Town Council and Highcliffe and Walkford Parish Council.  

(d) Option 2 as set out in this report will be introduced and will 
replace the legacy CIL Neighbourhood Portion arrangements in 
Bournemouth and Poole on 1st October 2020. The legacy 
arrangements will remain in place until they are superseded on 
1st October 2020;  

(e) delegate the set-up arrangements for the BCP CIL 
Neighbourhood Portion scheme to the Director for Growth & 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holders for 
Strategic Planning and Leisure and Communities;  

(f) that a cross party panel be established which includes the 
Portfolio Holders for Strategic Planning and Leisure and 
Communities, to consider applications to the CIL 
Neighbourhood Portion and also has input into the set up 
arrangements for the BCP CIL Neighbourhood Portion scheme, 
the infrastructure funding statement and charging schedule; and 

(g) that an automatic review of the CIL Neighbourhood Portion 
arrangements be scheduled for 12 months following its 
commencement. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning 

(Councillor M Brooke left the Cabinet meeting after this item).  
 

127. Organisational Development – Estates & Accommodation Strategy  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'F' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were advised that the principle of adopting a single council hub to 
support the future operating model and ways of working described in the 
Organisational Design Programme, had already been agreed. In relation to 
this Cabinet were informed that the report outlined the current Estates 
position and, the options for achieving a single council hub. 

It was noted that recycling one of the existing buildings was the preferred 
option. Neither of the main office accommodation in Christchurch or Poole 
was of sufficient size to accommodate the requirements of BCP Council. 

Cabinet were informed that the Overview and Scrutiny Board had 
established a working group to look into this issue. The Leader requested 
that staff were fully engaged in the process moving forward. It was noted 
that there would be a Member/ Officer working group looking at issues 

19



– 12 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
around decanting and staff concerns. Cabinet Members raised concerns 
about how the venues not identified as the main hub would be redeveloped 
and it was noted that this would be given careful consideration in future. 

Councillor Butler requested that the future of the buildings not being used 
as the main centre for the Council be opened up to public consultation. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the findings and recommendations as outlined in this Report be 
endorsed and adopted;  

(b) the refurbishment of the current Bournemouth Town Hall 
complex be adopted as the preferred model to deliver the BCP 
Council Civic Centre;  

(c) an exercise to Pre-Engage the market in order to assess and 
test the potential supplier relationship options and costs to 
support the implementation of the BCP Council Civic Centre be 
approved; 

(d) the S151 Officer be authorised to consider the potential impact 
of the costs and benefits of the BCP Council Civic Centre 
project on future versions of the BCP Council Financial 
Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan; 

(e) the Cabinet agree to receive a further paper in June 2020 setting 
out the delivery plan and funding arrangements for the BCP 
Council Civic Centre project. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
 

128. Corporate Strategy – Delivery Plans  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'G' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to approve the delivery plan and to support the 
development of a Corporate Performance Framework to provide a 
mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring accountability for delivery. 

In relation to this Cabinet were reminded that BCP Council’s Corporate 
Strategy was adopted by Council in November 2019, and that the strategy 
set out the Council’s vision, ambition and priorities, and the values which 
underpin the way the council will work as it develops and delivers its 
services.  

Further to this Cabinet were advised that the delivery plans had now been 
prepared in consultation with Cabinet Members, Members of the Directors 
Strategy Group and Council officers to show how the priorities will be 
achieved. In relation to this Cabinet were informed that these high-level 
plans explain some of the journey so far, the current and future planned 
activity under each individual objective, and how success will be monitored 
and measured. 

20



– 13 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
Cabinet were advised that delivery plans will be a key component of a 
Corporate Performance Management Framework. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the delivery plans be approved; and 

(b) the development of a Corporate Performance Framework to 
provide a mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring 
accountability for delivery be supported. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council  
 

129. Carter Expansion Project Update  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'H' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

The report updated Cabinet on the partnership arrangements that are 
proposed to enable the Carter Community School expansion project to 
progress. In addition the report recommended the financial package, 
requiring contributions from the Council and ULT, to facilitate the 
completion of the project to an acceptable standard to enable the statutory 
function of pupil place planning to be delivered. 

Cabinet were advised that the United Learning Academy had issued a 
statement in respect of the proposed financial strategy within the report 
wholly supporting the strategy. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Cabinet note that ULT have committed £379k to complete works 
to refurbish science rooms and toilet facilities; 

(b) Cabinet approve the allocation of £224k from the unallocated 
Basic Need Contingency to part fund the completion of the 
Technology Block; 

(c) Cabinet approve the application in principle to access early draw 
down of future Basic Needs capital resources from the ESFA of 
up to £0.55M to facilitate the completion funding of the 
Technology Block.  This £0.55M being part of the formulaic £4.1M 
that is due to be allocated to BCP in the financial year 2020/21; 

(d) Cabinet noted ULT will seek to identify further available capital 
resources from their annual formulaic allocation to complete 
outstanding works over the course of the next three financial 
years; 

(e) Cabinet approve the revised financial strategy for this project as 
set out at Appendix B of the report; 

(f) Cabinet agreed that a formal legal agreement be drawn up 
between the parties committing to the financial strategy and 
commitment of both parties ahead of any monies being released 
to ULT in respect of the Technology Block. 

21



– 14 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Families 
 

130. Consultation on School Admissions Arrangements 2021/22  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'I' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were advised that BCP Council is legally required to determine 
admission arrangements for the 2021/22 academic year for all maintained 
schools for which it is an admission authority and to agree co-ordinated 
admission arrangements for all admission authorities in the area. 

In relation to this Cabinet were informed that arrangements must be 
determined by BCP Council by 28 February 2020. 

Cabinet were requested to consider and approve the admission 
arrangements and coordinated admissions scheme. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the admission arrangements for maintained community and 
voluntary controlled schools in accordance with Part III, Chapter 
I, Section 89 of the 1998 School Standards and Framework Act 
and Section 1 of the School Admissions Code 2014 be approved; 
and  

(b) the Coordinated Admissions Scheme for the administration of 
the 2021/22 year in accordance with Part III, Chapter I, Section 89 
of the 1998 School Standards and Framework Act and 
paragraphs 2.20-2.22 of the School Admissions Code 2014 be 
approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Families 
 

131. BCP Children's Services  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'J' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider and approve the draft principles 
contained with Appendix 1 of the report.  

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the document outlined a range 
of initiatives, either new, in development or established, which collectively 
represent BCP’s Family Support, Early Help and Young People’s Strategic 
Framework (2020-2023) and outlines how we will deliver the ambitions 
within the BCP Corporate Strategy. 

RESOLVED that the draft principles contained within Appendix 1 of 
the report “BCP Family Support, Early Help and Young Peoples 
Services, 2020-2023” be approved. 

22



– 15 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Families 
 

132. Traffic Regulation Orders  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'K' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider representations made in response to 
the advertisement of a number of Traffic Regulation Orders. In addition 
Cabinet were requested to approve the sealing and advertisement of a 
number of other Traffic Regulation Orders. 

Cabinet were advised that the reports had been considered by the 
Transportation Advisory Group at their recent meeting, and that the minutes 
of the meeting had been appended to the report for Cabinets consideration. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in Stourbank Road as 
set out in TRO sub-report A, be approved; 

(b) that the Orders relating to Disabled Parking Bays as set out in 
TRO sub-report B, be approved; 

(c) that the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in Beresford Road 
as set out in TRO sub-report C, be approved; 

(d) that the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in Alipore Claose 
and the junction with Birchwood Road as set out in TRO sub-
report D, be approved; 

(e) that the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in Doyne Road as 
set out in TRO sub-report F, be approved; 

(f) that the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in Dunford Road 
as set out in TRO sub-report G, be approved; 

(g) that the advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders as set out in 
TRO sub-report G, be approved; and  

(h) that the advertisement of Disabled Parking Space changes as set 
out in TRO sub-report H, be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

133. Bournemouth Town Centre Vision (TCV): Winter Gardens Site  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'L' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were updated on the progress of this £150 million project and in 
relation to this were requested to consider approval of a number of 

23



– 16 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
decisions which have an impact on the ability to secure third party funding 
for the scheme. 

Cabinet were advised that approval would enable this exciting and 
reputationally important scheme to go ahead, helping to deliver high quality 
homes and increased footfall in Bournemouth Town Centre. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the amendment of the existing £3.4m loan for the purchase of the 
Exeter Road site to an “Additional Council Finance loan note” be 
approved; 

(b) the increase in the long lease term from 150 years to 250 years 
(or whatever is market appropriate) be approved; 

(c) the increase to “Advance Sum” budget to the sums set out in the 
Advances Sum’s table in the report be approved; and 

(d) a change to the “Option Execute Date” to 3 years after the date 
of planning consent be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration and Culture 
 

134. Cotlands Road and York Road Site Development Plan (SDP)  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'M' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were informed that on 20 February 2019, Bournemouth Borough 
Council’s Cabinet approved the SDP for these sites and the 
recommendations outlined clearly align to the purpose of the SDP. 

Cabinet were advised that the inclusion of the additional sites in the Option 
Agreement means that the Council can deliver a new public car park with 
sufficient capacity required to enable BDC to undertake a comprehensive 
development at the Cotlands Road site and meet the objectives of the 
Lansdowne Delivery plan. 

Further to this Cabinet were advised that the inclusion of the Additional 
Sites in the Option Agreement enables BDC to require the Council to grant 
BDC a lease of the Additional Sites (subject to certain conditions) and so to 
retain control over the development of the Additional Sites and the Cotlands 
Road Site to facilitate the development as outlined in the approved SDP. 

Cabinet were informed that the three development sites which total circa 
1ha are currently used as surface level car parks which is not an efficient 
use of land. The development proposal will consolidate and facilitate 
maintenance by the Council of the same quantum of public car parking 
provision through the Council-funded construction of a decked structure 
and release valuable land for development by BDC. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a) approves the inclusion of the two Council owned York Road car 
parks (the Additional Sites) into the Bournemouth Development 

24



– 17 – 

CABINET 
12 February 2020 

 
Company option agreement to support the redevelopment of 
Cotlands Road for the residual value detailed in the non-public 
report; 

(b) approves the development of one of the Additional Sites by the 
Bournemouth Development Company through the proposed 
delivery mechanism to provide the Council with a new public 
Multi-Storey car park at York Road; 

(c) delegates authority to the Chief Executive (and Corporate 
Property Officer) and the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture to agree the 
terms and authorise the Council to enter into; 

(i) a deed of variation to the BDC option agreement to add the 
two York Road car parks as Additional Sites; 

(ii) a development agreement for one of the Additional Sites; 

(iii) and to decide whether to implement the contract 
clarifications and/or to issue a VEAT notice and, if so, on 
what terms. 

RECOMMENDED that Council amend the Capital Programme to 
include a £10.6 million provision for the construction of a Multi Storey 
Car Park on one of the Additional Sites to be funded by prudential 
borrowing. 

Voting: Nem. Con. (1 abstention) 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration and Culture 
 

135. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 
The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.50 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

25



This page is intentionally left blank

26



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Community Governance Review - Throop and 
Holdenhurst – Final Recommendations 

Meeting date  18 March 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (Part 4) devolved power from the Secretary of State to 
principal councils to carry out community governance reviews 
and put in place or make changes to local community 
governance arrangements. 

The Council commenced a review following the receipt of a 
valid community governance petition. The Council published 
draft recommendations which were subject to public 
consultation.  

Cabinet is asked to consider the final recommendations of the 
Task and Finish Group and to make a recommendation to 
Council. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) the existing parish of Holdenhurst Village be altered 
to include the neighbouring village of Throop as 
shown on the map appended to this report; 

(b) the name of the established parish referred to in (a) 
above be Throop and Holdenhurst; 

(c) the style of the parish of Throop and Holdenhurst be 
set as a village; 

(d) the parish should have a parish council in the style of 
village council; 

(e) the name of the village council should be ‘Throop 
and Holdenhurst Village Council’; 

(f) the village council for Throop and Holdenhurst 
consist of 7 councillors; 

(g) the effective date for the establishment of the parish 
council be 1 April 2021; 

27

Agenda Item 6



(h) the elections of all parish councillors for the parish of 
Throop and Holdenhurst shall be held:- 

(i) on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 
2021; 

(ii) on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 
2027; and 

(iii) every fourth year thereafter; 

(i) a Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 
(Reorganisation of Community Governance) Order be 
prepared in accordance with the above 
recommendations and that the Order be effective 
from 1 April 2021 save for those recommendations 
relating to parish electoral arrangements which shall 
come into force on the ordinary day of election of 
councillors in 2021; 

(j) the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England be requested to make a related alteration 
order to alter the boundaries of the District Wards 
(Commons and Muscliff & Strouden Park) to be 
coterminous with the parish boundary referred to in 
recommendation (a) above; 

(k) the Director of Law and Governance be authorised to 
make all necessary reorganisation of community 
governance orders to implement the changes agreed 
by Council; 

(l) a Shadow Parish Council for Throop and Holdenhurst 
be established, comprising 7 members, with 
membership being made up of:- 

(i) 3 ward councillors for Muscliff and Strouden 
Park; 

(ii) 2 representatives of Holdenhurst village meeting; 

(iii) 2 other local representatives drawn from the lead 
petitioners. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To implement and give effect to the establishment of a new 
parish council for Throop and Holdenhurst. This follows a 
period of consultation and consideration by the Task and 
Finish Group. 

  

28



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Lewis Allison (Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure 
and Communities) 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe (Director of Resources) 

Report Authors Councillor Nigel Brooks (Chairman of the Task and Finish 
Group) 

Richard Jones (Head of Democratic Services) 

Wards  Muscliff & Strouden Park;  

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

1. The Cabinet, at its meeting on 12 July 2019, resolved to undertake a 
Community Governance Review following the receipt of a valid petition for 
the Throop and Holdenhurst area of BCP Council. A Task and Finish Group 
of five councillors was appointed to oversee the review and to make draft and 
then final recommendations. The Councillors on the Task and Finish Group 
were Councillors N Brooks (Chairman), Kelly, Kelsey, Rice and Trent. Ward 
councillors were invited to attend in an advisory capacity. 

2. Draft recommendations were approved by Council on 5 November 2019 for 
publication and consultation with interested parties. 

3. Consultation took place over a 12 weeks period between 15 November 2019 
and 7 February 2020. 

4. The Task and Finish Group have considered the representations received in 
response to the consultation and have agreed the final recommendations for 
consideration by Cabinet and subsequently full Council. 

Community Governance Review Criteria 

5. Members are reminded that a Community Governance Review offers the 
opportunity to put in place strong, clearly defined boundaries and to remove 
anomalous parish boundaries. It can consider one or more of the following:- 

(a) Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes; 

(b) The naming of parishes and the style of new parishes; 

(c) The electoral arrangements for parishes (the ordinary year of election; 
council size; the number of councillors to be elected to the council, and 
parish warding); and 

(d) Grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping 
parishes. 

29



6. The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area 
under review will be reflective of the identities and interests of the community 
in that area; and is effective and convenient. 

7. In doing so the community governance review is required to take into 
account:- 

 The impact of community governance arrangements on community 
cohesion; and 

 The size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish. 

8. The aim of the review is to consider and bring about improved community 
engagement, better local democracy and efficient, more effective and 
convenient delivery of local services and ensure electors across the area in 
question are treated equitably and fairly. 

9. These criteria were considered by the Task and Finish Group in reaching 
their recommendations. 

Constraints 

10. The Council may not alter the external boundary of BCP Council. However, 
the review may make consequential electoral arrangement recommendations 
to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) 
regarding the Electoral Wards of the Council where there is sufficient 
evidence that this would be desirable and result in more convenient electoral 
arrangements. In this instance, there is one proposed consequential 
recommendation which is set out in more detail in paragraphs 27-29 to this 
report. 

Consultation Responses - General 

11. A letter was sent to 369 addresses in the proposed Throop and Holdenhurst 
boundary area, including residential and business addresses, on Friday 
15 November. This included information about the draft recommendation 
proposals, a map of the proposed boundary and a link to further information 
and the online form on the Council’s website. Paper copies of the form were 
available from Castlepoint Library. 

12. The consultation paper and covering letter, sent to each household, outlined 
the role and status of a parish council, the typical services often provided and 
explained that parish councils charge council tax precepts to fund their 
activities. 

13. The paper clarified that it was not possible to indicate whether the parish 
would run any local services, nor what the level of council tax precept it would 
charge. It would be for the new parish council, if established, to determine 
these issues. 

14. Two news releases were sent out together with social media alerts; 
information and FAQs were available online together with all the information 
about the proposals and the first stage of initial submissions consultation. 

30



The consultation was listed in the Council’s online consultation tracker. 
Information was shared by the local Community Engagement Officer and was 
on display in Castlepoint Library. 

15. The consultation ran for 12 weeks, from Friday 15 November to Friday 
7 February 2020. 

16. There were 122 responses received to the consultation using the electronic 
or paper form with a further five written responses which supported the 
formation of the proposed parish council. 

17. A copy of the detailed response data was provided to each member of the 
Task and Finish Group for consideration and has been made available online 
as a background paper to this report. 

18. The vast majority of responses (95%) were from BCP Council area residents, 
with 74% of all respondents residing within the proposed parish boundary. 

19. Respondents were asked to indicate what they normally considered as their 
community. Respondents were able to indicate more than one community 
(for example, the respondent could indicate that they considered themselves 
to be part of Throop, as well as Bournemouth and perhaps Dorset). 

20. The table below therefore shows the overall breakdown, however, it is worth 
noting that 82% of respondents indicated that the most local community 
identity was either to Holdenhurst or Throop. 

 

Potential Candidate Interest 

21. Respondents were asked to indicate whether they would consider standing 
for election as a local councillor. This is important in ascertaining whether 
there would be sufficient candidates to fill the seats upon a new local council 
if established. 30% of respondents answering the question (36 individuals) 
indicated that they would consider standing for election as a local councillor, 

31



with a further 16% (19) indicating that they didn’t know at the time of 
responding. The remaining 55% stated that they would not stand for election 

Stage 4 Final Recommendations 

22. The following section of this report details the background information, draft 
recommendations (which were subject to consultation), a summary of 
representations received, the task and finish group conclusions and the final 
recommendations for the proposed parish. 

23. A summary of the responses received in response to the draft 
recommendations is provided together with specific comments submitted. 

Throop and Holdenhurst Review Background 

24. The consultation document advised that the petition, which triggered the 
review process, sought the creation of a new parish and parish council for 
Throop and Holdenhurst to include the unparished parts of Throop and the 
existing village parish of Holdenhurst. 

Draft Recommendations 

25. The draft recommendations approved by Council, and which were subject to 
consultation, proposed that:- 

(a) the existing parish of Holdenhurst Village be altered to include the 
neighbouring village of Throop; 

(b) the name of the established parish be Throop and Holdenhurst; 

(c) the style of the parish of Throop and Holdenhurst be set as a village; 

(d) the parish should have a parish council in the style of village council; 

(e) the name of the village council should be ‘Throop and Holdenhurst 
Village Council’; 

(f) the village council for Throop and Holdenhurst should consist of 7 
councillors; 

(g) the effective date for the establishment of the parish council be 1 April 
2021; 

(h) the elections of all parish councillors for the parish of Throop and 
Holdenhurst shall be held:- 

(i) on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2021; 

(ii) on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2027; and 

(iii) every fourth year thereafter. 

Summary of Representations Received 

26. Respondents were asked a series of questions in relation to each of the draft 
recommendations. The charts below show the overall response to each 
question asked. 

32



 

 

 

 

 

33



 

 

 

 

27. Finally, each respondent was asked, if they disagreed with any of the 
recommendations, to advise what they would recommend and why or to 
provide any other comments on the review. There were 25 comments 
received which are set out below. Any personal or identifying remarks have 
been removed. 

34



 Additional Comments From proposed 
parish area? 

1 It is disappointing that the new parish council cannot be formed 
and confirmed before April 2021. An earlier date in 2020 would be 
preferable. 

The area of Holdenhurst to Throop/Muscliff is a very sensitive 
green belt/conservation area which should be preserved for the 
benefits of all Bournemouth residents to enjoy. Decades from 
now it could be seen as a true gem which has been saved in the 
same way as the great parks of London and other large 
conurbations are viewed. 

Yes 

2 It will benefit the local area to have local people voted in as 
councillors as they will represent the community in the best 
interest to preserve and continue with the local village feel. 

Yes 

3 I believe that a Parish council would benefit everyone living in the 
area and represent the interests of all the residents. 

Yes 

4 We live in what we consider to be part of Throop (Barrowgate 
Way) and yet it appears that we are to be excluded from this 
proposed parish council. Looking at the plans it appears that the 
new parish will be stealing the green belt from outside of our 
estate, i.e., Carys Lane. It is extensively used by dog walkers and 
children playing. We have already had to fight off a travellers’ 
development, does this mean that we would be handing over the 
custodian ship of the land within 100 metres of our house to a 
council with which we have no say on?! We are in danger of 
losing our identity as part of Throop, after all more people live 
here than down near the river!! 

Expand the parish to include all of Throop, change the 
name/boundary, or scrap the expensive idea. 

No 

5 Why can’t we decide earlier? The sooner the better, why do we 
have to wait? 

Many locals will be happy to help 

Yes 

6 It would be preferable for a parish to be established 
encompassing the whole of Throop and Muscliff. - The styling of 
"Parish Council" would thus be preferable. - An initial 6 year term 
is irregular and will probably just lead to more casual vacancies 
and more time being spent on co-option. Sticking to 4 years 
would be better. 

The stage 2 recommendations seem biased in favour of the 
original petition's recommendations just because they were in the 
original petition, which is inappropriate and unfortunate since the 
whole of the Muscliff and Strouden Park Ward has been 
designated as the subject of this review. 

Unknown 

35



 Additional Comments From proposed 
parish area? 

7 The whole of Throop (Broadway Lane to Yeomans Road) should 
be included. * Six years is an excessive term and will make it 
hard to attract councillors. 

Yes 

8 The area is too small and should include the rest of Throop and 
possibly Muscliff. Six years is too long between elections 

No 

9 The parish should include all of Throop, from Yeomans Road to 
Broadway. Six years is too long and will be too long a 
commitment for new councillors unlikely to have experience of 
what being a parish councillor is like. 

Yes 

10 There is no need to merge Throop and Holdenhurst. Holdenhurst 
is quite all right as it is. Create this parish you will be creating a 
monster. If the parish were to go ahead the boundary should be 
set back to the junction of Mill Road and Careys Road 

Yes 

11 I believe that the locality of Throop & Holdenhurst Villages should 
be protected as special status as they are the last remaining rural 
conurbations within the area. This area is of historic and heritage 
importance - not just for those who reside in the vicinity but for the 
wider community. If BCP Council is serious about its 'green' 
agenda then this should be a priority to protect and enhance the 
area. 

Yes 

12 A parish council is an essential element of our democracy. Yes 

13 My daughter lives in a listed cottage in the conservation area & I 
feel a Parish Council would give local residents more of a say in 
what happens on their doorstep. The area is special & local ward 
councillors have let them down over the years. 

No 

14 I think it's a positive step for the community to have a voice in all 
things that affect its future as a village 

Yes 

15 I think this will be good for both Holdenhurst and Throop villages. 
I fully support it. 

Yes 

16 If it is possible to set up the parish and its’ council sooner and out 
of cycle with normal elections then I believe that should go ahead 
sooner 

No 

36



 Additional Comments From proposed 
parish area? 

17 It is a pity that this new village council could not be set up before 
April 2021, September 2020 would be better. 

The community council should be seen as an organisation which 
would work with Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 
recognising that we all have responsibilities to the wider 
community but would hopefully ensure the views of local 
residents are heard and local worries taken into account. 

Yes 

18 The complete boundary should be honoured and NOT breached 
for any reason! 

Yes 

19 The whole thing is a bit ridiculous, having the click elected on the 
council would make life harder for the majority of residents. 
Throop is a hamlet with the majority of houses being built in the 
last 20 years. There is already protection in place for the older 
building via listed building status. If this does go ahead the 
boundary needs to be scaled back and limited to the junction of 
Careys Road and Mill Road. 

Yes 

20 I do not feel it is necessary to merge Throop into a parish council 
with Holdenhurst. I have lived within Throop my entire life, and 
now own my own house in the area. But according to this new 
revision, I would not actually then "live" in Throop. Throop is a 
beautiful hamlet, on the suburbs of Bournemouth, but it is not a 
village. With majority of the houses built in the late 90s, the 
majority of the residents have lived there less than those who 
they now want to exclude from their "area". Throop is fine as it is 
and a parish council is not needed as I'm not sure what benefit 
there would be for the area. 

Throop is not a village, it is a small hamlet on the edge of 
Bournemouth. It is not separate from the current residential 
estates of both Throop and Muscliff, and I don't feel the 
parish/village council would be of benefit to anyone who has a 
business already within Throop as those who live in the 
immediate vicinity, (and those pushing for this council) are those 
who are very against any progress or development within the 
area. 

Yes 

21 Why 2021? Can't it be done sooner No 

22 If it becomes a parish council it should happen this year, and 
have councillors from the combined village. 

The community should have the biggest say, how things should 
be run. 

No 

23 Would need to understand what time is required to perform role. Yes 

37



 Additional Comments From proposed 
parish area? 

24 We have set up as "Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council".  It's a 
well recognised term. I think "Throop & Holdenhurst Parish 
Council" or "Holdenhurst & Throop Parish Council" would make 
much more sense to everyone and one of these names should be 
adopted. 

No 

25 "Holdenhurst and Throop" has a better rhythm than "Throop and 
Holdenhurst" 

I would support any moves which gives a stronger voice to small 
communities, and empowers them to fight developers. 

No 

 

28. In addition to the questionnaire responses, a further five written responses 
were received which supported the formation of the proposed parish council. 

29. The Council’s Head of Elections, Land Charges and Registration has also 
requested that if the Council is minded to support the draft recommendations, 
that a consequential electoral arrangement recommendation is made to the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE). 

30. The requested change relates to a property known as Wood Farm, which has 
a postal address of Holdenhurst, with vehicular access also gained from the 
Holdenhurst village. Historically this property fell within the boundary of the 
former Christchurch Borough Council despite the relationship with 
Holdenhurst, and as a consequence is within the Commons ward. At the 
present time this property is unparished, having been removed from the 
parish of Hurn during the community governance review in 2018. The draft 
recommendations propose that Wood Farm is included within the new parish 
boundary for Throop and Holdenhurst. 

31. This review provides the opportunity to resolve this anomaly by making a 
request to the LGBCE to alter the ward boundary between Commons and 
Muscliff & Strouden Park wards, effectively to become coterminous with the 
proposed parish boundary. This will not require a change to the Hurn parish 
boundary. 

Task and Finish Group – Options Appraisal 

32. The Task and Finish Group considered the responses to the consultation on 
the draft recommendations, and considered the following options:- 

(A) To do nothing or to recommend that the new arrangements are not 
pursued 

33. This option was disregarded by the Task and Finish Group. Although there 
were some representations suggesting that the establishment of new parish 
councils was not appropriate, the overwhelming response from residents was 
supportive. 

38



34. By definition a community governance review should be community led and 
informed by local community opinion. The Council is required to ensure that 
new arrangements will be effective and convenient, however, there is no 
evidence to suggest that this will not be the case from the responses 
received. 

(B) To make final recommendations with or without any amendments 

35. The Task and Finish Group was mindful of the comments and observations 
raised by respondents to the questionnaire. 

36. A number of respondents suggested that the boundary of proposed parish 
should be altered to either reduce the proposed area or extend to the south 
to include areas of Muscliff, Townsend or Strouden Park. The Task and 
Finish Group considered that the proposed draft boundary alignment 
provided a clear separation between the two distinctive character areas; 
namely, the predominant rural area to the north and the urbanised 
developments to the south. 

37. Suggestions were received regarding the name of the parish as well as the 
style (e.g., village council). In each case it was considered that whilst these 
were valid opinions, they did not outweigh the wider support of other 
respondents. If the new council, when established, wishes to change the 
name and/or style it may do so by appropriate resolution. 

38. The other key point of concern related to the implementation timeline and the 
initial election timetable. Whilst it was acknowledged that there was some 
desire to implement the changes sooner, a new local council may only be 
established on 1 April in any given year. This is because precepting 
authorities can only issue precepts for entire financial years. It is not therefore 
possible to implement the new Council before 1 April 2021. 

39. Furthermore, the proposed election timetable for an initial term of 6 years, 
returning to 4-year terms from 2027, is intended to relieve the new council of 
the burden of funding the entire cost of parish elections. When combined with 
other elections, the cost of funding those elections will be shared with BCP 
Council. In addition, evidence shows that the turnout of combined parish 
elections is significantly improved. 

40. The Task and Finish Group concluded that the majority of respondents 
agreed that a new parish should be created in Throop and Holdenhurst in 
accordance with the draft recommendations. The group felt that the 
responses showed a great sense of community and local identity in the area. 

Next Steps 

41. If the Council supports the establishment of the new parish and parish 
council, a Reorganisation Order will be made to give effect to the decision. 

42. However, further interim work will be required to determine the services, 
functions and assets, if any, for which the new council will be responsible. 
This will help inform the budget requirements and the anticipated amount 
required for the first year of operation. These elements will require a 

39



Supplementary Reorganisation Order to be drawn up by BCP Council. These 
matters will need to be resolved by 30 September 2020 to allow for the 
Supplementary Order and the consequential Council Tax calculations to be 
made. 

43. It is proposed that to progress these matters a Shadow Throop and 
Holdenhurst Parish Council is established to comprise 7 members, with 
representation drawn locally. It is suggested that the membership should be 
made up as follows:- 

 3 ward councillors for Muscliff and Strouden Park Ward; 

 2 representatives of Holdenhurst village meeting; 

 2 other local representatives drawn from the lead petitioners. 

44. Since the burden of funding the budget requirements will fall upon those 
residents within the parish boundary, it will be imperative that the Shadow 
Council engages with local residents. The Shadow Council will be required to 
identify an Interim Clerk to the Shadow Council to oversee the governance 
arrangements and record decisions. 

45. Officers of BCP Council will be required to provide support and information to 
the Shadow Council where specific services or functions are discussed to 
help inform their decisions. 

Conclusion 

46. In concluding, the Task and Finish Group supported the establishment of a 
new parish. The final recommendations for consideration by Cabinet and 
subsequently Council are set out on the first page of this report. 

Summary of financial implications 

47. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however, 
there will be a requirement for officers from various services to support the 
proposed Shadow Council determine their requirements and to drawn up 
reorganisation orders. 

48. Should any assets, functions or services transfer from BCP Council to the 
Throop and Holdenhurst Village Council, then an adjustment will need to be 
made to the BCP Council Tax through an Alternative Notional Amount.  

49. The 2020/21 Band D Council Tax for BCP Council would be notionally 
reduced by the cost of services and assets transferring, with the 
consequence that the 2021/22 actual BCP Band D Council tax would be 
reduced by this amount and the Council would also lose any Council Tax 
increase on this amount. The amount is not likely to be significant, but will not 
be known until it is agreed what services and assets will transfer and the 
adjustment will need to be agreed with the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
& Local Government. 

40



Summary of legal implications 

50. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (Part 4) 
devolved power from the Secretary of State to principal councils to carry out 
community governance reviews and put in place or make changes to local 
community governance arrangements. The Community Governance Review 
was undertaken in accordance with this Act. 

51. To implement the decisions contained in this report, the Council will be 
required to draw up Community Governance Re-organisation Orders. 

52. The Local Government Finance (New Parishes) (England) Regulations 2008 
permits councils to anticipate a precept and provides that the new parish 
council then sets the precept which must not exceed the amount specified in 
the establishment order for it. 

Summary of human resources implications 

53. There are no human resource implications arising from this report. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

54. There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 

Summary of public health implications 

55. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications 

56. There are no equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

57. It is vital that the Governance Review is undertaken in accordance with the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the 
Guidance produced by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government and the Local Government Boundary Commission for England. 

58. Failure to adhere to these could result in the Review being open to challenge 
and judicial review. 

Background papers 

Published works 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Map detailing the boundary of the proposed parish 

41



Appendix 1 

 

42



Cabinet Report 

 

Report subject  Wessex Fields Site Development Strategy 

Meeting date  18 March 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report is brought before Cabinet in order to determine the next 
steps in deciding the use of the land at Wessex Fields. It follows a 
period of public consultation and a public engagement day held on 
7 January 2020 where attendees had the opportunity to suggest 
uses for the land fitting all the essential criteria of Financially Viable, 
Environmentally Sustainable and Socially Responsible.  

The scope of the consultation was specific to the theme of use for 
the land and not to the existing road scheme. Although this was 
inevitably discussed at the event the objective was limited to 
generation of ideas for the land use, not to gauge support for road.  

This report summarises the public feedback and proposes a course 
of action that reflects this whilst securing and safeguarding the 
future use of the site. The feedback preferred development which 
accommodates health, care, research and education themes as 
well as seeking to include key worker or affordable housing and 
realise the vision of the Living Lab.  

Any future development should incorporate plenty of open access 
green space to promote wellbeing and wildlife habitats, as well as 
improved controlled access to the hospital and improved transport 
links in forms fitting the essential criteria. 

The challenge of an increasingly ageing society which requires 
longer term care, additional support and a desire to remain active 
for as long as possible is clearly evident in Dorset, where the 
population comprises 28% of over 65s, 10% more than the national 
average. This challenge is identified in the Government’s Industrial 
Strategy. The “Our Dorset” long term plan also supports this. 

 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

1. From the outcome of the consultation, the Cabinet are 

recommended to progress the three key themes broadly 

supported by the public: 

 

 Health, Care, Research and education; 

 Affordable or Keyworker Housing; 

 Realising the vision of the Living Lab. 

2. Cabinet delegates authority to the Director for Development 
in consultation with his senior officers to commission soft 
market testing to develop viable delivery options relating to 
the preferred use themes. Once completed, this will be 
reviewed by Cabinet with an estimate of a report in Autumn 
2020. 

43

Agenda Item 7



Reason for 
recommendations 

Adopting the recommendation will demonstrate the Cabinet has 
listened to the public and will ensure the development of the land 
delivers an environmentally sound and leading-edge solution, 
carried out in a manner fitting the essential criteria the Council has 
identified for the project. The recommendation is a good fit with the 
following corporate priorities: 

a. Sustainable Environment 

b. Dynamic Places  

c. Connected Communities   

d. Fulfilled Lives 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Vikki Slade, Leader  

Cllr Mark Howell, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture  

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Rachel Doe, Project Manager – Wessex Fields 

Wards  Not applicable  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. Following the decision made by Cabinet to pause the development of the A338 link 
road through the Wessex Fields employment site, a period of consultation was 
opened in order to gauge public opinion regarding how the land should or should not 
be used. The Local Plan review (currently in consultation) would enable the allocation 
of the land to be changed from employment use if required in order to accommodate 
a different use in the future, so the timing for this consultation was important.   

The consultation 

2. The consultation format was agreed with Cabinet in early October 2019. The event 
was to be of a series of workshop style sessions with 30 minutes of presentation time 
at the beginning to set out the essential criteria any new ideas should meet (to be 
financially viable, environmentally sustainable and socially responsible) and present 
the masterplan work that has been done to date. Ideas could be generated and 
expressed in a number of ways. Feedback forms allowed detailed ideas for the site 
to be drawn and a post-it wall enabled quick “sound bite” style views to be 
expressed. The first of the three sessions of the day was filmed and after the event 
the video was available online to view, with the option to submit ideas and views 
electronically.  

The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital (RBCH) were consulted in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) held between RBCH and 
the Council. The aims of the MOU include reducing congestion, encouraging 
sustainable transport, enhancing the public amenity of the wider site, and supporting 
the sustainable expansion of RBCH and the wider health and care provision to the 
population. 

The event was originally scheduled for 19 November 2019 but was delayed due to the 
timing of the Parliamentary Election and impact of the pre-election purdah period. It 
was felt important to reschedule as quickly as possible in order to retain the 
engagement which had been started by publishing the first date. The next available 

44



date to hold the event close to Wessex Fields was 7 January 2020. The consultation 
was held open for submission of ideas until the end of January 2020. 

Event promotion and engagement  

3. Utilising a variety of channels, communications activity helped to raise awareness for 
the Wessex Fields public engagement event and encouraged local residents, 
community groups and businesses to register their attendance on the 7 January 
2020. Communications activities, engagement and reach are detailed in Appendix 1. 

Feedback analysis 

4. The feedback came in three formats: 

a. Feedback forms from the day 

b. Post-it notes from the day 

c. Submissions made after the event by email 

There were 108 total attendees at the event, over three sessions. These people 
completed 37 feedback forms and 240 post-it notes. There were also 28 
submissions made subsequently before the consultation closed at the end of 
January. These delivered a number of positive themes - ideas of ways the land 
should be used, and negative or vetoed themes - ways the land should not be used. 
Specific topics within these themes have been broken down further. The full 
breakdown of the analysis can be found in Appendix 2. The feedback submissions 
are available as a background paper which includes feedback forms as well as the 
emails and submissions gathered after the event.  

 

The summary is as follows: 

 

Positive, supported idea themes: 

 

 

The top three topics within the positive themes were: 

i. Health, care, research & education uses – 15%  

ii. Keyworker or affordable housing – 13% 

iii. The “Living Lab” from the masterplan – 11% 

 

30%

26%

14%

13%

6%

6%
4%

1%

Road or transport theme

Research/health & care/further
education theme

Residential theme

Green space theme

Offices, retail and leisure theme

Cycling and walking theme

Energy theme

Other ideas

45



Negative, unsupported idea themes: 

 

The top three topics within the negative themes were: 

1. Access to Deansleigh Road or Riverside Avenue – 12% 

2. General/private housing – 11% 

3. Retail – 8% 

 

The most prevalent topics are discussed in more detail here: 

Health, Care and Research: The ideas presented to promote health, care, research 
and education plus a move towards better caring for the increasing elderly population 
proved very positive. There were a similar number of people supportive of a large, iconic 
modern building as there were against, but the activities proposed to take place within 
the Living Lab were largely supported. The existing Retired Nurses National Home 
(RNNH) was mentioned in the feedback specifically with ideas to expand, re-site or 
renew the facilities they provide. This fits with the RNNH’s own masterplan and could be 
followed up with them directly. There was support for a solution which enhances a sense 
of community, potentially a care home and self-contained apartments with 24 hour on-
site care promoting better outcomes for the elderly. There was no feedback which was 
directly unsupportive of the health, care and research theme, although there was 
feedback unsupportive of any development at all. 

Residential:  It was broadly felt that key worker or affordable housing would be a useful 
element to include, although the increased vehicles were cited as a downside by some.  
The ability for key workers to walk to work at the hospital could form part of a solution to 
this concern. Private housing schemes received no support. 

Roads and transport: The link road through to Deansleigh Road and the flyover across 
to the northbound A338 featured strongly in both the supported and not supported 
suggestions. It should be noted that more representations were made in favour of the 
road scheme (in some format) than against it. Cabinet, having reviewed the original 
scheme, decided that a connecting road to Deansleigh Road would not be progressed 
and remains unfunded. 

The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital will require a road connection to be 
built between the A338 slip road and roundabout to their site for hospital and bus use 
only.  

A number of suggestions were made to include a public transport hub (rapid transport 
was mentioned by some) or a “park and ride” location. One suggestion was that if the 
flyover was not built then a loop to bypass Cooper Dean roundabout should be created. 
This would allow traffic to pull off the southbound Cooper Dean slip road on the right, go 
directly under the existing overpass (but not around the roundabout), and up the 
northbound slip road onto the A338.  

25%

18%

18%

17%

10%

5%

3%

4% Road or transport theme

Storage/warehousing/distribution
/industrial

Residential theme

Offices,retail, call centres

Other

Living lab/iconic modern
structures

Parking

Leisure/recreation/community

46



Cycle and walking routes were a topic raised by a significant percentage, including 
improving the route across the A338 and beyond for cyclists, which will be an essential 
element of encouraging cycling in the area. Permeability within the broader Wessex 
Fields campus is currently very poor and this should be addressed in order to encourage 
walking and cycling. 

Retail and offices: There were mixed feelings regarding the use of the land for these 
purposes. Some support was shown for local shops and café’s but generally large-scale 
retail was not supported and office space was not widely supported as it was felt there 
was enough in the town centre. 

Green space: This covers a variety of ideas including returning the field to crop 
production, wild habitat, community gardening/allotments, tree planting and nature 
reserves. It was felt important that if the site undergoes development it must be 
sympathetic in design and accommodate publicly accessible green open space with 
planting specifically to encourage bees and other wildlife.  

Summary 

5. The majority feedback supported health, care and research uses within the 
development, but ensuring congestion is not made worse and the environmental 
impact is mitigated by plenty of green spaces and provision of renewable energy.  

The following uses were not supported and are therefore not proposed; 

 General / private housing 

 Large scale retail 

 Warehousing / storage 

Next steps 

6. The recommendation is for Cabinet to proactively support the prevalent themes 
gathered during the consultation and pursue a development which accommodates a 
health, care, research and education theme. After consideration of the feedback 
against the essential criteria, officers consider this to be the correct route to follow. 
The development should seek to include key worker or affordable housing and the 
vision of the Living Lab. The development should incorporate plenty of open access 
green space to promote wellbeing and wildlife habitats, as well as improved 
controlled access to the hospital and improved transport links in forms fitting the 
essential criteria. In line with the feedback from the consultation and within the 
essential criteria, the next step is for Cabinet to agree the development of a 
programme to take forward this approach. 

Cabinet is requested to authorise officers to undertake soft market testing ahead of 
developing viable delivery options to bring forward the site. This work should align to 
the recommended use and take into account the existing memorandum of 
understanding with the Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital, including the 
commitment to work together to help ease access issues at the hospital site. Options 
could include, for example, a joint venture with a preferred partner, sale of individual 
plots of land, an in-house delivery model or other delivery mechanisms. Further work 
is required with officers and stakeholders to create a realistic and achievable options 
appraisal which enables this delivery. This would be brought forward for approval 
within a timescale to be agreed with Cabinet, anticipated to be summer 2020.  

A travel plan for Wessex Fields (with scope to be determined) will be developed as 
part of the subsequent steps to these immediate actions and a recommendation to 
carry this out will be included in the same Cabinet report as the results of the soft 
market testing. 

7. The recommendation is a good fit with the following corporate priorities: 

a. Sustainable Environment – leading our communities towards a cleaner 
sustainable future that preserves our outstanding environment for 
generations to come. By taking action to control the development on 
Wessex Fields the Council can ensure the most sustainable building methods 

47



are used and a carbon neutral scheme is brought forward, with attention paid 
to providing accessible green spaces for communities and habitats for 
wildlife. 

b. Dynamic Places – supporting an innovative, successful economy in a 
great place to live, learn, work and visit. With innovation and education at 
the heart of a vision for Wessex Fields the Council can create a development 
which supports learning and research, creating opportunities for people to 
flourish. 

c. Connected Communities – empowering our communities so everyone 
feels safe, engaged and included.  The provision of a well-designed 
environment for community accessible spaces and facilities, in a location on 
the border between Bournemouth and Christchurch. 

d. Fulfilled Lives – helping people lead active, healthy and independent 
lives, adding years to life and life to years. The location adjacent to the 
Hospital and to open green spaces provides an ideal place to tackle the 
challenge of an aging society in Dorset, delivering benefits for years to come. 

Options Appraisal 

8.  

Option 1: Recommended 

Accept the recommendation to take the next steps for action. Taking this option will 
demonstrate the Cabinet have listened to the public and will ensure the development 
of the land delivers an environmentally sound and leading-edge solution, carried out 
in a manner fitting the essential criteria identified for the project. The disadvantage to 
this option is that it commits the Council to particular outcome. 

Option 2:  

Reject the recommendation to take the next steps for action. This may undermine the 
public engagement undertaken as it dismisses the majority feedback which fits the 
essential criteria and loses the opportunities the site represents to the conurbation. It 
does defer the decision regarding the use of the land so could enable a future change 
of strategy if desired. 

Option 3: 

Re-adopt the original road infrastructure plans for the land in accordance with the 
feedback from the consultation which supported this use. This goes against Cabinet’s 
previously stated position, which dismissed the use of the land for a flyover or link 
road through to Deansleigh Road. This would also not fit the essential criteria which 
have underpinned the consultation process.   

Summary of financial implications 

9. The support of external property agents will be required to undertake soft market 
testing with an appropriate level of marketing and exposure. This would be a fixed 
fee activity and is anticipated to fall into the £10-30k procurement category and will 
be funded from existing resources.  As referred to in the Cabinet report dated 
9/11/16, approval was granted for the use of borrowing to acquire approx 12 
hectares of land (5.9 hectares employment land and 6.3 hectares greenbelt land) at 
this site. Pending the proposed soft market testing, any forthcoming options which 
reflect the preferred land use and the financial offer(s) will need to be considered 
against the scheduled capital sum repayment obligations. 

Summary of legal implications 

10. The Council has the relevant powers to proceed as recommended, and the 
consultation undertaken so far in respect of the future options supports the need for 
sound and robust decision making which considers all options and takes account of 
public and stakeholder views. There are no specific legal implications arising from 
the recommended actions contained in this Report. 

48



Summary of human resources implications 

11. There is no impact on human resources at this time beyond Business as Usual. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

12. By proactively utilising the land Cabinet can ensure the essential criteria are upheld 
for future development, putting sustainability at the forefront. This is vital, in line with 
the climate emergency and also as the option to do nothing with the land was 
removed from the table before the consultation because it did not fit the essential 
criteria of Financially Viable. Deciding on a course of action at this point enables 
Council control of how the development is delivered over the coming years.  

Summary of public health implications 

13. Through the adoption of a health, care, research and education themed development 
the benefits to the local community, the BCP Council area and to the wider Dorset 
region could be huge. With an aging population in Dorset it is vital to consider how 
the elderly are treated, to allow them as much time as possible to be healthy in their 
own homes and make provision for how they can be cared for in the future. Choosing 
to continue exploring health research will bring benefits to the public health network 
and to the local economy.  

Summary of equality implications 

14. The consultation regarding the use of the land was undertaken across a number of 
channels, including a physical event, online and by post. At the event attendees 
could feedback in the form of a fully written feedback form, a drawn plan or simple 
post-it notes, with officers in attendance to assist as well. The event format was 
developed in conjunction with the BCP Council Insight Manager. This multi-channel 
approach ensured good accessibility for all, in accordance with Council policy.  Any 
future development would comply with all equality and diversity requirements, and 
indeed would aim to be an exemplar given its specific focus.  

Summary of risk assessment 

15. Should the recommended option not be taken forward there is a reputational risk to 
the Council, as the result of the consultation would be undermined. By adopting a do 
nothing approach there is the risk that in the future the Council could be forced into 
making a decision on the use of the land at a time of financial pressure. This could 
undermine the essential criteria of being environmentally sustainable and socially 
beneficial. Acting now to do something with the land mitigates that risk by moving 
towards delivery and having control of the development type. 

Background papers 

Feedback submissions from the day and made subsequently are available to read – 

stored in Sharepoint. The name of the author and an indication of any attachments to 

emails is in the “Notes” column. To view attachments the file must be downloaded 

rather than previewed. 

https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/EconomicDevelopment/ErFifZb4K7pFooGCyqaIF

BYBLBu-Wnt-X2J7RPI7r6T8NA?e=s8XWux 

 

  

49

https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/EconomicDevelopment/ErFifZb4K7pFooGCyqaIFBYBLBu-Wnt-X2J7RPI7r6T8NA?e=s8XWux
https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/EconomicDevelopment/ErFifZb4K7pFooGCyqaIFBYBLBu-Wnt-X2J7RPI7r6T8NA?e=s8XWux


Appendices   

Appendix 1 - Event promotion and engagement stats 

 
Web 
Wessex Fields web content updated with relevant information and link to event registrations. 
www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/wessexfields 
 
This web content received:  
 

 1159 page views in November 

 857 page views in December 

 1506 page views in January 
 
Media Relations 
A media release inviting the public to help shape future plans and attend the engagement 
day was issued on the 17 October 2019 on the BCP Council website and social media 
channels. It was then sent to local media, including online, print, and radio.  
 
Following the General Election announcement and the decision to postpone the event due to 
the pre-election period an update was issued to local media, resulting in further coverage for 
the new January date. Local business and stakeholder publications were also targeted. Pre-
registered attendees were contacted directly advising them of the date change and the need 
to re-register.  
 
Social Media  
Weekly social media posts (17 in total) promoted registrations for the event on LinkedIn, 
Twitter and Facebook through November and December 2019. These reached an audience 
of 216,000 through our channels with 216 clicks through to the Wessex Fields event page.  
 
Post event activity included the promotion of the consultation through January, (six posts in 
total) this includes a shortened video snapshot from the day issued on 13 January, 
encouraging people to submit their ideas. These posts have reached an audience of over 
109,000 with 202 click throughs to the Wessex Fields page. 
 
A full video of the public engagement event and presentations, including subtitles, was also 
uploaded to YouTube on the 8 January. This has been viewed 544 times to date. 
 
E-newsletters 
Regular features promoting registrations for the event and consultation were included in the 
BCP Business News e-newsletters (6111 subscribers) and Roads & Travel e-newsletters 
(4448 subscribers). 
 
Business News: 

 Issued on 31 October 2019 with 132 clicks through to registration. 

 Issued on 9 December 2019 with 21 clicks through to registration. 

Roads & Travel:  

 Issued on 11 December 2019 with 69 clicks to the event page. 

 Issued on 17 January 2019 with 50 clicks to the webpage with the ongoing 

consultation and 60 clicks to the event to the presentations video on YouTube.  

 
Town Hall screens 
Both internal staff facing and external visitor facing event promotion displayed on 
Bournemouth Town Hall screens. 
 

 

 

50

http://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/wessexfields


Appendix 2 – Feedback analysis  

 

 

 

15%

13%

11%

6%

6%4%

6%

3%

5%

2%

5%

2%

3%

2%
4%

2%

5%

1%

1%

0%

1%

0%

1%

1%

1%

1%

Categories - working clockwise

Health, care, research and education

Affordable/keyworker housing

Living Lab

Road through/around to
Deansleigh/Riverside Ave
Hospital controlled access road

Solar/green/renewable energy

Transport hub (inc rapid transport)

Park and ride

Trees/ nature reserve/natural habitats

Widen Riverside Ave

Cycle connections and footpaths

Offices inc for startups

Farmland/crop production/allotments

Hospital parking/car parking

Flyover

Health & leisure (inc outdoor)

Include green habitat in development

School

AFCB stadium

Distribution centre

Agricultural research

Agricultural tied homes

Large scale bike storage and bike retail

Local shops/retail/cafes

Symbolic construction/gateway icon

Holiday /respite homes for carers

Positive supported ideas

Key:
Blues - research/health & care/further education theme
Greys - residential theme
Orange/yellows/browns - road or transport theme
Pink - energy theme
Greens - green space theme
Purples - cycling and walking theme
Reds - offices, retail and leisure theme
Black - other ideas

51



  

 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12%

11%

8%

6%

7%

5%
5%

6%

3%

4%

4%

2%

2%

3%

3%

2%

4%

4%

3%

2%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

Categories - working clockwise

Access to Deansleigh Road/Riverside Ave

General/Private housing

Retail

Storage/Warehousing

Offices

Road schemes

Buildings

Industrial

Flyover

Iconic/sterile/modern structures

Increase flood risk

Distribution centres

Call Centres

Traffic (at peak hours)

Increased pollution

Car parks

Any type of housing

Tower blocks/high rise buildings

Leisure/recreation

Fossil fuelled vehicles

Private sector profit

Career defining schemes

Community hub

Dead end road

Living lab

Park and ride

Encroachment into green belt

Negative unsupported ideas 
 
Key: 
Blues - parking 
Greys - residential theme 
Orange/yellows/browns - road or transport theme 
Pink - Storage/warehousing/distribution/industrial 
Greens - Leisure/recreation/community 
Purples - living lab/iconic modern structures 
Reds - offices, retail, call centres 
Black - other 

52



1 
 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Arts and culture development in BCP Council 

Meeting date 18 March 2020 

Status Report 

Executive summary The Cultural Enquiry for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has 
been published, recommending we “utilise its three themes – talent, 
infrastructure and quality of place – to mobilise a new era of 
partnership and co-investment.”  

In support of the recommendations, and of the development of a 
Cultural Collective, cultural vision, cultural strategy and 
implementation plan, the Council has at the recommendation of the 
Deputy Leader approved an additional investment in arts and culture 
(generally abbreviated here as culture) of £150k in 2020/21, with an 
additional budget request of £320k in 2021/22. 

The £150k will support key actions of the Corporate Strategy, the 
Local Industrial Strategy, the emerging Local Plan and Destination 
and Tourism Strategy.  

BCP Council funds six independent arts and heritage organisations 
to deliver cultural services for residents and visitors in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole. This funding enables them to deliver 
community-focused activity which supports the Corporate Strategy. 
A three-year funding settlement, for these organisations, 
guaranteeing no reduction in funding, would better enable them to 
plan and to apply for external funding than recent annual settlements 
have allowed. 

Arts Council England’s new ten-year strategy “Let’s Create” 
emphasises the importance of wide community participation in 
culture and is in tune with our belief it embraces all aspects of 
creative life, from popular to high culture. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) Cabinet accepts the findings and recommendations of 
the Cultural Enquiry and supports their implementation; 

(b) Cabinet supports the plan to hold “A Cultural Future for 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole” conference on 
23rd March at Lighthouse Poole; 

(c) Cabinet agrees that a cultural strategy and 
implementation plan for Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole should be developed as a joint initiative of BCP 
Council and the Cultural Collective;  

(d) Cabinet agrees to openly recruit an independent chair of 
the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Cultural 
Collective (Cultural Compact) and form a multi-sector 

53

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

board and wider stakeholder group to deliver on the 
recommendations of the Cultural Enquiry; and 

(e) Cabinet agrees a three-year standstill settlement (2020-
23) for the six funded arts and heritage organisations 
operating in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To enable BCP Council, the Cultural Collective and local arts and 
heritage organisations to deliver on the recommendations of the 
Cultural Enquiry and the priorities of the Corporate Strategy.  

Portfolio Holder(s): Cllr Mark Howell, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director for Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Chris Saunders, Director of Destination and Culture 

Contributors Michael Spender, Museum and Arts Manager 

Wards All Wards 

Classification For Decision 

 

Background  

 

1. For the purposes of this report “culture” embraces all aspects of participation in and enjoyment 

of creativity and heritage. 

2. In February Arts Council England published its ten-year strategy, “Let’s Create”, which 

resonates closely with the BCP Council Corporate Strategy, with an emphasis on cultural 

democracy, communities, wellbeing, economic impact and climate emergency. The strategy’s 

vision is that “By 2030, we want England to be a country in which the creativity of each of us is 

valued and given the chance to flourish, and where every one of us has access to a 

remarkable range of high-quality cultural experiences.” The objective is that “By 2030, we 

envisage a country transformed by its culture and at the same time transforming it: a truly 

creative nation in which every one of us can take part”.  

3. The value and potential of culture to tourism, place-making and wellbeing is hard to overstate. 

Visit England has recognised that culture is a principal driver for tourism. In December 2019 an 

authoritative article published in the BMJ stated that based on a longitudinal study of a cohort 

of 6,710 community dwelling adults aged 50 years and older, people who engaged with 

receptive arts activities on a frequent basis (every few months or more) had a 31% lower risk of 

dying. 

4. The 2019 Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Cultural Enquiry, which was the first major 

BCP external appraisal, identifies three major priorities for ambitious development and 

investment: 

4.1. Culture and talent: embracing creative education, building a creative workforce, 

championing diverse cultural expressions, and enabling people of all backgrounds to 

actively participate in the cultural life of their communities and the conurbation. 

54



3 
 

4.2. Cultural infrastructure: with a commitment to building cultural capacity, leveraging the 

excellence of existing hubs, venues and organisations, and boosting BCP as a place that 

produces and hosts great art and culture of international significance. 

4.3. Culture and place: embedding culture as a tool for planning, with a focus on nurturing 

distinctive neighbourhoods, dynamic town centres, accessible and imaginative public 

realm, urban mobility, and an attention to social cohesion, health and wellbeing and 

environmental sustainability. 

5. As a result of BCP Council’s commitment to the Cultural Enquiry we successfully applied to 

Arts Council England to set up a Cultural Compact (Cultural Collective is the preferred name). 

The Compact firmly places Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole at the forefront of cities and 

regions acknowledged  by government and agencies as leading the way in recognising and 

using culture as a key force in driving cross-cutting change, development and investment. 

6. Compacts were initiated by the 2019 DCMS Cultural Cities report and are supported by Arts 

Council England, Core Cities UK and the Key Cities Group (of which BCP is a member). They 

are inclusive cross-sector cultural collectives focusing on place-making and cultural planning, 

diversity, health and wellbeing, destination and tourism, productivity, local plans and local 

industrial strategies. They are platforms for government, multi-agency and private investment.  

7. The Cultural Collective will be a feature of the conference at Lighthouse Poole on 23rd March, 

where the outputs of the Cultural Enquiry will be discussed, starting to shape them into a 

cultural vision, cultural strategy and implementation plan and investment plan which will be 

delivered by the Collective and BCP Council. An ambition might be to bid to be UK City of 

Culture in 2033.  

8. It is proposed to openly recruit an independent chair of the Cultural Collective, with profile in 

and potentially beyond Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. An agile, diverse and 

empowered Collective board will be formed, reflecting key stakeholder interests and funding 

potential. The structure and governance of the Cultural Collective is being considered by the 

Cultural Enquiry Steering Group on 6th March. 

9. The agreed additional culture funding of £150k in 2020/21 will support the Collective board in 

developing a cultural vision, strategy and plan through recruitment of two officers. The arts and 

culture team will increase from 2.6 FTE to 4.6 FTE during the year, enabling it to implement 

key actions of the Corporate Strategy. The aim will also be to leverage in additional external 

funding in support of culture and cross-cutting objectives. 

10. The 2021/22 funding will be stretched thinly, and in order to support a substantive working 

budget, increased festival support, infrastructure feasibility funding and the community arts 

engagement, prizes and funding proposed by the Deputy Leader, there will be an additional 

budget request of £320k in 2021/22. 

11. Once the Cultural Collective is fully established and generating enough funds, the aim will be to 

remove some of the additional funding commitment from the Council. The Arts Council has, 

however, been clear that investment in the cultural development of Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole needs to be supported by investment from BCP Council.  

12. In 2019/20 investment in BCP Council cultural services (principally museums) was 

approximately £1.14m, and £1.08m in external arts and heritage organisations to enable them 

to deliver cultural, learning and participation services for communities, residents and visitors. 

By comparison Arts Council England invested £18.25m in arts and heritage organisations that 

operate in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  

55



4 
 

13. The £2.22m 2019/20 BCP Council budget (approximately 0.3% of the total budget) represents 

a spend of £5.79 per resident. This is small in relation to other authorities of the size and 

ambition of BCP Council. The benchmarking data (which excludes theatres) shows that 

Manchester spends £18.76 per resident, Leeds £17.33, Hull £16.56, Bristol £14.53, 

Portsmouth £13.33 and Exeter £11.22. BCP Council comes 56th in the table of local 

authorities’ expenditure on culture, which is a low position for the 12th largest authority in the 

country. 

14. The externally grant-funded Arts and Culture organisations are listed below, with the 2019/20 

BCP Council revenue funding allocations, and 2019/20 Arts Council England (ACE) revenue or 

project grant funding.  

Organisation BCP Council Arts Council 

Lighthouse Poole (Poole Arts Trust) £431,000 £342,213 

Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra (BSO) £273,720 £2,554,790 

Pavilion Dance South West (PDSW)* £264,000 £386,216 

Red House Museum (Hampshire Cultural Trust) £100,000  

Activate Performing Arts (Inside Out Dorset) £8,000 £251,422 

Audacious (Light Up Poole) £8,000 £80,000 

Total £1,084,720 £3,614,641 

*Includes £150,000 grant to BH Live for operating costs of the PDSW building. 

15. In recent years Lighthouse and BSO have received consistent grant reductions from the 

Borough of Poole. For example, Lighthouse’s grant has reduced from £544,000 in 2013/14 to 

£431,000 in 2019/20. PDSW’s direct £114,000 grant presently tapers at a rate of 5% a year to 

2021/22, as confirmed in a letter to them of 20th June 2019. The £150,000 grant to BH Live for 

operating costs of the PDSW building does not taper. It is recommended that the PDSW taper 

is halted for the next three years. Activate’s grant has remained static in recent years and the 

grant to Audacious was new in 2019/20.  

16. Activate and Audacious have been awarded £5,000 additional funding each from the new 

2020/21 £150k investment and Folk on the Quay, which otherwise could not have been staged 

in 2020, has been awarded £3,000.    

17. To help these organisations plan better and to give them certainty of Council funding to use as 

match funding in their National Portfolio Organisation grant applications in 2021 for 2022/33, a 

three-year standstill funding settlement is recommended. Consistent Service Level Agreements 

will be arranged with the six organisations, making clear their expected contribution to 

Corporate Strategy objectives that the Council’s grants enable. 

18. Arts Council England has written the following to BCP Council 

18.1. Arts Council recognises the strong and consistent support BCP has given to art and 

culture in previous years. As well as past investment, BCP has taken an active role 

exploring economically-sustainable opportunities for the future through the Cultural Enquiry 

and Cultural Compact. Close partnership work between BCP and Arts Council has been 

vital to the thriving of culture in the area, evidenced by the strong portfolio of organisations 

and activity.  

56



5 
 

18.2. Arts Council will keep investing where local authorities continue to invest. What we 

can’t and won’t do is step in and increase funding to make up for reductions in local 

authority funding. 

18.3. Our current level of investment in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole is linked to 

the investment of BCP Council. We are likely to open our next NPO funding round in 

autumn 2020. This is when we decide which organisations will be funded in the next 

investment period, which is likely to run from 2022, for three or four years. 

18.4. The Cultural Compact, which is the delivery mechanism for the outcomes of the 

Cultural Enquiry, is envisaged as a step change in Culture for towns and cities.  

Summary of financial implications  

The MTFP implications are an additional spend of £150k in 2020/21, and an additional budget 

request of £320k in 2021/22.  

Any proposed additional budget allocation in future years will be subject to the 2021/22 budget and 
Council Tax setting process. 

Summary of legal implications  

With legal support, new, consistent SLAs with arts and heritage organisations will be agreed, 

clearly identifying performance measures supporting the Corporate Strategy.   

Summary of human resources implications  

None, except recruitment. 

Summary of environmental impact  

Organisations to which grants are made will be required to meet environmental performance 

measures. The Arts Council’s ten-year strategy and the creative sector in general, are committed 

to addressing the climate emergency. 

Summary of public health implications  

Increased cultural activity demonstrably leads to a healthier, happier place, and health and 

wellbeing will be positively impacted. Increased investment will include a wellbeing fund for arts 

and heritage groups that directly support health and wellbeing. The six funded organisations all 

deliver activity targeting health and well being and this programming will be enhanced by certainty 

of funding through a three-year settlement. 

Summary of equality implications  

Culture embraces not just the “high” arts, but all aspects of participation and enjoyment of creativity 

and heritage, from cinema to choirs, pop to pantomime, historical walks to hysterical comedy, and 

the resulting social, community, health and economic benefits.  

The Arts Council’s strategy makes it clear that the organisation supports the widest possible 

participation in culture, seeking to address diversity, deprivation, isolation and health agendas. The 

Cultural Collective will also work to these agendas. 

Through the Collective and delivery of a cultural strategy and plan there is an opportunity to better 

support, connect and promote all aspects of broader culture, bringing more vibrant creative activity 

to the mass market and people across the equalities spectrum. 

57



6 
 

Through stable three-year funding of arts and heritage organisations, and related SLAs, the 

Council will be better able to ensure funded organisations deliver on the Council’s equalities 

priorities. 

Summary of risk assessment  

There are reputational and financial risks that if additional investment in culture is not made the 

Council will fail to deliver on the recommendations of the Cultural Enquiry.  

The Arts Council has linked its investment in BCP Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and 

Poole cultural activity to the level of financial support by BCP Council and there is a risk that this 

investment will reduce if the Council can not match its aspirations with funding. 

If grant-funded Arts and heritage organisations have stable three-year settlements their 

sustainability will be less at risk. 

There is a risk that if in the short term it employs staff the Cultural Collective will become an 

expensive organisation for the Council to service, so at this stage this is not envisaged. 

Background papers  

Template responses from funded arts and heritage organisations, making their case for support, 
and SLAs with organisations, are all available on request. 

Appendices  

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Cultural Enquiry. 
 
Cultural Enquiry Appendix 1: Benchmark Examples given during the Cultural Enquiry. 

58



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

1

 
Bournemouth 
Christchurch 
Poole 
Cultural Enquiry 
 
 
 
 
 
 

59



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

2

 

Contents 
1. Introduction. Page 3. 
2. The Cultural Enquiry Journey. Page 9. 
3. Culture in Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole. Page 13. 
4. A Whole Place Approach. Page 21. 
5. Onwards and Upwards. What Happens 

Next? Page 29.  

  

60



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

3

FOREWORD  
By the Partnership 
 
 

 
 

 

 
  

Luke Jerram’s Museum of the Moon. This extraordinary installation was 
presented in St Peter’s Church in 2019. It was the headline installation of 

Dorset Moon – a project produced in consortium by three Dorset festivals - 
Inside Out Dorset (run by Activate), Arts by the Sea and bSide Festivals. 
The St Peter’s Church event was produced by the Arts by the Sea festival 

(Sherbourne Abbey by Activate and Nothe Fort by bSide). through the 
work of Activate Performing Arts and commissioned by the Arts 

Development Company. 
 

61



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

4

1. Introduction 
 
The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Cultural Enquiry, which 
took place throughout 2019, is the first ‘whole place’ process of 
review, engagement and visioning for culture of any new local 
authority in the UK. The Cultural Enquiry was established at the 
same time as the UK’s newest city region came into being, 
recognising the long-term commitment that each of the three 
councils has made to culture and the realisation that it will be 
central to the future success of the new unitary authority of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP). 
 
Darren Henley, Chief Executive of Arts Council England, clearly set 
out the challenge and opportunity for partners across BCP at the 
launch of the Cultural Enquiry in February 2019: 
 
“Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole councils have an 
exceptional track record of investing in art and culture, which 
can be seen through the superb range of creative work 
produced in the region. The local government reorganisation 
presents a unique chance for culture to be put at the heart of 
this coastal region’s strategy and further develop its sense of 
place. We’re proud to be supporting this long-term vision for 
the new unitary authority and we look forward to seeing the 
recommendations made for the future prosperity of BCP.” 
 
The Cultural Enquiry was founded by an ambitious new consortium 
of partners – the then three councils (now BCP Council), Arts 
Council England, Arts University Bournemouth, Bournemouth 

 
1 And they commissioned Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy to deliver it: 

www.tfconsultancy.co.uk 

University, Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra, The Lighthouse and 
Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership. These partners were 
represented at the Board which oversaw the Cultural Enquiry1. A 
wider partnership of cultural and education organisations, 
enterprises and charities, networks and individuals, also contributed 
to the Enquiry governance model as the Cultural Enquiry advisors. 
 
The Cultural Enquiry was initiated to shape a shared ambition and 
collective opportunity for BCP as a place of culture. Together, the 
three main centres – Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole – have 
an incredibly rich, diverse, engaging and distinctive cultural offer. 
With their many neighbourhoods and districts; parks and gardens; 
heritage assets and contemporary cultural venues, hubs and 
programmes; and with the beach and coastline that joins them 
together; the towns of BCP contribute toward a conurbation of 
culture of a scale comparable to Bristol. 
 
Yet historically, the collective cultural offer has not been 
coordinated to deliver a ‘whole place’ or conurbation-wide approach 
to cultural planning, partnership and investment. Arts Council 
England (ACE) investment in Bristol is 3.6 times more than in BCP 
(2016-19). This is in the most part due to a relative lack of 
applications for project and strategic funding from BCP – 
symptomatic of a capacity issue which is limiting the demand for 
funding. With the new unitary authority comes a new opportunity: to 
re-imagine a conurbation-wide cultural offer, to build something 
bigger and better, to grow capacity and demand, to catalyse new 
organisations which could one day become national portfolio 
organisations for ACE, and thus for culture to be impactful across a 
range of strategic agendas – from health and wellbeing to the 
economy.  

62



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

5

 
 

Parameters of the Cultural Enquiry 
The Cultural Enquiry does not operate as a standard ‘cultural 
strategy’ where a process of baseline mapping is followed by a 
range of consultation exercises, which form a set of priorities and 
actions. Rather, the Cultural Enquiry is a programme of active 
engagement on the role of and values for culture in BCP. It has 
involved a facilitated journey of events which were set up to 
provoke discussion on the relative qualities of culture in BCP, the 
range of distinctive assets, the set of particular challenges, and the 
aspirations and ideas for culture to play a central role in place-
making for the next generation.  
 
Vitally, the Cultural Enquiry has explored, with over 1,000 people, 
what culture means for them. Through a programme of events, 
workshops and interviews; and via social media and formal written 
submissions; the Cultural Enquiry has solicited a multitude of 
perspectives on the role of culture in BCP; and it has sought to 
grasp how partners can ensure culture plays a starring role in the 
future.  
 
To inspire, provoke and listen, the Cultural Enquiry has brought a 
portfolio of cultural experts from across Europe to BCP. This has 
included leading thinkers on the role of culture for cities and some 
eminent professionals who have successfully led processes of 
culture-led change and helped fashion new types of partnership, 
investment and programming in culture. These experts have helped 
to generate fresh perspectives on the relative qualities of BCP and 
to build a sense of urgency and collective ambition for culture 
across the conurbation.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry culminated in an open workshop and reflection 
event at The Lighthouse Poole, where participants talked of the 

journey they have been on and of the absolute imperative now to 
put culture to the heart of the core strategies which will shape the 
future of BCP. Notably, these are the Local Plan, the Corporate 
Plan and the Local Industrial Strategy (of the Dorset LEP). 
 
But perhaps most importantly, participants talked of the collective 
opportunity: to grow from the energy of the Cultural Enquiry and 
work together to ensure cultural partnerships strengthen. This is to 
guarantee, from a conurbation level to the neighbourhoods, that 
culture defines BCP as a great place in which to live, work, visit and 
invest. 
 
 

Above: Arts by the Sea – BCP’s flagship festival, which is supported by 
Arts Council England as an NPO. There are plans to extend it across the 

conurbation as a major producing festival for the region. 

63



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

6

 
 
Culture at a time of strategic change 
This Cultural Enquiry comes at a time not only of considerable 
strategic change for BCP and Dorset. The establishment of BCP as 
a unitary authority or a city region of over 400,000 people, makes it 
one of the largest places in southern England. At the same time, 
Dorset as a county has become a unitary authority, with the 
renewed sense of purpose and direction that is brings. 
 
In BCP, the new Corporate Strategy and Local Plan can, as an 
outcome of the Cultural Enquiry, put culture front and centre. This is 
to ensure BCP is a beacon authority in the following areas: 
 

- Culture and talent: embracing creative education, building 
a creative workforce, championing diverse cultural 
expressions, and enabling people of all backgrounds to 
actively participate in the cultural life of their communities 
and the conurbation as a whole.  
 

- Cultural infrastructure: with a commitment to building 
cultural capacity, leveraging the excellence of existing hubs, 
venues and organisations, and boosting BCP as a place 
that produces and hosts great art and culture of international 
significance 
 

- Culture and place: embedding culture as a tool for 
planning, with a focus on nurturing distinctive 
neighbourhoods, dynamic town centres, accessible and 
imaginative public realm, urban mobility, and an attention to 
social cohesion health and wellbeing and environmental 
sustainability. 

 

The BCP Local Plan will determine how the city region will develop 
over the coming decades, including how it will meet identified needs 
for new infrastructure (such as in education, healthcare, homes and 
social care), improved transportation, sustainable growth, new jobs 
and stronger communities.  
 
The BCP Local Plan will chart how best it will respond to the 
challenges and opportunities that it will face over the coming 
decades. These include demographic change. Dorset has the UK’s 
oldest population and lowest proportion of under 50s with one 
person working for every pensioner by 2040. Coping with this will 
require real innovation in housing, health and social care. It will also 
require an uplift in the capacity of the cultural sector to make a 
difference to the quality of people’s lives. 
 
Related to this is a significant labour market challenge with 
predictions that half the current workforce may need to be replaced 
in the next 15 years. Retaining existing workers and attracting new 
skilled workers to the area is very much a priority and culture can 
play a compelling role to influence the locational decisions of the 
future workforce. 
 
In addition, and most urgently, climate change and the need for a 
carbon neutral future mean that BCP will need to make some brave 
and imaginative decisions through its Local Plan: to reduce 
congestion, encourage more eco-friendly and healthier modes of 
transport with better connected communities. Culture can also play 
a role here – because environmental responsibility is in reality a 
cultural proposition – a set of values which inform a set of customs 
on how to live responsibly.  
 
These demographic and environmental issues are also central to 
questions of economic growth, notably how to grow both inclusively 
and sustainably. The Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 

64



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

7

is grappling with these issues and is currently developing its Local 
Industrial Strategy to be agreed with the Government in 2020. This 
which will steer the economic future of the County and conurbation. 
The Government’s Industrial Strategy sets out five foundations for 
future growth, which fit the strengths of Dorset well: people, 
Infrastructure, business environment and place.  
 
The Dorset Local Industrial Strategy will focus on growing and 
diversifying the established sectors of financial services, tourism 
and environmental economy and advanced manufacturing, 
engineering, creative technology and agritech/aquaculture. 
Together, these industries will grow as the ‘Dorset Collaborative 
Cluster’, with ‘creative & culture’ vital to their innovation, 
attractiveness and competitiveness: 
 
“Making Dorset a place of exceptional culture and 
quality, releasing the potential of the very best 
creative and cultural businesses, and unlocking 
innovation and imagination in all that we do.” 
 
BCP is the key aggregator for this collaborative cluster. Creative 
and cultural sectors are particularly strong here, with nearly 4,000 
jobs in digital technology generating £363 million in Gross Value 
Added for the economy2 with strengths in visual effects, animation 
and cyber security. 
 

 
2 Technation 2018 report 

3 Including BFX, the UK’s largest visual effects and gaming festival; Silicon South, 
a European funded project designed to provide support for digital SMEs through 
accelerator activities, investment and specialist support. 

The foundations of this are supported by the two universities (Arts 
University Bournemouth and Bournemouth University) as well as 
festivals3 and key cultural hubs and venues.   
 
Arts Council England is playing a vital investment and mediation 
role across these areas of economy, environment and place. Its 
support for the cultural ecology of BCP is helping talent to flourish, 
inspiring audiences and enhancing the overall quality of place. Arts 
Council England currently invests over £18.25 million (2018-21) in 8 
National Portfolio Organisations in BCP and environs, each of 
which is driving innovation and growth across the arts and cultural 
sector of BCP and delivering a range of social outcomes which are 
critical to the health, wellbeing, confidence and cohesion of the 
conurbation.  
 
These shining lights in the cultural ecosystem have also played a 
starring role in hosting and convening consultations throughout the 
Cultural Enquiry. They are: 
 
Pavilion Dance South West 
Arts by the Sea (via BCP Council) 
Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra 
Poole Museum Service 
The Lighthouse (Poole Arts Trust) 
Diverse City 
Activate 
Artsreach. 
 

 

65



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

8

In addition, Arts Council England is investing in multiple activities 
and organisations via its project funding and strategic funds. This 
includes other shining lights such as Bournemouth Emerging Arts 
Fringe (BEAF) Festival, with its radical and inclusive programming; 
and The Arts Development Company (based in Dorchester), which 
plays a hugely enriching role providing support, advice and network 
development for the arts and cultural sectors across Dorset. Plus, 
Arts Council England, with the local authority and via national and 
European funds, has been an important investor in numerous 
health, wellbeing and cultural education programmes.  
 
Yet Arts Council England also recognises that BCP can achieve 
much more through its culture and the scale facilitated by the new 
unitary authority is a game-changer in terms of the kind of 
infrastructure, the level of programming, and the social and 
environmental influence culture can and should have in a city 
region of this size.  
 
Arts Council England, working closely with partners across BCP, 
see the Cultural Enquiry as a rallying cry for culture and as an 
energising process which will help partners in BCP to renew, re-
engage and begin 2020 with the launch of the BCP Culture 
Compact: a new strategic partnership programme that will secure a 
great cultural future for the conurbation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

The Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra (BSO), is the only professional 
orchestra outside the UK’s big cities. The BSO’s ground-breaking work with 

professional disabled musicians has provided inspiration to hundreds of 
children in BCP Special schools, including the Victoria Education Centre in 

Poole. 

Pavilion Dance is the dance agency for 
the South West, and recently hosted the 

National Dance Showcase, across 
Bournemouth and Poole. 

66



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

9

2. The Cultural Enquiry 
Journey 
 
The Cultural Enquiry has worked over 10 months across BCP to 
facilitate animated conversations which enhance networking, 
convene purposeful dialogue on the key issues and opportunities 
for culture, and collect evidence to inform a set of strategic themes 
and priorities for culture in BCP.  
 
Over 1,000 people have actively engaged in over 50 events and 
platforms. These included: 
 
February: Launch event at Arts University Bournemouth, including 
introductions from Darren Henley, Chief Executive of Arts Council 
England, and Professor Stuart Bartholomew, Principal and Vice-
Chancellor of Arts University Bournemouth. 
 
March: Technology and the Arts workshop hosted by Pavilion Dance 
South West, facilitated by Dick Penny of Watershed Bristol. 
 
March: Placemaking and culture open space event, hosted by The 
Lighthouse, with speakers including Dom Jinks of Exeter Culture, Libby 
Battaglia from Light up Poole, and Elspeth McBain of The Lighthouse.  
 
April: People and the Arts workshop, hosted by Poole Museum, with a 
contribution from Oli Rantala of Oulu Municipality, Finland, Colette Bailey 
of Metal, Southend, Michael Spender of Poole Museums and Phil Hallett 
of Coda. 
 
May: Health, wellbeing and communities event, hosted by Highcliffe 
Castle in Christchurch, featuring Val Birchall of Coventry City Council and 
Ruth Eastgate from Blackpool Grand Theatre. 
 

May: International partnerships and excellence, hosted by the Eco Hub in 
Poole’s Dolphin Centre, with Carlos Martins, ex-Director of Guimarães, 
European Capital of Culture 2012, and Dougie Scarfe, Chief executive of 
the BSO. 
 
June: Survey of young people launched – led by Digipigz. 
 
July: Cultural Ecologies and approaches to cultural planning, hosted by 
Russell-Cotes Art Gallery & Museum with leading international cultural 
planning expert Professor Franco Bianchini and Director of Coventry, UK 
City of Culture 2021, Chenine Bhathena. 
 
October: Council member briefing with newly elected BCP councillors, 
hosted by Pavilion Dance South West. 
 
October: Closing prioritisation workshop, hosted by The Lighthouse, with 
interventions from a range of key strategic partners. 
 
The process has also included many smaller meetings with local 
cultural networks and groups, cultural, education and health 
organisations, plus many individuals. including Power House in 
Poole and the Bournemouth Emerging Arts Fringe (BEAF) in 
Boscombe. 
 
The Cultural Enquiry website has provided a platform for 
dissemination and feedback throughout the process. It also 
included a Cultural Enquiry Blogspot: www.culturalequiry.co.uk  
 
The Cultural Enquiry Twitter platform has generated a rich mix of 
perspectives: @culturalenquiry 
 
A series of formal ‘written submissions’ were also provided by 
individuals and organisations across BCP. 
 
 
 

67



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

10
 

The Cultural Enquiry 
involved many events and 
workshops, including 
these at Pavilion Dance 
South West (on art and 
tech); and at Highcliffe 
Castle (on culture, health 
and wellbeing 

68



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

11

 
Why Culture Matters 
Comments from written submissions to the 
Cultural Enquiry 
 
“Arts and culture increase cultural tourism which is a big driver for 
economic growth and creation of jobs as well as the positive knock 
on effect to hotel bookings, meals out and footfall in towns and 
shopping centres. Arts and culture help shape a place and in 
particular local identities – supporting BCP to embrace and promote 
local distinctiveness whilst being able to develop a new brand and 
offer for local people/visitors, businesses and people moving to the 
area.”  
 
Sarah James, Arts Development Company Dorset. 
 
 
 
“So, what needs to change? Well here I shall speak from my 
experience as a visual artist. Practically there needs to be better 
provision of public exhibition space. It needs to be high quality, 
designed for the purpose and accessible to local artists.… in these 
confusing and stressful times, we actually need the arts more than 
ever, for community cohesion, identity, hope and for very sound 
economic reasons. The future economy of the BCP area relies on 
bringing high quality employers to the area. High quality employers 
with well paid employees who need a healthy creative ecology 
surrounding them. We have the opportunity to create a bright new 
future so utterly different from anything we've seen here before.” 
 
 Rob Hughes (Artist) 
 
 

  

Chaplin’s Café, Boscombe 

69



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

12

“BCP has a few established publicly funded arts, culture and 
heritage organisations - not many considering its size. There is a 
good range of work covered between them and they interact with 
residents and visitors to the city in different ways. Pitching BCP as 

a contemporary, progressive city of the future will be helped 
considerably by galvanising and shouting about the great cultural 

offer already available and presenting pretty good value for money. 
Now is the time to consolidate the prior cultural interests of the 

independent authorities into this new merged city by finding ways 
to weave the benefit they bring to the area across other priorities 
(e.g. innovation, talent recruitment, communities, diversity, health, 

wellbeing).”  
 
 

Zannah Doan Artistic Director/Chief Executive, Pavilion Dance 
South West. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

“There is considerable cultural expertise and ability in the BCP 
area that could be harnessed into delivering a vibrant cultural 

programme. But that needs to be identified and brought on board. 
And that hidden capacity will probably need some form of financial 

investment, support, reward or incentivisation.”  
 

Paul Kelly, Culture Futures and We Write Bids 

  

Above: BEAF – an independent festival of huge potential. 
Below: AUB – a hub for creative talent. 

70



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

13

3. Culture in Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole 
 
The Cultural Enquiry has brought to life what many already know: 
that Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole have some incredible 
cultural assets, that the range of distinctive places generate a rich 
mix of cultural qualities, and that when put together, these 
contribute toward BCP being a great place to live with an enviable 
quality of life. 
 
Many people have told the Enquiry that culture is integral to what 
makes the conurbation and its distinctive places unique, and it is 
culture which will give the conurbation a shared sense of purpose 
and belonging in the future. 
 
Many people have also told the Enquiry that too few of these 
strengths and qualities are well known and valued – both locally 
and outside the conurbation. There is a story to be told and some 
significant work to do to build capacity and enhance connectivity 
across the cultural landscape if BCP is to make the most of its 
fantastic cultural assets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Assorted Cultural Qualities of 
BCP 
 
Noted qualities and strengths in BCP as a place of culture include: 
 
An established cultural infrastructure 
BCP has a set of regionally and nationally important cultural 
institutions, producing diverse work of high quality. They include the 
world class Bournemouth Symphony Orchestra, the largest arts 
centre in the UK outside of London, the Lighthouse, and Pavilion 
Dance South West, which recently hosted the National Dance 
Showcase. In the Bournemouth International centre (BIC), BCP has 
an established venue for touring shows, with 4 auditoriums able to 
take up to 10,000 visitors at a time. Add to this the galleries and 
conference spaces of the two universities, a fantastic central library 
in Bournemouth, a Premier League football club (with conference 
and event facilities), and the built assets of the heritage sector (see 
below), and BCP has a fabric of cultural infrastructure across its 12 
miles of coast and inland to the Dorset heathland. 
 
A strong and varied Heritage offer 
The heritage of BCP is incredibly varied and offers a significant 
resource for the culture and wellbeing of the conurbation. Each of 
the three major towns has a different heritage journey, from the 
deep history of Christchurch to Bournemouth’s role as a pioneer 
Victorian resort famed for its clean air and pines. The heritage 
landscape of BCP is both tangible and intangible. Tangible assets 
feature the built environment such as Poole Quay, the parks and 
gardens of Bournemouth or in 18 Grade 1 listed buildings such as 
castles and houses. These include Christchurch Priory, known as 
the finest parish church in England and the Gothic revival Highcliffe 

71



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

14

Castle, which has been imaginatively renovated as now serves as a 
unique venue. 
 
Intangible assets include the folk histories of maritime Poole, the 
literary lives of the many writers who settled or visited the 
conurbation, and in the identities of residents, including an 
increasingly diverse and globally connected population. 
 
The museum sector works hard to uncover and communicate the 
different heritage narratives of BCP. Museums act as hubs for 
social and civic history and as safe spaces for cultural dialogue. 
Key museums include: 
 

- Scaplen’s Court Museum, which receives over 5,000 school 
children a year to its education centre. 

- Poole Museum, which is about to be transformed by a major 
Heritage Lottery fund award. 

- The Russell-Cotes Art Gallery & Museum, home to a 
nationally important collection of Pre-Raphaelite art, is an 
extraordinary art Nouveau building and major visitor 
attraction. 

- Other museums include the Museum of Design in Plastics 
and Gallery at AUB, and Red House Museum, Christchurch. 

 
 
Parks, gardens and nature reserves 
Linked by a glorious stretch of coast, knitted together with deep 
gullies or ‘chines’, woodland, heathland and parks, and bookended 
by the beauty of Poole Harbour and Hengistbury Head; the natural 
and green assets of BCP are central to its culture and way of life.  
 
For example, Bournemouth featured in the original Victorian guide 
to the Spas of England in the mid-19th century, where its natural 
advantages and attractiveness were highly praised. Parks gardens 

and nature reserves are still highly important and a vital contributor 
the quality of place. They stretch from Alum Chine tropical Gardens 
in the west, to Mudeford in the East, from Bournemouth Gardens in 
the South to Millhams Mead Nature reserve in the North. The 
importance of these parks and open spaces as a cultural resource 
was endorsed through their selection as part of a national 
programme as a Future Parks Accelerator, which will test how 
parks can stimulate sustainable growth, improve health and 
wellbeing, and encourage biodiversity.  
 
Festivals and events – Driving growth, excellence and 
inclusion in culture 
BCP Is becoming a major centre for festivals and events. In part 
this is a legacy of its tourism offer – presenting cultural experiences 
to visitors. But festivals and events in BCP have moved far beyond 
the simple presentation of touring shows. Today they have become 
hubs for innovative practice, key commissioning agents for new 
culture, and inspiring platforms for active participation in unique 
locations.  
 
The annual Arts by The Sea, run by BCP Council, is now 
established as a major cultural festival, with plans to expand across 
the region and for longer. Light Up Poole Festival has established 
itself as important festival for animating the public realm in new 
ways and is demonstrating that digital light art can be a gateway 
into the arts for many thousands of residents and visitors. 
 
Activate organise the biennial Inside Out Dorset festival, with 
events such as the enormously popular Cirque Vost in Poole Park 
as well as a range of events, including 2019’s popular Pollution 
Pods on Brownsea Island. Bournemouth Emerging Arts Fringe, is 
an increasingly significant festival championing the grass roots and 
new talent. It is a particularly vital force in supporting artistic 
production from ‘outsiders’ – such as people recovering from 

72



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

15

addiction; and for re-imagining and re-purposing different types of 
space – such as a large part of the Sovereign shopping centre in 
Boscombe transformed into a performing arts venue (with the 
support of the Coastal Business Improvement District).  
 
Nurturing future talent 
The festivals sector provides critical pathways into culture for local 
people and are a mobilising force for volunteering and audience 
development. They work as an important part of a wider talent 
development system across BCP.  
 
The conurbation is home to leading organisations which are helping 
to nurture the talent of the future. In addition to leading cultural 
organisations who all run education and engagement programmes, 
there are specific support agencies driving this agenda. These 
include SoundStorm, one of the largest and most respected music 
education agencies in the country; Coda Music, which offers tuition 
and classes for diverse groups, from a converted Victorian Dairy 
which runs creative projects, training and schools’ workshops as 
well as managing the creative Hub. Diverse City is also a major 
asset to the area – a national leader in championing diversity and 
equality in the arts. 
 
 
Universities and further education 
BCP is a creative talent hub which every year contributes some of 
the best creative graduates into the labour market. The universities 
and college also play a vital role in the production and presentation 
of culture, and of course in the cultural life of the conurbation with 
close to 35,000 students calling BCP their home and with an 
impressive portfolio of cultural activities that connect university and 
civic life. 
 

Arts University Bournemouth is one of the leading specialist arts 
universities in the UK. It has over 3,000 undergraduates and a 
brilliant roster of leading creative professionals on its staff. It has 
particular strengths in art, design, craft, fashion and textiles. It 
specialises in industry collaboration and is currently developing a 
£2.8 million Innovation Studio which will support local businesses in 
rapid prototyping and design. 
 
Bournemouth University, with 20,000 students, has highly regarded 
courses in creative fields including journalism, computer animation, 
film, media and music. It also partners with Bath University in 
delivering the Centre for Digital Entertainment (CDE), funding 
doctoral research into games, visual effects and animation. 
 
The Bournemouth and Poole College, the largest further education 
provider in the area, with over 11,000 students. It offers courses 
ranging from digital media to theatrical make up. 
 
One of the key distinctive outcomes of the universities’ specialisms 
in the creative industries is the spike of creative and digital 
enterprises which have set up in BCP over the last 20 years. BCP 
is recognised as a nationally and internationally significant cluster of 
animation and visual effects companies, with 3871 jobs in digital 
technology. This fast-growing sector saw 72 new business start-ups 
in 2016, is underpinned by the two universities and amplified by the 
BFX festival. The Local Industrial Strategy currently being 
developed by Dorset LEP sees a strong cultural offer as part of the 
essential enabling conditions which help to attract and retain 
enterprises in these high value creative and digital sectors. 
 
Health and wellbeing 
With an ageing population come systemic issues of health, 
wellbeing and care. BCP faces some particularly significant 
challenges in, for example, facilitating preventative care, reducing 

73



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

16

loneliness and isolation, and encouraging communities toward 
ageing well. But BCP is also working as a pioneer place in 
overcoming such challenges and in innovating to deliver positive 
health and wellbeing outcomes.  
 
For example, organisations across BCP are increasingly 
collaborating on programmes targeting health and wellbeing 
challenges. Initiatives range from the Curiosity Café for older 
people at the Red House Museum to BSO’s ground-breaking work 
with professional disabled musicians and the Big Night Out Disco 
curated by disabled DJs. Approaches to social and cultural 
prescribing are emergent, but there is a collective will to develop a 
cultural system where health and wellbeing are a real strength. 
 
Libraries – hubs for active cultural lives 
There are 24 public libraries across the BCP area. They all support 
cultural activities and provide access to literature and other art 
forms. All libraries have an important focus on community arts. The 
main libraries also run and host larger-scale activities and play an 
important role commissioning new work. But most importantly, 
libraries offer a safe space for many people: a place to shelter, to 
meet, reflect, relax, learn, and share. Their role in providing 
fluencies for modern life and supporting an increasingly diverse 
population to feel welcome, is particularly important at this time, 
with a rise in racism and hostility toward cultural difference.  

 
 

 
 
 

The Cultural Challenges Facing 
BCP 
 
While the Cultural Enquiry has encouraged a spirit of positivity with 
regard to the cultural assets of BCP. It is also important to delve 
into the more challenging aspects of the conurbation’s culture. This 
is with the spirit of opportunity in mind, with the Cultural Enquiry 
mobilising a new era of better partnership, imaginative development 
and smarter investment. It is also with an attitude of realism, given 
that many of the challenges facing culture in BCP are shared by 
other places in the UK which have struggled with years of austerity, 
with the pressures of different types of demographic change, and 
with the tightly drawn political boundaries which make ‘whole place’ 
partnership and investment more difficult.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry has sourced many testimonies and 
perspectives which have focused on the things that hold BCP 
culture back. Or in other words, the things which either stop us or 
hinder progress in making more of the conurbation’s many cultural 
qualities. These include: 
 
Geographical realities and challenges 
BCP is a poly-centric conurbation which loses 50% of its hinterland 
and circulation capacity to the sea. With multiple urban centres and 
this specific physical geography, BCP suffers from traffic 
congestion, low density sprawl between main hubs, and the lack of 
a clear civic, retail, leisure and thus cultural centre. Add to this 
costly taxi services and an under-integrated public transport system 
with nodes that, far from enhancing the transport experience, are 
conducive to a sense of danger or at least a lack of aspiration; and 
the conurbation really struggles for affordable, accessible, equitable 
and environmentally progressive mobility. 

74



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

17

 
This impacts on cultural practice and audience behaviour. In some 
ways, it designs-in neighbourhood-based cultural activity over 
conurbation-wide activities which are ‘designed-out’. It also 
influences who is able to travel and where and when. For example, 
to participate in a diversity of cultural activities across the 
conurbation without the use of a car would be expensive, 
unpleasant and hugely time-consuming. While progress has been 
made in improving cycling infrastructure and softening the access 
points to town centres, BCP lacks the density and connectivity 
required to grow from its current cultural asset base.  
 
Additionally, BCP has never been an ‘industrial’ city, so it lacks 
those ‘post-industrial’ spaces (the warehouses, former factories) 
and ‘zones in transition’ which elsewhere in the UK now provide 
homes for creative activity. Furthermore, the strong local property 
market and limited public land holdings limit access to affordable 
space and strategic development land. This makes development-
led cultural activities more challenging than in other places, 
although there are major opportunities to anchor town centre 
renewal activities with a cultural dimension.  
 
A Cultural Productivity Gap 
An aspect of the distinctive spatial characteristics of BCP is the 
relative lack of spaces and places for cultural production. The 
NPOs play a vital role in commissioning and developing new work, 
but the conurbation as a whole suffers from a deficit of artists’ 
studios, affordable creative industries workspace (especially for 
early stage businesses), and flexible rehearsal, development and 
events spaces. In recent years, retail spaces have offered a 
‘meanwhile solution’, but BCP does not provide the requisite mix of 

 
4 Although Bournemouth University has three campuses overall, including a more 

central Bournemouth location.  

permanent facilities which will encourage graduates to stay or for 
incoming artists and creatives to set up and grow their practice.  
 
The festivals sector is playing an important role in championing and 
nurturing talent and in producing new content. But there is still a 
relative imbalance of imported Vs home-grown work and BCP has 
not yet established the range of support infrastructure that is 
present in other places, such as Brighton or Bristol. 
 
Talent Retention 
Associated with this ‘production gap’, BCP struggles to retain talent 
(such as from its graduate base) and to attract brilliant talent from 
elsewhere. It is not sufficiently ‘sticky’ to give local cultural 
producers and creatives confidence they can build a career in the 
conurbation (i.e. access talent, markets and resources); and it does 
not radiate a compelling narrative to would-be incoming creative 
talent. Instead, heads are turned by London, Bristol, Manchester or 
internationally.  
 
Places with high graduate retention rates have developed strong 
cultural hubs which connect universities to the cultural life of the city 
as part of a dynamic ecosystem animated by a range of distinctive 
spaces to make and experience culture. In turn, this facilitates 
collaborative practice where ideas spread, projects form and vivid 
cultural scenes germinate exciting creative enterprises.  
 
In BCP, the core location of the Universities – on a campus outside 
of the main town centres4 – creates a specific design challenge for 
building a dynamic cultural scene. For example, it makes the 
creation of ‘third spaces’ which convene both structured and 

75



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

18

unstructured relationships between people of different walks of life 
and creative disciplines, much harder to achieve.  
  
The ‘invisible city’ 
BCP, with its elongated urban form and polycentric structure mean 
the neighbourhood is a disproportionately important unit of scale for 
cultural development. Add to this the conurbation’s unique 
economic and thus demographic profile – with, for example, an 
ageing population coupled with a very young and diverse 
population of students and people working in care and financial 
services – and BCP can be understood as a particularly complex 
place to develop and deliver culture. 
 
One participant in the Cultural Enquiry talked of BCP as ‘the 
invisible city’, where at different times of the day, many 
communities are out of sight, invisible (e.g. elderly people lack 
mobility and care workers are inside looking after the elderly 
people); or where different neighbourhoods are un-connected to 
one another, occupying a place in the other’s imagination, with very 
few opportunities or incentives to meet. This ‘invisible city’ paradigm 
makes typical approaches to grassroots cultural activity very 
challenging. Finding shared points of reference, values and 
ambitions for a place is difficult if communities are invisible to each 
other. 
 
Culture can of course play a powerful role in tackling this invisibility; 
but the capacity and resources of the cultural sector are not 
sufficient to deliver the kind of in-depth and engaging work required 
to build bridges and make cultural connections. Vital here is the 
connecting tissue between the NPOs and the community and 
voluntary sector, with a significant need for community-based hubs 
and networks, local decision-making in cultural resources, as well 
as tailored programming which targets intercultural and 
intergenerational dialogue. Such as aspects should be keenly 

engaged as part of the Local Plan, ensuring transport, planning and 
place embrace culture to reduce the invisible city effect of BCP. 
of the council. 
 
Young people and diversity undervalued 
This invisible city effect means that certain demographic groups find 
it particularly challenging to find a voice and then have their voice 
heard in the cultural system of BCP. This is the case for young 
people and ethnic minorities. Participants in the Cultural Enquiry 
have talked passionately of the need to open-up the cultural system 
of BCP, to diversify decision-making, and to support young people 
and their interests alongside more championing of diversity.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry survey showed that young people want more 
opportunities to watch live music and performance, more festivals, 
more international food and a stronger nightlife as well as real 
improvements in safety and transportation. 
 
Tourism for tomorrow 
As a place renowned for its tourism and with its greatest cultural 
icon being a beach, tourism has featured substantially across the 
Cultural Enquiry. Although recognised and valued as a major part of 
the economy, tourism is not widely credited as being a progressive 
force in the conurbation’s contemporary cultural life.  
 
For example, cultural tourism and the positioning of BCP as a 
creative destination are seen as underdeveloped and 
undermarketed. BCP’s current tourism offer is not widely perceived 
as positioned to attract the growing market for weekend visitors, 
looking for new experiences, based on boutique accommodation, 
food, cultural dynamism, heritage innovation, creativity and the 
natural environment. 
 

76



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

19

There have been significant efforts to diversify the tourism offer and 
narrative – such as through the growth of Arts by the Sea and Light 
Up Poole as high-quality cultural attractions. But the everyday 
culture of BCP – from the quality of its hotels to the sense of 
creative dynamism and buzz – are viewed as challenges rather 
than assets if tourism is to grow and become higher value.  
 
 
A Whole Place Approach 
While there has been long term commitment to culture from the 
previous three councils, the lack of a single conurbation-wide vision 
and approach have been detrimental to cultural provision and 
development. Without a ‘whole place’ approach, decision-making 
and visioning have been too siloed and under-coordinated. This 
means there are too many ‘cold-spots’ and areas which lack 
cultural amenity. 

 
It also means that, both internally and externally, the current 
creative positioning of BCP is fragmented and not associated with 
innovation or dynamism. Other places show that positive 
transformation is possible. Whether it is Margate and is growing 
recognition as a pioneering town of culture-led regeneration through 
artistic energy, Turner Contemporary and the revival of Dreamland; 
or Brighton which has developed an international reputation for its 
positioning as both a tech and culture centre; or Plymouth which is 
developing a new reputation for its combination of community arts 
and new types of cultural infrastructure 
 
The historic lack of a whole place approach has also impacted on 
the quality and intensity of local partnership – within the cultural 
sector and with culture as a cross-cutting agenda. A legacy of this 
means the current cultural ecosystem has not been given a high 
profile, ambitious civic role which encourages risk taking, exchange 
and collaboration. While organisations do work together, there is no 

overall coordinated strategic approach to growing a cultural 
ecosystem that can drive innovation and change to the forefront of 
economic, social and environmental change in BCP.  
 
This, of course, is changing. The Cultural Enquiry and the 
forthcoming Culture Compact mean that partnership from 
today will be whole-place, cross-sector, inter-
departmental, and have culture to its heart. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Lighthouse – an arts centre of scale and pedigree. 

77



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

20

Young People’s Survey 
 
As part of the evidence collection process, the Cultural Enquiry commissioned 
the Poole-based youth marketing experts Digipigz to survey 16-24 year olds 
with a connection to BCP. The survey received 58 responses and provides a 
snapshot of young people who had grown up in or lived in the region.  

 
“We want a happy town with proactive global aware citizens. Not materialistic 

or shallow”. 
 
What do young people value? 
Food, music and festivals are the three key areas of cultural importance to 
young people. The current food offering in BCP is felt to be strong, with over 
60% of respondents scoring the variety of food and drink outlets as 8/10 or 
higher. 
 
“I would love to see the coastline being better utilised but available to all”. 
 
Opportunities to see live music didn’t score as highly, with only a quarter of 
respondents providing a score of 8/10 or up. When asked what cultural 
offering was missing in BCP, music was the most mentioned element. A third 
of respondents have travelled out of the area to enjoy festivals or music 
events; and would like to see BCP offering a wider variety of music-based 
cultural offerings. 
 
The current nightlife offering is also a strong aspect of BCP, with only a third of 
respondents scoring the offering as 5/10 or less. 
 
The BIC, Pavilion Bournemouth and Lighthouse Poole are the most visited 
cultural destinations, with Bournemouth Gardens rated as the most visited 
park. 
 

“We need Markets with cool street art and street food” 
 
The beach is felt to be the best part of BCP, with 71% of respondents 
identifying it as their favourite aspect. However, there were mixed feelings 
towards the current cultural activity and events which take place on the beach. 
Although the majority do not think the beaches should become BCPs ‘hub’ for 

culture, they want them to become livelier with more events and pop-ups by 
the sea. 
 
 
What can be improved and what is missing? 
The worst things about BCP for young people surveyed include transport and 
cost of parking. Many people noted that transport links across BCP are poor 
and that parking expensive. 
 
There were numerous comments on the upkeep of the towns. Many 
commented on very run-down areas and poor public spaces such as the 
Poole Bus Station, high street shopping areas and facilities such as public 
toilets. Safety and crime were also recurrent themes, with multiple mentions of 
drugs and alcohol related issues. 
 
“The worst things are poor transport, lots of bad behaviour and not a lot going 
on that is current, in comparison to places such as London. Old fashioned.” 

 
“What’s missing? More events, large scale, detailed and inspirational gallery 

showings. Something that makes people WANT to come to BCP.” 
 
The top three things young people would like to see: 
 

- Events and cultural activity on the beach. These could be pop up food 
stalls or unique performances from buskers which add an interesting 
dynamic to the seafront.  

 
- More opportunities to see live music, drama and theatre. Given that 

the BIC, Lighthouse and Pavilion are already the most popular 
destinations, these spaces could be utilised to offer a more diverse, 
extensive musical and theatrical offering which will appeal to this 
demographic.  
 

- Regular activities and exhibitions which tap into niche interests will 
add more diversity to the BCP cultural landscape and provide places 
for likeminded people to meet.  

 
 

78



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

21

4. A Whole Place Approach: 
The Strategic Opportunity for 
BCP 
 
In December 2019, the urban knowledge exchange platform City 
Metric5 published a somewhat frivolous map of the BCP metro. It 
represents an ideal-type transport system for a conurbation where 
the transport system is symptomatic of a lack of ‘whole place’ 
strategic thinking and investment.  
 
“The South East Dorset (BCP) conurbation, centred 
on the resort town of Bournemouth and the historic 

port of Poole, once boasted a tram network. But this 
was ripped up in the 1930s and today's inhabitants – 
numbering almost half a million – are forced to rely 
on cars and buses. The following proposal is quite 
ridiculous, as the population is too spread out for 
mass transit of this nature to be viable. But in my 
fantasy world, here's how the South East Dorset 

Metro (SEDM) would be rolled out”. 
 

Transport is rightly a major priority for the new unitary authority in 
BCP and by working together at a whole place level, an ambitious 
proposal to Government will ultimately be submitted, albeit without 
quite such a fantasy dimension as the SEDM (see diagram).  

 
5 https://www.citymetric.com/transport/here-s-fantasy-metro-network-bournemouth-

and-poole-4881 

 
But the same issues which arise for transport apply to culture in 
BCP. Its relative fragmentation, lack of connectivity, low levels of 
audience mobility and the lack of capacity; are all symptomatic of a 
historic absence of ‘whole place planning’. Or in other words, BCP 
is the size of a city but it is only now that partners are beginning to 
think like a city and, through their partnerships, also act like one.  
 
This does not require the neglect of the districts and 
neighbourhoods; rather a more coordinated and ambitious 
approach which supports each part of a cultural (eco)system.  

79



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

22

 
BCP’s new unitary status as the UK’s latest city region gives an 
opportunity to reset how we think about, plan for and invest in 
culture.  It is an opportunity to shape a radical and fresh approach 
to culture that could play a major role in shaping a more successful, 
more cohesive, more open and more equal place (or series of 
connected places) overall. 
 
In terms of tackling the challenges that hold back culture, the 
Cultural Enquiry has faced a central question which stems from the 
unique economic, social and geographic past of BCP; and which 
pivots toward how best it can face the future: 
 
How can we marry a deep sense of localism 
across the neighbourhoods that make up a 
conurbation-wide approach with an ambitious 
proposition of scale and dynamism that can 
deliver culture-led transformation in the national 
interest and of international standing? 
 
Two divergent responses to this question are rehearsed below. 
These are followed by a proposed preferred pathway for culture in 
BCP: an ambitious whole-place approach where the conurbation 
has the punch of a city with the sensitivity of a series of towns and 
neighbourhoods.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.1 If we just concentrate on the neighbourhoods 
and grassroots 
 
Tackling the barriers and challenges holding back culture in the 
neighbourhoods and at the ‘grassroots’ would deliver a range of 
transformational opportunities. They include: 
 

- More opportunities for career growth and development for 
artists at all stages via enhanced creative hubs, new 
programmes of commissions, scaled-up but locally 
embedded festivals. 
 

- A higher profile for all BCP’s distinctive places through 
coordinated cultural tourism signing and branding activities. 
 

- More opportunities to for local artists to work with local 
cultural organisations and partners in health and wellbeing, 
increasing their capacity and enabling them to grow 
sustainable careers. 
 

- Strategic market and audience development which builds 
active participation through smarter joint working between 
organisations. 
 

- More networking, profile raising and information sharing 
leading to a more cohesive and embedded cultural sector 
 

- Existing health and wellbeing strengths scaled up and 
coordinated across BCP. 
 

- Enhanced town centres with greater connectivity and 
access to the historic as well as the contemporary. 

80



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

23

 
If we delivered on these opportunities, then potential benefits would 
include: more artists and creative practitioners establish themselves 
and are able to develop sustainable socially inclusive and engaged 
careers; more opportunities for local artists to showcase their work 
with a much more visible creative presence. 
 
These would also include: stronger intercultural and 
intergenerational dialogue with health and wellbeing impacts such 
as lowering levels of isolation; growing local markets and audiences 
for arts and culture as part of a spirit of ‘everyday creativity’ which 
enhances the quality of place; and diversified town and 
neighbourhood centres invigorated by culture. 
 
 
4.2 If we just go for scale and culture-led city-
making 
 
If we go for more high-profile agenda based on scale, coordination 
and excellence with national and international impact then a 
broader set of opportunities emerge. In this scenario we would look 
to: 
 

- Build capacity and expertise in culture and art development 
at a strategic unitary authority level 

 
- Focus on major cultural infrastructure projects – such as a 

revitalised BIC and a new destination venue for visual, 
digital arts and animation. The most radical and ambitious 
option for the BIC would be to unlock the site to freshly 
develop statement cultural infrastructure that can drive 
growth and innovation for the cultural ecosystem of the 
conurbation and wider region. 

 
- Build the profile of BCP as a cultural and heritage 

destination where the area’s set of distinctive places is 
viewed as a primary asset  
 

- Innovate in planning and mobility to connect localities and 
dramatically enhance the public realm in ‘gateway’ locations 
such as the main stations. 
 

- Grow and develop festivals and events as accelerators for 
international quality cultural production and innovation and 
as marquee attractions for cultural tourism 
 

- Introduce specialist cultural and creative infrastructure 
capable of driving growth in cultural production and events – 
with the likely location for these close to main transport hubs 
and where there is the potential for critical mass – e.g. 
central Bournemouth. 
 

- Maximise potential of Higher Education: majoring on talent 
retention and attraction via targeted hub and cluster 
interventions in key town centre locations. 

 
 
If we deliver these types of large-scale anchor and catalyst 
activities, the benefits for the city region could include: a step 
change in inward investment in culture; stronger, more inclusive 
economic growth driven in part by the creative industries, cultural 
tourism, and knowledge-intensive firms delivering higher 
productivity and skills attracted by the quality and scale of place. 
 
There could be a transformation in the way BCP is perceived 
internally and externally based on a new narrative of creativity, 
innovation and inclusion. A dynamic year-round visitor economy 

81



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

24

based on BCP as a place for experiences, diverse encounters and 
engaging narratives. 
 
This could lead to cultural organisations which are bigger and 
better, scaling up and diversifying their offer and generating new 
‘anchor’ infrastructure to drive sector development.  There could be 
an active and high-profile role in the national conversation 
alongside metropolitan areas and medium sized cities and towns 
(such as the Core Cities Group, which is putting culture to the heart 
of cities’ approach to trade, investment and ‘soft power’).  
 
 

4.3 Bringing the Two Together: A Whole Place 
Approach to Culture 
 
The Cultural Enquiry has enabled the identification and rehearsal of 
a ‘third way’ for BCP. One that marries the importance of micro-
scale, locally embedded and community-facing activities; to one 
which thinks and acts big. The opportunity then for BCP is to 
converge support for a diverse and productive creative ecology, 
based on local strengths and delivery across the conurbation with 
an outward facing programme that supports high quality and 
excellence, gaining national and international profile. Only by doing 
the two in a holistic way will we deliver the broad range of outcomes 
that BCP requires if it is to live up to its cultural potential.   
 
The new Cultural Compact will play a leadership role in 
converging these two approaches and coordinating a whole place 
approach to culture across BCP. It will bring different sectors, 
places and strategic agendas together and co-design an ambitious 
investment programme for culture which both requests investment 
in culture as a priority sector; and advocates for investment in 
culture as part of a wider approach to planning, community, health 
and wellbeing and economic development. This is in tune with the 

Dorset LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy, which recognises both the 
direct and spillover benefits of investing in culture.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry has helped mobilise active participation in the 
process of shaping a cultural agenda for BCP. It has also helped 
shape three main themes and some potential priority actions which 
the Cultural Compact can utilise as a terms of reference when it 
meets from March 2020 onward. 
 
These themes are: Talent, Infrastructure and Quality of Place 
These are introduced in brief below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

25

A. Talent 
 
By talent we mean arts and creative education, support for artists and 
creative practitioners at all stages of their careers and a step change in 
cultural provision and ‘everyday creativity’. It means supporting 
everyone to enjoy a creative life. BCP has institutions that are national 
leaders in delivering creative education and skills; two excellent 
universities; and a growing cultural production base that can become a 
major harvesting programme for talent development.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry has asked partners to concentrate on: 
 
Creative practitioners 
Creating more and better opportunities to work, collaborate and 
innovate through the fostering of a local commissioning culture. 
Ensuring that creative practitioners are better connected to our existing 
infrastructure and opening up new infrastructure which can support 
them. This includes building on and complementing the sector support 
work of the Arts Development Company and enabling larger cultural 
organisations to develop a creative and cultural workforce 
development programme. It also means establishing stronger place-
based links between the universities and creative practitioners – such 
as via ‘third space’ models and platforms for exchange, R&D and 
professional development (see creative hubs and studios) 
 
Developing festivals 
Building on our current festivals to develop greater scale, pushing for 
higher quality and excellence, greater innovation, more diversity, and 
improved production capacity. This positions festivals as the breeding 
ground for talent development and cultural production – offering 
opportunities for R&D, skills exchange and professional development. 
Festivals can also more effectively converge key emergent strengths in 
BCP: outdoor arts and digital technology, with BCP a potential testbed 
for VR in the public realm and new immersive approaches to culture. 

This will ensure that festivals are integrated into a re-booted brand 
narrative for BCP that delivers a longer tourist season and drives 
growth and innovation in the creative economy. 
 
Creative hubs and studios 
Supporting increased access to spaces for cultural expression and 
new platforms for production, rehearsal and presentation. This means 
developing the type of creative spaces that deliver collaboration and 
innovation, by connecting up business, education, culture and 
technology. It can also mean developing specialist creative and cultural 
infrastructure to grow the production base – such as a hub for festival 
development that converges production, rehearsal and presentation 
space. Or a specialist animation and special effects studio and R&D 
platform with a strong arts and cultural core – linking the specialisms of 
the universities to a wider cultural and creative economy opportunity. 
 
Enriched pathways for young people 
The cultural narrative for BCP needs to be more expressive of the 
perspectives and aspirations of young people. This means supporting 
schools to be champions in arts and creative learning and co-designing 
cultural infrastructure and programming with rather than for young 
people. It also means developing dedicated skills and enterprise 
programmes which open up the possibility of cultural and creative 
work. This can build on the work of the creative hub(s) (see above) and 
existing development agencies including SoundStorm and WAVE. This 
will connect to the Dorset People and Skills Plan ensuring joined-up 
approach to providing all our young people with opportunities to into 
employment, education or training. 
 
Access and Diversity 
Ensuring that access for everyone and diversity is a core value and 
strength within BCP. Helping to tackle inequality and ensuring that all 
our organisations draw their talent from the widest possible work pool, 
with paid opportunities for internship. This is to make the ‘invisible city’ 
one of the most accessible, open and inclusive in Europe.  

83



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

26

B. Infrastructure 
 
Here infrastructure refers to scaled-up, diversified and sustainable 
cultural organisations, venues and platforms across BCP. It means 
the alignment of spatial planning, transport and culture. It also 
means ‘softer infrastructure’ the tools and processes which can 
deliver the wider economic and social ambitions of BCP. 
 
Priorities for investment include: 
 
Cultural Planning and Design Strategy 
Through the Local Plan and subsequent major planning and 
development programmes, pitch culture as a key factor from project 
inception to delivery. This requires culture-proofing major planning 
applications; the development of neighbourhood-based cultural 
strategies and plans for developments; and a dedicated approach 
to co-locating new cultural infrastructure at transport interchanges.  
 
It also requires a strategic review of the role and purpose of town 
centres across BCP. With the decline of retail, demand for housing-
led growth and increased relevance of leisure and culture as 
indicators of vibrancy, partners in BCP need to be brave and 
ambitious in re-imagining their town centres. Artists and cultural 
organisations can play a vital role here – in visioning and engaging. 
But the arts and culture can also be part of the solution – helping to 
diversify use and bring life into otherwise obsolescent retail-led 
models.  
 
Aligning Culture and ‘Smart City’ models 
Cultural organisations and creative businesses can work with 
technologists and planners to envisage new approaches to mobility, 
energy consumption, and big data approaches to service provision. 
They have access to audiences, to ideas and to data. They also 

have access to creative thinkers who can connect complex 
structural systems to social and cultural ones.  
 
Growing and diversifying production and presentation 
capacity 
Building on the approach outlined in Theme A, BCP needs a 
greater variety and scale of cultural production and presentation 
capacity. It lacks scale, diversity and specialism (e.g. from wet 
space to interdisciplinary creative labs). BCP also lacks critical 
mass – e.g. a cultural district where a range of venues and hubs 
are co-located. The beginnings of this are apparent in central 
Bournemouth, but there are currently too many missing pieces or 
under-leveraged gems. The BIC provides a test-case here, with the 
potential to become a transformational cross-art-form cultural 
centre of national significance.  
 
Heritage Innovation 
BCP has an enthralling portfolio of heritage assets, but they are 
under-connected and are not yet playing a dynamic role in the 
contemporary cultural life of the conurbation. Heritage innovation 
can involve opening-up heritage to everyone through accessible 
trails, utilising new and emergent technology and exploring active 
re-use of heritage assets for contemporary cultural practice. This 
will build on the work already underway in digitising collections and 
the National Lottery Heritage Fund project of Poole Museum.  

 
Better connected and networked organisations 
Working across BCP in communities, connected nationally and 
internationally, BCP can become a pioneer for strategic planning 
and partnership. This can start with knowledge exchange and 
professional development activities and develop toward shared 
programming, skills exchanges, coordinated promotion and a 
collective voice that champions BCP as a critical core to their 
institutional brands.  

84



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

27

C. Quality of Place 
This theme is about how culture and creativity can contribute to the 
quality of place in BCP – that set of sometimes hard to define things 
that make places great to live in, work in and visit.  
 
Inward investment.  
Quality of place means positioning culture to the heart of the BCP 
strategic narrative. The whole idea of BCP as a place needs to be 
articulated through culture. This is what defines and differentiates the 
conurbation; its heritage and modernity; its changing communities; its 
natural resources; and its cultural and creative industries. Dorset LEP, 
through its new Local Industrial Strategy, is putting culture to the heart 
of its inward investment narrative, recognising that it is the quality of 
place which gives Dorset a competitive advantage. As a new unitary 
authority, BCP now has the opportunity to build a unified brand and 
offer through culture. This, some might say, is the art of place-making.  
 
A beacon for health and wellbeing 
With systemic demographic challenges, BCP can either work with a 
perpetual rear-guard action, struggling to make sense of and respond 
to the increasingly acute needs of its population. Or BCP can innovate 
to find new solutions and treat its demographic reality as an 
opportunity for a set of cultural, social and technological solutions. BCP 
can become a beacon for the integration of culture into health and care 
practice linking to the Dorset-wide One Health Accelerator which 
launched in 2019. This large-scale programme promotes 
interdisciplinary work across human, animal and environmental health; 
connecting industry, government and academia. 
 
BCP can also target capacity-building and innovation in its cultural 
organisation and workforce, piloting social and cultural prescribing, 
volunteering programmes, arts therapy and other activities focussed on 

 
6 https://www.wellbeingexeter.co.uk/social-prescribing/ 

helping people live longer, healthier and more active lives. This can 
adapt the approach of Wellbeing Exeter6 – a prototype for social and 
cultural prescribing.  
 
Planning and development 
This is to ensure planning for future development is ‘culture proofed’, 
building in space for culture in new developments and the future of 
high street as multi-purpose destinations where people visit for multiple 
reasons beyond shopping. It can involve championing the region’s 
strengths in design and helping create more human-friendly 
environments.  
 
Responding to Climate Emergency 
In July 2016, BCP Council pledged to make BCP Council and its 
operations carbon neutral by 2030, and to work with the wider 
community to look at how the conurbation can be made carbon neutral, 
ahead of the UK target of 2050.  Members also called on Westminster 
to provide the powers and resources to help make the 2030 target 
possible. As a low density, largely suburban, car-dependent system, is 
not yet a model for smart and environmentally progressive city-making. 
But it needs to be. And fast. One approach is to position the cultural 
sector as environmental pioneers – equipping them with the resources 
to affect behavioural change across the conurbation. This is a priority 
area for Arts Council England in its new 10-year plan. 
 
Another approach is to concentrate cultural infrastructure at 
neighbourhood level, at transport hubs and as nodes in cycle 
networks. This can involve utilising new spaces, making more of 
existing spaces (including libraries) and a ‘re-imagining the town 
centre’ strategic narrative which connects with the technology-driven 
the Dorset Smart Place initiative which will see £1 billion invested 
across the county, ensuring that everyone can benefit and access 
transformative technology.  

85



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

28

 

4. Pilot Interventions 
  
The Cultural Enquiry was not set up to source a range of projects. If 
so, it would have been inundated with pet projects and become 
more of a wish list than agenda for change. The new Cultural 
Compact will need to work with the findings of the Cultural Enquiry 
and seek investment to test and pilot activities capable of driving 
step-change in the role and value proposition of culture in this new 
city or conurbation.  
 
However, somewhat irresistibly, some projects have trended 
sufficiently often to be noted here. They are not as instructions to 
the Cultural Compact but as insinuations of what partners might 
explore. For example: 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Talent 
  
A BCP Festival development programme.  

- A three-year intervention to build a conurbation-wide festival offer, 
programme and production team – including a growth plan for Arts by the 
Sea and Light Up Poole and a converged offer with BXF 

- Establishment of BEAF as a key independent / fringe festival for 
contemporary art and culture in southern England. 

- Feasibility work for a new festival centre – for production, development 
and presentation 

  
A cultural excellence platform for BCP 
- Professional development, business mentoring, and a co-investment fund for 
culture working in partnership with the LEP. This is to grow the scale, quality and 
profile of culture across BCP as an important attractor of talent and investment that 
directly contributes to the LEP Investment Plan.  

Infrastructure 
  
Position culture as a key theme across the Local Development Plan 

 
- e.g. across town centre redevelopments; imaginative use of design to 

enhance the public realm; commission across boundaries – toward 
culture, health and wellbeing infrastructure.  
 

An anchor and catalyst 
- Undertake feasibility on establishing a major cross-art-form venue / cluster 

in central Bournemouth on the BIC site - to generate step-change in the 
quality and attraction power of culture – e.g. a combined gallery, event 
and performance space which links to and uplifts existing infrastructure. 
 

Creative and cultural hubs 
- A BCP-wide town centre creative hub network – with a progression model 

from meanwhile use to long-term freehold cultural infrastructure - to 
spearhead a cultural renewal process where retail has withdrawn.  
 

Quality of Place 
  
Health and wellbeing 

- BCP and Dorset as a beacon for integrating culture into health and care 
  

City Region 
- Considering a bid as a future City of Culture and / or UNESCO City of 

Media Arts. Connect with the rural assets - World Heritage status, natural 
and coastal environment. 

- Re-boot the brand narrative via active programming and partnership with 
core cities and internationally: Acting like a city of culture – irrespective of 
a bid. 
 

Environment 
- Launch a programme of environmental pathfinders which cultural 

organisations and artists driving behavioural and system change. 
 

86



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

29

 

5. Onwards and Upwards. What 
Happens Next? 
 
In April 2019 BCP Council was created, linking the towns of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and providing an opportunity 
to create a vision for culture across the whole region - a vision for a 
cohesive and inclusive city region driven by diverse, high quality 
cultural infrastructure and programming, working with a wide range 
of stakeholders and drawn together and overseen by an inclusive 
Culture Board and stakeholder group.  
 
With Arts Council England support, this Cultural Enquiry was 
launched in February 2019 to enable development of this vision and 
articulation of the new city region’s aspirations, setting a clear and 
ambitious direction of travel. 
 
The Cultural Enquiry has helped reflect on and describe the key 
qualities and challenges of the BCP conurbation. It has set out a 
values-based approach to culture, incorporating wellbeing, inclusive 
growth, environmental sustainability, and supporting an ambitious 
talent-led ecosystem that champions local production and is 
scalable towards grander transformational interventions.  
 
The Cultural Enquiry has also set out firm strategic links to BCP 
Council’s economic and social priorities around culture: a talent 
pipeline supporting cultural education, emerging artists and 
innovative work, which feeds directly into the wealth of creative 
industries based in the region and adds to a diverse and growing 
economy. 
 

The Cultural Enquiry has described opportunities for culture to be 
embedded in placemaking projects, expressing the personality of 
the conurbation and its town centres and neighbourhoods through 
cultural activity within new developments and through heritage 
innovation. It has called for culture to be front and centre of 
approaches to tackle climate emergency. 
 
The Cultural Enquiry has also set out a plea for inclusion, diversity 
and access. The cultural life of BCP needs to open to all, with 
opportunities for people from all backgrounds to experience culture, 
leading to a deeper sense of community cohesion and wellbeing for 
all those who live, work and visit the conurbation. 
 
The task now is to act on the advice of the Cultural Enquiry and to 
utilise its three themes – talent, infrastructure and quality of place – 
to mobilise a new era of partnership and co-investment. This is 
where the Cultural Compact Steps in. 
 
Arts Council England has confirmed its investment in a Cultural 
Compact for BCP. As one of the first in England, this demonstrates 
a commitment to BCP as a place of culture and as a potential 
exemplar for ambitious cultural leadership and partnership. 
 
The Compact, which will launch in March 2020, will involve a new 
level of strategic partnership which champions culture through a 
‘whole place’ approach. The current Cultural Enquiry Board will 
expand to include representatives from the business sector (Town 
Centre and Coastal BIDS), education sector (Bournemouth & 
Poole College, Wave & SoundStorm), NPOs (Pavilion Dance 
South West, Arts by the Sea, Poole Museum, Activate), community 
and diversity-led organisations (Diverse City, Neighbourhood 
Forums) and healthcare agencies.   
 

87



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

30

Played right, the Cultural Compact will play a transformative role 
for the conurbation and wider region – working to support a joined-
up ecosystem that connects culture, education, healthcare, 
business, transport, planning, the environment and tourism. 
 
The Cultural Compact will change how cultural activity is delivered 
across the conurbation and wider city region and Dorset LEP area. 
It will support regional and national relationships and activate 
international ones post-Brexit. 
 
It will also be a catalyst for investment, creating a cohesive vision 
and delivery plan for culture that will result in much greater impact 
across the region. To achieve this will require close alignment with 
the Dorset LEP Local Industrial Strategy, with culture the heart of a 
wider ‘collaborative cluster’. 
 
It will also require a strategic push for central Government 
investment and investment from lottery distributors and the private 
sector: to build cultural infrastructure befitting a place of this size 
and to volunteer as a pilot authority for initiatives in environmental 
sustainability and smart cities; in cultural tourism and place-
making; and in health and well-being.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

But the Culture Compact is just part of the story. 
The wider story involves over 400,000 people 
who want to improve the place they live in, to 
have a better quality of life and rosier future. It is 
a story of hope, of change and of identity. It is a 
story of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 
It is a story of culture.  

 

 

 
 
  The Boscombe Dachshund – BEAF 2019. 

88



BCP Cultural Enquiry 

tom fleming / creative consultancy / 
 
 

31

 
 

Thank you to all who contributed to the BCP 
Cultural Enquiry 
 
Continue the conversation: 
@culturalenquiry www.culturalenquiry.co.uk 

89



T
his page is intentionally left blank

90



1 
tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Appendix 1. Benchmark 
Examples given during the 
Cultural Enquiry 
 

 
Talent Inspirations 
 
Blackburn Festival of Making 
 
Part of the Festival of Making, Art in manufacturing 
Art in Manufacturing pairs artists and makers with manufacturers 
and domestic artisans; giving artists access to specialist machinery 
and heritage craft techniques to create work together that now 
appears across Blackburn. 
 
The work and companies involved are hugely diverse and ranged 
this year from repurposing a wallpaper machine into a sculpture to 
recreating a 1980s living room as a celebration of British Asian 
Culture. 
 
Lesson for BCP: The success of the project leaves a legacy of 
artworks across the town as well as raising awareness of local 
businesses and building innovative new partnerships 
 
MIL Lisbon 
An annual event which combines live performance by new artists, 
with talks and events on the creative economy with a particular 
focus on new international markets. 
 

Run by a committed young team the event is partnered with five 
other music conventions to launch JUMP, the European Music 
Market Accelerator. Co-funded by the European Commission, this 
provides a framework for music professionals to develop innovative 
business models. It aims to help the music sector adapt to recent 
transformations of the market while encouraging it to work on a 
transnational level. For nine months, 10 to 20 participants from all 
over Europe will have the opportunity to develop their ideas and to 
benefit in  parallel from extensive training and tutorship. 
 
Lesson for BCP: What makes MIL so successful is that it connects 
internationally while also supporting local people to develop their 
careers. 
 

Tesbeds, Luton 
 
Testbeds, funded by Arts Council England, run by University of 
Bedfordshire and partners is an innovative scheme which offers 
incubation to starting artists, a 12 month collaborative research 
laboratory for mid-career artists, an elevator programme to help 
take organisations to a new level of impact and a flexible 
programme of events to develop enterprise skills. 
 
In 12 months it has boosted successful arts council applications, 
increased participation in events and greatly improved perceptions 
among artists of Luton as a place to be based. 
 
Lesson for BCP: A sustainable university-ed scheme that is 
actively helping to create a welcoming and nurturing 
environment for creative practitioners. 
 
Metal, Southend  
Metal, a cultural development company with a base in Southend, 
shared with us how it has developed the Alt Art School. This gives 
local young people a practical guide to careers in the creative 

91



2 
tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

industries, talking them through the opportunities that exist in local 
businesses and organisations. From opportunities to learn from 
local crafts people through to apprenticeships at established cultural 
organisations the guide demystifies the sector and is aimed as 
much at parents and schools as young people. Metal also run Alt 
Art School Events and training sessions. 
 
What makes Alt Art School successful is that it pulls together a wide 
range of local voices and opportunities into one place in a sector 
that can feel very fragmented and hard to understand. 
 
Lesson for BCP: Working with the grass roots and 
communities as full partners, can bring about greater 
ownership and engagement. 
 

 
Infrastructure Inspirations 
 
Second floor Studios Southeast England 
This community Interest company develops studios in locations 
above shops and other unusual locations. In Sevenoaks (shown 
here) council invited it to open in a council owned building. It now 
has 18 artists studios and hosts many events open to the public 
such as an art market in November. 
 
The success of the model (and there are many similar across UK) is 
that it utilises space which would otherwise become residential 
while bringing life and diversity to the high street while providing 
much needed affordable space for artists 
 
Lesson for BCP: Models like this are vital in BC which lacks 
traditional post-industrial spaces and could play a part in the 
reimagining of the high street. 

 
The Powerhouse (Poole) 
 
A community-led groups seeking to develop a new hub on derelict 
land. The plans are still in development but it would provide a 
facility for Hamworthy (and Poole) including potentially a gallery, 
café, music and rehearsal spaces. Their recent survey of 97 local 
artists and creative professional showed support for a regionally 
significant gallery, workshop and studio space. The group are in 
discussion with property developers and housing associations. 
While they try and secure the land they will develop a programme of 
community focussed activity. 
 
Lesson for BCP: Working with community groups to deliver in 
areas currently lacking cultural infrastructure will be vital. 
 
 
St Helen’s Libraries (St Helens) 
 
The UK’s most significant ‘arts in libraries’ project, now an Arts 
Council England NPO which enlivens St. Helens’ network of 13 
Libraries with performances, plays, gigs, workshops, courses, 
exhibitions and great art events funded by the National Lottery and 
distributed through Arts Council England.  Recently crowned best 
arts project at The National Lottery Awards2016. 
 
Activities range from a music tech hub every week for young people 
wanting to learn about digital music, through to Northern 
Powerhouse: Last Towns Standing a new online text adventure 
game created by Re-Dock, with young people from across the 
North. The Northern Powerhouse touring exhibition explores the 
future by showcasing imaginative and innovative objects - artefakes 
- featured in the game bringing the online world of 2065 into the 
physical. 
 

92



3 
tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Lesson for BCP: Opportunity to build on the excellent work 
already underway across BCP’s libraries into a larger 
programme that gains national significance. 
 

BOM Birmingham  
BOM is a centre for art, technology and science dedicated to 
creative innovation with purpose. 
 
Located in central Birmingham, the gallery is free to enter and 
presents cutting edge digital artworks and exhibitions that spark 
debate about technology and scientific progress while the café 
provides revenue and meeting space. BOM is dedicated to positive 
social impact. Its exhibitions and events explore topical issues in 
digital culture and science which impact on human lives. BOM also 
offers fellowships and a residency programme. 
 
BOM Success is to build on Hacker culture and draw connections 
across sectors and between formal and informal learning 
 
Lesson for BCP: The kind of third space that BOM offers 
provides active encouragement and support for collaboration 
and wider engagement. 
 
Fusebox (Brighton) 
The FuseBox is a hub in Brighton for digital innovators, tech 
visionaries and creative technologists. It is run by and is home to 
independent membership organisation Wired Sussex 
 
It provides innovators with access to spaces, facilities, opportunities 
and expertise. It currently house the Brighton Immersive Lab and a 
5G testbed. 
 
Wired Sussex helped power Brighton’s success as a creative-tech 
cluster through its job boards. The Fusebox brings together 

research, start-ups, investors and innovators in a way that touches 
the whole creative economy 
 
Lesson for BCP: The Fusebox helped put Brighton the map as 
a centre for innovation, encouraging firms to relocate and 
invest. 
 
The Folkestone Triennial 
The Folkestone triennial sees new artworks commissioned 
every three years, many of which remain around the town 
building an outdoor gallery of leading contemporary artwork.  
It is a key part of the physical renewal of the seaside town, 
that has also focussed on independent stores, food and drink.  
 
The project is funded largely by Creative Folkestone which is 
also behind the Quarterhouse and Creative Quarter 
 
The success of the Triennial is that its opens and accessible 
nature, it not only puts the town on the cultural map every 
three years, but ensures people come every year. Residents 
also benefit hugely from the socially engaged work. 
 
Lesson for BCP: the triennial is a great example of how 
focussing on quality and legacy alongside an exciting festival 
programme can deliver long-term benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

93



4 
tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

Quality of Place Inspiration 
 
Cultural planning and Hull 2017 
Franco Bianchini, from the University of Hull,  talked about the 
importance of a cultural planning process which engages the 
community, is critical, questioning and not afraid of being 
controversial. He emphasised that the success of Hull 2017 lies in 
the twin outputs of sustaining cultural participation and 
strengthening the appeal of the city as an international cultural 
tourism destination 
 
Cultural planning is vital in shaping successful creative places – it 
relies on local knowledge, working across sectors, defining and 
mapping local cultural assets, as well as understanding the local 
‘image bank’ ( which ranges from media coverage through to local 
stereotypes and ‘conventional wisdom. 
 
Lesson for BCP:  Changing perception is not easy and 
requires risk taking, but must build up from the grassroots 
 
Place Attractiveness Oulu, Finland 
 
Olli Rantala, from the city of Oulu Government,  shared the 
visionary approach of Oulu, a medium sized city in Finland, that has 
adopted an holistic approach to place attractiveness which is 
successfully attracting young people to stay, shaping a more 
liveable and dynamic city that celebrates its quirks (‘the world air 
guitar championships’) and places high value on design of even the 
most humble street furniture.  
 
Oulu’s approach is fascinating because it could be any non major 
city in Europe facing the challenges that lack of scale and 
prominence bring. It’s approach is refreshing because it takes 

things we often ignore – like fun and attractiveness – and places 
them in the centre of its strategy. 
 
Lesson for BCP: The ‘small’ stuff matters along with the large 
projects when it comes to making 
 
Plymouth Culture 
 
Dom Jinks shared with the enquiry the inspiring story of Plymouth 
Culture. Through focussing on four linked themes – Nurturing talent, 
Community engagement, major projects and international projects – 
Plymouth has been on a journey which is starting to change the 
way it is seen internally and externally. The erection of Messenger – 
the UK’s largest statue of a woman – in 2019 received huge 
publicity and showed a town with a new sense of confidence. 
The success of Plymouth has been in bringing together often 
divergent voices to create a unified approach behind a strategic 
approach to cultural development that connects community 
engagement with international profile raising. 
 
Lesson for BCP:  Focussing on both local activity and headline 
grabbing initiatives can deliver real change. 
 
 
Building Connectivity (Aveiro/Guimaraes) 
Carlos Martins shared how the innovative approach adopted in 
Northern Portugal has seen a once declining former industrial area 
reposition itself through culture and creativity as a growing 
economy. The approach focussed on Hardware (Business 
incubation, art creation spaces) and Software (Showcasing, 
international events, cultural tourism). In Guimaraes The City of 
Culture bid which came at a time of recession, was transformative 
and embraced to the extent that the town changed its logo to the 
symbol of the year.  

94



5 
tom fleming / creative consultancy / 

 
The success of Northern Portugal shows how closely linking culture 
with economic and social renewal through a large scale and long-
term programme can deliver lasting change. 
 
 
Lesson for BCP:  Integrating culture into wider 
regeneration and economic planning is key to 
transformation. 
 
 
 
BCP Future Parks Accelerator  
 
Funded by the National Lottery Heritage Fund & National Trust, the 
Future Parks Accelerator (FPA) will see parks becoming “the 
backdrop for stimulating sustainable growth, improving health and 
wellbeing, biodiversity, reconnecting people with nature and are a 
driving force in bringing diverse communities together in positive 
activity.” The FPA will result in a green infrastructure strategy and 
business plan to create a sustainable model for 21st century parks. 
This will create a model for the UK’s parks services that can be 
replicated across other local authorities, especially merging 
authorities. 
 
Lesson for BCP:   the opportunity to ensure that culture is a 
key part of the sustainable future for our open spaces. 

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank

96



 

CABINET 

 

Report subject BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme 

Meeting date 18 March 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary BCP Council must bring into operation a Street Works Permit 
system in lieu of its existing noticing system.   

This report follows the Cabinet report in October and reports 
on the results of the consultation carried out with all statutory 
consultees, with recommendations of the permit conditions to 
be applied for the new BCP Council Street Works Permit 
Scheme, taking into consideration the responses received. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) Cabinet approve the conditions to be applied to 
the BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme, as 
described in the attached document, Appendix 2   

(b) Cabinet delegate authority to the Director of Legal 

and Democratic Services to make the necessary 

Legal Order to bring the permit scheme into 

operation.   

Reason for 
recommendations 

DfT require all Local Authorities to introduce a Street Works 
Permit scheme by April 2020, or as soon as practicably 
possible thereafter; the approved permit conditions for such a 
scheme and necessary legal order are required to bring this 
into operation. 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor Andy Hadley, Cabinet Member for Transport 
and Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Regeneration & Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin, Growth & Infrastructure 

Contributors Richard Pearson, Transport Network Manager (Traffic 
Manager) 

Paul James, Street Works manager 

Richard Pincroft, Head of Transportation 

97

Agenda Item 9



 

Wards All BCP Wards 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. Department for Transport (DfT) estimate that the English local road network is 

subject to around 2.5 million road works each year. These can cause significant 

disruption to people's journeys and congestion which they estimate costs the 

economy around £4 billion. 

2. The Secretary of State wrote to all highway authorities in July 2018 and 

demanded that all ‘street works’ by the end of March 2019 be managed by local 

authorities utilising ‘permit schemes’.  This deadline was subsequently extended 

to the end of March 2020. The Department for Transport recognise that this 

deadline cannot be practically reached by all authorities and, considering the 

overall restructure of BCP Council, have accepted that this will be brought into 

operation as soon as possible in the new financial year.   

3. As defined in section 48(3) of the New Roads and Street Works Act, ‘street works’ 

means works of any of the following kinds (other than works for road purposes) 

executed in a street in pursuance of a statutory right or a street works licence: (a) 

placing apparatus; or (b) inspecting, maintaining, adjusting, repairing, altering or 

renewing apparatus, changing the position of apparatus or removing it, or works 

required for or incidental to any such works (including, in particular, breaking up 

or opening the street, or any sewer, drain or tunnel under it, or tunnelling or boring 

under the street"  

4. The objective of introducing local permit schemes is to positively control street 

works related activities on all streets that could otherwise cause increased 

disruption. They achieve this by allowing better co-ordination and planning of 

activities, which reduces the disruption and inconvenience that these activities 

cause, leading to reduced congestion and the realisation of associated social, 

economic and environmental benefits. There are increased network management 

opportunities, linked to the greater resources employed by BCP Council under 

the proposed scheme who will be coordinating road and street works in the 

authority's area, offering greater benefit to those needing road space through 

better communication and management of their needs.  The staff will also be 

empowered by the permit scheme powers to more proactively manage the road 

network. 

5. BCP Council is currently a ‘noticing’ highway authority in terms of Street Works 

activity on the highway. 

6. The key differences between a permit scheme and the preceding method for 

managing activities on the street (noticing) under the New Roads and Street 

Works Act (NRSWA) are:  

98



 

 better position to be more proactive in the management and control of 

activities taking place on the highway; permit schemes may be envisaged 

as schemes to book occupation of the street for specified periods for a 

specified purpose rather than the noticing system whereby the promoters 

are entitled to occupation of the street and must simply notify the highway 

authority of their intentions;  

 highway authorities’ own works are included within the scope of a permit 

scheme (e.g. Street Scene);  

 conditions can be attached to permits which impose constraints on the way 

that work is carried out and information is provided, and can allow the 

authority to direct the timing of activities;  

 the control that permit authorities have over variations to the permit 

conditions, particularly in the circumstances of extensions of time, give 

greater opportunity to deliver completion dates; and,  

 a permit fee is payable by the statutory undertakers. This fee relates to the 

proportion of total costs incurred by a Permit authority. 

7. Permit Schemes can only be formed using the process set out in the following 

statutory guidance; ‘Department for Transport Statutory Guidance for Highway 

Authority Permit Schemes, October 2015’. 

8. Each approved permit must have a set of conditions applied to it; these conditions 

need to be approved and consulted on before introduction.  Following approval in 

October by Cabinet, a consultation was carried out between 10th December 2019 

and 11th February 2020. The results of this consultation can be seen in Appendix 

1.  

9. Taking into consideration the consultation results, the following changes are 

recommended to the conditions consulted on:- 

a. Paragraph 3.1.3. Alteration of the word pavement to footway in the sentence 

– scheduling and management of activities to minimise disruption to any 

road or pavement user. 

b. Paragraph 10.1.2. Addition of the words ‘or permit’ to the sentence – when 

applying for a PAA 

c. Paragraphs 10.1.6, 10.7.1, 10.7.2. Removal of the word ‘Application’ from 

sentences stating – or request a Permit Application Modification Request. 

d. Paragraph 14.10.2. Addition of the words ‘or by 10am the next working day’ 

to the sentence – the Promoter will submit the first Permit application within 

two hours of starting work 

e. Appendix A: Definition of Terms. Removal of a reference to the Code of 

Practice for Permits which has been superseded in legislation. 

99



 

f. These changes are reflected in the update version of the BCP Council Street 

Works Permit Scheme document shown in Appendix 2. 

10.  In order to bring a permit scheme into operation, the Council must advertise a 

legal order, 28 days prior to the go-live date. 

Summary of Financial Implications 

11. Permit Authorities may charge fees in relation to the issuing of permits and must 

justify those fee levels.  The fee levels should be available to those consulted 

under regulation 3 of the statutory guidance and may not exceed those set out in 

regulation 29 of the statutory guidance. 

12. Any income generated by permit schemes should be used to cover the costs of 

operating the scheme. The income from fees must not exceed the total allowable 

costs prescribed in the permit regulations. This balance can be achieved over 

several years.  

13. Allowable costs are limited to: the proportion of direct costs and overheads 

attributable to operating the scheme for undertakers, which are over and above 

the cost of the authority’s co-ordination duty under NRSWA.  This may include 

the costs related to permits which may not always lead to a permit being granted. 

Overheads can include: non-salary staff-related costs such as pensions and 

benefits, proportionate allocation of accommodation, central services and IT 

costs, as well as general administration and management for monitoring the 

permit system, key performance indicators (KPIs) and invoicing. 

14. The costs associated with establishing the permit scheme are not 

chargeable/recoverable from promoters/statutory undertakers.  The officer time 

and consultation costs for a BCP Council permit scheme were estimated, 

identified and budgeted for as part of stage 2 of the local government 

reorganisation process and have therefore already been accounted for as part of 

2019/20 the Growth and Infrastructure revenue budget.   

15. The costs of implementing and running the permit scheme and anticipated fee 

income are as follows:- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure £ 

Staff 400,000 

Other costs 150,000 

Management 
overhead 

73,825 

Total expenditure 623,825 

  

Income £ 

Permit fees 573,825 

Additional fees 50,000 

Total income 623,825 

100



 

The intention is to employ, in the first instance, up to 6 new permit officers and 
up to 2 new inspectors. More may be recruited later once an initial period of 
assessment has been carried out. 

 
Other costs include IT, reporting and other administrative costs plus there will 
be a contribution to management overheads associated with the scheme. 

 
All costs, particularly overheads, will be periodically reviewed to ensure they are 
appropriate and reflect the current level of activity. Thereby ensuring the correct 
fees are set each year and ensuring the scheme remains cost neutral. 

 
Up to 10,000 permits are presently issued per year, and fees will range between 
£60 to £240 per permit depending on the classification of the road affected. 
Assuming a prudent 8,000 permits are issued with an average fee of £78, 
sufficient income will be generated to fund the expenditure incurred.  Additional 
fee income is also anticipated from abandoned and cancelled works and fines. 

 

16. A further summary of the anticipated income and expenditure is included in 

Appendix 3.  The income and expenditure would be regularly reviewed to ensure 

that the scheme would remain cost neutral to the Council. 

Summary of Legal Implications  

17. There is a statutory requirement for Highway Authorities when establishing a 

permit scheme to carry out a full consultation of stakeholders (this does not 

include the public, although the public were given the opportunity to respond).  

Authorities must consult those specified within the guidance and any other 

persons the authority consider appropriate. 

18. Furthermore, the regulations stipulate that consultation should be sufficiently 

detailed to enable an adequate response to be considered and provided.  This 

means that if a variation is proposed the consultation should be proportionate to 

the nature of that variation, and that consultees should have the detail they need 

to make a fully-informed response.  The Secretary of State is listed as a consultee 

and would consider on a case by case basis whether to make representations. 

19. It is recommended that a legal order is made to bring the permit scheme into 

operation, based on the updated conditions which have taken into account the 

consultation responses, as shown in Appendix 2.  

Summary of Human Resources Implications  

20. The operation of a Street Works permit scheme would likely require the council 

to employ additional officers. Any additional posts would be paid for from the 

income generated by the permit fee charges.  This does not include the cost of 

Inspectors who would continue to be funded via Sample Inspection fees and other 

income not relating to permit conditions (e.g. Section 72 (defect) charges). 

21. The DfT permit scheme matrix infers that an additional 9 posts at varying grades 

could be required to facilitate the operation of the permit scheme effectively within 

the BCP Council footprint. 

101



 

22. Initially, it is proposed to employ an additional 6 posts while the scheme is 

embedded.  Recommendations were made to the Service Director and these 

posts have been through job evaluation and a grading process to effectively 

create the posts. These will be appointed to as soon as possible, so that training 

etc can be provided prior to go-live.  The level of staffing will be subject to regular 

review. 

Summary of Environmental Impact  

23. A Street Works permit scheme would reduce congestion due to the occupation 

times of the highway reducing. 

Summary of Public Health Implications  

24. Reduction in emissions from idling vehicles. 

Summary of Equality Implications  

25.  There are no adverse equality implications arising from the recommendations.  

All works carried out on the highway must conform to the Code of Practice for 

Safety at Street Works and Road Works 2013 as amended which ensures 

compliance with the Equalities Act; stating in the foreword that “You must pay 

particular attention to the needs of disabled people and should also consider 

other vulnerable groups such as elderly people, children and those with push 

chairs.” Even with careful planning, roadworks are generally negative in terms of 

traffic movements; traffic including pedestrians, cyclists and those with 

disabilities.  Minimising the time roadworks are in place will therefore have a 

beneficial outcome for all types of road user. 

26. The added costs of permitting are extremely small/negligible compared to the 

overall costs of utilities for infrastructure. Many utilities welcome the permitting 

initiative as it forces them to be more organised and so may improve their 

efficiency.  DfT assessed there to be no risk of reducing investment by utilities 

so no reduced service or equality impact as there would be no reduction in 

infrastructure investment.   

 

Summary of Risk Assessment  

27.  There are no significant risks. 

Background Papers  

28. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Results of the consultation. 
Appendix 2 – BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme document. 
Appendix 3 - Street Works Permit Scheme Income and Costs Summary 
 

102



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Appendix 1 

 

PERMIT SCHEME FORMAL CONSULTATION REPORT 

 
Title:  Proposed Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Permit Scheme (BCPPS) formal consultation responses and report 

Date: 12th February 2020 

Authors: Paul James Streetworks Manager, Jeff Elliott Consultant, Brighton Traffic Management Ltd 

 

1 Introduction 

The formal consultation regarding the proposed Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Permit Scheme (BCPPS) ran for a period of nine (9) weeks 
beginning on the 10th December 2019. The deadline for receipt of responses was on 11th February 2020. 

It was stated in the consultation covering email that ‘all responses received by the 11th February 2020 will be taken into consideration and, if Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Council consider it to be appropriate, amendments will be made to the draft Permit Scheme. 

The draft Scheme Document and accompanying covering letter was issued to 144 key stakeholder organisations and individuals, including local 
neighbouring Highway Authorities, Utilities, road user representative groups, current suppliers and non-government organisations.  The consultation 
was also open to everyone via the Council’s website. 

A total of 3 individual comments on the proposed Permit Scheme were received by the deadline. 

A list of comments received, and potential response or amendments are provided in this document. 
 

1.1 List of Consultees who responded by the deadline 
1. Virgin Media (VM) 
2. Openreach (OR) 
3. Morebus (MB) 

103



 

4. Scottish & Southern Electricity Networks (SSEN) 
5. Member of the public. (MoP) 

 
 

1.2 Consultees who responded after the deadline 

No responses were received after the deadline. 

 

2 Consultation Distribution List 

 

The full distribution list includes sensitive personal data.  It included all utility companies, bus operators, taxi representatives, Highway England, NHS, Network 
Rail, Dorset Council, Dorset Police, Tourism representatives, relevant charity transport providers, all Cllrs, relevant Council Officers.  It was open to the public 
and any other interested party via the Council website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

104



 

3 General Comments 

Org Suggested amendment / clarification / comment / question Response / action / 
recommendation 

OR Key Observation - all new permit schemes now follow January 2013 DfT Additional Advice Note. Permit 
Schemes focusing only on the busy part of your road network defined as strategically significant streets. 
Permit authorities must also encourage works promoters to work wholly outside of traffic-sensitive times 
by offering discounted fees.   

Your scheme covers all streets, so goes against this ethos.  

 

BCP Council acknowledge and follow 
all advice and guidance offered but 
must note that the highway network of 
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
is of a heavily urban nature and 
therefore nearly all the street network 
can be strategically significant at 
times.  Typical examples of this are 
that local traffic will always tend to 
avoid main distributors not just at 
traffic sensitive times and use streets 
of a lower classification.  Therefore, 
BCP officers coordinating road space 
activities must take account road 
users’ actions when fulfilling the 
authorities network management duty 
expending similar resource 
considering all road space booking 
requests hence why BCP are charging 
maximum fees across the network. 

105



 

VM Key Points regarding the Permit Scheme Consultation 
As you are aware all new permit schemes now have to follow the Statutory Guidance for Highway 
Authority Permit Schemes issued October 2015.  Within this document it outlines a more rigorous 
approach to the assessment of category 0, 1 and 2, and traffic-sensitive locations than those 
categorised as 3 and 4. This approach enables lower fees to be applied (or waived).  Permit 
authorities must encourage works promoters to work wholly outside of traffic-sensitive times by 
offering discounted fees. By following DfT advice both the Council and works promoters will be 
able to focus on working together to plan those works likely to cause the most disruption, rather 
than a blanket approach including streets that are not traffic-sensitive.  

 

BCP Council acknowledge and follow 
all advice and guidance offered but 
must note that the highway network of 
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
is of a heavily urban nature and 
therefore nearly all the street network 
can be strategically significant at times.  
Typical examples of this are that local 
traffic will always tend to avoid main 
distributors not just at traffic sensitive 
times and use streets of a lower 
classification.  Therefore, BCP officers 
coordinating road space activities must 
take account road users’ actions when 
fulfilling the authorities network 
management duty expending similar 
resource considering all road space 
booking requests hence why BCP are 
charging maximum fees across the 
network. 

106



 

SSEN  The scheme is written in plain English and of appropriate length referencing to the appropriate 
guidance – thank you. 

 The objectives are clear and have utilities and own promotors in mind. 
 Suggest table 1 (10.6) is moved to an appendix 
 We note your proposed start date of 1st June 2020 and thank you for a FPN amnesty for this initial 

month. 
 We are disappointed you have chosen to charge on all roads and charging the maximum fees for all 

streets. SSEN believe that there is less co-ordination required on non- traffic sensitive streets and do 
not agree charging maximum fees is required.   

 The CBA is complicated in nature and do not agree with the expected number of reduction in works 
days due to the permit scheme. We actually believe works will increase with the need for great 
utilities and the increase in new homes being built. Car charging point applications with increase 
exponentially in the coming years.  There is no evidence to show a reduction in the costs of 
congestion by £1m per year. 

 The fee table would be useful if included in the main scheme document as an appendix. 
 The BCP DFT cost matrix state your permit scheme costs to be £720K, I hope if this figure is not 

accurate then your annual report will show this and fees will be reduced.   
 

Thank you for you for your comments. 

BCP Council note that the highway 
network of Bournemouth Christchurch and 
Poole is of a heavily urban nature and 
therefore nearly all the street network can 
be strategically significant at times.  
Typical examples of this are that local 
traffic will always tend to avoid main 
distributors not just at traffic sensitive 
times and use streets of a lower 
classification.  Therefore, BCP officers 
coordinating road space activities must 
take account road users’ actions when 
fulfilling the authorities network 
management duty expending similar 
resource considering all road space 
booking requests hence why BCP are 
charging maximum fees across the 
network. 

Please refer any queries on the CBA 
model out comes to DfT who designed 
them for use in evaluating the 
effectiveness of permit schemes. 

BCP Council used the DfT cost matrix 
inputting operational timings and staff 
costings in order to ascertain the scheme 
costs.  But you will notice that the final 
allowable cost/cost per permit used to 
calculate the total permit scheme costs 
are higher than the maximum allowable 
fees.  Therefore, the actual out turn of the 
BCP Council permit fees will be lower 
than the costs shown in the DfT fees 
matrix.  BCP Council will need to closely 
monitor this variance and may need to 
lobby DfT to increase maximum allowable 
fees if they do not cover the costs of 
running a permit scheme in Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole. 

107



 

VM 2.3.4  
Virgin Media acknowledges that BCP Council recognises the local economic benefits of infrastructure 
projects including the roll out of Superfast Broadband within their area. 

 

Noted 

VM 2.3.5 

Virgin Media acknowledge that the purpose start date of the new Permit Scheme will start on 1st June 
2020. 

Noted 

SSEN 2.4.1 

Duplication see 2.3.2 suggest removal 

Thank you for your comment 

SSEN 2.5.2 

Duplication see 2.5.1 – suggest rephrasing 

Thank you for your comment 

OR, VM 2.6.3, 9.2.5 
Openreach - would like to make reference to the DfT advice (letter date   17th March 2014) indicating that 
only the sector agreed condition matrix (HAUC Advice Note) will be acceptable. 
 
Virgin Media would like to make reference to the DfT advice (letter date 17th March 2014) indicating that 
only the sector agreed condition matrix (HAUC Advice Note) will be acceptable. 

 

 

Noted 

SSEN 2.6.4 

There are cases where works will need to be extended for genuine safety reasons  eg immediate works 
where subsequent faults ensue and / or where other incidents do not allow the works to be completed. 
Incentives to complete activities and not applicable in these cases. 

Noted 

108



 

SSEN 2.6.5 

Suggest removal as 2.6.6 confirms 

Thank you for your comment 

BT, VM 2.6.6 
Openreach are disappointed that the BCP Permit Scheme and associated fees will apply to all classification 
of roads. If the council chooses to apply permits to 100% of streets, contrary to advice from ministers that 
have resulted in reduced occupation of the highway – advanced planning, use of minimum-dig technology 
and shared or sequential occupation of the carriageway etc. 
 
Virgin Media are disappointed that BCP Council are considering that all streets that are publicly 
maintainable by the Authority will be included on their Permit Scheme and all chargeable. 

 

Thank you for your comments 

VM 2.6.7 

Virgin Media acknowledge Section 58 restrictions, and will endeavour to discuss if works need to go 
ahead after 21 days of completion of Section 58 works for customer connections with Highway Authority 
prior to work taking place. 

 

Noted thank you 

SSEN 2.6.8 

Suggest rephrasing to confirm HA activities will follow the permit scheme and raise compliant permits 

 

BCP Council will operate the permit 
scheme in accordance with the set 
legislation showing parity to all who 
need to book road space 

VM 3.1.3 

Virgin Media would like the word pavement user changed to footway user. 

Agreed, amended 

109



 

VM, 
SSEN 

3.1.5, 3.1.6 
Virgin Media agrees with the key factors highlighted regarding better planning, scheduling and management 
of activities to minimise disruption to any road user or pavement user. Virgin Media agrees that an overall 
drive to further improve the timing and duration of works to minimise disruption, where safe and practical to 
do so is a good thing however believe the current co-ordination process allows for this without the need for 
a permit scheme.  Virgin Media already promote improvements to timing and duration of works and there 
are many examples of innovation in working practices that have resulted in reduced occupation of the 
highway – advanced planning, use of minimum-dig technology and shared or sequential occupation of the 
carriageway etc. 

We applaud this statement, We are happy to work together with you on this objective 

 

There is no evidence that can prove this statement with the introduction of a permit scheme. Works will not 
reduce in number and there is evidence that new homes will require even greater numbers of activities to 
provide essential services.  

 

 

 

 

How will this be achieved? 

Thank you for your comments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BCP Council would refer SSEN to 
discuss their concerns further with DfT 
who have carried out investigation in to 
the benefits of permit schemes and 
published their results on the .gov web 
site. 

 

 

The extra resources afforded BCP 
Council through operating a permit 
scheme will improve many functions of 
the coordination process including 
dialogue 

SSEN 5.2.1 

Suggest adding permit fees 

Thank you for your comment 

 

110



 

SSEN 5.2.2 

We welcome this 

Thank you for your comment 

VM, 
SSEN 

6.2.2 
Virgin Media acknowledge that when lifting or replacing manhole or chamber covers Virgin Media do not   
need to apply for a Permit. This will speed up fault finding and survey work on the Highway Network. 
 
Unless in a TS street at a TS time! 

Thank you for your comment 

 

 

Noted, thank you 

SSEN 7.2.4 

Please confirm discount available 

 

See 16.2.3 in the Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Permit 
Scheme document 

VM 7.3.1 

Virgin Media believe that an application for works may have more than one street in the scheme, 
especially in the case of major works. 

Noted 

VM, 
SSEN 

7.3.3 

Virgin Media believe that this may not always be possible with regard to immediate works. 

 

Not necessarily, a TTRO will require a PAA but may not involve excavation eg over headwork works 

Noted 
 

111



 

OR, 
SSEN 

7.5.1 

Where works have been delayed due to 3rd party damage or another incident it should not be wholly down 
to the promotor to notify the authority when then authority may be the cause of the delay. In the case of a 
major incident the authority should contact the utility to agree a way forward especially where a permit may 
need to be revoked due to health and safety. 

 

Please confirm how you wish this to be actioned? Phone or electronically 

 

Noted 

 

 

 

The works promoter will be best 
placed to make the decision on the 
communication method to meet the 
requirements of their activities and 
ensure compliance with regulations 

VM 7.5.3 

Virgin Media would not be expected to pay for another Permit if Permit Authority directs Virgin Media to 
close down works and reinstate if no fault of the Utility. 

Noted 

VM, 
SSEN 

7.6.2 
 Virgin Media believe that his is not a legislative requirement under Permit Schemes 

 

Not sure how operating a notice system would be relevant in this case?  Under street manager all works 
will essentially be raised as a permit but no fee will apply until the relevant permit scheme is validated. We 
would just submit a separate permit to the neighbouring authority. 

Noted 

SSEN 7.6.3 

The project reference is only entered on the initial applications 

Noted 

112



 

SSEN 7.7.2 

We believe a toolkit or process be implemented to ensure all collaborators know their responsibilities and 
who is responsible for what costs. 

Thank you for your comment 

SSEN 7.7.3 

This may not be available if the HA suggest collaborating with a 3rd party who has already booked the road 
space. The HA may need to provide such details after the initial application has been received. 

Noted 

VM 7.7.5 

Virgin Media acknowledges reduce fees when collaborative working  

Thank you for your comment 

SSEN 7.10.1 

We welcome this thank you. How would you like the early start (before application) to be requested? 

BCP Council would refer you to our 
earlier answer discussing the extra 
resources afforded through operating 
a permit scheme which will improve 
many functions of the coordination 
process namely in early dialogue 

113



 

OR, VM, 
SSEN 

7.10.2 

You can apply for an early start on a PA. There is no requirement to submit a variation if agreed in 
advance. 

 

Virgin Media would like clarification regarding this paragraph as you can apply for an early start on a PA, 
but there is no requirement to submit a variation if agreed in advance. 

 

If the permit has not yet been applied for this will not be required as the permit will be applied for with the 
early start dates as agreed. This negates the need for a variation and an additional charge to the permit.  

 

Agreed 

 

 

 

A variation is only necessary when a 
previously submitted PAA or permit 
has been granted. 

 

 

OR 7.11.3 

This is not a requirement of a permit application and is not mandatory.  An early start can be requested 
prior to the PAA or PA being submitted with the agreed dates. 

There is no paragraph 7.11.3 in the 
BCP permit scheme document 

VM 7.12.2 

Virgin Media believe that this should be raised as unattributable works and site photographs to be issued 
before to sending an FPN. A FPN cannot be issued if no Permit has been raised 

Thank you for your comments 

SSEN 8.2.9 

Please clarify this request. A PAA will only be copied on application to any parties who have contact details 
on the USRN. 

BCP Council agree with your 
interpretation of the paragraph 

SSEN 8.3.4 

Please clarify this request 

BCP Council agree with your 
interpretation of the requirement as 
described in 8.2.9 above 

114



 

SSEN 9.2.1 

Has this not been changed in recent legislation? 

This definition for major activities is 
relevant and BCP Council will follow 
and adhere to any approved changes 
in legislation  

SSEN 9.2.5 

Except for mandatory conditions, others should only be applied if relevant to the site and works 

Agreed 

SSEN 9.3.1 

Should this not be Temporary TTRO not (TRO)  

 

A temporary traffic regulation order 
(TTRO) required for road works is still 
classed as a traffic regulation order in 
legislation. 

SSEN 9.3.3 

Except for mandatory conditions, others should only be applied if relevant to the site and works 

Agreed 

SSEN 9.4.3 

Except for mandatory conditions, others should only be applied if relevant to the site and works 

Agreed 

OR, 
SSEN 

9.5.2 

If listed as a street of early notification on the NSG we will endeavour to comply with the 

request providing the relevant details are shown. 

Usually this is defined as Early notification of works which does not specify excavation. This 

usually relates to any traffic management or high risk of disruption but may not involve 

excavation. Assume contact numbers will be on the gazetteer.   

Noted 

 

 

 

Noted, agreed 

115



 

SSEN 9.5.3 

Suggest using retrospective application. These applications are made the following morning not within 2 hrs 
over night. 

9.5.3 is discussing works within the 
normal day for overnight works see 
9.5.4 

OR, 
SSEN 

9.5.5 

How do you propose we comply with this request and where is this shown in legislation? 

 

Please advise how you expect this to be demonstrated 

 

This will be considered dependent on 
the activity being undertaken with full 
consideration of all facts at hand and 
communications with the works 
promoter. 

 

OR, VM, 
SSEN 

9.5.6 

Virgin Media would like clarification on what conditions would BCP Council place on an 

immediate Permit as works could of started out of hours and have been already completed 

when Virgin Media notify BCP Council. 

What conditions do you propose will be relevant to immediate activities bearing in mind works overnight 
and/or at a weekend may have started and been reinstated before the permit is raised? 

 

Works may have been completed before the retrospective application is submitted so this may not be 
applicable. 

Works promoters should consider 
and apply appropriate conditions to 
all permit applications.  BCP council 
will consider all applications received 
offering comments and requesting 
any changes to conditions applied 
that will benefit highway users and 
the network management duty. 

 

Noted  

 

SSEN 10.1.2 

Should this be PAA or permit 

Agreed, amended  

116



 

SSEN 10.1.6 

Permit modification request PMR 

Agreed, amended  

SSEN 10.2.1 

A practical alternative would be an Emailed form as obtaining a paper copy may not be feasible. 

Noted, thank you  

SSEN 10.4.1 

This is purely dependant on the NSG ASD and we have not control over to whom the details are 
electronically sent to. 

Noted  

SSEN 10.4.2 

Please clarify how we would be advised or know of this?  

 

Promoters need to carry out all 
reasonable checks prior to 
undertaking their works and it is for 
undertaker to ensure they are 
meeting their requirements 

 

SSEN 10.5.1 

Suggest this is detailed to ensure compliance or added as an appendix if relevant 

Promoters need to carry out all 
reasonable checks prior to 
undertaking their works and it is for 
undertaker to ensure they are 
meeting their requirements 

 

SSEN 10.7.1 

Permit modification request (PMR) 

Agreed, amended  

117



 

SSEN 10.7.2 

Permit modification request (PMR) 

Agreed, amended  

SSEN 10.8.1 

Please clarify how this consent will be requested? We have authority to install a new supply after 20 days 
but it’s the reinstatement that should be discussed and agreed where a S 58 or 58A is in place. 

Noted, agreed  

SSEN 10.9.3 

If the permit has not been granted then a modification can be applied electronically without the need for any 
agreement including a name. Any modification does not require an agreement and name under the permit 
scheme however it is good practise to discuss any changes which are fundamental from the initial 
application eg traffic management after the permit has been submitted and granted. 

Agreed  

SSEN 12.1.4 

This is not mandatory or practical 

BCP Council do not agree as those 
undertaking the works should have 
details with them on site of the 
activities being undertaken to ensure 
they are supporting BCP Council in 
meeting their network management 
duty 

 

OR, VM 12.2, 12.2.1 

Virgin Media acknowledge that BCP Council will be using Nationally agreed Conditions amended in 2015 
Statutory Guidance. 

 

Openreach Ltd acknowledges that BCP will be adopting solely the nationally agreed conditions text 
developed and approved by HAUC (England) as your standard conditions. 

 

Thank you for your comments  

118



 

SSEN 12.3.1 

As a street of early notification of works 

Correct  

SSEN 12.3.2 

Within 2 hrs of the start of the next working day if out of hours. Applications are not always made over night 

Agreed 12.3.2 notes this  

VM, 
SSEN 

12.3.3 

Virgin Media would like clarification on how this would reflect the Permit as works may already be complete 
before applying for a Permit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Under the guidance all immediate works should be granted and then an AIV sent if relevant bearing in mind 
the works may have been completed prior to the permit application being submitted. 

On the rare occasion that the works 
are completed before applying for a 
permit BCP Council acknowledge 
that it will be unlikely that the 
application of additional conditions 
will be of value to those undertaking 
the immediate works but any 
subsequent works to the same 
location would be expected to 
consider and follow reasonably 
requested conditions. 

 

Noted, agreed 

 

VM, 
SSEN 

12.4.1 

Virgin Media believe that a permit should only be revoked for significant safety breaches or in the event of 
an incident beyond Virgin Media control. 

 

Only in the case of safety or an incident beyond your control. 

Noted.  BCP council appreciate and 
acknowledge the severity of revoking 
a permit and would only do so for 
clearly offered reasons specific to the 
Utility and activity being undertaken. 

 

119



 

SSEN 13.2.2 

Permits will still be applied for in working days and any non TS permits will only refer to working days. 

Noted  

SSEN 14.1.1 

A granted permit should only be revoked in the case of an emergency or due to a serious safety breach. 

BCP council appreciate and 
acknowledge the severity of revoking 
a permit and would only do so for 
clearly offered reasons specific to the 
Utility and activity being undertaken 

 

SSEN 14.1.3 

Please clarify the process, telephone would be preferred. 

BCP Council would refer you to our 
earlier answers discussing the extra 
resources afforded through operating 
a permit scheme which will improve 
many functions of the coordination 
process namely in dialogue 

 

SSEN 14.2.2 

Unless due to circumstances beyond the control of the statutory undertaker 

Thank you for your comment  

SSEN 14.8.2 

The authority should submit an AIV to the promotor 

Thank you for your comment  

SSEN 14.9.1 

Only a works data variation or duration variation may be submitted once works have commenced. 

Thank you for your comment  

120



 

SSEN 14.9.2 

We can apply for a duration variation if within 2 days or 20% of the duration available on the permit without 
need for discussion.  

 

BCP Council would refer you to our 
earlier answers discussing the extra 
resources afforded through operating 
a permit scheme which will improve 
many functions of the coordination 
process namely in dialogue 

 

SSEN 14.10.2 

Or by 10am the next working day. 

Agreed, amended  

SSEN 14.12.1 

Only for severe safety breaches of an incident beyond their control 

BCP council appreciate and 
acknowledge the severity of revoking 
a permit and would only do so for 
clearly offered reasons specific to the 
Utility and activity being undertaken 

 

SSEN 14.13.1 

The site will need to be reinstated and made safe. This will have to continue passed the time the permit has 
been revoked. An agreed course of action to make the site safe and return to full use will need to be 
agreed. 

Noted  

SSEN 16.1.1.i 

Not where a subsequent permit is refused and not used.  

 

Agreed  

VM 16.2.3, 16.3 

Virgin Media acknowledge the lower fees and discount of 30%. 

Thank you for your comment  

121



 

SSEN 16.3.1 

Please clarify how this will be applied 

BCP Council will consider all 
applications received on their 
individual merits applying discounts 
in accordance with the Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Permit 
Scheme 

 

VM 16.5 

Virgin Media acknowledge the BCP Council review of fees. 

Thank you for your comment  

OR, VM, 
SSEN 

16.7.1 

The proven process is to issue a draft invoice electronically a month in arrears. This is checked and agreed 
and sent back to you within 10 working days. An invoice can then be raised. An invoice should not be levied 
without prior consent of the agreed charges by the utility 

 

Common practice is that draft invoices get raised usually a month in arrears, sent to Promotor for 
clarification, and then final invoice raised on agreed charges. 

 

The agreed practice is to submit a draft copy of proposed fees monthly in arrears. An e-mail agreeing to 
charges should be sent within 10 working days then an invoice can be raised. 

Thank you for your comments.   

 

 

BCP Council will put in place 
mutually agreed invoicing process 
and timelines with all Utility’s 

 

VM 17.2.4 

Virgin Media would like clarification of what other offences this would be. 

Please refer to the NRSWA 
legislation for a full list of relevant 
offences. 

 

122



 

VM, 
SSEN 

18.1, 18.2 

Virgin Media acknowledges that any dispute of a Permit should be resolved locally as works cannot be 
delayed, due to waiting for dispute review from SWHAUC or HAUC England as most work is customer led 
and time scales to be met. 

 

 

 

 

We welcome this 

Thank you for your comments and as 
referenced in the BCP permit 
scheme document we will endeavor 
to resolve disputes locally. 

If disputes are not resolved informally 
within 14 days, they will be referred 
to SWHAUC or HAUC England as 
appropriate.  

 

Thank you 

 

 

 

VM 20.1.7 
Virgin Media acknowledges the issue of Fixed Penalty Notices will be suspended for the first month of 
operation of the new scheme. 
 
We welcome this 

Thank you for your comment.  

OR Reference to the ‘Code of Practice for Permits’ need removing from this scheme.  This document has been 
withdrawn by the DFT and has been partially replaced by both Statutory Guidance and the HAUC England 
Guidance on the Operation of a Permit Scheme.   

Agreed, amended  

OR, VM Openreach Ltd welcome the staggered introduction of the scheme with the initial month’s amnesty of FPN’s 
and would welcome the same on permit fees 

 

 

Agreed 

 

 

123



 

OR We would welcome any re-think on charging for all roads on your network as one of the permit scheme 
ethos is to improve the vehicle movement on the SSS highways.           

 

Please see response to your earlier 
key observation 

 

VM Virgin Media are disappointed that BCP Council are charging maximum fees on all roads within their 
Proposed Permit Scheme, but would prefer an option of no charges on category 3 and 4 roads within the 
scheme. 

Please see response to your earlier 
key points 

 

VM Will BCP Council be running shadow Permits and FPN’s on their own works? BCP Council will apply parity in 
application of the permit scheme 
regulations to all those who apply for 
road space through the BCP permit 
scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

124



 

 

MB 

 

We understand that income generated through the scheme has to be put back into the affected areas.  We 
understand there will be administration costs associated with the scheme but would additionally request 
consideration of the following areas: 

 Income to be invested in additional control room staff to monitor CCTV cameras and make positive 
changes to traffic flow through traffic light phasing amendments and messages on VMS signs - 
particularly out of hours and when special events take place at weekends. 

 A holistic approach taken to backfilling.  If an organisation renting a lane for permitted works is to 
refill a trench, consider the surface of the adjacent roadway and when appropriate, look to widen 
the surface area to prevent multiple sunken repairs causing uneven road surfaces in years to come 

Overall, we welcome the scheme which we feel will encourage responsible road disruption and assist in 
combating traffic congestion. 

 

Thank you for your comments. BCP 
Council will invest all in fulfilling our 
Network Management Duty 

 

 

MoP 

Often when road works or developments are going on areas of pavement get shut and the alternatives for 
pedestrians can be very inconvenient, resulting in people walking in the road unsafely rather than crossing 
for example.  The consultation looks quite technical but is this an opportunity to address the issue and 
require better temporary provision while works are going on – eg use jersey barriers to create a protected 
pedestrian route, narrowing the carriageway on the same side?  And also limiting / minimising the length of 
the disruption to pedestrians.  This would be in line with the Councils aims to prioritise walking and reduce 
emissions. 

 

Thank you for your comments. The 
Permit Scheme will address all your 
concerns. 

 

 

MoP 

Hello 
Perhaps you could let us the residents know when they are going to disrupt our roads, at the moment it is 
causing a great deal of frustration as so many of our roads are being dug up and then left for weeks at a 
time with those stupid barriers around the holes which usually get knocked over into the road and trying to 
drive around them is a nightmare. Whatever is going on at the moment surely does not need every road 
being dug up? For that is what is happening now so perhaps you had better think again on how to control 
things for nothing is working at the moment. So which utility company needs to dig up all the roads at the 
same time?? And then leave them for a couple of weeks or so? 
A very annoyed resident 

Thank you for your comments. The 
Permit Scheme will address all your 
concerns and will also help with future 
co-ordination. 

125



 

 

MoP 

 

The scheme is obviously sensible in stopping the clash of several roadworks at the same time or one 
company digging up the road immediately after one has finished - which happens often. 
But I hope you are making sure there is sufficient provision for emergency works such as the repair of 
water leaks and gas leaks to be attended to immediately without having to wait for office hours and a 
permit. 

 

Thank you for your comments. The 
Permit Scheme makes full provision for 
any emergency works. 

 

MoP 

 

Brilliant idea. 
 
This should co-ordinate work as opposed to two or more works on the same patch of road within short time 
scales resulting in un-necessary road closures. 
 
However, regarding road works undertaken by utility companies. I feel that there should be a timescale of 
recall if work undertake falls short of the standards of finish. 
Currently pot hole repairs and some road resurfacing after repairs due to wear and tear is not to standard 
due to cost saving measures by these companies. As a consequence, re-work is required within shot time 
scales or the finish is left as is without these companies taken to task. 
 
An example of this was the 1980’s laying of Broad Band Cables. View the finish on the road in 
Longmeadow Lane, Creekmoor as a prime example. Or the footpaths around Goldfinch Road area. 
Particularly bad as the Goldfinch Road development I was informed, apparently has concrete conduit at 
the edge of the road to take cables etc which when this work was done was not utilised. 
 
The finish of this work was not acceptable when done and never been addressed since. 
 
I hope going forward more emphasis is put on contractors to provide suitable workmanship and be recalled 
to correct when it is not, and that inspectors of the undertaken work are put to task when they blatantly 
pass substandard work.  
 
We, as the public pay for this work one way or another and council members and employees are the 
custodians in place to manage what is the finished articles and ensure they meet or exceed requirements. 
 

 
 

Thank you for your comments. The 
Permit Scheme will address your 
concerns and give BCP Council more 
authority to tackle substandard 
reinstatements in the future. 

 

126



 

 

Appendix 2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bournemouth Christchurch 
and Poole Council Permit 
Scheme - Final 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Information 

Date:    December 2019 

Project Name:  Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme 
(BCPCPS) 

Service Area:   Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Highway Network 

Directorate:      Growth and Infrastructure   

Authors:  
  

Paul James, Street Works Manager. Project Lead 

Jeff Elliott, Scheme Consultant 

SRO: Traffic Manager (Richard Pearson) 

Version: Final 

 
 

127



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 2 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

CONTENTS 

1 FORWARD .................................................................................................................. 3 

2 INTRODUCTION TO THE PERMIT SCHEME ............................................................. 3 

3 OBJECTIVES OF BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
PERMIT SCHEME ....................................................................................................... 5 

4 SCOPE OF THE PERMIT SCHEME ............................................................................ 6 

5 ACTIVITIES COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME................................................... 6 

6 EXEMPT ACTIVITIES .................................................................................................. 7 

7 PERMITS - GENERAL ................................................................................................. 8 

8 PERMITS - TYPES .................................................................................................... 11 

9 PERMITS - CLASSES ............................................................................................... 12 

10 PERMIT APPLICATIONS .......................................................................................... 14 

11 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PERMIT APPLICATION ....................................... 16 

12 PERMIT CONDITIONS .............................................................................................. 16 

13 GRANTING OF PERMITS ..................................................................................... 1717 

14 REVIEW, VARIATION AND REVOCATION OF PERMITS AND CONDITIONS ........ 18 

15 CANCELLATION OF A PERMIT ............................................................................... 20 

16 FEES ......................................................................................................................... 21 

17 SANCTIONS .............................................................................................................. 22 

18 DISPUTE RESOLUTION ........................................................................................... 23 

19 REGISTERS .............................................................................................................. 24 

20 TRANSITIONAL PHASE ........................................................................................... 24 

21 PERMIT SCHEME MONITORING ............................................................................. 24 

22 APPENDIX A: DEFINITION OF TERMS .................................................................... 27 

 

  

128



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 3 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

 

1 FORWARD 

1.1.1 The Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme is a Single Permit 
Scheme for the purposes of Part 3 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) and the 
Traffic Management Permit Scheme (England) Regulations 2015.     

2 INTRODUCTION TO THE PERMIT SCHEME 

2.1.1 A Permit Scheme is an important development for Bournemouth Christchurch and 
Poole Council and the surrounding area. The development of the scheme shows how 
the Council, working together with communities and stakeholders, expects to support 
and deliver the wider aims and priorities that the area has, by investing in the 
management of its transport network.  

2.1.2 This includes coordinating essential works, supporting businesses, economic growth, 
getting people into work, getting children safely to school, improving air quality and 
protecting and enhancing our unique natural and built local environments.  

2.1.3 We must maintain, manage, protect and improve the transport network because it is 
such a valuable asset. By making sure the network works safely and efficiently for 
everybody, we can also enable people to make the right transport and route choices 
and we want those choices to be, first and foremost, efficient, sustainable, healthy and 
convenient. 

2.2 BACKGROUND 

2.2.1 The scheme will operate in accordance with the HAUC (England) Guidance. 
Operation of Permit Schemes (February 2017) and the Statutory Guidance for 
Highways Permit Schemes (October 2015) 

2.3 THE PERMIT SCHEME  

2.3.1 This Permit Scheme, to be known as the Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
Council Permit Scheme (BCPCPS), and hereinafter referred to as the ‘Permit 
Scheme’, is made under Part 3 of the TMA and the Traffic Management Permit 
Scheme (England) Regulations 2007, (the Regulations), and has been prepared with 
regard to the Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary of State to assist Highway 
Authorities wishing to become Permit Authorities and in accordance with the 
requirements set out in the Regulations.  

2.3.2 The Permit Scheme will be operated solely by Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
Council as a Single Permit Scheme. 

2.3.3 All current New Roads and Street Works Act (NRSWA) and Traffic Management Act 
(TMA) legislation, codes of practice, etc. and any future amendments to that 
legislation, apply to this Permit Scheme.  

2.3.4 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council recognises the local economic benefits 
of nationally significant infrastructure projects, including the improved timing, 
coordination and delivery of works for the roll out of the Superfast Broadband project 
and any other future significant projects in the area. We are committed to ensuring 
that the commencement of the Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit 
Scheme will not have a detrimental impact on the implementation of any such projects 
within, or adjacent to, the Permit Scheme area. 

2.3.5 In accordance with Regulation 4 (g) it is intended that the Permit Scheme is going to 
start operation on 1st June 2020 

129



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 4 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

 

2.4 THE PERMIT AUTHORITY  

2.4.1 The Permit Scheme will be operated as a Single Permit Scheme by Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Council, as the Highway Authority for Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Council, hereinafter referred to as the ‘Permit Authority’.  

2.5 ACTIVITIES  

2.5.1 For consistency, the generic term ‘activities’ has been used rather than “works” to 
reflect the fact that the Scheme may eventually cover more than street and road works 
in subsequent Regulations. These are the specified works as set out in the 
Regulations.  

2.5.2 The term ‘Promoters’ will be used for both Statutory Undertakers (including Utility 
companies) and Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Highway Authority. 
The present 2007 Permit Regulations provide for permit schemes to include both 
street works by statutory undertakers, as defined in NRSWA (this excludes street 
works licensed under s50 of NRSWA), and highway works, defined in s83 of NRSWA 
as works for road purposes. Although the term “works” is used generically in the 
Regulations, “activities” is used in this guidance to encompass both types of works 
and anticipates subsequent sets of regulations which may extend the scope of permit 
schemes to other activities on the street. 

2.5.3 Authorities preparing permit schemes must include both highway and statutory 
undertakers’ works. All works comprising “registerable works” in terms of the 2007 
Notices Regulations under NRSWA should be included. 

2.5.4 A glossary of the main terms contained within this document is provided in Appendix 
A. 

2.6 RELATIONSHIP TO NRSWA  

2.6.1 Permit Schemes provide an alternative to Sections of the existing notification system 
of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA), whereby, instead of 
informing a Highway Authority about its intention to carry out works in its area, a 
Statutory Undertaker has to book time on the highway by obtaining a Permit from the 
Permit Authority.  

2.6.2 Under a Permit Scheme, the activities undertaken by the Highway Authority, its 
partners or agents are also treated in exactly the same way as a Statutory Undertaker.  

2.6.3 The Permit Authority may apply conditions, attached to Permits, which impose 
constraints on the dates and times of activities and the way that work is carried out.  

2.6.4 The Permit Authority’s control over variations to Permit conditions, particularly time 
extensions, gives a greater incentive to complete activities on time. 

2.6.5 A Highway Authority may choose to implement a Permit Scheme on all or some of the 
roads under its control. 

2.6.6 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council has decided to implement a Permit 
Scheme on all of the streets under its control. 

2.6.7 Changes to Section 58 and 58a (restrictions on works following substantial road 
works) and Section 74 (charges of occupation of the highway where works are 
unreasonably prolonged) apply only to Statutory Undertakers activities.  

2.6.8 The Permit Scheme makes arrangements so that similar procedures are followed for 
Highway Authority Promoter activities in relation to timing and duration, in order to 
facilitate the operation of the Permit Scheme. 

130



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 5 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

3 OBJECTIVES OF BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH 
AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

 

Working together to deliver a safe, efficient and sustainable 
highway network for everybody. 

 

3.1.1 All activities on highways have the potential to reduce the width of the street available 
to traffic, pedestrians, cyclists and other users and have the potential to also 
inconvenience businesses and local residents.  

3.1.2 The scale of disruption caused is relative to the type of activities being undertaken and 
the capacity of the street. Activities where the traffic flow is close to, or exceeds, the 
physical capacity of the street will have the potential to cause congestion, disruption 
and delays.  

3.1.3 The objective of Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme is to 
improve the strategic and operational management of the highway network through 
better planning, scheduling and management of activities to minimise disruption to any 
road or footway user. 

3.1.4 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme will enable better 
coordination of activities throughout the highway network. 

 

3.1.5 The objectives and benefits of Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit 
Scheme are: 

 Reduced disruption on the road network 

 Improvements to overall network management 

 A reduction in delays to the travelling public 

 A reduction in costs to businesses caused by delays 

 Promotion of a safer environment 

 Reduced carbon emissions 

3.1.6 The Permit Scheme objectives will be facilitated by improving performance in line with 
the Authorities' Network Management Duty in relation to the following key factors: 

 Enhanced coordination and cooperation 

 Encouragement of partnership working between the Permit Authority, all 
Promoters and key stakeholders 

 Provision of more accurate and timely information to be communicated 
between all stakeholders including members of the public 

 Promotion and encouragement of collaborative working 

 Improvement in timing and duration of activities particularly in relation to the 
busiest streets within the network 

 Promotion of dialogue with regard to the way activities are to be carried out 

 Enhanced programming of activities and better forward planning by all 
Promoters 

131



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 6 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

3.2 ALIGNED OBJECTIVES 

3.2.1 The Permit Scheme objectives align with the strategic objectives contained within the 
BCP local transport plan 

 The Permit Scheme objectives align with the strategic objectives contained 
within the local transport plan: 

 Managing and maintaining the existing networks more efficiently 

 Keeping the transport infrastructure well maintained, safe and resilient for all 
users 

 Making better use of the transport network to maximise its efficiency for all 
forms of travel 

4 SCOPE OF THE PERMIT SCHEME 

4.1 AREA COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME 

4.1.1 The Permit Scheme applies within the boundaries of Bournemouth Christchurch and 
Poole Council. 

4.2 DEFINITION OF THE TERM “STREET”  

4.2.1 For the purposes of the Permit Scheme, the term “street” refers to that length of asset 
associated with a single Unique Street Reference Number (USRN). Where a single 
street on the ground has more than one USRN, separate Permits will be required for 
each USRN to which an activity relates. 

4.3 STREETS COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME  

4.3.1 The Permit Scheme will apply to adopted and publicly maintainable streets identified 
on the National Street Gazetteer (NSG). 

4.3.2 The Permit Authority will create, maintain and publish the Street Gazetteer to Level 3. 

4.3.3 The Local Street Gazetteer will be maintained and updated with relevant information. 
The Local Street Gazetteer will be available to all Promoters via the National Street 
Gazetteer Concessionaire’s website. 

4.4 STREETS NOT COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME 

4.4.1 Streets that are not highways maintainable at public expense or private streets are not 
included in the Permit Scheme.  

4.5 MOTORWAYS AND TRUNK ROADS 

4.5.1 Motorways and trunk roads for which Highways England is the Highway Authority are 
excluded from the Permit Scheme.  

4.6 STREETS TO BE ADOPTED AS A MAINTAINABLE HIGHWAY  

4.6.1 Where a street is expected to become a maintainable highway, controls on specified 
activities under the Permit Scheme will only apply after the street has become a 
maintainable highway.  

5 ACTIVITIES COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME 

5.1 ACTIVITIES REQUIRING A PERMIT  

5.1.1 The Permit Scheme controls the following activities undertaken on the public highway: 

132



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 7 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

i. Street works as in Part 3 of NRSWA, as defined by s48, except for 
works by licensees under Section 50 of NRSWA 

ii. Works for road purposes as defined by Section 86 of NRSWA – maintenance 
and improvement works to the road itself, carried out by, or on behalf of, the 
Highways Authority 

iii. Major Highway Works (including Developer activities under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980) 

iv. Other activities that may be introduced under future regulations 

5.1.2 The following activities defined in the Regulations as specified works are Registerable 
for all Promoters and information related to them has to be recorded on the register: 

(a) Involve the breaking up or resurfacing any street 

(b) Involve opening the carriageway or cycleway of traffic-sensitive streets at traffic-
sensitive times. 

(c) Reduce the lanes available on a carriageway of three or more lanes. 

(d) Require a temporary traffic regulation order or notice, or the suspension of 
pedestrian crossing facilities.  

(e) Require a reduction in the width of the existing carriageway of a traffic-sensitive 
street at a traffic-sensitive time 

5.2 WORKS FOR ROAD PURPOSES  

5.2.1 The requirements of the Permit Scheme apply equally to both works undertaken by 
the Highway Authority and Statutory Undertakers with the one exception, that fees will 
not be charged for Permits issued for the Highway Authority’s own works for road 
purposes.  

5.2.2 To demonstrate parity of treatment for all Promoters, particularly between the Highway 
Authority and Statutory Undertakers, Key Performance Indicators will be used. 

5.2.3 Highway Authorities and Promoters of works for road purposes must ensure that they 
have followed the equivalent Provisional Advance Authorisation (PAA) and Permit 
application processes for activities.  

5.3 STREET LIGHTING 

5.3.1 The definition of works for road purposes may include some works carried out by 
Undertakers, such as street lighting. It is for Promoters to ensure that Permit 
applications for such activities are made and that the activity is registered, as 
appropriate. 

6 EXEMPT ACTIVITIES 

6.1.1 Certain types of activities are exempt from requiring a Permit. 

6.2 NON REGISTERABLE ACTIVITIES 

6.2.1 The following activities are non-Registerable and do not require a Permit: 

1. Traffic Census Surveys 

Traffic census surveys have deliberately not been included as disclosure of this 
information prior to a census taking place can encourage a change to the normal 
pattern of traffic flows. 

2. Pole testing 

3. Fire service vehicles 

133



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 8 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

Fire service vehicles occasionally need to be parked adjacent to 
fire hydrants when these are being tested. These operations are exempt from 
the requirement to obtain a Permit, provided the work is done outside traffic-
sensitive periods.  

6.2.2 Other activities that do not require a Permit: 

 Lifting or replacing manhole or chamber covers - that do not involve breaking up 
the street. 

 Replacing poles, lamps, columns or signs in the same location where that does 
not involve breaking up the street 

 Bar holes 

 

6.3 ACTIVITIES NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT BEFORE THEY START  

6.3.1 Immediate activities do require a Permit but as such works are concerned with 
emergency or urgent situations, a Promoter can start work before applying for a 
Permit provided they apply for a Permit within 2 hours of the works commencing.  

6.3.2 If the work commences out of working hours, then a Permit must be applied for by 
10am the next working day. 

6.4 ACTIVITIES FOR WHICH NO PERMIT IS REQUIRED  

6.4.1 Activities executed in a street pursuant to a street works licence issued under Section 
50 of the NRSWA are not included in the Permit Scheme but will have to follow the 
normal NRSWA procedures. 

7 PERMITS - GENERAL 

7.1 REQUIREMENT TO OBTAIN A PERMIT  

7.1.1 Any Promoter of specified activities who wishes to carry out such an activity on a 
specified street should obtain a Permit from the Permit Authority. The Permit will allow 
the Promoter to: 

 Carry out the specified activity 

 At the specified location 

 Between the dates shown and for the duration shown 

 Subject to any conditions that may be attached or required 

7.2 ACTIVITIES COVERING SEVERAL STREETS  

7.2.1 An application can only be for one street. 

7.2.2 Where the specified activity involves a number of specified streets, a separate PAA or 
Permit will be required for each street.  

7.2.3 Permit applications for specified activities covering more than one specified street 
shall be cross-referenced to all related applications.  

7.2.4 Fees for specified activities which involve several Permits will be discounted where 
the applications are submitted together.  

7.3 PHASING OF ACTIVITIES 

7.3.1 One Permit can only relate to one phase of an activity. A phase of an activity is a 
period of continuous occupation of the street (whether or not work is taking place for 
the whole time) between the start and completion of the works, for example a 

134



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 9 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

separate Permit would be required for interim, permanent and remedial 
reinstatements. 

7.3.2 The dates given in a Permit application and in the issued Permit will denote the dates 
for that phase. A phase can end only when all the plant, equipment and materials, 
including any signing, lighting and guarding have been removed from the site and the 
highway is returned to full use. 

7.3.3 A Promoter must clarify when an activity is to be carried out in phases on the 
application. Each phase will require a separate Permit and, if a major activity involving 
asset activity also a PAA, which will be cross referenced to the other Permits. 

7.3.4 Phased activities must relate to the same works, with applications submitted using the 
same works reference. 

7.4 LINKED ACTIVITIES  

7.4.1 Customer connections associated with the installation of a new main or cable run or 
the replacement or renewal of existing assets will be considered to be linked activities 
when the work is completed as a single occupancy of a single street. If an activity 
relating to the installation of customer connections is undertaken at a later date then 
the Promoter shall apply for a separate Permit.  

7.5 INTERRUPTED ACTIVITIES  

7.5.1 In the event of an activity being interrupted and delayed, for instance due to damage 
to a third party’s plant or while missing apparatus is acquired. It is the responsibility of 
the Promoter to contact the Permit Authority to agree what action should be taken.  

7.5.2 Where the Permit Authority is satisfied that the excavation can remain open while the 
repairs are implemented or the equipment obtained, then a variation will be required 
and an extension to the Permit will be granted.  

7.5.3 However, where the Permit Authority considers that the opening should be reinstated 
and the road returned to full traffic use then the Promoter will need to apply for a 
further Permit to complete the work at a later date. A Permit fee may be charged for 
the new Permit. 

7.6 CROSS BOUNDARY ACTIVITIES 

7.6.1 Where a project with activities in more than one street straddles the boundary 
between the Permit Authority and an adjacent Permit Authority, separate Permit 
applications, including any PAA, should be submitted to both Authorities. 

7.6.2 If a cross boundary project involves activities on a street of a Street Authority 
operating a notice system under NRSWA, then the Permit application to the Permit 
Authority should identify the activity in the other Authority area so that the Permit 
Authority can liaise with them. 

7.6.3 A single project reference should be included on applications and all notices so that 
both Authorities can consider the impact and coordinate the activities together. 

7.7 COLLABORATIVE WORKING  

7.7.1 The Permit Authority encourages collaborative working between Promoters for both 
street works and works for road purposes. It is accepted that there are often issues in 
such arrangements, particularly contractual complications. Nevertheless, every 
opportunity should be sought to minimise the disruption to users of the highway. 

7.7.2 Where two or more Promoters decide to enter into such arrangements, one should 
take on the role of the Primary Promoter with the overall responsibility for the activities 

135



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 10 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

and will be the point of contact with the Permit Authority. While the 
Secondary Promoter(s) will be required to make a Permit application for the activity for 
which they are responsible, only the Permit application made by the Primary Promoter 
will need to show the number of estimated inspection units.  

7.7.3 The Primary Promoter’s Permit application should give details of the other Promoter(s) 
involved and the extent of the collaborative working.  

7.7.4 The Primary Promoter should also ensure that the estimates of works duration are 
agreed and confirmed with the Secondary Promoter(s) when submitting the PAA 
and/or Permit applications. This is necessary in order to comply with the overrun 
charging requirements in the Permit and NRSWA Regulations.  

7.7.5 While the Permit Authority will issue Permits to all the Promoters involved, not just the 
Primary Promoter, the fees will be discounted to reflect the collaborative approach. 

7.8 REMEDIAL WORKS  

7.8.1 In the event of remedial works being required after the expiry of a Permit, an 
application should be made for a new Permit. This Permit should be cross referenced 
to the Permit using the Works Reference Number for the original activity.  

7.9 START AND END DATES  

7.9.1 In relation to category 0, 1, 2, and traffic-sensitive streets the planned commencement 
date and finishing date for the activity are the start date and end dates respectively on 
the permit. The permit will not be valid before the start date on the permit and will 
cease to be valid once the end date has passed unless a variation is granted. 

7.9.2 In category 3 and 4 streets that are not traffic-sensitive, the Permit will be issued with 
a start and end date and duration for the activity which is set as a condition. The start 
date of the Permit will be the proposed start date of the activity. However, because 
both competition for space and the expected level of disruption is likely to be lower on 
less busy streets, there will be flexibility on the start of the activity - a “starting window” 
- equivalent to the validity period on a NRSWA notice. The starting windows are:  

• 5 DAYS FOR MAJOR AND STANDARD ACTIVITIES 

• 2 DAYS FOR MINOR ACTIVITIES. 

The Permit end date will therefore allow for the set duration to be completed if the 
activity starts on the last day of the starting window. 

7.10 EARLY START  

7.10.1 The Permit Authority will consider a Promoter’s request for an early start before or 
after applying for a Provisional Advance Authorisation or a Permit application.  

7.10.2 Where this is agreed, the Promoter shall submit a variation to a Permit, or in the case 
of a Provisional Advance Authorisation, include the revised dates on the application 
for the Permit. If the Permit has already been granted or deemed, a variation charge 
will apply. 

7.10.3 A reference number will be issued by the Permit Authority, and should be quoted on 
the Permit application or Permit variation application. 

7.10.4 Requests for early starts may or may not be agreed by the Permit Authority at their 
discretion but will not be unreasonably refused, and it is the responsibility of the 
Promoter to satisfy the Permit Authority as to the necessity for any proposed early 
start. 

7.11 CHARGES FOR OVER RUNNING STREET WORKS  

136



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 11 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

7.11.1 Charges for over running street works, under Section 74 of the NRSWA, 
will be made alongside the Permit Scheme although these regulations are modified to 
incorporate the process of setting and modifying the duration of the activity through 
the Permit application, approval and variation processes. 

7.12 WORKING WITHOUT A PERMIT  

7.12.1 It is an offence for a Statutory Undertaker or a person contracted to act on its behalf to 
undertake activities without a Permit, except to the extent that the Permit Scheme 
provides that this requirement does not apply.  

7.12.2 Where it is believed that such an offence is being committed, the Permit Authority may 
issue a fixed penalty notice and require the party concerned to remove the works and 
return the street to full use.  

8 PERMITS - TYPES  

8.1 TYPES COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME  

8.1.1 There are two types of Permit covered by the Permit Scheme:  

 Provisional Advance Authorisation (PAA) 

 Permit 

8.2 PROVISIONAL ADVANCE AUTHORISATION (PAA)  

8.2.1 A PAA replaces the Advance Notice under Section 54 of NRSWA. 

8.2.2 PAAs are a means of enabling Major activities to be identified, coordinated and 
programmed in advance by allowing activities to be provisionally reserved by the 
Permit Authority pending the Authority’s subsequent decision on whether, and with 
what conditions, to grant a Permit for the activities.  

8.2.3 A Promoter who wishes to undertake Major activities, on a specified street must apply 
for a PAA at least 3 months in advance of those activities starting on the highway, or 
as agreed with the Permit Authority.  

8.2.4 Subsequent applications for Permits for Major activities that have not been preceded 
by a PAA, will not, except in exceptional circumstances, be accepted by the Permit 
Authority.  

8.2.5 Each application for a PAA will be limited to one street.  

8.2.6 An application for a PAA should include a full description of the activity and specify 
start and end dates, although the start date may be considered as provisional and can 
be amended in the application for a final Permit.  

8.2.7 A fee will be charged for the granting of a PAA in addition to the fee which is charged 
for the granting of the Permit.  

8.2.8 The granting of a PAA does not prevent the Permit Authority from subsequently 
refusing to grant a Permit to which the PAA relates. If circumstances change 
drastically an explanation will be provided. 

8.2.9 A copy of each application for a PAA is to be provided by the applicant upon request 
by a relevant Authority and by any person having apparatus in the street to which the 
application relates.  

8.3 PERMITS  

8.3.1 These are full Permits with complete details of the Registerable activities on a 
specified street.  

137



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 12 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

8.3.2 The information required to support an application for a PAA should be 
equivalent to, but should not exceed, that required in support of an application for a 
Permit. 

8.3.3 The timing of Permit applications to the Permit Authority will depend on the proposed 
activity.  

8.3.4 A copy of each application for a Permit is to be provided by the applicant upon request 
by a relevant Authority.  

9 PERMITS - CLASSES 

9.1 CLASSES COVERED BY THE PERMIT SCHEME  

9.1.1 There are four classes of Permit covered by the Permit Scheme:  

 Major 

 Standard  

 Minor 

 Immediate  

9.2 PERMITS FOR MAJOR ACTIVITIES  

9.2.1 Major activities are those which: 

 Have been identified in an organisation’s annual operating programme, or if not 
identified in that programme, are part of a scheme which is planned or known 
about at least 6 months in advance of the proposed start date, but only includes 
activities on the affected streets and locations within that scheme that have been 
identified at least 6 months advance stage as likely to require Permits; or 

 Other than immediate activities, require a temporary traffic regulation order, (i.e. 
not a temporary traffic notice), under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 for any 
other activities 

9.2.2 Major activities are split into 3 sub-categories: 

 Over 10 days and all major works requiring a traffic regulation order 

 Works 4 to 10 days and meeting the requirement detailed in 9.2.1 above 

 Up to 3 days and meeting the requirement detailed in 9.2.1 above 

9.2.3 Major Activity Permits are required for the most significant activities on the Highway 
and require the Promoter to obtain a Provisional Advance Authorisation as part of the 
application process for a Major Activity Permit.  

9.2.4 An application for a Major Activity Permit shall be submitted to the Permit Authority in 
accordance with the timescales given in Table 1 below and should include a 
description of the proposed activity together with the proposed start and end dates of 
the activity. Where these differ from those given in the PAA application, the applicant 
should explain the reasons for any variation.  

9.2.5 Major activities will be subject to conditions.  

9.3 PERMITS FOR STANDARD ACTIVITIES  

9.3.1 Standard Activities are those activities that have a planned duration of between 4 and 
10 days inclusive. Activities lasting less than 10 days but which require a traffic 
regulation order, such as a temporary road closure, will be classified as a Major 
Activity and will be subject to the requirements in 9.2 above.  

138



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 13 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

9.3.2 An application for a Standard Activity Permit shall be submitted to the 
Permit Authority in accordance with the timescales given in Table 1 below and should 
include a description of the proposed activity together with the proposed start and end 
dates of the activity.  

9.3.3 Standard activities will be subject to conditions.  

9.4 PERMITS FOR MINOR ACTIVITIES  

9.4.1 Minor Activities are those activities, where the planned working is 3 days or less. 
Activities lasting less than 3 days but which require a traffic regulation order, such as a 
temporary road closure, will be classified as a Major Activity and will be subject to the 
requirements in 9.2 above. 

9.4.2 An application for a Minor Activity Permit shall be submitted to the Permit Authority in 
accordance with the timescales given in Table 1 below and should include a 
description of the proposed activity together with the proposed start and end dates of 
the activity.  

9.4.3 Minor activities will be subject to conditions.  

9.5 PERMITS FOR IMMEDIATE ACTIVITIES  

9.5.1 Immediate Activities are either:  

 Emergency works as defined in Section 52 of NRSWA; or  

 Urgent Activities, 

a) (not being emergency works), whose execution at the time they are 
executed is required, (or which the person responsible for the works believes 
on reasonable grounds to be required):  

i. To prevent or put an end to an unplanned interruption of any supply or 
service provided by the Promoter  

ii.  To avoid substantial loss to the Promoter in relation to an existing 
service  

iii. To reconnect supplies or services where the Promoter would be under 
a civil or criminal liability if the reconnection is delayed until after the 
expiration of the appropriate notice period 

b) Including works that cannot reasonably be separated or severed from such 
works.  

9.5.2 Given the nature of immediate activities, work may commence without a Permit. 
However, where it is necessary to carry out excavation in the Highway, Promoters of 
such activities should contact the Permit Authority by telephone immediately if 
identified on the NSG.  

9.5.3 Where the activity is identified within the normal working day (i.e. after 08.00 hours 
and before 16.30 hours), a Permit application must be made as soon as reasonably 
practicable and in any event, within two hours of the activity starting.  

9.5.4 If work starts outside of working hours, an application for a Permit must be submitted 
by 10am the next working day. 

9.5.5 If the Permit Authority disputes whether an activity, or part of an activity, is immediate, 
the Promoter must demonstrate conclusively that it is. 

9.5.6 Immediate activities will be subject to conditions. 

139



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 14 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

10 PERMIT APPLICATIONS  

10.1 APPLICATION TIMING AND RESPONSE TIMES 

10.1.1 The timing of applications for Permits and PAAs and the Permit Authority’s response 
will vary according to the proposed activity. The minimum times are given in Table 1 
Section 10.6 and Promoters should give as much notice as possible to ensure that the 
coordination process can be facilitated effectively.  

10.1.2 Where the activity is dependent on a Temporary Traffic Regulation Order (TTRO), 
temporary traffic signal approval, or the suspension of parking regulations, the 
relevant timescales should be taken into account by the Promoter, and applicants are 
advised to submit their requests for TTROs and/or temporary traffic signal approval 
when applying for a PAA or permit  

10.1.3 The application process will begin at the time of receipt of the application by the 
Permit Authority. The electronic permit application system will provide an auditable 
record of when an application was received.  

10.1.4 The Permit Scheme sets down the application and response times for dealing with 
Permit applications and variation applications in Table 1 below.  

10.1.5 In all cases given in Table 1, the time period is measured from the time of receipt of 
the application by the Permit Authority.  

10.1.6 A “response” means a decision to grant, refuse or request a Permit Modification 
Request.  

10.2 SUBMITTING AN APPLICATION  

10.2.1 Permit and PAA applications must be made electronically on the current permit 
system in use at the time of the application, unless there is a failure in the electronic 
system in which case a paper application will be acceptable and is available from the 
Council.  

10.3 SYSTEM FAILURE  

10.3.1 In the event of an electronic system failure, Promoters shall adopt the following 
procedure: 

 Where an electronic application cannot be submitted, notification should be 
given by telephone, email or fax for immediate activities with formal electronic 
application following as soon as reasonably practicable. 

 Other applications may be submitted by other electronic means, (e.g. e-mail or 
fax), or may be sent by post or delivered by any other method agreed with the 
Permit Authority 

 Following recovery of the electronic system a copy of the application should be 
sent through electronically. 

 Where applications or notices are sent by post or delivered by any other method 
agreed with the Permit Authority, Promoters should take into account that there 
is no guarantee that they will be delivered to the Permit Authority the next day 

 A delivery mechanism that includes a delivery receipt is recommended  

10.3.2 In regards to variations during a system failure, Promoters should also make contact 
with the Permit Authority by telephone. 

 

10.4 NOTIFICATION TO INTERESTED PARTIES  

140



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 15 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

10.4.1 Where the NSG indicates other interested parties, Permit applications 
will be copied to those parties by the Works Promoter. 

10.4.2 Promoters are required to check whether any parties have registered such an interest 
prior to submitting an application for a Permit or PAA.  

10.5 CONSULTATION REQUIREMENTS  

10.5.1 Promoters must carry out the necessary consultations as set down in Sections 88, 89 
and 93 (as amended) and Sections 90 and 91 of the NRSWA.  

10.6 TABLE 1 – APPLICATION TIMINGS 

Activity 
Type 

Minimum application periods 
ahead of proposed start date 

Minimum 
period 
before 
Permit 

expires for 
application 

for 
variation 
(including 
extension) 

Response times for 
issuing a Permit or 

seeking further 
information or discussion 

Response 
times for 

responding 
to 

applications 
for Permit 
variations 

Provisional 
Advance 

Authorisation 
Application 

Provisional 
Advance 

Authorisation 
Application 

Major 3 months 10 days 
2 days or 

20% of the 
original 
duration 

whichever 
is the 
longer 

1 calendar 
month 

5 days 

2 days 

Standard N/A 10 days N/A 5 days 

Minor N/A 3 days N/A 2 days 

Immediate N/A 2 hours after N/A 2 days 

 

 

10.7 REFUSAL OF APPLICATION  

10.7.1 The Permit Authority reserves the right to refuse or request a Permit Modification 
Request for a Permit where it considers that elements of the application (e.g. timing, 
location or conditions) are not acceptable.  

10.7.2 If the Permit Authority decides to refuse the application or request a Permit 
Modification Request, it will contact the Promoter within the response time given in 
Table 1 to explain why the application is not satisfactory and what amendments are 
needed in order to achieve a successful application.  

10.8 RESTRICTIONS ON FURTHER ACTIVITIES  

10.8.1 Where a Promoter wishes to apply for a Permit to carry out specified activities on a 
specified street where a Section 58 or 58A Notice under NRSWA is in force, and the 
activities are not covered by the specific exemptions of that notice, the Promoter must 
make an application for the Permit Authority’s consent specifying the grounds on 
which the consent is sought.  

10.9 ERROR CORRECTION  

10.9.1 Where the Permit Authority identifies an error in data recorded in, or submitted for 
recording in, the Permit register, it will contact the Promoter to discuss and agree the 
corrections to be made.  

141



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 16 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

10.9.2 Where the Promoter identifies an error, they will contact the Permit 
Authority to discuss and agree the corrections to be made. If an error has been 
identified on an application, the Promoter shall submit a Modified Application by the 
end of the next working day following the agreement of the correction.  

10.9.3 This Modified Application should include the corrected data and the name of the 
person in the Permit Authority who agreed that the correction should be made.  

10.9.4 The error correction process must follow the process as set out in the electronic 
system in use at the time of the application. 

11 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PERMIT APPLICATION  

11.1 PERMIT AUTHORITY REQUIREMENTS  

11.1.1 The information required to make a permit application is described in the HAUC 
(England) Guidance, Operation of permit schemes (February 2017). 

12 PERMIT CONDITIONS  

12.1 APPLYING CONDITIONS 

12.1.1 The Permit Scheme allows for the attaching of conditions to Permits. These will be 
specified in detail on the Permit and will reflect any constraints on the original 
application.  

12.1.2 Not all types of conditions will necessarily be applied to all Permits or PAA’s. 

12.1.3 In general, conditions will be varied for each Permit, as each set of circumstances will 
be different. 

12.1.4 The Promoter should endeavour to have a copy, either electronic or hard copy, of the 
current Permit on site for inspection. 

12.2 CONDITIONS APPLIED TO ALL PERMITS 

12.2.1 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council will adopt solely the nationally agreed 
conditions text as set out in the amended 2015 statutory guidance.  Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Council will adopt any government approved changes to the 
condition text. 

12.3 REQUIREMENTS FOR IMMEDIATE ACTIVITIES  

12.3.1 Promoters of such activities should contact the Permit Authority by telephone 
immediately if identified in the NSG. 

12.3.2 The Promoter shall submit an application for a Permit within two hours of beginning 
work. If work starts outside of working hours, an application for a Permit must be 
submitted by 10am the next working day. 

12.3.3 The Permit Authority may impose further conditions prior to the granting of a Permit 
where this is required. Imposing such conditions will be in discussion with the 
Promoter of the activity and will be included in the subsequent Permit.  

12.3.4 Once granted, the Permit reference number must be prominently displayed on the site 
information board for each set of works.   

12.4 BREACH OF CONDITIONS  

12.4.1 If the Permit Authority considers that a Promoter is failing to comply with the 
conditions of a Permit then it may revoke the Permit. Before revoking a Permit, the 

142



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 17 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

Permit Authority will contact the Promoter to warn them of its intention 
and allow the situation to be discussed.  

12.4.2 Where it appears to the Permit Authority that a condition has been breached and that 
the Promoter or a person contracted to act on its behalf has therefore committed an 
offence it will take action as described in Section 17.  

12.5 AVOIDANCE OF CONFLICT WITH OTHER LEGISLATION  

12.5.1 The Promoter should bring such conflicts to the attention of the Permit Authority who 
will then be responsible for resolving the issue with the other legislative bodies or 
groups that may be involved and amending the Permit conditions accordingly. 

12.5.2 If the Promoter has safety concerns about conditions set by the Permit Authority it 
should raise these concerns with the Permit Authority and if necessary challenge the 
condition.  

12.5.3 It is a criminal offence for a Statutory Undertaker or a person contracted to act on its 
behalf to breach a Permit Condition.  

12.5.4 Any person guilty of an offence under this Regulation is liable on summary conviction 
to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale. 

13 GRANTING OF PERMITS 

13.1 TIMING OF PERMIT ISSUE  

13.1.1 Where the Permit Authority is content with the proposal, it will Grant a Permit within 
the response times detailed in Table 1 Section 10.6, via the electronic permit 
application system.  

13.2 ISSUING OF PERMITS  

13.2.1 A Granted Permit will be issued electronically in accordance with the Prescribed 
Electronic Format Technical Specification. 

13.2.2 The Permit will specify in detail the activity it allows and its duration. The start and end 
dates will be in calendar days to prevent any ambiguity over the duration of the 
Permit. 

13.3 PERMIT REFUSAL 

13.3.1 If, after careful consideration, the Permit Authority decides to refuse the PAA or Permit 
application, the refusal will be issued electronically and where possible using sector 
agreed refusal codes as approved by HAUC England. An explanation of refusal will be 
given and discussions with the Promoter may be held regarding amendment to the 
application. 

13.4 RIGHT OF APPEAL  

13.4.1 The Promoter has a right of appeal, in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
process set down in Section 18 if it is unable to reach agreement with the Permit 
Authority over the terms it requested or the conditions attached.  

13.4.2 In the case of immediate activities it may be that the Permit Authority may direct the 
work to stop, subject to safety and legal considerations, such as Health and Safety 
legislation, legal requirements to supply services, until the issues are resolved. 

13.5 PERMIT APPLICATION DEEMED TO BE APPROVED  

143



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 18 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

13.5.1 If the Permit Authority fails to reply to an application for a Permit or PAA 
within the designated response times, the Permit or PAA is deemed to be granted 
under the terms of the application.  

13.5.2 The proposed start and end dates, description, location, duration, traffic management, 
etc, will be included in the Permit and associated conditions for the activity. This detail 
will then be binding on the Promoter as it would have had the Permit been issued 
within the timescale. Breaching the conditions will constitute an offence.  

13.5.3 No fee will be applied to deemed Permits. 

14 REVIEW, VARIATION AND REVOCATION OF PERMITS AND 
CONDITIONS  

14.1.1 Once a Permit has been granted, the Promoter should have reasonable confidence 
that the road space will be available for them. However, circumstances beyond the 
Permit Authority’s control may occur which may cause the Authority to review the 
Permit and as a result, may lead to the conclusion that the Permit or its conditions 
need to be changed or revoked.  

14.1.2 The Permit Authority’s policy is to avoid making such changes other than in 
exceptional circumstances which could not reasonably have been predicted or where 
the impact is significant. Such events may include floods and other adverse weather 
conditions, burst mains, dangerous buildings, etc. which may result in traffic being 
diverted onto the road where the activity was underway or about to start.  

14.1.3 As soon as the Permit Authority is aware that it may be necessary to vary or revoke a 
Permit, it will contact the Promoter to discuss the best way of dealing with the 
situation.  

14.2 PERMIT AUTHORITY POWERS  

14.2.1 Within the Permit Scheme, the Permit Authority has the power, under Regulation 15 of 
the Traffic Management Permit Scheme (England) Regulations 2015, to review, vary 
or revoke Permits and Permit conditions on its own or a Promoter’s initiative. 
However, the Permit Authority is under no obligation to let activities run beyond the 
Permitted period.  

14.2.2 Any activities that exceed the agreed Permitted duration will be committing an offence 
and could be subject to New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 Section 74 overrun 
charges. 

14.3 PROMOTER REVOCATION 

14.3.1 If a Promoter wishes to cancel a Permit or withdraw a Permit application for which 
they have no further use, they should use the cancellation process in the electronic 
permit application system. 

14.4 CHANGES TO A PROVISIONAL ADVANCE AUTHORISATION  

14.4.1 A PAA cannot be varied once granted.  

14.4.2 Where a PAA has been given but a Permit has not been granted and the proposals 
change, the Promoter should inform the Permit Authority immediately of the proposed 
changes and a revised application for a PAA or Permit should be made.  

14.5 CHANGES TO PERMITS 

14.5.1 If the Permit Authority considers a variation necessary then it should contact the 
Promoter to discuss the best way of dealing with the situation whilst meeting the 

144



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 19 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

coordination duties and other Statutory Requirements of those involved. 
Good coordination and cooperation between Promoter and the Permit Authority will 
minimise the time that the Authority needs to vary Permits or their conditions. This will 
be in the interests of all parties. 

14.5.2 This discussion may lead to an agreement on the variation required. In that case, the 
Permit Authority will then grant a revised Permit on those terms when, the Promoter 
applies for a Variation. 

14.6 AVOIDANCE OF CRIMINAL OFFENCE  

14.6.1 Variations should be sought as soon as changes are identified to avoid a criminal 
offence being committed by work being undertaken in breach of the conditions 
associated with that Permit.  

14.7 SUSPENDING OR POSTPONING AN ACTIVITY 

14.7.1 If a Promoter would like to start an activity at a later date after a Permit has been 
issued, a Permit Variation will need to be applied for. There is no option to suspend or 
postpone an activity.  

14.8 REVIEW OF PERMIT BY PERMIT AUTHORITY DUE TO CIRCUMSTANCES 
OUTSIDE ITS CONTROL  

14.8.1 The Permit Authority may review the Permit and associated conditions in the event of 
circumstances beyond its control having a significant disruptive effect at the location of 
the activity.  

14.8.2 No fee will apply for Permit Variations initiated by the Permit Authority unless, at the 
same time, the Promoter applies for variations which are not the result of the 
circumstances causing the Permit Authority’s action.  

14.9 TIMING OF VARIATIONS  

14.9.1 Permit Variations may be made at any time after a Permit has been issued up until the 
end date of the Permit. Once this date has passed, applications for variations cannot 
be made.  

14.9.2 If a variation is required, the Promoter is encouraged to telephone the Permit Authority 
to discuss, prior to submitting a Duration Variation Application electronically, to 
improve coordination. 

14.10 VARIATIONS FOR IMMEDIATE ACTIVITIES  

14.10.1 In the event of immediate activities requiring a series of fault finding excavations or 
openings, for example locating a gas leak, the following procedure shall apply where it 
is necessary to undertake works beyond the initial excavation or opening covered by 
the first application. 

14.10.2 As they are immediate works, the Promoter will submit the first Permit application 
within two hours of starting work or by 10am the next working day. That first 
application will contain the location of the initial excavation or opening:  

i. For any further excavations or openings on the same street within 50 metres of 
the original hole, the Promoter is encouraged to telephone the Permit Authority 
with the new location. No Permit variation will be needed and no variation 
charge will apply 

ii. The Promoter should apply for a Permit variation for the first excavation in 
each new 50 metre band away from the original hole in the same street, i.e. 
50-100 metres, 100-150 metres, etc. Standard variation charges will apply, 
however the Permit Authority may use their discretion to waive these charges. 

145



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 20 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

iii. For additional excavations within each band, the Promoter is 
encouraged to telephone the Permit Authority with the new location. No Permit 
variation will be needed and no variation charge will apply 

iv. If the search carries into a different street or a new USRN, (including if the 
street changes to a different Permit Authority), then a separate Permit 
application will be needed 

14.10.3 Conditions for these activities may be varied to take into account the fact that a new 
location, even within the permissive bands, can be more disruptive 

14.11 IF AN AGREEMENT CANNOT BE MADE 

14.11.1 If agreement cannot be reached regarding a variation, the Permit Authority may issue 
an Authority imposed variation on the terms it considers reasonable. If the Promoter 
disagrees with the decision, it will have the option to invoke the dispute resolution 
procedure (See Section 18) 

14.12 REVIEW OF PERMIT DUE TO NON-COMPLIANCE BY THE PROMOTER  

14.12.1 If the Permit Authority considers that a Promoter is failing to comply with the 
conditions of a Permit then it may revoke the Permit or issue a Fixed Penalty Notice 
(FPN).  

14.12.2 Before revoking a Permit, the Permit Authority will contact the Promoter to warn them 
of its intention and allow the situation to be discussed.  

14.13 WORKING AFTER A PERMIT HAS BEEN REVOKED  

14.13.1 A Promoter will be committing an offence if it continues to work after a Permit has 
been revoked. 

15 CANCELLATION OF A PERMIT  

15.1 CANCELLATION NOTICE  

15.1.1 If a Promoter wishes to cancel a Permit it should use the cancellation process as set 
out in the electronic permit application system. There is no fee payable for this 
process; however Permits already granted will still be charged.  

16 FEES  

16.1 PERMIT AUTHORITY POWER TO CHARGE FEES  

16.1.1 To meet the additional costs of introducing and operating the Scheme, Regulation 30 
gives the Permit Authority the power to charge a fee in respect of the following: 

i. The application for a PAA in respect of Major activities 

ii. The granting of a Permit 

iii. Each occasion where there is a variation of a Permit or the conditions attached 

iv. Where a Permit variation would move an activity into a higher category, the 
Promoter will be required to pay the difference between the Permit fee for the 
two categories as well as the Permit variation fee 

16.2 FEE POLICY  

16.2.1 The Permit Authority will charge Statutory Undertakers for the actions detailed in 
Section 16.1.  

16.2.2 Fees will not be payable in the following circumstances: 

146



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 21 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

i. By the Highway Authority in respect of its own works for road 
purposes, however a record of the Permit and fee will be used for reporting 
purposes and fee reviews. 

ii. Any work undertaken on a fire hydrant. 

iii. Where a Permit is deemed to be granted because the Permit Authority failed to 
respond to an application within the time set down in Section 10.6 above 

iv. If a Permit variation is initiated by the Permit Authority or the Authority has to 
revoke a Permit through no fault of the Promoter 

v. Where a Promoter wishes to cancel a Permit for which it has no further use, or 
to cancel or withdraw an application that has been submitted but for which a 
Permit has not yet been granted 

16.2.3 Lower fees or discounted fees will be given in the following circumstances: 

i. Where several Permit applications for works that are of part of the same 
project but which are carried out on more than one street, but on a scale 
comparative to one street, are submitted at the same time.  

ii. Where several Promoters are working within the same site submit applications 
at the same time. Where the Highway Authority Promoter is collaborating with 
Statutory Undertakers, those Undertakers will be eligible for the discount. 

iii. Where works are undertaken wholly outside of traffic sensitive times on Traffic 
Sensitive Streets. 

iv. A discount may be applied where it is demonstrated that an activity provides 
significant economic benefit to the local authority or Council. For instance, 
supplies for a new development, or where it is demonstrated that a network 
investment program is being undertaken to meet customer demand. 

16.3 RATE OF DISCOUNT  

16.3.1 A discount of 30% will be applied in the above circumstances.  

16.4 OPTION TO WAIVE OR REDUCE FEES  

16.4.1 The Permit Authority retains the option to waive or reduce fees at its discretion. 

16.5 REVIEW OF FEES  

16.5.1 The Permit Authority will review its scale of fees annually to ensure that the overall fee 
income does not exceed the allowable costs.  

16.5.2 The outcome of the annual fee reviews will be published and open to public scrutiny.  

16.5.3 As far as possible the fees and costs should be matched over a financial year. 
However, it is recognised that estimating the fee levels will involve incorporating the 
effect of various factors that will inevitably have a degree of uncertainty around them. 
In the event that fees and costs do not match the actual outturn for the year in 
question, adjustments may be made to fee levels for the subsequent years so that 
across a number of years fees do not exceed the allowable costs. 

16.6 APPROVED SCALE OF FEES  

16.6.1 The current approved scale of fees is included in the local order for the Permit 
Authority to operate the Permit Scheme. 

16.7 PROCESSING OF FEES  

16.7.1 Monthly invoices will be issued to each Promoter with all Permits referenced.  

147



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 22 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

17 SANCTIONS  

17.1 UNDERTAKING ACTIVITIES WITHOUT A PERMIT  

17.1.1 It is a criminal offence for a Statutory Undertaker, or a person contracted to act on its 
behalf, to undertake specified activities in a specified street in the absence of a 
Permit, except as set down in Section 6.  

17.1.2 Any person guilty of an offence under this Regulation is liable on summary conviction 
to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale. 

17.2 ACTION BY PERMIT AUTHORITY  

17.2.1 Where a Statutory Undertaker or a person contracted to act on its behalf undertakes 
without a Permit, works for which a Permit is required, or breaches a Permit condition, 
the Permit Authority may take one or more of the following courses of action 
depending on the seriousness and persistence of the offences: 

i. Serve a notice requiring that Statutory Undertaker to take such reasonable 
steps as detailed in the notice to remedy the situation within a specified 
timescale 

ii. Where a Statutory Undertaker fails to comply with the requirements of such a 
notice within the timescale the Permit Authority may undertake the specified 
steps and recover the costs that are reasonably incurred from the Statutory 
Undertaker 

iii. Issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN), against the Statutory Undertaker 

iv. Prosecute the Statutory Undertaker 

17.2.2 Remedial action could include the removal of the activity; rectify the breach of 
conditions or discontinuing any obstruction. 

17.2.3 In the event that the Permit Authority subsequently considers that an FPN which has 
been given ought not to have been given, it shall give to the person to whom that 
notice was given a notice withdrawing the FPN. 

17.2.4 Any offences which run alongside to the Permit Scheme under NRSWA will still apply 
and action will be taken. 

18 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

18.1 INTRODUCTION 

18.1.1 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council welcomes the opportunity to informally 
resolve disputes before resorting to formal resolution processes 

18.1.2 If disputes are not resolved informally within 14 days, they will be referred to 
SWHAUC or HAUC England as appropriate.  

18.2 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

18.2.1 If agreement cannot be reached informally on any matter arising in relation to the 
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme, the dispute will be 
referred for review on the following basis: 

Straightforward issues  

18.2.2 Where Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council l and the Promoter(s) consider 
that the issues involved in the dispute are relatively straightforward, the matter will be 
referred to impartial members of the regional SWHAUC (that is those not representing 
parties directly involved in the dispute) for review. That review should take place within 

148



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 23 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

ten days from the date of referral by either party. Both parties will accept 
the result as binding. 

Complex issues 

18.2.3 If Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council or the Promoter(s) involved in the 
dispute think the issues are particularly complex, HAUC England will be asked to set 
up a review panel of four members - two Utilities and two Street Authorities. One of 
the four persons will be appointed as Chair of the panel by the HAUC England joint 
chairs.  

18.2.4 Each party must make all relevant financial, technical and other information available 
to the review panel. 

18.2.5 The review would normally take place within ten working days from the date on which 
the issue is referred to HAUC England by either party. Both parties will accept the 
conclusions of the review panel as binding. 

18.3 INDEPENDENT ADJUDICATION 

18.3.1 If agreement cannot be reached by the procedure above, the dispute can be referred 
to independent adjudication.  

18.3.2 Adjudication within Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme will 
only be used by Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council and the Promoter(s) if 
they agree in relation to the matter under dispute, that:-  

 The decision of the adjudicator will be deemed to be final; and 

 The costs of adjudication will be borne equally unless the adjudicator considers 
that one party has presented a frivolous case, in which case costs may be 
awarded against them. 

18.3.3 Where the adjudication route is followed, Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole 
Council and the Promoter(s) will apply to the joint chairs of HAUC England, who will 
select and appoint the independent adjudicator from a suitable recognised 
professional body. 

19 REGISTERS  

19.1 REGISTER OF ALL WORKS  

19.1.1 The Permit Authority will maintain a register of Permits in connection with the Permit 
Scheme and in accordance with regulation 33 and 34, Part 7 of the Regulations.  

19.1.2 The register will contain information about current and planned activities and will be 
available electronically to Promoters to assist them in planning and coordinating their 
own works at the earliest possible stage 

19.2 REFERENCING OF INFORMATION  

19.2.1 All information held in the register of all works will be referenced to the USRN and the 
Permit register will be Geographic Information System (GIS) based.  

20 TRANSITIONAL PHASE 

20.1.1 Once an Order has been made, the Authority will provide at least four weeks’ notice of 
its intention to operate a Permit Scheme from a given date. 

20.1.2 The Permit Authority will liaise closely with all Promoters during the transition period 
so that any issues are identified early and appropriate action taken to resolve them.  

149



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 24 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

20.1.3 The Permit Scheme will apply to all activities where the administrative 
processes, such as an application for a Permit or Provisional Advance Authorisation, 
start after the commencement date of the Permit Scheme stated in the order.  

20.1.4 Activities which are planned to start on site more than one month after the changeover 
date, (for standard, minor and immediate activities), or three months after the 
changeover date, (for major activities), shall operate under the Permit Scheme. This 
means that even if the relevant Section 54, 55 or 57 NRSWA notice has been sent 
before the changeover, the Promoter will have to apply for a Permit.  

20.1.5 If the Promoter has not substantially begun the activity (or phase of activity) one 
month after the changeover date (for standard, minor and immediate activities) or 
three months after the changeover date (for major activities), then the Promoter must 
cancel the NRSWA notice for that activity (or phase of activity) and apply for a Permit. 

20.1.6 Any Phase which started under the notices regime will continue under that regime 
until completed.  

20.1.7 The issue of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) will be suspended for the first month of 
operation of the Scheme to allow a settling in period.  

20.1.8 This period is sufficient as much of the Permit Scheme operation is run alongside 
NRSWA and extensive testing of systems between the Permit Authority and 
Promoters will have taken place and will continue on the run up to the implementation 
of the Scheme 

21 PERMIT SCHEME MONITORING  

21.1 USE OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

21.1.1 Parity will be measured through Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The following 
KPIs are mandatory and in addition, the Permit Authority will produce an annual set of 
KPIs identifying the treatment of individual Promoters.  

21.2 MANDATORY KPIS  

KPI 1 

The number of Permit and Permit variation applications received, the number 
granted and the number refused  

This will be measured by Promoter and shown as:  

 the total number of Permit and Permit variation applications received, excluding any 
applications that are subsequently withdrawn 

 the number granted as a percentage of the total applications made 

 the number refused as a percentage of the total applications made. 

 

KPI 2 

The number of conditions applied by condition type  

This will be measured by Promoter and shown as:  

 the number of Permits issued  

 the number of conditions applied, broken down into condition types. The number of 
each type being shown as a percentage of the total Permits issued. 

150



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 25 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

21.3 ADDITIONAL KPIS 

KPI 3 

The Number of approved extensions 

This will be measured by promoter and shown as: 

 the total number of permits issued 

 the number of requests for extensions shown as a percentage of permits issued 

 the number of agreed extensions as a percentage of extensions applied for. 

 

KPI 7 

Number of inspections carried out to monitor conditions 

This will be broken down by promoter and shown as: 

 the number of sample permit condition checks carried out as a percentage of the 
number of permits issued 

 the percentage of sample inspections by promoter should also be shown. 

21.4 PRESENTATION OF KPIS TO COORDINATION MEETINGS  

21.4.1 The KPIs will be discussed at the local coordination meetings and at other meetings 
with Promoters. In addition, the KPIs will be made available to any other person on 
request or via the Authority’s website.  

151



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 26 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

22 APPENDIX A: DEFINITION OF TERMS 

Activity  Any works undertaken by Statutory Undertakers and the 
Highway Authority (or their agents/contractors) and any other 
works that maybe covered in future regulations.  

Additional Street Data  Additional Street Data (ASD) refers to other information about 
streets held on the NSG concessionaire’s website alongside 
the NSG  

Apparatus  As defined in Section 105(1) of NRSWA "apparatus includes 
any structure for the lodging therein of apparatus or for gaining 
access to apparatus"  

Appeal  If there is an unresolved disagreement between the Promoter 
and the Permit Authority about the terms and conditions of the 
Permit or PAA, the Promoter may appeal against the Permit 
Authority’s decision to either SWHAUC or HAUC England.  

Bank Holiday  As defined in Section 98(3) of NRSWA, "Bank Holiday means 
a day which is a Bank Holiday under the Banking and 
Financial Dealings Act 1971 in the locality in which the street 
in question is situated"  

Bar holes Bar holes are used to detect and monitor gas leaks.  

Breaking up (the street)  Any disturbance to the surface of the street (other than 
opening the street)  

Bridge  As provided in Section 88(1)(a) of NRSWA, "references to a 
bridge include so much of any street as gives access to the 
bridge and any embankment, retaining wall or other work or 
substance supporting or protecting that part of the street"  

Bridge Authority  As defined in Section 88(1)(b) of NRSWA, "Bridge Authority 
means the Authority, body or person in whom a bridge is 
vested"  

Carriageway  As defined in Section 329 of HA 1980, "carriageway means a 
way constituting or comprised in a Highway, being a way 
(other than a cycle track) over which the public have a right of 
way for the passage of vehicles"  

Collaborative working  Includes trench sharing, multi-utility working, utility/works for 
road purposes situations and compliance testing.  

Cycle track  As defined in Section 329 of the HA 1980, "cycle track means 
a way constituting or comprised in a Highway, being a way 
over which the public have the following, but not other, rights 
of way, that is to say, a right of way on pedal cycles with or 
without a right of way on foot"  

Day  A calendar day, unless explicitly stated otherwise  

DfT Department for Transport 

Emergency works  As defined in Section 52 of NRSWA, "emergency works 
means works whose execution at the time when they are 
executed is required in order to put an end to, or to prevent 
the occurrence of, circumstances then existing or imminent (or 

152



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 27 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

which the person responsible for the works believes on 
reasonable grounds to be existing or imminent) which are 
likely to cause danger to persons or property"  

Excavation  "Breaking up" (as defined above)  

Fixed Penalty Notice  As defined in schedule 4B to NRSWA, "fixed penalty notice 
means a notice offering a person the opportunity of 
discharging any liability to conviction for a fixed penalty 
offence by payment of a penalty"  

Footway  As defined in Section 329 of the HA 1980, "footway means a 
way comprised in a highway which also comprises a 
carriageway, being a way over which the public have a right of 
way on foot only"  

Geographical Information 
system (GIS) 

A computer system for capturing, storing, checking, 
integrating, manipulating, analysing and displaying data 
related to positions on the Earth’s surface  

HA 1980  The Highways Act 1980  

Highway  As defined in Section 328 of the HA 1980, "Highway means 
the whole or part of a highway other than a ferry or waterway"  

Highway Authority  As defined in Sections 1 and 329 of the HA 1980  

Highway works  "Works for road purposes" or "major highway works"  

Immediate activities  As stated in Section 8.5, immediate activities are either 
emergency works as defined in Section 52 of NRSWA or 
urgent works as defined in The Street Works (Registers, 
Notices, Directions and Designations) (England) Regulations 
2007  

In  As defined in Section 105(1) of NRSWA, "in, in a context 
referring to works, apparatus or other property in a street or 
other place includes a reference to works, apparatus or other 
property under, over, along or upon it"  

Local Authority  As defined in Section 270(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972(a) and includes the Common Council of the City of 
London.  

Local Highway Authority As defined in Section 329 of HA 1980, "Local Highway 
Authority means a Highway Authority other than the Minister"  

Main roads  All streets in reinstatement categories 0, 1 and 2 and those 
streets in categories 3 and 4 which are traffic sensitive for all 
or part of the time  

Maintainable Highway  As defined in Section 329 of HA 1980, a "Highway 
maintainable at the public expense means a highway which by 
virtue of Section 36 above or of any other enactment (whether 
contained in this Act or not) is a highway which for the 
purposes of this Act is a highway maintainable at the public 
expense" 

153



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 28 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

Maintenance  As defined in Section 329 of HA 1980, "maintenance includes 
repair, and "maintain" and "maintainable" are to be construed 
accordingly"  

Major activities  As stated in Section 9.2, Major activities are those which: 

 Have been identified in an organisation’s annual 
operating programme, or if not identified in that 
programme, are normally planned or known about at 
least six months in advance of the proposed date of the 
activity 

Other than immediate activities, require a temporary traffic 
regulation order, (i.e. not a temporary traffic notice), under the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 for any other activities 

Major Highway works  As defined in Section 86(3) of NRSWA, "major highway works 
means works of any of the following descriptions executed by 
the Highway Authority in relation to a highway which consists 
of or includes a carriageway –  

a) a reconstruction or widening of the highway; 

b) works carried out in exercise of the powers conferred by 
Section 64 of the Highways Act 1980 (dual 
carriageways and roundabouts);  

c) substantial alteration of the level of the highway;  

d) provision, alteration of the position or width, or 
substantial alteration in the level of a carriageway, 
footway or cycle track in the Highway;  

e) the construction or removal of a road hump within the 
meaning of Section 90F of the Highways Act 1980;  

f) works carried out in exercise of the powers conferred by 
Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 (vehicle 
crossings over footways and verges);  

g) provision of a cattle-grid in the highway or works 
ancillary thereto; or  

tunnelling or boring under the highway" 

Minor activities   As stated in Section 9.4, minor activities are those 
activities other than immediate activities where the 
planned duration is 3 days or less.  

Minor roads  h) Streets in reinstatement categories 3 and 4 which are 
not traffic sensitive at any time.  

National grid reference  Location reference using nationally defined eastings and 
northings.  

Nationally consistent 
Street gazetteer (NSG) 

A database defined as an “index of streets and their 
geographical locations created and maintained by the local 
Highway Authorities” based on BS 7666 standard.  

NRSWA  New Roads and Street Works Act 1991.  

NSG Concessionaire  The body appointed to manage the NSG on behalf of the local 
Highway Authorities.  

154



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 29 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

Opening (the street)  Removing a lid or cover to a manhole, inspection chamber, 
meter box or other structure embedded in the street without 
any "breaking up" of the street.  

Permit  The approval of a Permit Authority for a Promoter to carry out 
activity in the highway subject to conditions.  

Permit application  See Section 10. The application that is made by a Promoter to 
the Authority to carry out an activity in the highway. It is 
equivalent to the notice of proposed start of works (Section 55 
of NRSWA) given under the Coordination regime.  

Permit Authority  See Section 1.4. A local Authority or other “Highway Authority” 
which has be given approval by the Secretary of State to 
operate a Permit Scheme on all or some of its road network.  

Permit Scheme  See Section 1. A Scheme approved by the Secretary of State 
under which Permits for activities are sought and given.  

Promoter  A person or organisation responsible for commissioning 
activities in the streets covered by the Permit Scheme. The 
Promoter will usually be a Statutory Undertaker or the 
Highway or Traffic Authority.  

Protected Street  See Section 1.6. A street that has been designated as a 
protected street. It serves a specific strategic major traffic 
need and therefore needs to be protected from unnecessary 
excavation and works and providing there is a reasonable 
alternative route in which Statutory Undertakers can place the 
equipment that would otherwise lawfully have been placed in 
the protected street.  

Provisional Advance 
Authorisation  

See Section 8.2. The early approval of activities in the 
highway, equivalent to the advance notice given under s 54 of 
NRSWA.  

Reinstatement  As defined in Section 105(1) of NRSWA, "reinstatement 
includes making good".  

Relevant Authority As defined in Section 49(6) of NRSWA, "references in this 
Part to the relevant Authorities in relation to any works in a 
street are to the Highway Authority and also:  

a) where the works include the breaking up or opening of a 
public sewer in the street, the Sewer Authority;  

b) where the street is carried or crossed by a bridge vested 
in a Transport Authority, or crosses or is crossed by any 
other property held or used for the purposes of a 
Transport Authority, that Authority; and 

where in any other case the street is carried or crossed by a 
bridge, the Bridge Authority"  

Remedial work  Remedial works are those required to put right defects 
identified and in accordance with the provisions of the Code of 
Practice for Inspections and regulations.  

Road c) See "Street".  

155



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 30 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

Road Categories: 

 Type 0 

 Type 1 

 Type 2 

 Type 3 

Type 4 

Roads carrying over: 

 30 to 125 msa* 

 10 to 30 msa 

 2.5 to 10 msa 

 0.5 to 2.5 msa 

 Up to 0.5 msa 

*millions of standard axles 

 Road works  See “Works for road purposes” definition below.  

Special Engineering 
Difficulties (SED) 

See Section 1.6. By virtue of Section 63 of NRSWA, the term 
special engineering difficulties relates to streets or, more 
commonly, parts of streets associated with structures, or 
streets of extraordinary construction where street works must 
be carefully planned and executed in order to avoid damage 
to, or failure of, the street itself or the associated structure with 
attendant danger to person or property.  

Specified Area  That geographical area to which the Permit Scheme applies.  

Specified Street  Those streets to which the Permit Scheme applies.  

SROH New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 

Specification for the Reinstatement of Openings in Highways. 

Standard activities  Standard activities are those activities, other than immediate 
activities, that have a planned duration of between 4 and 10 
days inclusive.  

Statutory Undertaker  As defined in Section 48(4) of NRSWA, "undertaker in relation 
to street works means the person by whom the relevant 
statutory right is exercisable (in the capacity in which it is 
exercisable by him) or the licensee under the relevant street 
works licence, as the case may be". 

Street  As defined in Section 48(1) of NRSWA, "street means the 
whole or any part of any of the following, irrespective of 
whether it is a thoroughfare:  

a) any highway, road, lane, footway, alley or passage;  

b) any square or court;  

any land laid out as a way whether it is for the time being 
formed as a way or not".  

Street Authority  As defined in Section 49(1) of NRSWA, "the Street Authority in 
relation to a street means, subject to the following provisions:  

a) if the street is a maintainable highway, the Highway 
Authority, and  

if the street is not a maintainable highway, the street 
managers".  

Street works  As defined in Section 48(3) of NRSWA, "street works means 
works of any of the following kinds (other than works for road 
purposes) executed in a street in pursuance of a statutory 
right or a street works licence:  

156



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 31 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

a) placing apparatus; or 

c) inspecting, maintaining, adjusting, repairing, altering or 
renewing apparatus, changing the position of apparatus 
or removing it, or works required for or incidental to any 
such works (including, in particular, breaking up or 
opening the street, or any sewer, drain or tunnel under 
it, or tunnelling or boring under the street".  

Street works licence  As stated in Section 50(1) of NRSWA, "the Highway Authority 
may grant a licence (a "street works licence") Permitting a 
person:  

a) to place, or to retain, apparatus in the street, and  

b) thereafter to inspect, maintain, adjust, repair, alter or 
renew the apparatus, change its position or remove it, 
and to execute for those purposes any works required 
for or incidental to such works (including, in particular, 
breaking up or opening the street, or any sewer, drain or 
tunnel under it, or tunnelling or boring under the street).  

TMA  b) The Traffic Management Act 2004.  

Traffic  b) As defined in Section 105(1) of NRSWA, "traffic 
includes pedestrians and animals"  

Traffic control  Any of the five methods of controlling traffic detailed in the 
Code of Practice "Safety at Street Works and Road Works"  

Traffic regulation order  This means an order made under Section 1, 6 or 9 of the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.  

Traffic sensitive street  See Section 1.6. This means a street designated by a 
Highway Authority as traffic sensitive pursuant to Section 64 of 
NRSWA and in a case where a limited designation is made 
pursuant to Section 64(3) any reference to works in a traffic 
sensitive street shall be construed as a reference to works to 
be executed at the times and dates specified in such 
designation.  

Transport Authority  As defined in Section 91(1)(a) of NRSWA, "Transport 
Authority means the Authority, body or person having the 
control or management of a transport undertaking".  

Temporary Traffic 
Regulation Order (TTRO) 

This means an order made under Section 14 of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and amendments. 

Trunk road  As defined in Section 329 of the HA 1980, "trunk road means 
a highway, or a proposed highway, which is a trunk road by 
virtue of Section 10(1) or Section 19 of the above or by virtue 
of an order or direction under Section 10 of the above or under 
any other enactment".  

Unique Street Reference 
Number (USRN)  

As defined in the British Standard BS7666.  

Urgent activities  Urgent activities are:  

a) activities (not being emergency activities) whose 
execution at the time they are executed is required (or 

157



 

 

 BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME FINAL 32 

 

BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PERMIT SCHEME 

which the person responsible for the activity believes on 
reasonable grounds to be required)  

(i) to prevent or put an end to an unplanned 
interruption of any supply or service provided by 
the undertaker;  

(ii) to avoid substantial loss to the undertaker in 
relation to an existing service; or  

(iii) to reconnect supplies or services where the 
undertaker would be under a civil or criminal 
liability if the reconnection is delayed until after the 
expiration of the appropriate notice period; and  

Includes activity that cannot reasonably be separated or 
severed from such activities.  

Working day  As defined in Section 98(2) of NRSWA, "for the purposes of 
this Part a working day means a day other than a Saturday, 
Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or a Bank Holiday; and 
a notice given after 4.30 p.m. on a working day shall be 
treated as given on the next working day".  

Works  b) Street works or Works for road purposes.  

Works for road purposes  As defined in Section 86(2) of NRSWA, "works for road 
purposes” means works of any of the following descriptions 
executed in relation to a highway:  

a) works for the maintenance of the highway;  

b) any works under powers conferred by Part V of the 
Highways Act 1980 (improvement);  

c) the erection, maintenance, alteration or removal of 
traffic signs on or near the highway; or  

the construction of a crossing for vehicles across a footway or 
grass verge or the strengthening or adaptation of a footway for 
use as a crossing for vehicles.  

 d)  

 

 

END OF DOCUMENT 

158



Appendix 3 - BCP Street Works Permit Scheme Income and Costs 
Summary 

INTRODUCTION 

The Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Permit Scheme (BCPCPS) has been 

designed and developed to be a best of breed scheme being replicated by other Highway 

Authorities in the South of England. 

Roadworks are a necessity to enable Utilities and highways works to be carried out in order 

to renew, improve, maintain and install infrastructure. As these works take up valuable road 

space it is important that the impact is minimized as they can create disruption and delay.  

The Permit Scheme is not intended to prevent activities necessary for the maintenance or 

improvement of the road network or the services running underneath it. It is designed to 

make available the necessary resources to achieve an appropriate balance between the 

interests of the various parties and where possible, bring about effective co-ordination 

between all the different competing interests. 

Permit Schemes can charge a fee to cover the direct costs of operating the scheme and the 

Department for Transport (DfT) have published guidance and calculation tools to assist 

councils in their consideration and implementation of a permit scheme. 

Permit Schemes cannot generate surplus revenue and must produce yearly reports to show 

the cost of operation of the scheme and the fee income received.  A council must ensure 

that any variance between fees received and costs incurred is managed by raising or 

lowering their permit fees charged accordingly although DfT have set a maximum charge for 

permits that councils cannot go above. 

 

ESTIMATED FEE INCOME 

BCP Council have utilised the DfT Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA) calculator to assess the 

costs and benefits of using a permit fee scheme.  Outputs from the calculator can be used 

as a guide to assess the feasibility of using a scheme in the local area and to support the 

business case for an authority moving to permits. 

The calculator estimates that income to the value of £573,825 will be generated in permit 

fees during the first year of operation based on the current numbers of street works 

undertaken by Statutory undertakers.  

BCP Council’s street works IT system supplied the data on numbers of permits the council 

can expect to receive but some caution should be applied to the data used as BCP Council 

is a new authority and has had to amalgamate data from Dorset, Bournemouth and Poole 

Councils street works IT systems in doing so.  

Also, to note the Statutory Undertakers works carried out can vary upwards or downwards 

year to year dependant on the Utility sectors workload and this is driven by new connections 

and repairs to existing plant. 

Additional fees will be generated from cancelled/abandoned works and variations to permits 

already granted.  The value of these ‘extra’ monies will rely heavily on the methodology a 

Permit Authority uses to manage their scheme.  Namely a more proactive approach to 

granting permits early in their application period will result in more fees being recovered.  

Therefore, maximising a permit schemes potential relies heavily on the staffing resource 

engaged in delivering the service.  BCP could expect an additional £100,000 per year 

income from these fees when the scheme is well established and functioning at optimum 

159



Appendix 3 - BCP Street Works Permit Scheme Income and Costs 
Summary 

levels a prudent estimate of first year income could be £50,000.  Potentially, therefore the 

income received in the first full year would be £623,825. 

COSTS BUDGETS AND ACTUALS 

Due to the risk associated with the anticipated amount of fee income being directly affected 

by operational decisions by Utility companies, a budget should be established that is less 

that the amount identified in the DfT CBA.  

This risk managed approach also makes allowances for errors in the reporting of volumes by 

the IT system. 

When the actual volume of permits is known budgets can be more clearly defined and 

regulations afford new permit authorities 3 years to balance income verses expenditure. 

 

Estimated Costs Against Estimated Income 

Start-up Cost Centre Year 1 Budget 
Year 1 

Actual 

Invoicing, IT, training, 

reporting and other 

overheads 

£150,000 £ 

Management Overhead £73,825 £ 

Staff £400,000 £ 

Totals / Income £623,825 £ 

 

AVERAGE PERMIT COST 

By dividing the number of Utility Permits granted by the Permit Scheme cost an average cost 

per Permit can be calculated. 

This is a useful indicator of the general scheme costs to Utilities and can be compared to 

other schemes to show a general financial efficiency level. 

Estimated Average Permit Cost to Utilities 

Promoters 
Total Permit 

Applications 
Total Scheme Cost Average Permit Cost 

Utility 8,000 £623,825 £77.98 

 

Unauthorised / Abandoned / Cancelled work fees and fines is likely to generate additional 

income of around £50,000. 

 

160



CABINET 

 

Report subject Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 
Supplementary Planning Document 

Meeting date 18 March 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To adopt the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-
2025 Supplementary Planning Document. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) Cabinet recommends that Council adopts the Dorset 
Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 
Supplementary Planning Document; and 

(b) any minor changes to the consultation document are 
delegated to the Director of Growth and Infrastructure 
in liaison with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Planning.   

Reason for 
recommendations 

To ensure the Council maintains a planning framework for 
mitigating impact on Dorset Heathlands. Once adopted the 
SPD will have weight in decision making, when determining 
planning applications for new housing development. It will 
enable the decision maker, as Competent Authority under the 
‘Habitats Regulations’, the certainty that the impact of 
development will be mitigated avoiding an adverse effect 
upon the ‘Dorset Heathlands’.   

The document is prepared jointly with Dorset Council and 
minor modifications may be requested by either Council 
which will need authorisation.  

161

Agenda Item 10



Portfolio Holder(s): Margaret Phipps, Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director for Regeneration and 
Economy 

Contributors Julian McLaughlin, Director for Growth and Infrastructure 

Nicholas Perrins, Head of Planning including Building Control 

Mark Axford, Planning Policy Manager 

Steve Dring, Senior Planning Officer 

Wards ALL 

Classification For decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The purpose of the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework (‘the framework’) is 

to operate as a mechanism for mitigating the adverse effects of additional 

residential development upon the ‘Dorset Heathlands’, a collective name for the 

various European protected sites in South East Dorset. The specific designations 

are Dorset Heathlands Special Protection Area, Dorset Heathlands Ramsar Site, 

Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation and Dorset Heaths Special Area of 

Conservation (Purbeck and Wareham) and Studland Dunes. The SPD at 

Appendix 1 is the latest version of the SPD which began life in 2007 as the 

Dorset Heathland Interim Planning Framework. 

2. To conform to the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (‘Habitats Regulations’), the Council, when planning 

development, has to be certain that development will not have a significant 

adverse effect upon the Dorset Heathlands. If unmitigated, evidence shows that a 

rising population places additional pressures upon heathland and the protected 

species that reside there such as Dartford Warbler and Nightjar. Such pressures 

include disturbance from visitors and dogs, cat predation and incidences of fire. 

3. All extant Local Plans covering the BCP area include policies to require any net 

increase in housing to provide mitigation for Dorset Heathlands. The local plans 

state that the mitigation strategy will be set out in a supplementary planning 

document (SPD). There is an existing SPD in place that provides the mitigation 

strategy for the period 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2020. To ensure compliance 

with the Habitats Regulations and continue to grant planning permission for new 

residential development BCP Council needs to put in place an updated planning 

framework to take effect from 1st April 2020. The SPD at Appendix 1 will therefore 

replace the existing 2015 -2020 framework once adopted.   

4. The mitigation strategy in the SPD applies to a 5km buffer zone around the 

Dorset Heathlands, the area in which the adverse effects of population increase 

are most pronounced. 

162



5. This strategy was prepared jointly with Dorset Council following advice from 

Natural England. It covers a 5 year implementation period from 2020-2025.  

6. The mitigation strategy is in two parts (i) Strategic Access, Management and 

Monitoring (SAMMs); and (ii) Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs). Applicants 

seeking planning permission for housing development within the 5 km heathland 

buffer will be required to pay a contribution towards SAMMs. These costs have 

been calculated on the basis of planned housing growth over the 5 year period 

and the cost of providing wardening, education and monitoring during that period. 

The current and proposed costs for BCP Council are:  

 

Local Plan 

Area 

Current cost 

per house 

Current cost 

per flat 

Proposed 

cost per 

house  

Proposed 

cost per 

flat 

Bournemouth £355 £242 £394 £269 

Christchurch 

& East Dorset 

£263 £179 

Poole £387 £264 

 
7. SAMMs will be spent on day to day management, wardening and raising public 

awareness. The HIPs are physical infrastructure projects to deflect the potential 

for visitors to cause disturbance and are funded from community infrastructure 

levy (CIL) receipts. HIPs include Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces 

(SANGs) and other projects to provide attractive, accessible open spaces that 

provide local residents with an alternative choice to visiting heathland, e.g. Upton 

Farm SANG, Two Rivers Meet and the proposed Hicks Farm SANG. 

8. Officers will prepare and publish a Monitoring, Projects and Implementation Plan 

that will be regularly updated to support this SPD. It will set out the amount of 

development coming forward and identify mitigation projects. This plan will be 

prepared in consultation with organisations with a shared ambition to mitigate the 

adverse effects upon the Dorset Heathlands.   

9. Governance for Dorset Heathlands mitigation is currently overseen by the Dorset 

Heathlands Advisory Group jointly with Dorset Council. Officers from Growth & 

Infrastructure and Environment, and equivalents in Dorset Council, are currently 

reviewing the governance arrangements, to potentially also include for Poole 

Harbour mitigation. Governance arrangements will be confirmed through Cabinet 

in 2020.  

Consultation on the draft SPD 

10. Following approval to consult by Cabinet on 19 December 2019, the public 

consultation on the draft SPD took place from 3 January to 3 February 2020. This 

was undertaken jointly with Dorset Council. The consultation attracted 115 

responses as set out in the consultation report at Appendix 2.  

163



11. The comments included: 

 Support for protection of the heathlands; 

 Numerous suggestions for wording changes to the SPD; 

 Requests for reference to the Council’s declared Climate Change 

Emergency and Action Plans, Ecological networks and nature recovery 

networks; 

 Concerns about the removal of a threshold in the number of homes 

triggering the requirement for the provision of SANGs; 

 Queries about how the SAMMs were calculated; 

 Concerns from the public about the impact of specific developments upon 

heathlands from nearby residents, e.g. North of Merley, Talbot Village; 

 Concerns from the public that SANGs in the floodplain do not provide all 

year round use; 

 Suggestions for possible mitigation projects; and 

 Queries over the impact of student accommodation and nursing homes. 

 
12. The feedback led to following amendments to improve the SPD. These 

amendments are all minor in nature and improve the clarity of the SPD rather 

than introduce new policy: 

 Improvements to the SPD to ensure it is clearer, e.g. payment of SAMMs; 

 Updating to reflect good practice suggestions, e.g. the design of SANGs; 

 Explanation of the Appropriate Assessment process; 

 Highlight the need for review of the mitigation strategy through the 

forthcoming BCP Local Plan and Dorset Local Plan process; 

 Re-insertion of a threshold in the number of homes triggering the 

requirement to provide SANGs; 

 Reference the supporting evidence; and 

 Refer to Climate Change Emergency Action Plans and ecological 

networks. 

Summary of financial implications  

13. The Council will secure from developers approximately £1.42M of SAMMs 

payments, over the five-year period of the SPD. This income will be ring fenced 

for spending purely on Dorset Heathlands mitigation projects. An admin fee will 

be charged at a minimum charge of £75 and capped to a limit of £1,000 per 

contribution type. The strategy is self financing and there are no additional costs 

borne by the Council, although a future cost risk is highlighted below. The SPD 

164



will enable the Council to continue to grant planning permission for new homes, 

which will pay Council Tax and Business Rates. 

Summary of legal implications  

14. Every planning permission for housing will need to be supported by a Section 106 

Agreement, unilateral undertaking or payment under Section 111 of the Local 

Government Act (1972). Legal support will be required for Section 106 

Agreements.  

Summary of human resources implications  

15. The mitigation strategy will fund BCP Council heathland rangers and wardens. 

The admin fee for the collection of SAMMs finances the administrative process. 

Summary of environmental impact  

16. The mitigation will avoid harm to the Dorset Heathlands. Therefore this strategy 

will have a positive effect upon the environment.  

Summary of public health implications  

17. HIPs provide new public open space and improved paths, improving accessibility 

and thereby providing a positive effect upon public health.  

Summary of equality implications  

18. All developers of housing will have to pay a set payment (SAMMs) towards 

mitigation, which is a fair and certain process. Some developments may be 

required to provide HIPs, where the development is not contributing CIL and 

developers of such schemes may argue that they have been unfairly treated. 

However these issues are not considered to have equalities implications.  

19. Provision of mitigation projects will be overseen by a Steering Group and will be 

reported back in a monitoring and implementation plan. There are no known 

equalities issues at this stage.   

Summary of risk assessment  

20. SAMMs paid by each developer will fund mitigation for one year. Development in 

the following year will fund the following year’s mitigation. As the heathlands are 

a finite area, the annual cost is not expected to increase, other than by inflation. 

The mitigation has to be provided for the lifetime of the development also known 

as ‘in perpetuity’, which in practice is 80 years.  

21. There is a risk that if in future years SAMMs are no longer paid by developers, 

the annual funding of the SAMMs will have to be borne by the Council to continue 

to mitigate the homes it has previously granted permission for.  

22. Without the mitigation provided by the SPD from 1 April 2020, the decision maker 

will not be able to grant planning permission for housing development, which 

poses a significant risk to the local economy, local population and the Council. 

165



The risk of development not paying SAMMs in future is therefore outweighed by 

the risk of no development at all. 

23. The importance of having an agreed mitigation strategy in place has recently 

been highlighted across the Solent where the consideration of thousands of 

homes has been put into abeyance as the relevant local authorities did not have 

a mitigation plan in place to consider, in that case, the impact of nitrogen loading 

on a SPA.  

Background papers  

None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1: Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 SPD 
Appendix 2: Consultation Report 

166



 
  

 
…………………………………………………………………………………..... 

 

 

 

Supplementary Planning Document 

 
The Dorset Heathlands 
Planning Framework 
2020-2025 

Author:  Planning Policy 
Version:  Cabinet 18 March 
Date:   SD v9 13 Feb 2020 

Adoption - For Cabinet Approval 

 
Working in Partnership  

167



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 2 

 

Executive Summary 

The objective of this SPD is to set out a strategy for the avoidance and mitigation of impacts of new 

residential development upon the Dorset Heathlands (including tourism development).  

The Dorset Heathlands are an extensive network of lowland heath within south east Dorset that are 

recognised for their national and international importance for nature conservation. Evidence shows that the 

Dorset Heathlands are under significant pressure from an increasing number of people living nearby. As 

population grows, urbanising impacts from human pressures and damage caused by domestic pets have 

the potential to cause ongoing adverse effects on the protected habitats and species.  

The overall objective of the SPD is to establish a framework under which applications for development 

likely to have a significant effect on the Dorset Heathlands can be permitted (or should be refused) so that 

any adverse effects on the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands are avoided. The strategy deals both with 

larger developments, which may affect the integrity of these sites alone, and smaller developments where 

cumulative effects may be the critical factor. The latter provision is necessary to meet the ‘in combination’ 

part of Regulation 63 of the Habitat Regulations. 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council and Dorset Council as decision makers are the 

competent authorities under the Habitats Regulations and are advised by Natural England in how to fulfil 

these duties. The Councils when granting planning permission have to be certain that the proposed 

development will not have an adverse effect on important areas of nature conservation. Any net increase in 

residential development within 5 kilometres will have an adverse impact on the Dorset Heathlands.  

Therefore measures must be put in place to avoid and mitigate all harm caused.  

Both Councils have local plan policies to mitigate the harm from new housing and tourism development on 

the Dorset Heathlands with the strategy set out in a supplementary planning document. This is that 

strategy. The Councils have been operating the strategy since January 2007 and this document is an 

interim update that continues the strategy, by enabling development by implementing measures to avoid 

adverse effects on the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands. The strategy is a long term approach with the 

SPD setting out a five year rolling programme of measures. This SPD is a roll forward of the existing 

approach, but a full review of the strategic approach to mitigation and avoidance will be carried out as part 

of the process of preparing a BCP Local Plan and Dorset Council Local Plan over the next few years.   

This SPD has been prepared jointly between BCP Council and Dorset Council with advice from Natural 

England. It covers a 5 year implementation period from 2020-2025. The strategy consists of two mutually 

dependent and supporting policy mechanisms: 

 Restrictions on development within the 400 metres heathland area; and  

 Mitigation associated with some types of development within the 400 metres to 5 kilometre 

heathland area 

The strategy for avoidance and mitigation with the 400 metres to 5 kilometre heathland area, consists of 

two dependent approaches: 

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM); and 

Part 2: Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs). 

SAMMs contributions secure the day to day costs of helping local people to alter harmful behaviour through 

raising awareness of the issues and value of the protected sites, which includes (i) employing wardens to 

manage visitor pressures on the heathland; and (ii)delivering education programmes in local schools. 

SAMMs also pay for the ongoing monitoring of a sample of heathlands and the effects of new development 

and crucially whether this strategy is effective.  

To enable the Councils to grant planning permission for proposals for a net increase in dwellings within the 

400 metres to 5km heathland area, the applicant is required to pay SAMMs as follows: 

168



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 3 

 BCP Council will charge a SAMMs rate of £394 per house and £269 per flat paid by planning 

obligation; and 

 Dorset Council will collect these SAMMs costs through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

The exception is for the area covered by the North Dorset Local Plan where sites are within 5km of 

the Dorset Heathlands, where a planning obligation of £406 per house and £277 per flat is 

necessary.  

HIPS are physical infrastructure works, such as the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 

(SANGs) or enhancement of existing greenspaces to increase the attractiveness for visitors that would 

otherwise visit the Dorset Heathlands. There are good examples of SANGs across South East Dorset that 

includes Upton Country Park, Canford Park, Bytheway Field and Frenches Farm as well as a number of 

new sites coming forward. HIPs costs vary from project to project and the Councils use different 

mechanisms to fund mitigation dependent upon local circumstances. An advisory group will oversee the 

preparation of a Monitoring, Projects and Implementation Plan to set out the progress in delivery of 

mitigation.  

. 

  

169



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 4 

 

Contents 

 
Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

Contents .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

2. Legislative and Policy Background ................................................................................................... 6 

Designations ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

The Habitats Regulations ...................................................................................................................... 6 

National Planning Policy Framework ..................................................................................................... 6 

3. Evidence .............................................................................................................................................. 8 

4. Enabling Development: The Dorset Heathlands Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy .................. 12 

400 metres heathland area ................................................................................................................. 12 

400 metres to 5 km heathland area ..................................................................................................... 13 

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) .......................................................... 13 

Part 2: Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs) ................................................................................. 14 

5. Paying for the Mitigation Strategy ................................................................................................... 16 

Paying SAMMs ................................................................................................................................... 16 

Paying for HIPs ................................................................................................................................... 16 

Appropriate assessment of planning applications ............................................................................... 17 

Securing mitigation in perpetuity ......................................................................................................... 17 

6. Monitoring and Implementation ....................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix A: Possible Mitigation .................................................................................................................. 20 

Appendix B: Advice for Different Uses ........................................................................................................ 22 

Appendix C: 400m Consultation Area ......................................................................................................... 25 

Appendix D: Guidelines for the establishment of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) Quality 
Standards for the Dorset Heaths ................................................................................................................ 26 

Appendix E: SANGs planning application principles ................................................................................... 31 

Appendix F: Permitted Development / Prior Approvals ............................................................................... 33 

Appendix G: Model Clauses for Planning Obligations ................................................................................. 34 

 

170



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) provide guidance to applicants and interested parties on 

local planning matters by providing more detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the relevant 

adopted Local Plan.  

1.2 This SPD was prepared jointly by Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP Council) and 

Dorset Council with the advice of Natural England. The Councils consulted on this SPD from 3 

January to the 3 February 2020. The feedback to the consultation is summarised in a consultation 

statement and was used to prepare the SPD for adoption by the Councils in March 2020.   

1.3 The purpose of this SPD is to set out the approach to avoid or mitigate harm arising from increased 

urban related pressures on the Dorset Heathlands. The avoidance and mitigation measures set out 

in this SPD will thereby enable the two Councils to continue to grant permissions for development 

planned in the local plans. The SPD provides guidance and advice to developers, landowners and 

the wider community on matters to avoid or mitigate the adverse effects of urban development on 

the Dorset Heathlands (as defined below). 

1.4 The constituent Councils have been operating the strategy since January 2007 and this document is 

an interim update that continues the strategy, by enabling development through the implementation 

of measures to avoid adverse effects on the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands. The Councils intend 

to review the strategy through the preparation of new local plans over the next 2-3 years to ensure 

that growth can be mitigated effectively.  

1.5 The SPD supports each Council’s local plans and covers a five year period from 1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2025. During this period the Councils will enable delivery of the necessary mitigation to 

enable the planned housing growth set out in the local plans and other projects giving rise to 

relevant adverse effects. 

1.6 This SPD accords with the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) and 

it is a result of the co-operative approach to partnership working between the Councils, statutory 

bodies and other organisations. It is the purpose of this document to set out the approach that, 

together, the two Councils will follow. This forms a basis for how harm to the heathlands can be 

avoided. 

  

171



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 6 

2. Legislative and Policy Background  

Designations 

2.1 The lowland heaths in South East Dorset are covered by a number of international, European and 

national designations, in particular the: 

 Dorset Heathlands Special Protection Area (SPA);  

 Dorset Heathlands Ramsar Site; 

 Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and  

 Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation (Purbeck and Wareham) and Studland Dunes.  

2.2 Collectively this SPD refers to these designations as the Dorset Heathlands. They host protected 

priority habitats and species including Dartford warblers, nightjars, woodlark, hen harrier, merlin, 

sand lizards and smooth snakes as well as other typical species of lowland heathland, wetlands and 

dunes. The Dorset Heathlands cover an extensive area of South East Dorset fragmented by urban 

development, forestry, agriculture and other land uses.   

The Habitats Regulations 

2.3 European wildlife sites are protected by the EC Birds and Habitats Directives, specific provisions of 

which are applied in the UK by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the 

Habitats Regulations). They place particular responsibilities on a decision maker in relation to such 

sites. The two Councils, as decision makers are the competent authorities under the Habitats 

Regulations and are advised by Natural England on how to fulfil these duties. 

2.4 Regulations 63 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the ‘Habitats 

Regulations’) require that any application for development or strategic plan or policy which is likely 

to significantly affect a European site is subject to an appropriate assessment of the implications of 

the proposal for the site’s conservation objectives. The planning authority must ascertain that the 

plan or project will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the site, alone or in combination 

with other plans or projects, either directly or indirectly, taking account of any conditions or 

restrictions that would help ensure no adverse effect, before granting permission or adopting a plan 

or policy.  

National Planning Policy Framework  

2.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) outline the 

procedure set out by the government that should be followed in deciding whether to approve a 

proposal (a plan or project) that will potentially affect a protected habitats site. 

2.6 The NPPF recognises the value of our natural environment stating that the ‘planning system should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment’1, for example by protecting and 

enhancing valued landscapes such as heathland, establishing coherent and resilient ecological 

networks and providing net gains for biodiversity. Importantly the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development does not apply where development requiring appropriate assessment 

under the Birds or Habitats Directives or Ramsar convention is being considered, planned or 

determined.2 

Development Plans 

2.7 The local authorities in South East Dorset have adopted Local Plans which contain a similarly 

worded policy that addresses the Dorset Heathland issue. The SPD supports the following local 

plan policies: 

                                            
1 NPPF para 170  
2 NPPF para 176,177 

172



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 7 

 Bournemouth Core Strategy (2012) - Policy CS33 Heathland restricts residential uses within 

the 400 metre area and requires residential development within the 400 metre to 5km area 

to provide mitigation.   

 Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2014) - Policy ME2 Protection of the Dorset 

Heathlands restricts residential uses within the 400 metre area and requires residential 

development within the 400 metre to 5km area to provide mitigation in accordance with this 

SPD.   

 The Poole Local Plan (2018) - Policy PP32 Part (1) Poole’s nationally, European and 

internationally important protected sites restricts residential uses within the 400 metre area 

and requires residential development and tourist accommodation within the 400 metre to 

5km area to provide mitigation in accordance with this SPD.  

 The North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2016) – Policy 4 Natural Environment requires 

contributions from developments within 5km of the Dorset Heathlands towards the 

sustainable management of the heathland sites or contributions towards the provision of 

alternative accessible recreation space to reduce recreational pressure on the Dorset 

heathlands. 

 The Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 (2012) and Swanage Local Plan (2017) - A new Purbeck 

Local Plan is currently at examination and will replace the 2012 Plan. Policy DH Dorset 

Heaths International Designations (2012) and its replacement Policy E8 (2019) restrict 

residential uses within the 400 metre area and requires residential development, equestrian-

related development and tourist accommodation within the 400 metre to 5km area to provide 

mitigation in accordance with this SPD.  

 The West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) – Policy ENV2 Wildlife and 

Habitats restricts residential and equestrian uses within the 400 metre area and 

development within the 400 metre to 5km area provided it can avoid or mitigate the adverse 

effects of the development.   

2.8 A full review of heathland mitigation will be undertaken as part of the preparation of the BCP Council 

Local Plan and the Dorset Local Plan. These two new local plans will replace the plans listed above. 

This process will take a few years and the outcomes can feed into a review of this SPD.  

2.9 The local plans are accompanied by habitats regulations assessments (HRA) which set out the 

measures that need to be provided to enable development to be delivered. Together the HRAs 

provide a consistent record of the approach to avoidance and mitigation and in varying levels of 

detail, the type and nature of projects required. 

2.10 In addition to the local plans, there may be relevant policies in neighbourhood plans.  

 

173



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 8 

3. Evidence 

3.1 Natural England has advised the authorities of concerns arising from the increase in residential 

development across South East Dorset and the resultant pressures placed upon protected 

heathland by new occupants of these developments living in close proximity to the heathlands. 

Various studies, have found that public access to lowland heathland, from nearby development, has 

led to an increase in wild fires, damaging recreational uses, the introduction of incompatible plants 

and animals, loss of vegetation and soil erosion and disturbance by humans and their pets amongst 

other factors have an adverse effect on the heathland ecology. A full list of evidence will be 

published alongside this SPD.  

3.2 Some of these effects are direct impacts on the designated sites but many, such as recreational 

use, will be ongoing for the duration of the development. In the case of additional housing, the 

effects arising are considered to be permanent requiring ongoing mitigation measures. 

3.3 The two Councils3 have found the evidence and advice to be sound and have been operating a 

strategy for the protection of heathland since 2007. During this time the Councils, Natural England 

and the Urban Heath Partnership have been gathering evidence into the adverse effects of urban 

related pressures on the protected heaths to inform the future strategy for avoiding and mitigating 

the adverse effects of development. This evidence informs the summary table in Figure 1.  

  

                                            
3 Formerly known as Borough of Poole, Christchurch Borough Council, East Dorset District Council, Bournemouth Borough Council and 
Purbeck District Council.  

174



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 9 

Figure 1: The Main Urban Effects on Lowland Heaths in Dorset 

Reduction in area  • Mid 18C c36,000 ha to 2019 6,199 ha (DERC).  

Fragmentation of heaths   • Fragmentation of heaths 768 fragments, 88% < 10ha (Webb & 
Haskins 1980). Many ecological impacts from smaller heath areas. 

Supporting habitats  • Less semi-natural habitat adjoining heaths which provide functional 
support.  

Predation    • Fox, cat/rat predation on ground nesting birds and reptiles, direct 
predation and reduced recruitment.  

Disruption to hydrology  • Diversion of pre-existing natural water sources away from heathland 
catchments.  

• Rapid run-off onto heaths from urban areas.  

Pollution  • Changes in pH, nutrient status, turbidity of water supplies to 
heathland.  

• Enrichment and pollutants from urban run-off.  

• Pollutants from mis-connections storm overflows, spills, accidents  

Sand and gravel working 
with land-fill after use  

• Mineral working destroying habitat and disrupting hydrology. 

• Polluted water can leak from landfill.  

Enrichment  • Dog excrement causes vegetation change along sides of paths. 

• Rubbish and garden waste dumping by roads and from gardens.  

Roads  • Increased fire risk from car thrown cigarettes.  

• Pollution/enrichment causing vegetation change from vehicles in 
transport corridor.  

• Roads forming barriers to species mobility.  

• Road kills increasing mortality rates.  

• Noise and light pollution from traffic.  

Service infrastructures 
both over and under 
heathland  

• Disturbance during construction and maintenance.  

• Leakage from underground pipes and sewers.  

• Changes to heathland hydrology.  

• Poles providing bird predator look-out posts.  

Disturbance  • Changes in breeding bird and animal distributions within and across 
sites. 

• Reduction in breeding success of birds/animals. 

• Delayed breeding in SPA birds. 

Trampling  • Changes to vegetation.  

• Creation of bare areas and subsequent soil erosion.  

• Damage to bare ground reptile and invertebrate habitats and 
populations.  

• Increases in path and track networks.  

• Damage to archaeological features.  

Fire  • Increased frequency of fires with majority in spring and summer.  

• Long term vegetation changes.  

• Increased mortality of heathland animals/birds.  

• Fragmentation/reduction of habitat on heaths. 

• Increased erosion into wetland habitats.  

Vandalism   • Vandalism Damage to signs and fences.  

Public hostility to 
conservation 
management  

• Opposition to management e.g. tree felling, fencing and grazing.  

Management costs  • Greatly increased management costs on urban heaths.  

175



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 10 

  

176



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 11 

3.4 On the basis of the evidence, the proposed increase in residential development within 5 km of the 

Dorset Heathlands will inevitably result in greater urban pressures upon the heathlands. Therefore 

Natural England advises that the cumulative effect of a single dwelling up to 5 km from the Dorset 

Heathlands would have a likely significant effect on those designated sites.  

3.5 The Councils are in agreement that avoidance or mitigation measures are required to enable the 

Councils to continue to grant permission for residential development within 5 km of these 

designated sites. Figure 2 shows the Dorset Heathlands and this 5km area. 

3.6 Furthermore the Councils will work with neighbouring authorities in Hampshire to ensure that 

development does not have an adverse effect upon the heaths in the New Forest National Park 

Figure 2 – Extent of the Dorset Heathlands and the 400 metres to 5km area 

 

177



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 12 

4. Enabling Development: The Dorset Heathlands Avoidance and 

Mitigation Strategy 

4.1 This section sets out the approach to enabling development through the implementation of 

measures to avoid likely urban effects upon the Dorset Heathlands. The strategy is a long term 

approach with the SPD setting out a five year rolling programme of measures for the period 2020-

2025, unless an early review is necessary.  

4.2 The strategy consists of two mutually dependent and supporting policy mechanisms: 

 Restrictions on development within the 400 metres heathland area; and  

 Mitigation associated with some types of development within the 400 metres to 5km 

heathland area. 

400 metres heathland area 

4.3 The effects listed in Figure 1, are most marked for development within 400 metres of heathland, in 

particular disturbance and predation. However many of the effects listed will act together 

(synergistically) to create effects which can be worse than each individual effect. Natural England 

advises that additional residential development within 400 metres of the Dorset Heathlands is likely 

to have a significant effect upon the designated site, either alone or in combination with other 

developments and that this cannot be mitigated. Further, in order for an appropriate assessment in 

the 5km area to be able to conclude that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of the Dorset 

Heathlands it is necessary to control the type of development that is permitted within this 400 metre 

area as indicated below.  

4.4 The two Councils, as the competent authorities responsible, agree that this conclusion is sound and 

supported by the relevant evidence. In these circumstances development proposals within 400 

metres that fall within the ‘not permitted’ category below would not be compliant with the avoidance 

and mitigation strategy of this SPD and therefore the competent authority would not be able to 

conclude that there was no adverse effect on the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands. 

4.5 Although this SPD focusses on residential development there are other uses and forms of 

residential development that have differing impacts upon the Dorset Heathlands. These uses are 

set out in Figure 3 and are intended to sign post applicants to the likely council position from the 

local plan policies. This figure is indicative rather than definitive and each proposal will need to be 

assessed on a case by case basis. Further detail on each use is set out in Appendix B.  

Figure 3: Uses that are generally permitted and not permitted within the 400 metres heathland area 

or which require mitigation if between 400 metres and 5km: 

Not permitted within 400 metres and 
requiring mitigation between 400 metres 
and 5km: 

 A net gain in residential dwellings in C3 Use 
Class on the same site, including 
conversions 

 Houses in Multiple Occupation (Sui generis) 

 Residential Institutions within C2 Use Class 
where the residents are not severely 
restricted by illness or mobility 

 Student accommodation 

 Sites for gypsy, travellers and travelling 
showpeople 

 Self-catering, caravan and touring holiday 
accommodation 

Permitted within 400 metres: 

 Extensions to residential dwellings in C3 Use 
Class where there is no net increase in 
dwellings, i.e. extension to a house  

 Ancillary residential accommodation forming 
part of an existing building in C3 Use Class to 
provide independent living where there is no 
net increase in functional dwelling units, i.e. 
granny annexes  

 Replacement dwellings in C3 Use Class 
where there is no net increase in dwellings 

 Nursing homes within C2 Use Class where 
the residents are severely restricted with 
advanced dementia / physical nursing needs 

Each of the above uses will be determined on a case by case basis and not all uses are covered. 

178



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 13 

4.6 The 400 metre heathland area is a straight line drawn from the edge of the protected sites. The 

edge of the area does not follow physical features on the ground. Natural England has therefore 

published statutory maps on its website setting out a 400 metre Consultation Area, where the line 

has been realigned to the nearest curtilage. Within this area the two Councils are required to seek 

the advice of Natural England concerning additional residential dwellings. Further details are set out 

in Appendix C. 

400 metres to 5 km heathland area 

4.7 The area between 400 metres and 5 km measured as a straight line from the boundary of a 

protected heath, is shown on the various local plan policies maps. Natural England advise that 

additional residential development within this area is likely to have a significant effect on the Dorset 

Heathlands either alone or in combination with other proposals. In addition they advise that in order 

for an appropriate assessment to be able to conclude that there is no adverse effect on the integrity 

of the Dorset Heathlands it is necessary certain types of development, as indicated above, require 

avoidance or mitigation measures to be implemented to allow development to be approved.  

4.8 The two Councils, as the competent authorities responsible, agree that this conclusion is sound and 

supported by the relevant evidence. It follows that these types of development proposals in the 400 

metre to 5km area, unless covered by appropriate avoidance or mitigation measures, would not be 

compliant with local plan policy and the avoidance and mitigation strategy of this SPD and therefore 

the competent authority, in assessing such proposals, through a project level appropriate 

assessment, would not be able to conclude that there was no adverse effect on the integrity of the 

Dorset Heathlands. 

4.9 The mitigation element of the strategy is in two parts: 

 Part 1: Strategic Access, Management and Monitoring (SAMM); and 

 Part 2: Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs). 

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) 

4.10 This part of the strategy focuses on wardening, raising awareness and monitoring the effectiveness 

of the strategy. SAMMs contributions secure the day to day costs of helping local people to behave 

in ways less harmful to the local heathlands they access. This is through raising awareness of the 

issues and value of the protected sites and includes (i) employing wardens to manage visitor 

pressures on the heathland; and (ii) delivering awareness and education programmes in local 

schools, on the heaths and through local communities. SAMMs also pay for the ongoing monitoring 

of a sample of heathland birds, visitor access patterns and the effects of new development and 

crucially whether this strategy is effective.  

4.11 The cost of SAMMs is apportioned to the planned number of homes as follows: 

Amount of Planned Development 

4.12 The housing trajectory published in each Councils Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments 

provides the planned number of homes expected to come forward over the period 2020/21-2024/25. 

4.13 For BCP Council the trajectory indicates a supply of 11,290 homes in the five year period. 6,850 of 

this total are commitments leaving a new supply of 4,440 homes. The entire BCP area falls within 

the 5km Heathland area and therefore any net additional housing has to provide mitigation. 

4.14 For Dorset Council the trajectory indicates a supply of 3,716 homes in the five year period. 2,216 of 

this total are commitments leaving a new supply of 1,500 homes within the 5km heathland area. 

4.15 If these levels of planned growth are exceeded, the Councils will have to ensure that suitable 

mitigation can be provided to avoid an adverse effect upon the Dorset Heathlands. The NPPF’s 

presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply unless the Councils can 

demonstrate through appropriate assessment that the proposal will not have an adverse effect on 

the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands. Mitigation will need to be provided where the adverse effect 

is likely to occur. 

179



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 14 

The cost of SAMM mitigation 

4.16 The necessary SAMMs mitigation measures for the 5 year period are set out in Appendix A (Part 1). 

The cost of SAMMs over this 5 year period is £2M; split £1.42M for BCP Council and £0.58M for 

Dorset Council.  

Calculating SAMMs contributions 

4.17 The SAMMs charge is calculated by dividing the total cost of providing SAMMs by the number of 

planned homes within the 5km heathland area for each respective Council over the period 2020-

2025, as shown in Figure 4. For Dorset Council, this contribution is only applicable in the 5km 

heathland area in the North Dorset Local Plan area. As set out in Section 5 Dorset Council will take 

the equivalent contribution per home from CIL for the remainder of Dorset. Both Councils will review 

these funding mechanisms through the preparation of new local plans. Section 5 details how this 

mitigation will be collected through planning applications.  

Figure 4: The calculation of the SAMMs contribution for development the BCP Council area and for Dorset 

Council the 5km area covered by the North Dorset Local Plan 

 

Part 2: Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs) 

4.18 HIPs are physical infrastructure projects that provide facilities to attract people away from the 

protected heathland sites. SANGs (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces) are the most 

significant element of provision, having a key role in providing an alternative destination to the 

Dorset Heathlands. Examples of HIPs are set out in Appendix A. HIPs should be fully operational 

before the occupation of the first dwelling. Figure 5 illustrates the coverage of SANGs since the 

mitigation strategy commenced in 2007.  

4.19 Strategic SANGS are those where the SANG is sufficiently attractive as to draw visitors from a wider 

area. These SANGs will attract visitors from a wider area (within the 5km area) than that required 

specifically for the project.  These are likely to be set out in Local Plans.  Smaller, non-strategic 

SANGs are linked to housing developments, and whereas they will attract local people who do not 

live in the new housing, they are not intended to draw visitors from a much wider area. Other HIPs 

projects are likely to be more bespoke to local areas and for example may consist of creating 

linkages between open green spaces, recreational facilities such as BMX tracks or fire access 

measures.  

4.20 Heathland support areas are sites, usually adjacent to the Dorset Heathlands where the area 

provides important functional support to the protected site. This may be in spreading public access 

pressure, enabling better site management or making the designated site more resistant to external 

effects. Because of the close proximity these sites will not be intended to attract new visitors in the 

same way as SANGs. 

BCP Council  

 

The cost per dwelling is calculated as: 

£1,420,000 = £320 per home 
4,440 homes 

Adjusted for average occupancy: 

Houses (2.42 occupants) £394 per house 
Flats (1.65 occupants) £269 per flat 

 

Dorset Council 

(Only the North Dorset Local Plan area) 

The cost per dwelling is calculated as: 

£580,000 = £387 per home 
1,500 homes 

Adjusted for average occupancy: 

Houses (2.42 occupants) £406 per house 
Flats (1.65 occupants) £277 per flat 

 

180



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 15 

4.21 The two Councils invite local landowners and organisations to suggest new HIPs. HIPs including 

SANGs can be delivered and managed by both the public and private sector. The Councils 

recommend that organisations have an informal discussion with the appropriate Council and Natural 

England prior to submission of a proposal. Proposals for HIPs can be submitted using the 

separately published template. Projects will be considered for funding on a case by case basis. In 

some cases promoters of larger developments may wish to deliver bespoke measures which will be 

considered by the Councils with advice from Natural England.  

Figure 5: Proposed and implemented heathland mitigation 

 

Tourism development and other types of housing  

4.22 Tourism development and other types of housing can have a significant effect on the Dorset 

Heathlands, but outside 400 metres some may be mitigated. Further details are set in Appendix B. 

Permitted Development 

4.23 Some development does not require planning permission and is known as ‘permitted development’ 

and ‘prior approval’. Such development, which enables residential dwellings/occupation can still 

have a likely significant effect on the Dorset Heathlands and will therefore need to provide mitigation 

measures outside of 400 metres area prior to commencement. Further details are outlined in 

Appendix F.  

  

181



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 16 

5. Paying for the Mitigation Strategy 

5.1 This SPD has been prepared having regard to the tests set out in the Community Infrastructure 

Levy Regulations 2010 and subsequent amendments, in particular Regulation 122 which sets out 

the three tests that the planning obligation should be necessary, directly related and fairly and 

reasonable related in scale and kind to the development. Where the Regulations change the 

authorities will continue to provide suitable mechanisms to enable applicants to contribute 

efficiently.  

5.2 The Councils use different mechanisms to fund mitigation dependent upon local circumstances.  

Paying SAMMs 

5.3 To provide certainty to those considering or making applications for residential development and to 

ensure transparency and accountability this SPD sets a standard contribution for new dwellings to 

fund SAMMs. The simplicity of this approach gives certainty thus avoiding unnecessary delay in the 

determination of planning applications. The standard contribution is calculated by spreading the cost 

of the necessary mitigation across the amount of planned development. 

5.4 Dorset Council will collect SAMMs contributions through CIL (except in the North Dorset area where 

there is no CIL charging schedule in place), whereas BCP Council will collect the SAMMs through 

planning obligations.  

5.5 To enable the Councils to grant planning permission for proposals for a net increase in dwellings 

within the 400 metres to 5km heathland area, the applicant is required to pay SAMMs as follows: 

 Dorset Council will collect the majority of SAMMs costs through CIL. The contributions taken 

from CIL will be determined by the costs of funding SAMMs needed to mitigate the effects 

from the numbers of homes it expects to be delivered between 2020/21 and 2024/25. The 

exception is the area covered by the North Dorset Local Plan where sites are within 5km of 

the Dorset Heathlands where, as set out in Section 4, a planning obligation of £406 per 

house and £277 per flat will be necessary. 

 BCP Council will, as set out in Section 4, charge a SAMMs rate of £394 per house and £269 

per flat paid by planning obligation through a payment: 

o prior to the grant of planning permission as an upfront payment (Section 111 of the 

1972 Local Government Act); or 

o prior to commencement (Section 106 Agreement or unilateral undertaking). 

5.6 BCP Council has an administration charge of 5% of the total contribution payable, subject to a 

minimum charge of £75 and capped to a limit of £1,000 per contribution. Model clauses for Section 

106 Agreements, Section 111 payments and unilateral agreements are set out in Appendix G. 

5.7 A credit will be applied for existing dwellings based on the average occupancy of flats or houses. 

For example, if a house is to be replaced by 10 flats then the calculation would be: 

  (10 x SAMMs contribution for a flat) minus the SAMMs contribution of 1 house  

5.8 The charge will be adjusted annually on 1 April to reflect inflation and ensure that the appropriate 

level of SAMM can be delivered over the plan period.  

Paying for HIPs 

5.9 HIPs will be delivered from contributions collected through CIL payments or secured through 

Section 106 agreements, depending upon the circumstances. Where schemes are exempt from 

paying CIL, there is likely to be a requirement to provide HIPs through Section 111, Section 106 

Agreement or unilateral undertaking.  

5.10 Some HIPs projects will be expected to be delivered directly by developers through on site 

provision. The types of potential projects are set out in Appendix A. Specific projects will be set out 

182



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 17 

in a Monitoring, Projects and Implementation Plan, regularly updated to ensure that there is a rolling 

five year programme of projects.  

5.11 Where a settlement extension is allocated through a local plan or neighbourhood plan, the provision 

of a SANG will form part of the overall infrastructure provision of that site, particularly where 

settlement extensions or development on green field sites are proposed. Where a planning 

application which needs a HIP comes forward on an unallocated site, the applicant will need to 

ensure mitigation is secured, and may not necessarily rely on the Councils to secure mitigation 

through a financial contribution. The threshold for the number of homes that trigger the requirement 

to provide a SANG is around 50 unless stated differently in an existing adopted local plan for an 

area. Guidance for the provision of SANGs is set out in Appendices D and E. 

5.12 In built up areas, opportunities to provide HIPs alongside large developments are more constrained 

than in rural areas. Because of this, approaches vary according to local circumstances; i.e. in one 

area a financial contribution towards a specific strategic HIP may be adequate, but in another area a 

bespoke HIP may be necessary for the Council to be certain that the urban effects can be mitigated 

and thereby planning permission granted. These considerations need to be resolved during the plan 

making stage to ensure certainty and deliverability of allocations. Each planning application will be 

considered on a case by case basis as the nature of some sites will enable the provision of a HIP 

within the scheme and again will depend upon the specific requirements of that area. Early 

engagement with the Councils and Natural England at pre-application stage is recommended. 

5.13 The Councils are preparing new local plans for the two Council areas and these will replace the six 

current local plans. The process will review the different approaches in order to provide consistent 

advice in future iterations of this SPD. However, in the meantime the approaches have to be led by 

the policies set out in the adopted local plans for different parts of the BCP Council and Dorset 

Council areas.   

Appropriate assessment of planning applications 

5.14 As stated in paras 4.7-4.8, any additional residential development within 400 metre to 5km 

heathland area is likely to have a significant effect on the Dorset Heathlands either alone or in 

combination with other proposals. Therefore in accordance with the Habitats Regulations, the 

Councils will undertake a project level appropriate assessment when considering all planning 

applications where there is a net gain in homes within the 400 metre to 5km heathland area.  

5.15 This SPD provides a strategic mitigation framework to enable applicants to secure the appropriate 

avoidance or mitigation measures to comply with local plan policy and thereby enable the Council to 

conclude through appropriate assessment that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of the 

Dorset Heathlands. For the majority of development mitigation can be secured in accordance with 

this strategic mitigation framework.  

5.16 However there will be instances when the applicant will be required to provide further information 

and agree to further avoidance and mitigation measures to enable the Council to conclude there is 

no adverse effect. For example, possible adverse effects can be avoided by alterations to the 

design or through the use of conditions on planning permission and these will be set out in the 

appropriate assessment. 

5.17 The Council after completing the appropriate assessment template will publish it alongside the 

determination of the planning application. The Councils application of the Habitats Regulations is in 

accordance with recent case law, e.g. Sweetman 2 (People over wind), Holohan and Dutch 

nitrogen, which all reinforce the need for a rigorous approach. 

Securing mitigation in perpetuity 

5.18 The Councils will be responsible for ensuring that CIL and planning obligations will be spent in a 

timely manner to ensure that mitigation is delivered in advance of occupation of new residential 

development. 

183



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 18 

5.19 The mitigation measures required to allow development will need to be in place whilst the adverse 

effects are arising. For residential development this means “in-perpetuity”, which for this strategy is 

considered as 80 years, and hence resources are secured accordingly. However, the element of 

monitoring established allows for the adjustment of measures in the future based upon the evidence 

gathered. 

5.20 SAMMs funding is made available for the lifetime of development. Where provision of HIPs is on 

Council controlled sites the Council will through CIL and other contributions use these receipts to 

put in place and maintain projects. Where HIPs are provided by landowners or other third parties, 

mechanisms will need to be secured that ensure that mitigation is available in-perpetuity and also 

that funding is secured to maintain it.   

5.21 Some projects may be supported for a short duration, e.g. where the proposals are effective and 

innovative or as appropriate where short term concerns may arise, e.g. the provision of BMX tracks. 

Future revisions to this document and the overall avoidance and mitigation strategy will investigate 

other means by which mitigation can be secured.  

184



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 19 

6. Monitoring and Implementation  

6.1 The two Councils will use the contributions to deliver mitigation in a timely manner and ensure that 

mitigation is provided before first occupation of the property. Local organisations will be encouraged 

to complete the published template to submit projects and bid for funding. 

6.2 Progress with mitigation will be set out in a Monitoring, Projects and Implementation Plan. The 

preparation of this plan will be overseen by an advisory group and will form part of the Council’s 

requirements to publish an Infrastructure Funding Statement. The formation of the two new Councils 

provides the opportunity to review the delivery of mitigation. Currently mitigation is provided by a 

combination of the Urban Heaths Partnership, hosted by Dorset Council, and by each Council. The 

review is expected to be complete within 2 years.  

6.3 Both Councils have declared a Climate Change Emergency and are preparing Action Plans to 

tackle the climate emergency. Mitigation projects should aim to provide multi-functional spaces that 

help to deliver these Action Plans and help the Councils achieve carbon neutrality or offsetting 

measures, provided the HIPs function as heathland mitigation. Furthermore all projects will need to 

align with the Council’s other  corporate objectives, and the relevant objectives of partner 

organisations, for example: 

 as part of the Dorset Integrated Care System to ensure health and wellbeing through greater 

accessibility to open space; and  

 as part of the Dorset Local Nature Partnership to enhance ecological networks / Nature 

Recovery Networks and by achieving a net gain in biodiversity.  

 

  

185



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 20 

Appendix A: Possible Mitigation  

The mitigation strategy consists of two parts. The tables below illustrate the possible type of measures the 

two Councils could implement to mitigate the impact. An advisory group will oversee the provision of a 

Monitoring, Projects and Implementation Plan. Some projects may require public consultation and Council 

sign off. Local organisations are encouraged to submit possible projects for consideration using the 

published template. The specific projects will be set out in the Monitoring, Projects and Implementation 

Plan and updated on an annual basis. 

Part 1 provides an illustration of the type of measures that SAMMs contributions can be used for. The table 

sets out the type of pressure, the suggested action from Natural England’s Site Improvement Plan (2014), 

the type of mitigation measure and the estimated annual cost.   

Part 1 Types of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMMs) Measures 

Type of pressure 
Action from Site Improvement 
Plan 

Possible Type of SAMMs Measure 

Strategic Access Management 

Disturbance by 
humans and/or 
dogs 

Prevent increases in 
damaging recreational 
pressures from new 
development 

Employing wardens/rangers to manage visitor pressures on 
the heathland generated from development 

Employing education officers to raise awareness in schools, 
with local communities and out on the heaths. 

Fire 

Take appropriate measures 
to reduce the number and 
size of arson incidents and 
facilitate effective fire control 

Review fire access across all heathlands and supporting 
measures for the fire service 

Employing education officers to raise awareness in schools, 
with local communities and out on the heaths. 

Monitoring 

Disturbance by 
humans and/or 
dogs 

Prevent increases in 
damaging recreational 
pressures from new 
development 

Undertake surveys to detect any change in the numbers and 
behaviour of heathland users to provide information on which 
activities and locations may need better management. Could 
include the use of automated counters and general counts of 
visitors, visitor interviews and surveys 

Monitoring of protected birds and species 

Fire 
Take appropriate measures 
to reduce the number and 
size of arson incidents 

Surveys and monitoring to ensure the mitigation measures are 
working. 

  

186



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 21 

Part 2 provides an illustration of the type of infrastructure projects that could be used to mitigate harm. The 

projects focus on attracting people away from protected heathlands. HIPS are physical infrastructure works, 

such as the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGs) or enhancement of existing 

greenspaces to increase the attractiveness for visitors that would otherwise visit the Dorset Heathlands. 

The table sets out the type of disturbance, the suggested action from Natural England’s Site Improvement 

Plan (2014), and the possible type of mitigation project. Project costs will be determined on a site by site 

basis.  

Part 2 Possible Types of Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs) 

Pressure Action from Site 
Improvement Plan 

Possible Type of Project 

Disturbance 
by humans 
and/or dogs 

Prevent increases 
in damaging 
recreational 
pressures from 
new development 

Provision of strategic SANGs, e.g. Upton Country Park, Hicks Farm, 
Woolslope Farm, Two Rivers Meet 

Developer led SANGs alongside settlement extensions, e.g. Canford Park 

Provide accessible routeways, gateways, viewing points, seating and 
waymarking. 

Improve access to non-designated sites e.g. Arrowsmith coppice, Delph 
Woods 

Improve linkages between SANGs and other green infrastructure, e.g. along 
the Stour Valley 

On-site and access management projects e.g. managing diffuse car parking, 
improved interpretation, enhancing access in appropriate locations, e.g. Arne, 
Stoborough & Hartland heathland complex 

Provision of BMX facilities to reduce impacts of BMX usage on nearby heaths 

Provision of heathland support areas around protected sites to dissipate the 
impacts and make sites more robust e.g. Sunnyside farm, Wheelers Lane, 
Soldiers Road 

Increasing capacity and attractiveness of existing open spaces including 
creation of new routes, clearing, signage, small car park, seating and 
interpretation display  

Disturbance 
by dogs 

Prevent increases 
in damaging 
recreational 
pressures from 
new development 

Creation of dog friendly areas to provide alternative secure location for dog 
owners to train and exercise their dogs 

Managing access to open space for dog walking 

Fire Take appropriate 
measures to 
reduce the number 
and size of arson 
incidents 

On site management and alerting the public at high risk times as well as 
dealing with generic issues such as BBQs and fire access for emergency 
services. 

 

  

187



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 22 

Appendix B: Advice for Different Uses  

There are forms of development which are not specifically mentioned in this SPD that may cause additional 

harm and these will be considered on a case by case basis. Therefore, before submitting a planning 

application, applicants are encouraged to seek early engagement with the respective Council or Natural 

England. 

The table below sets out different uses and whether they are likely to cause a significant effect alone or in-

combination upon the Dorset Heathlands:  

Use  
Likely 

significant 
effect 

Allowed in 
400m area? 

Allowed in 
400m-
5km 

area? 

Mitigation Contribution 

Use Class C1 – hotels, 
guest houses 

Yes 
possibly 

Depends Yes Case by case basis 1 room = 1 flat 

Use Class C2 – specialist 
housing, i.e. assisted living 

Yes No Yes 

Contribution as per C3 
housing /no publicly 
available parking 
capacity 

1 room = 1 flat 

Use Class C2 – Specialist 
housing, i.e. sheltered 
housing / nursing home  

No Yes Yes 
No publicly available 
parking capacity 

n/a 

Use Class C2 – residential 
institutions, i.e. boarding 
schools, residential 
colleges and training 
centres 

Yes Depends Yes 

Contribution as per C3 
housing / no publicly 
available parking 
capacity 

1 room = 1 flat 

Use Class C2 – residential 
institutions, i.e. hospitals, 

No Yes Yes 
No publicly available 
parking capacity 

n/a 

Use Class C3 – net 
additional dwelling 

Yes No Yes As set out in this SPD Per house or flat 

Use Class C3 – 
replacement dwelling 

No Yes Yes No n/a 

Use Class C3 – extension 
or granny annex 

Yes 

No, if a 
separate 
functional 

unit 

Yes No As per a flat 

Use Class C3 – retirement 
dwellings 

Yes No Yes 
Contribution as per C3 
housing 

Per house or flat 

Use Class C4 – HMO <6 
residents  

Yes No Yes 
Contribution as per C3 
housing  

HMO = 1 house 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) (Sui 
generis over 6 residents ) 

Yes No Yes 

Contribution as per C3 
housing  

Every extra 
room >6 
residents is: 
1 room = 1 flat 

Self-catering, caravan, 
chalet and touring holiday 
accommodation 

Yes No Yes 

HIP for larger scheme / 
contribution as per C3 
housing for smaller 
schemes 

Provide a HIP or 
1 unit =60% of 1 
flat  

Gypsies and Travellers Yes No Yes 
Contribution as per C3 
housing 

1 pitch = 1 flat 

University managed 
student accommodation 

Yes No Yes 

Contribution as per C3 
housing.  
Exemptions for large 
scale managed student 
accommodation.  

Each self 
contained 
cluster flat or 
studio = 1 flat 

 

Further information about some of the uses listed above: 

Use Class C1 - Hotels 

188



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 23 

The nature of hotel users is highly variable and within the 400m area cases will be treated on a case by 

case basis with advice from Natural England.  

Use Class C2 – specialist housing, i.e. assisted living, extra care 

Assisted living or extra care housing, where the occupants are still active, is comparable to residential flats. 

Such schemes are not permissible within the 400 metre heathland area. Between 400m and 5km area the 

development will be expected to demonstrate how it will provide mitigation in accordance with this SPD. 

Mitigation will also be required for any net increase in on-site staff residential accommodation.  

Use Class C2 – Specialist housing, i.e. sheltered housing / nursing homes  

Certain types of specialist purpose built nursing homes where residents are no longer active will not have a 

significant effect and do not need to provide mitigation, e.g. where nursing care is necessary such as for 

advanced dementia or physical nursing needs: 

 Purpose built schemes for the frail elderly where there is an element of close care provided on site 24 

hours a day. This level of care is above that of provision of an on-site wardening service provided for 

sheltered accommodation. It would be expected that there would normally be an age restriction of 

60+years for the occupants of the units and that the planning permission would be conditioned in such 

a way that the units could not become open market housing.  Experience from schemes of this nature 

indicates that in order to provide 24 hour care the minimum number of units is generally around 40 and 

the scheme will also have communal facilities. Authorities should consider requiring a covenant 

precluding pet ownership where it is in their view an effective measure in reducing the risk of adverse 

effects of predation and disturbance. 

 Purpose built schemes for the accommodation of disabled people, for example a care home for people 

with dementia, where by the nature of the residents’ disabilities, they are unlikely to have any impact on 

the adjacent protected heaths.  

Any planning application would need to be supported by an impact assessment with details of how the 

potential impacts resulting from staff and visitors will be mitigated. It may be necessary to use pet 

covenants or other suitable legally binding agreements in these specific situations. Planning conditions 

would be necessary to ensure that pressure from residents to own pets is an acceptable risk and that 

enforcement is achievable, i.e. there is 24 hour supervision. Possible conditions: 

 The applicant/management body will provide a biannual written confirmation to the Council detailing the 

compliance with the pet covenant, the number of residents and their age. 

 The applicant/management body will prevent, through design and enforcement measures, the use of 

on-site car parking for public use for accessing nearby heathlands. 

Such schemes are not required to provide mitigation as the nature of the residents is such that they will not 

be expected to leave the property to access heathland.  

Retirement homes where the occupants/partners are still active and/or proposals that would lead to a net 

increase in on-site staff residential accommodation would not be allowed. 

Use Class C2 – residential institutions, i.e. hospitals 

Generally hospitals would not be considered to have a likely significant effect with regard to recreational 

impacts and could be allowable within 400 metre heathland area.  

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

There is no evidence to demonstrate that residents of HMOs would be likely to have any level of 

recreational access need which is substantially different to residents in Use Class C3 dwellings. Therefore 

any net additional rooms in HMOs over 6 existing residents will not be allowed within 400 metre heathland 

area.  

189



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 24 

Between 400 metres and 5km mitigation will be needed in accordance with this SPD. Due to the permitted 

interchangeability of C3 dwellings and C4 HMOs, C4 HMOs are treated as a single dwelling if there is 

provision for up to 6 residents. However for proposals where there would be more than 6 residents (sui 

generis) mitigation will be necessary. Each additional occupied room will be required to provide mitigation 

in accordance with this SPD equating to one flat per additional room, i.e. a proposal for a 7 room HMO will 

be assumed to result in one additional room and will have to provide a financial contribution equating to a 

flat. This is because more than 6 unrelated people in a single dwelling significantly exceeds the average 

expected occupancy of any single dwelling.  

Self-catering, caravan and touring holiday accommodation applications 

Self-catering and touring proposals are likely to have broadly similar impacts upon the heathland to those 

arising from residential development. Whilst individual applicants may seek to reduce some of the impacts 

e.g. by restricting pets there is considerable uncertainty about whether, over time, such agreements would 

be effective and therefore such proposals cannot be supported. The restriction of pet ownership does not in 

any case restrict all impacts likely to arise. Therefore any net increase in self-catering and touring proposals 

will not be allowed within 400 metre heathland area. 

Between 400 metres and 5km mitigation it will be necessary for: 

 Larger proposals to provide bespoke mitigation in the form of HIPS; and 

 Small numbers of additional units, to provide mitigation through the contribution policy offered by the 

SPD. For the Purbeck Local Plan area, in cases where CIL doesn’t apply, the preference will be for 

mitigation measures to be provided as part of the development package. 

In calculating financial contributions we will assume a 60% occupancy to take account of seasonal 

fluctuations and average occupancy (both SAMMs and HIPs). Therefore only 60% of the contribution will 

be necessary. Applicants can challenge this assumption, but will need to provide evidence to demonstrate 

that the occupancy level will be different.  

Gypsies and Travellers 

There is no evidence to demonstrate that the occupants of permanent or transit sites for gypsies and 

travellers would be likely to have any level of recreational access need which is substantially different to 

residents in Use Class C3 dwellings. Therefore any net increase in gypsy and travellers accommodation 

will not be allowed within 400 metre heathland area. Between 400 metres and 5km mitigation will be 

needed in accordance with this SPD with each pitch equating to one flat. 

Purpose built student accommodation 

There is no evidence to demonstrate that the occupants of student accommodation would be likely to have 

any level of recreational access need which is substantially different to residents in Use Class C3 dwellings. 

Therefore student accommodation would not be allowed within 400 metre heathland buffer.  

Between 400 metres and 5km mitigation the effects from large managed blocks of student accommodation 

on campus are likely to be different from those of C3 residential development. The self-contained facilities 

available on campus, restrictions on dog ownership and the day to day management of student halls may 

therefore provide a degree of certainty that that there will not be significant effects on protected heathlands. 

These types of development may not be required to provide heathland mitigation if the Councils can be 

assured that units will remain as managed student accommodation. . 

Other student housing, i.e. off campus student blocks or smaller developments may not be able to provide 
the Councils with the same level of assurance and the provision of heathland mitigation will be therefore be 
applicable. There is an expectation that occupancy (such as switching to non-students) and dog ownership 
will be less controlled.  

190



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 25 

Appendix C: 400m Consultation Area 

The 400 metre heathland area is drawn as a straight line (red) around the edge of each protected 

heathland site. The principle objective is to ensure that there is no net increase in residential units including 

their curtilage within the straight line 400m area. Natural England has mapped a 400 metre consultation 

area (black) to align with curtilages. Some examples are presented below to assist in the consideration of 

proposals. The application sites, edged blue, all fall in the 400m consultation area whereby Natural England 

will need to be consulted. 

No Example 

1 

Description: The heathland lies to the left side of the plan and the two properties 
fall within the consultation area, the site is accessed into the 400m area. 

Decision: Not allowed. The access point, hence curtilage for the new dwellings 
brings residents into the 400m straight line heathland area, closer to the 
protected heathland. 

2 

Description: The heathland lies to the 
left side of the plan, the existing 
property lies in the 400m consultation 
area, the site is accessed away from 
the 400m area.  

Decision: Allowed. There is no net 
increase in dwellings in the 400m 
straight line area and access does not 
lead into this area. The existing and 
proposed dwellings are within the 400m 
consultation area but the proposed 
dwelling would fall outside the 400m 
straight line heathland area. 

3 

Description: The heathland lies to the bottom of the plan, the existing property lies in 
the 400m consultation area, the site is accessed from outside of the 400m straight 
line heathland area. 

 
Decision: Not allowed. The net effect of this proposal is an increase in dwellings in 
the 400m straight line heathland area. 

4 

Description: The heathland lies to the top of the plan, the existing large property lies 
in the 400m consultation area, and the site is accessed from outside the 400m 
straight line heathland area. 

 

Decision: Allowed. The existing large plot is in the 400m heathland area but a new 
plot is located and accessed wholly outside the 400m straight line area. This will not 
lead to an increase in dwellings in the 400m straight line heathland area. 

191



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 26 

Appendix D: Guidelines for the establishment of Suitable Alternative 

Natural Greenspace (SANG) Quality Standards for the Dorset Heaths 

Introduction 

‘Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace’ (SANG) is the name given to green space that is of a quality and 

type suitable to be used as mitigation for applications likely to affect  the Dorset Heathlands European and 

internationally protected sites. The provision of SANGs is one of a range of mitigation measures, which the 

Councils and Natural England consider offer an effective means of avoiding or mitigating harm from a 

number of urban effects. 

The role of SANGs is to provide alternative green space to divert visitors away from the Dorset Heathlands. 

SANGs are intended to provide mitigation for the likely impact of residential type developments on the 

Dorset Heathlands by preventing an increase in visitor pressure. The effectiveness of SANGs as mitigation 

will depend upon its location and design. These must be such that the SANGs is more attractive than the 

Dorset Heathlands to visitors of the kind that currently visit them. 

These guidelines describe the features which have been found to draw visitors to the Dorset Heathlands, 

which should be replicated in SANGs: 

 the type of site which should be identified as SANGs; and 

 measures which can be taken to enhance sites so that they may be used as SANGs 

These guidelines relate specifically to the means to provide mitigation for development of a residential 

nature within or close to 5km of the Dorset Heathlands. They do not address nor preclude the other 

functions of green space (e.g. provision of disabled access). Other functions may be provided within 

SANGs, as long as this does not conflict with the specific function of mitigating visitor impacts on the Dorset 

Heathlands. 

SANGs may be created from: 

 existing open space of SANGs quality with no existing public access or limited public access, which 

for the purposes of mitigation could be made fully accessible to the public; 

 existing open space which is already accessible, but could be changed in character so that it is 

more attractive to the specific group of visitors who might otherwise visit the Dorset Heathlands; and 

 land in other uses which could be converted into SANGs. 

The identification of SANGs should seek to avoid sites of high nature conservation value which are likely to 

be damaged by increased visitor numbers. Such damage may arise, for example, from increased 

disturbance, erosion, input of nutrients from dog faeces, and increased incidence of fires. Where sites of 

high nature conservation value are considered as SANGs, the impact on their nature conservation value 

should be assessed and considered alongside the relevant planning policy. 

The character of the Dorset Heathlands and its visitors 

The Dorset Heathlands are made up of 42 Sites of Special Scientific Interest, and consists of a mixture of 

open heathland and mire with some woodland habitats. The topography is varied with some prominent 

viewpoints. Many sites contain streams, ponds and small lakes and though some have open landscapes 

with few trees others have scattered trees and areas of woodland.  Most sites are freely accessible to the 

public though in some areas access is restricted by army, or other operations. 

Surveys have shown that about half of visitors to the Dorset Heathlands arrive by car and about half on 

foot. Where sites are close to urban development around Poole and Bournemouth, foot access tends to be 

most common. On rural sites in Purbeck and East Dorset, more visitors come by car.   Some 75% of those 

who visited by car had come from 5.3km of the access point onto the heathlands. A very large proportion of 

the Dorset Heathland visitors are dog walkers, many of whom visit the particular site on a regular (i.e. 

multiple visits per week) basis and spend less than an hour there, walking on average about 2.3km.  

 

192



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 27 

Guidelines for the quality of SANG  

The quality guidelines have been sub-divided into different aspects of site fabric and structure.  They have 

been compiled from a variety of sources but principally from visitor surveys carried out at heathland sites 

within the Dorset Heathlands and the Thames Basin Heaths.  

The guidelines concentrate on the type of SANGs designed principally to cater for heathland dog walkers. 

Other important heathland mitigation measures, for example, facilities designed to attract motor cycle 

scramblers or BMX users away from heathlands or facilities for adventurous play for children are not 

covered specifically and will need to be considered on a case by case basis.  

The principle criteria contained in the Guidelines have also been put into a checklist format which can be 

found in a table at the end of this appendix. 

It is important to note that these Guidelines only cover the Quality of SANG provision. There are a number 

of other matters that will need to be agreed with Natural England and the Council including; Provision of in-

perpetuity management of the SANG, SANG capacity, and other avoidance and mitigation measures as 

necessary. 

Accessibility - reaching the SANG 

Most visitors reach the Dorset Heathlands either by foot or by car and the same will apply for SANGs.  

Thus SANGs may be intended principally for the use of a local population living within a 400 metre 

catchment around the site; or they may be designed primarily to attract visitors who arrive by car (they may 

also have both functions). 

SANG design needs to take into account the anticipated target group of visitors. For example, where large 

populations are close to the Dorset Heathlands the provision of SANGs may need to be attractive to visitors 

on foot. 

SANGs co-located with developments are the preferred option so people can walk or cycle to them. The 

requirement for car parking with SANGs will be considered   

If intended to attract visitors arriving by car, the availability of adequate car parking is essential. Car parks 

may be provided specifically for a SANG or a SANG may make use of existing car parks but some existing 

car parks may have features incompatible with SANG use, such as car park charging. The amount and 

nature of parking provision should reflect the anticipated numbers and mode of arrival by visitors to the site 

and the catchment size of the SANGs. It is important that there is easy access between the car park and 

the SANG i.e. this is not impeded by, for example, a road crossing. Thus such SANGs should have a car 

park with direct access straight on to the SANG with the ability to take dogs safely from the car park to the 

SANG off the lead. Similarly, the nature of foot access between urban development and a SANG is 

important and green corridors reaching into the urban area can be an important part of facilitating access to 

the SANG. Key points: 

1. Sites must have adequate free parking for visitors, unless the site is intended for local pedestrian 

use only, i.e. within easy walking distance (400m as a straight line) of the developments linked to it. 

The amount of car parking space should be determined by the anticipated numbers using the site 

and arriving by car. One space per hectare of SANG is a useful guideline. 

2. Car parks must be easily and safely accessible by car, be of an open nature and should be clearly 

sign posted. 

3. There should be easy access between the car park or housing and the SANG with the facility to 

take dogs safely from the car park to the SANG off the lead.  

4. Access points should have signage outlining the layout of the SANGs and the routes available to 

visitors. 

Paths, Tracks and other SANG Infrastructure 

SANGs should aim to supply a choice of circular walking routes that provide an attractive alternative to 

those routes on heathlands in the vicinity (i.e. those heaths that the SANG is designed to attract visitors 

away from).  Given the average length of walks on heathland, a circular walk of 2.3-2.5km in length is 

193



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 28 

necessary unless there are particular reasons why a shorter walk is considered still appropriate. Where 

possible a range of different length walks should be provided; a proportion of visitors walk up to 5km and 

beyond so walking routes longer than 2.5 km are valuable, either on-site or through the connection of sites 

along green corridors. 

Paths do not have to be of any particular width, and both vehicular-sized tracks and narrow paths are 

acceptable to visitors although narrow corridors where visitors/dogs may feel constrained should be 

avoided. The majority of visitors come alone and safety is one of their primary concerns.  Paths should be 

routed so that they are perceived as safe by the visitors, with some routes being through relatively open 

(visible) terrain (with no trees or scrub, or well-spaced mature trees, or wide rides with vegetation back from 

the path), especially those routes which are 1-3 km long. 

A substantial number of visitors like to have surfaced but not tarmac paths, particularly where these blend 

in well with the landscape.  This is not necessary for all paths but there should be some visitor-friendly, all 

weather routes built into the structure of a SANGs, particularly those routes which are 1-3 km long.  

Boardwalks may help with access across wet areas but excessive use of boardwalks, as may be necessary 

on sites which are mostly wet or waterlogged such as flood plain and grazing marsh, is likely to detract from 

the site’s natural feel.   

Ideally SANGs should be available for year round use, to establish people’s behaviours too utilise this 

mitigation rather than visit heathland. However flooding events generally do not coincide with the bird 

nesting season (March-July) when the adverse effect of people upon protected birds is most sensitive. The 

short periods of flooding must be weighed against the quality and natural attributes of riverside access. 

Land in the Stour floodplain, for example, provides for multiple green infrastructure benefits and is located 

within easy reach of nearby urban areas. 

Other infrastructure specifically designed to make the SANG attractive to dog walkers may also be 

desirable but must not detract from a site’s relatively wild and natural feel. Measures could include 

accessible water bodies for dogs to swim/drink; dog bins, fencing near roads/car-parks etc. to ensure dog 

safety, clear messages regarding the need to ‘pick-up’, large areas for dogs to be off lead safely, , dog 

training areas may be appropriate in larger SANGs: 

5. Paths must be easily used and well maintained but most should remain unsurfaced to avoid the site 

becoming too urban in feel.  

6. A majority of paths should be suitable for use in all weathers and all year around. Boardwalks may 

be required in wet sections. 

7. All SANGs with car parks must have a circular walk which starts and finishes at the car park. 

8. It should be possible to complete a circular walk of 2.3-2.5km around the SANGs, and for larger 

SANGs a variety of circular walks 

9. SANGs must be designed so that visitors are not deterred by safety concerns. 

10. SANGs should have good green infrastructure links with nearby developments to encourage use of 

the SANG 

Advertising - making people aware of the SANG 

The need for some advertising is self-evident. There should be clear reference to the SANG being provided 

as an alternative for local people who might otherwise assess the nearby heathlands.  

11.  SANGs should be clearly sign-posted and advertised. 

12. Leaflets and/or websites advertising their location to potential visitors should be produced and 

provided at the sales office of the new development, to the new homeowners and be made available 

at entrance points and car parks. 

Landscape and Vegetation 

The open or semi wooded and undulating nature of most of the Dorset Heathland sites gives them an air of 

relative wildness, even when there are significant numbers of visitors on site. SANGs must aim to 

reproduce this quality using native species to contribute to a net gain in biodiversity, but do not have to 

194



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 29 

contain heathland or heathy vegetation. Surveys in the Thames Basin heath area show that woodland or a 

semi-wooded landscape is a key feature that people who use the SPA there appreciate. Deciduous 

woodland is preferred to coniferous woodland. 

In these circumstances a natural looking landscape with plenty of variation including both open and wooded 

areas is ideal for a SANG. There is clearly a balance to be struck between what is regarded as an exciting 

landscape and a safe one and so some element of choice between the two is desirable.  

Hills do not put people off visiting a site, particularly where these are associated with good views, but steep 

hills are not appreciated.  An undulating landscape is preferred to a flat one. Water features, particularly 

ponds and lakes, act as a focus for visitors for their visit, but are not essential. The long term management 

of the SANG habitats should be considered at an early stage.  Particularly for larger SANGs, and those with 

grasslands, grazing management is a complementary option. 

A number of factors can detract from the essential natural looking landscape and SANGs that have an 

urban feel, for example where they are thin and narrow with long boundaries with adjoining urban 

development or roads, are unlikely to be effective:  

13. SANGs must be perceived as natural spaces without intrusive artificial structures, except in the 

immediate vicinity of car parks. Visually-sensitive way-markers and some benches are acceptable. 

14. SANGs must aim to provide a variety of habitats for visitors to experience (e.g. some of: woodland, 

scrub, grassland, heathland, wetland, open water).  

15. Access within the SANGs must be largely unrestricted with plenty of space provided where it is 

possible for dogs to exercise freely and safely off lead, but under control so as not to deter others. 

16. SANGs must be free from unpleasant visual, auditory or olfactory intrusions (e.g. derelict buildings, 

intrusive adjoining buildings, dumped materials, loud intermittent or continuous noise from traffic, 

industry, sewage treatment works, waste disposal facilities). 

  

195



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 30 

Site Quality Checklist 

 Features Current Future 

Access 

1 
Sites must have adequate parking for visitors, unless the site is intended for 
local pedestrian use only, i.e. within easy walking distance (400m as a straight 
line) of the developments linked to it.  

  

2 
Car parks must be easily and safely accessible by car, be of an open nature and 
be clearly sign posted. 

  

3 
There should be easy access between the car park or housing and the SANG 
with the facility to take dogs safely from the car park to the SANG off the lead. 

  

4 
Access points should have signage showing the SANGs layout and the routes 
available. 

  

Paths, Tracks and Infrastructure 

5 
Paths must be easily used and well maintained but most should remain 
unsurfaced to avoid the site becoming too urban in feel.  

  

6 
Most paths should be suitable for use in all weathers and all year around. 
Boardwalks may be required in wet sections. 

  

7 
SANGs with car parks must have a circular walk which starts and finishes at the 
car park. 

  

8 
A circular walk of 2.3-2.5km around the SANGs is available - for larger SANGs a 
variety of circular walks created 

  

9 It must be designed so that visitors are not deterred by safety concerns   

10 
Good green infrastructure links with nearby development to encourage use of 
SANG 

  

Advertising and marketing of the SANG 

11 It should be clearly sign-posted and advertised   

12 
Leaflets and/or websites advertising their location to potential visitors should be 
produced and provided at the sales office of the new development and to the 
new homeowners 

  

Landscape and vegetation 

13 
They must be perceived as natural spaces without intrusive artificial structures, 
except in the immediate vicinity of car parks. Visually-sensitive way-markers and 
some benches are acceptable 

  

14 
They must aim to provide a variety of habitats for visitors to experience (e.g. 
some of: woodland, scrub, grassland, heathland, wetland, open water) 

  

15 
Access within the SANGs must be largely unrestricted with plenty of space 
provided where it is possible for dogs to exercise freely and safely off lead  but 
under control so as not to deter others. 

  

16 

They must avoid where possible unpleasant visual and auditory intrusions (e.g. 
derelict buildings, intrusive adjoining buildings, dumped materials, loud 
intermittent or continuous noise from traffic, industry,  sewage treatment works, 
waste disposal facilities). 

  

  

196



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 31 

Appendix E: SANGs planning application principles 

The following details will be required at the time at which a proposal is considered, this may be either at 

outline or a full application where outline has not been submitted: 

1. SANG maintenance and function should be secured and demonstrated to be in place for perpetuity. 

2. Applications for developments requiring a SANG are likely to require a Change of Use application 

for the SANG itself. This may be done through a separate planning application. 

3. When the Council considers the application for the development that the SANG is designed to 

mitigate it will need to be certain that the SANG: 

 meets the SANG criteria; 

 is deliverable, i.e. ownership and appropriate management is secured; 

 can be managed in a suitable condition in perpetuity; and 

 will be monitored for the first 5 years.  

This typically involves a draft Section 106 Agreement, an implementation plan, long-term 

management plan and monitoring arrangements being submitted for agreement with Natural 

England and the Council. 

4. Where the application for development is at an outline stage the applicant will need to provide 

sufficient information on the SANG to allow the SANG proposal to be considered. 

5. The SANG land will have been assessed for its biodiversity features and the applicant will have 

confirmed that the proposal will not in principle lead to net harm to biodiversity. Where harm to 

biodiversity features is predicted then the capacity of the SANG will need to be adjusted. 

6. A full SANG management plan will be required as part of a reserved matters/planning condition 

application if not previously provided at outline stage. This will set out the implementation and 

maintenance of the SANG – it will record initial infrastructure (photographically) and management 

objectives by compartment. This will allow for future evolution of the SANG within the broad SANG 

criteria rather than a rigid approach. 

7. If part or all of the SANG is already accessible to the public a visitor survey will need to be submitted 

as part of the application (outline or full where no-outline is submitted), and the SANG capacity 

discounted if necessary 

8. Where a SANG is not co-located with a residential proposal, Natural England will provide advice to 

the applicant concerning the SANG capacity/catchment on a case by case basis.  

Natural England will provide written confirmation to the Council that the proposed measures (SANG, 

SAMM) are appropriate to secure the necessary avoidance and mitigation measures and have been 

secured for a duration proportionate to the timescale of the development’s effects. 

SANG Visitor Monitoring 

Large developments may come forward in phases, monitoring should commence prior to the occupation of 

the first dwelling where there is existing public use. It need not be when the land has no existing public 

access. Monitoring should be phased at two/three years after each substantive phase and also at five years 

after the development is completed. It may be the case that monitoring will need to include nearby 

heathland sites. The primary aims of visitor monitoring are to inform the SANG delivery and allow for 

adjustments as well as demonstrating the SANGs functionality and use by existing local residents. Effective 

monitoring will provide a robust baseline which can be observed in future strategic monitoring events.  

After five years from the final phase of a development ongoing SANG monitoring will be incorporated into 

the ongoing SAMM programme on a strategic basis. 

SANG monitoring methodology may include visitor questionnaires, remote sensors and observational 

studies. All SANG monitoring raw data should be made readily available to the authority as part of the wider 

Heathland Monitoring Strategy. All monitoring will need to be at least consistent with existing questionnaire 

methodology and automatic recording approaches.  

197



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 32 

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) 

The provision of SANG within walking distance of a new development provides one important element of 

the required long term avoidance/mitigation strategic approach in SE Dorset. The SANGs however are not 

intended to avoid all new residents accessing the protected sites, rather to enable a neutral level of visitor 

pressure with an equal proportion of existing heathland users being diverted. It is therefore necessary for 

applicants to secure SAMM relative to the level of residential development.  As for SANGs the mitigation 

needs to be secured in perpetuity. 

Information required Outline Full Provided 

SANG maintenance and function should be secured and 
demonstrated to be in place for perpetuity. 

   

Change of Use application for the SANG    

Natural England confirms it meets the SANG criteria    

SANG is deliverable (ownership/control and management secure)    

Can be maintained in perpetuity    

Will be monitored for 5 years from completion    

Draft S106 provided    

Full S106 provided    

Assessment of Biodiversity features of SANG    

SANG layout/masterplan    

SANG management plan/costed    

If site has existing public access, visitor survey provided    

SANG monitoring strategy, agreed with LPA/Natural England    

SANG Monitoring post each development phase (large 
developments) 

   

SAMM contribution can be met    

Natural England confirms measures required are secured pre-
submission (desirable) 

   

This checklist is to assist applicants preparing the necessary information and there are likely to be 

exceptions depending on the size and complexity of the application. Early engagement, where possible, 

can reduce delays. 

  

198



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 33 

Appendix F: Permitted Development / Prior Approvals 

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 

(GPDO) enables certain types of development to take place without the need for specific planning 

permission, provided certain criteria are met. For example, the change of use of an office to a dwelling.  

Article 3(1) of the GPDO, by incorporating regulations 75-78 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (the Habitats Regulations), imposes a condition requiring prior approval under these 

Regulations, that the local planning authority is satisfied that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of 

any European site, before permitted development can go ahead. Regulation 75 states: 

General development orders 

75. It is a condition of any planning permission granted by a general development order made on or 

after 30th November 2017, that development which— 

(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site (either 

alone or in combination with other plans or projects), and 

(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site, 

must not be begun until the developer has received written notification of the approval of the local 

planning authority under regulation 77 (approval of local planning authority). 

As set out in this SPD, additional residential development is likely to have a significant effect on the Dorset 

Heathlands either alone or in combination with other proposals. Therefore in accordance with the 

regulations above the Council is obliged to undertake appropriate assessment and secure suitable 

mitigation in accordance with this SPD..  

In practice the process generally involves the applicant seeking Prior Approval from the Council for the 

change of use. When determining the Prior Approval the Council will provide a form for the applicant to 

complete. This form has to be submitted and approved by the Council before work on developing the site 

can commence.  

In cases outside of the 400m area the position can be overcome as follows: 

BCP Council, and for Dorset Council the area covered by the North Dorset Local Plan – by the submission 

alongside the form of a unilateral agreement (S106 Agreement) or upfront contribution (S111) to provide 

mitigation in accordance with this SPD. Until suitable avoidance/mitigation is secured the authority will not 

be able to inform applicants that the proposal can be implemented. 

Dorset Council (except for the area covered by the North Dorset Local Plan) – the applicant can rely on 

Dorset Council to fund the necessary mitigation from the wider CIL pot, at no extra cost to the applicant.   

  

199



Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD – Cabinet 18 March 2020 34 

Appendix G: Model Clauses for Planning Obligations 

There is a standard clause for either an agreement or unilateral undertaking as follows: 

“the Dorset Heathland contribution” means the sum of (   ) thousand (   ) hundred and (   ) Pounds 

increased by the percentage (if any) by the Retail Price Index shall have increased between the 

date of publication prior to the date of this Deed and the date of payment together with an 

administrative fee of £(pounds) towards measures which avoid or mitigate against any adverse 

effect of the Development on the Dorset Heathlands in accordance with the Dorset Heathlands 

Planning Framework Supplementary Planning Document 2020 - 2025. For the avoidance of doubt 

such sum or any part of thereof shall not be reimbursed to the party or to any other party”. 

The obligation could then be worded: 

“The Owner hereby Covenants with the Council that he will not cause or permit the commencement 

of the development on the land until the Dorset Heathlands Contribution has been paid to the 

Council.” 

For strategically significant sites delivering large numbers of residential units the obligation may be worded 
differently to reflect payment of the contribution on a phased basis. 

200



APPENDIX 2 

Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 SPD  

Consultation Report January 2020 
 

BCP Council and Dorset Council consulted jointly on the Draft Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for 4 weeks from 3 January to 3 February 2020. The Councils 
contacted everyone who registered an interest in being contacted about local planning consultations. The 
Communications teams raised awareness through social media and a press release. Hard copies of the 
SPD were displayed in every library in the BCP Council and Dorset Council areas and the SPD was 
available on both Council’s websites.  

 

The consultation attracted 115 responses as set out in the consultation report at Appendix 2, of which 62 
responses were from organisations and 53 responses were from the public. The two tables below, one for 
organisations and one for members of the public provide a brief summary of the comment, an officer 
response and where relevant, actions for the SPD.  

 

Responses from organisations: 
 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Action 4 
Alderholt 

 Carbon emissions and Climate Control should 
weigh very heavily on any future development 
plans with all future new housing situated on 
brownfield sites as close as possible to existing 
public transport routes, existing infrastructure, 
existing public services and existing employment 
opportunities, effectively ruling out remote 
greenfield sites.  

 Noted, this is an issue for 
the local plan and not 
relevant to the SPD 

Amphibian & 
Reptile 
Conservation 

 Remain supportive of the Dorset Heathlands 
Planning Framework which continues to provide 
an effective balance between development and 
mitigating the impact on the heathland 
environment. 

 Fully support the policies to avoid and limit impact 
to identified habitats and ecological networks i.e. 
Dorset’s Ecological Networks. However, remain 
concerned with the ongoing loss of these 
ecological networks e.g. the loss of the potential 
habitats between Parley-Merritown heaths. 

 The more urban SSSIs are progressively 
becoming more isolated. Therefore need to 
safeguard additional zones of retained habitats 
around isolated SSSIs. 

 To comply with NPPF 174 it is essential that 
actual and potential ecological networks are 
safeguarded within Local Plans to ensure that 
these SSSIs do not continue to lose their 
functionality and resilience within the landscape 
via successive development.  

 Development continues to isolate some of the 
SSSI series e.g. Canford, Ferndown, Parley and 
Talbot Heath with a loss of function, structure and 
resilience of these protected habitats at a 
landscape level. For example large-scale 
development in: 

o North Poole is encroaching on encroaching on 
an area classified as a potential ecological 

 Support noted.  

 Acknowledge the concerns 
raised. The emerging local 
plans will have to look 
carefully at the role of 
ecological networks.   

201



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

network, isolating Canford Heath and not clear 
Canford SANG will be effective. 

o Talbot Village - TV3 should have been restored 
to heath to reconnect and improve resilience. 
There is a failure to achieve net gain in 
biodiversity and a proposed SANG adjacent to 
SSSI is inappropriate. Reduce the TV2 footprint 
and increase the SANG. 

o Ferndown SSSI is becoming isolated and not 
effective to manage, e.g. arson.   

 Further emphasis should be given to define and 
safeguard areas that may currently be of poor 
ecological quality, e.g. as new Green Belt.  

 Concerned that some use class continues to allow 
development adjacent/within 400m of protected 
heathland, and that some of these use classes 
remain inappropriate e.g. student accommodation. 

 Agree that large scale development have binding 
agreements, e.g. SANGs should be completed 
before the development is occupied. Mitigation or 
compensation must be of sufficient extent and 
quality to offset loss and provide ecological gain, 
and enforced. 

 Poor quality evidence from ecological consultants 
is a concern on which planning applications are 
proposed. Furthermore monitoring to assess the 
effectiveness of mitigation and compensation 
schemes remains insufficient. 

 Harmful invasive non-native species continue to 
be planted within development schemes, to the 
direct detriment of SSSI and ecological networks. 

Arne Parish 
Council 

 Arne Parish Council has considered the proposal 
and members would like to stress that they would 
not wish to see any form of relaxing of the 400m 
heathland mitigation zone.  

 Comment noted 

Blandford 
Forum Town 
Council 

 The Town Council feel that this is a strongly 
evidenced document that has considered the 
factors involved in mitigation of development near 
and in heathland areas. 

 We therefore broadly welcome the findings of the 
document and note that it is a national strategy 
applied to the whole Dorset area.  

 We particularly welcome the continuance and 
possible creation of SANGS and would wish to 
see such areas developed more fully into ‘semi-
wilded’ recreational spaces, which will add to bio-
diversity and help mitigate climate change. They 
should never be merely a dog-walking area.  

 As climate change becomes a more urgent agent 
in the life of both heathlands and SANGS, we feel 
that examination of fire precautions needs to be 
investigated and if necessary, sufficiently 
strengthened as a preventative measure.' 

 Recognise the necessity for levying CIL 
contributions to SAMMS which will further mitigate 
impact on sensitive heathland environments. 

 Support noted.  

 Note that the strategy only 
covers the 5km area 
around heathlands so does 
not cover the full extent of 
Dorset. Furthermore the 
area formerly within North 
Dorset District does not 
have CIL so will require 
planning obligations (S106 
Agreements) unlike the rest 
of Dorset where CIL is in 
place.  

 Mitigation of the adverse 
impacts caused by fire is 
included as possible 
measure and the Councils 
will be looking to identify 
such projects.  

202



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Note that CIL contributions will levied on new 
developments within the southern part of the North 
Dorset area as a result of the mitigation criteria. 

 Although clearly not the purpose of the document, 
clarity on identified sites for development would 
enable some assessment of impact on sensitive 
areas to occur.  

 A spatial strategy that spreads the impact of 
developments across the whole region would 
lessen immediate impact on nearby social and 
retail centres such as Wimborne and Christchurch. 

The Blandford 
Group Practice  

 Support the strategy to protect these valuable 
heathlands and to restrict building in these areas. 
As a GP Practice we feel we need to promote the 
protection of valuable outdoor space and our 
natural environment as this is key to people living 
healthier lives both from a physical and a mental 
perspective. There is extensive scientific evidence 
supporting links to having good access outdoor 
space / natural environment to the state of the 
health and wellbeing of the local population. In 
light of the recent events in Australia, it is prudent 
not to build too close to heathland as by their 
nature they are prone to be highly combustible 
(natural and deliberate)! 

 Support noted 

Bourne Leisure  Current planning policy presupposes the protected 
habitat is in good condition and being managed 
effectively in a way consistent with the European 
Site Conservation Objectives. This ‘blanket policy 
approach’ is insufficiently nuanced, and instead 
proposed new development and bespoke 
mitigation solutions should be considered on a 
case-by-case basis, in terms of two interrelated 
aspects: 

o the nature of the use proposed and how it can 
be managed to avoid adverse impacts on 
heathland areas; and 

o potential benefits arising from such 
development, including funding to maintain 
and enhance heathland areas. 

 Planning policy restrictions threaten the future of 
the Holiday Park, and a funding source to 
contribute to regenerating Ham Common, which is 
in an unfavourable condition. A bespoke solution 
can be developed for Rockley Park that protects 
the integrity of Ham Common SPA, helps to 
regenerate the declining state of the heathland 
area, and enables the Holiday Park to evolve so 
that it can continue contributing to tourism and 
economic growth.  

 This will most likely need to be led by the 
Council’s Local Plan review which will then prompt 
a review of the SPD.  

 An example of flexible policy within 400m of the 
SPA - Policy. NRM6 of the South East Plan 
(Thames Basin Heath SPA) that, “…within the 

 The blanket approach 
provides certainty, although 
each application will be 
considered on a case by 
case basis.  

 Rockley park proposals will 
be considered through the 
BCP Local Plan process.  

203



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

zone of influence, there will be a 400m exclusion 
zone where mitigation measures are unlikely to be 
capable of protecting the integrity of the SPA. In 
exceptional circumstances, this may vary with the 
provision of evidence that demonstrates the extent 
of the area within which it is considered that 
mitigation measures will be capable of protecting 
the integrity of the SPA. These small locally 
determined zones will be set out in local 
development frameworks (LDFs) and SPA 
avoidance strategies and agreed with Natural 
England.” The supporting text to the policy states 
that local authorities must, “…put forward a policy 
framework to protect the SPA whilst meeting 
development requirements...” (Para 9.32) and 
that, “Where developers propose a bespoke 
[mitigation] solution, this will be assessed on its 
own merits under the Habitats Regulations.” (Para 
9.36) Bracknell Forest Council states in its SPD 
that, “Applications for non-residential development 
in Zone A will be assessed on a case by case 
basis, in agreement with NE.” (Para 3.2.3) 

Bournemouth 
Development 
Company 

 BCP Council owns a number of allocated sites in 
Bournemouth town centre. 

 Welcome the fact that the Councils have been 
able to identify a strategy which will allow 
development to proceed, to maintain the 
prosperity of the region. 

 BDC and BCP Council need to work together to 
identify a solution to overcome the objections to 
development arising from the potential impacts on 
the protected Dorset Heathlands.  

 BDC requires certainty that the sites in its portfolio 
are deliverable in relation to the requirements of 
the Habitats Regulations and that it will not 
experience unnecessary delays when engaging 
with the local planning authorities and Natural 
England on these matters for the preparation and 
submission of planning applications. 

 The draft SPD removes 50 or more units threshold 
for providing SANGs, thereby removing a degree 
of certainty which is important to provide clarity 
and consistency across proposed developments. 

 Appendix A of the draft SPD provides guidance on 
types of SAMM measures and HIPs but does not 
provide detail on proposed strategic locations of 
such measures or projects nor how this will be 
monitored. The SPD should detail the specific 
locations for such mitigation measures and the 
proposed Monitoring, Projects and Implementation 
Plan should be published to provide this guidance. 

 There is limited information provided to quantify 
the 5 years of SAMM projects and costs for 
respective Councils.  To be successful it is 
essential that the SPD provides the requisite level 
of certainty and consistency to allow the costs 
associated with development to be transparent 

 Support noted. 

 The threshold for SANGs 
provision will be reinserted. 

 Specific locations and 
spend will be set out in the 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan. 

 The occupancy levels are 
based on census data. The 
SAMMs have been 
calculated on assumptions 
of house/flat split. The 
workings were considered 
too complex and 
unnecessary for inclusion in 
the SPD. 

 There is no right approach 
in respect of CIL or 
planning obligation. Each 
Council has chosen a 
different method and these 
methods will be reviewed 
through the local plan 
process.  

 Acknowledge Draft SPD 
was inconsistent regarding 
student accommodation. 

 Note the comments on 
SANG design and this 
section will be updated.  

Action: 

 Re-insert threshold for 
the provision of SANGs 

204



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

and understood, particularly given the heightened 
importance of viability matters. It is not certain 
when provision of an on-site SANG or HIP would 
be required for residential development within 5km 
of the Dorset Heathlands or, if financial 
contributions were made, whether these would be 
found to provide the required specific mitigation. It 
is important that the SPD provides a clear basis 
and justification for contributions. 

 There is no justification for occupancy rates of 
2.42/house and 1.65/flat across the region. 
Similarly, the ‘assumed % house/flat split’ is not 
qualified. This should relate to the planned 
housing mix over the relevant (Plan) period, rather 
than previous trends. 

 The SPD is not clear which approach CIL/planning 
obligation approach is correct. 

 In accordance with Para 16 of NPPF, policies 
should be clearly written and unambiguous and 
should not be used to add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development.  

 The potential to provide HIPs alongside major 
developments in the urban area is highly 
constrained. Suitable land for HIPs has become 
increasingly scarce as urban sites have 
developed/redeveloped over time. It is therefore 
important the SPD provides certainty regarding 
the circumstances in which a financial contribution 
towards a specific strategic HIP will be required, or 
where a bespoke HIP related to a specific 
development proposal is necessary. Accept that 
each site should be considered on a site-by-site 
basis but further clarification should be provided 
through the SPD so that developers can plan 
effectively. This certainty must be provided in 
advance of the adoption of the BCP Council Local 
Plan, which will not be adopted until 2023. 

 There is also a duty on the Local Planning 
Authority to ensure that contributions collected 
towards heathland mitigation are actually spent on 
projects that have been agreed with Natural 
England. 

 Appendix B – The table in this section indicates 
that ‘University managed student accommodation’ 
will not be allowed within 400m of the heathlands 
and that it will be permitted within 400m-5km of 
the heathlands provided a financial contribution is 
made by way of mitigation. The current version of 
the SPD indicates that managed student halls of 
residence on University campuses are likely to be 
different to C3 residential. There is no evidence to 
justify that a different approach should be 
followed. 

 Appendix D – certain aspects of Appendix D are 
too prescriptive and may prevent SANG / HIP 
being agreed and therefore affect the deliverability 

 Amend inconsistency 
with student 
accommodation.  

 Update Appendix D in 
line with best practice. 

 

205



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

of new housing developments. The SPD should 
provide more flexibility: 

o Where a SANG/HIP car park is separated by 
a road crossing – subject to the type of road, 
its location and use patterns, it may not be an 
impediment to the use of the SANG/HIP; 

o Sites required to be within easy walking 
distance (400m) of the development linked to 
it – agree that to maximise the prospects of 
someone using SANG it should be within 
easy walking distance of a proposed housing 
scheme. However, this should not necessarily 
be limited to within 400m. A pragmatic 
approach must be taken to on a site-by-site 
basis, to ensure that sites which are within 
easy walking distance, but that may be further 
away than 400m, are not necessarily rejected 
on that criteria alone; 

o Provision of circular walking routes – to 
provide greater flexibility for the delivery of 
SANG sites in the urban area there should be 
circumstances where the required minimum 
walk lengths of 2.3-2.5km can be achieved 
through means other than just a circular walk 
e.g. through a combination of a shorter 
circular route with paths that cross the SANG 
area and link up; 

o All SANGs with car parks must have circular 
walks which start and finish at the car park – 
this requirement should allow for situations 
where the site shape and size characteristics 
do not allow for the circular walk to start and 
finish at the car park. Some sites, which 
otherwise meet all of the other SANG 
requirements, may require a short section of 
path before a circular walk can ‘open up’.  

o SANG must provide a variety of habitats for 
visitors or experience – this could prove 
overly restrictive. 

British Horse 
Society  

 Please increase horse access along all Castleman 
Trailway from Poole to the New Forest, especially 
across West Moors.  

 North Dorset Trailway link up to Poole one 

 From West Moors add old railway line could be a 
trailway to Salisbury.  

 From Shillingstone the link Great Ridgeway Trail 
goes all the way to Lyme Regis.  

 Combine funding with Chalk and Cheese Grant, 
Sport England and British Horse Society.  

 Proposals can be 
considered in the 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan 

Broadmayne 
Parish Council 

 The Parish Council supports the principle of the 
SPD avoid any adverse effects on the integrity of 
the Dorset Heathlands, and welcomes the 
possibility of additional mitigation of adverse 
effects on existing heathlands and the provision of 
SANGs in the context of the proposed large scale 
developments in nearby Crossways 

 Support noted. 

 There are no plans to apply 
restrictions to dog owners, 
the strategy aims to 
educate and encourage 
behavioural change.  

206



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Appendix A - If the damage caused by domestic 
pets is one of the primary problems on protected 
heathlands then further controls on dogs (i.e. 
requiring them to be kept on leads) may be 
necessary. Bins for dog waste should also be 
provided at the entrances to sites. Education of 
users is vital - information boards, talks to parish 
councils and schools could be part of this. 

 Appendix D - SANGs should be integrated into the 
public rights of way network so that they can be 
easily accessed by users on foot, horseback and 
bicycle, not just those with access to cars. 

 Support the principles set out in Appendices E and 
F 

 Agree that where possible 
SANGs should be linked 
into the public rights of way 
network.  

 Dog bins are considered on 
a case by case basis. 

Catesby 
Estates Plc 

 Welcomes the continuation of the Framework. The 
draft is timely and offers the new Councils scope 
to align practices. Commend the streamlining of 
the document to reflect the general acceptance 
and understanding of the pressures upon 
heathland sites and the current approach to 
mitigation. 

 The SPD needs to better articulate alongside the 
HRA process the connection between new 
development, potential in combination effects and 
proposals. 

 Paragraph 2.4 presents an opportunity to explain 
how the Councils undertake Appropriate 
Assessment when considering planning 
applications including use of relevant templates.  

 Para 5.9 should consider sites that are zero rated 
for CIL purposes as their impact still needs to be 
mitigated to satisfy an Appropriate Assessment. 
Ideally, in the interest of simplicity, a consistent 
approach should be adopted across the area. 

 It is unfortunate that an appendix identifying 
potential mitigation projects is omitted. 

 Disappointingly the evidence is not cited, nor how 
it has influenced the summary table in Figure 1. 

 Figure 3 - guidance on managed student 
accommodation would be welcomed. What is 
meant by ‘… run on their behalf …’ as it would 
seem anti-competitive if the judgement was to rest 
with the established universities? Appendix B is 
inconsistent and contradicts figure 3, so needs 
adjustment. 

 Figure 4 - the average occupancy figures have 
been derived from research into the occupation of 
new homes. In considering SAMM provision, it is 
unclear whether baseline occupancy trends for the 
existing stock have been taken into account, 
which if falling might create headroom when 
considering the recreational pressures arising 
from new homes. 

 Welcomes that Dorset Council (excluding the 
north Dorset area) will collect financial 
contributions towards both SAMMs and HIPs by 

 Support noted.  

 Para 5.15 refers to in 
perpetuity as 80 years, as 
this is the timeframe being 
used by the Councils to 
secure mitigation projects. 

 Agree that explanation of 
the appropriate assessment 
process would be helpful to 
applicants.  

 The evidence is cited in 
footnote 4 and through 
various habitats regulations 
assessments and 
monitoring work undertaken 
for local plans.  

 For housing proposals that 
are zero rated for CIL, para 
5.12 and Appendix F set 
out mechanisms for how 
mitigation can be secured. 
With time following local 
government reorganisation, 
different approaches to 
mitigation in each local plan 
will become more 
consistent, and this will 
certainly become 
necessary through the local 
plan process. The section 
on university 
accommodation is 
inconsistent and will be 
amended.  

 The falling occupancy for 
existing housing stock is 
not taken into account as 
under the precautionary 
principle of the Habitats 
Regulations, average 
occupancy could also rise 

207



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

means of CIL. Infrastructure lists (formerly Reg 
123) will need to be amended accordingly, as this 
approach was previously only adopted in Purbeck.  

 Figure 2 provides a helpful map showing the 
distribution of the Dorset Heathlands and the 5km 
heathland area and aids the understanding of the 
reader. 

 Pleased to see the reinstatement of the Advisory 
Group but would suggest this includes private 
sector representation. Would also welcome 
informal opportunities for participation in the 
preparation of the ‘Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan’ recognising that the private 
sector has an important role in provision and 
management. 

 Para 4.19 - support the distinction being drawn 
between ‘Strategic’ and ‘Non-strategic local’ 
SANGs and the basic premise that draw / 
catchment is a determining factor. 

 Whilst the Appendix D Quality Standards have 
been rolled over from the previous iteration, 
concern is expressed at the lack of parity with the 
quantitative approach adopted in other regions, 
such as the Thames Basin, where a threshold of 
8ha per 1,000 of population is applied.  

 Concern at the lack of flexibility afforded to new 
developments of 50-100 homes with on-site 
SANG. SANGs delivered in Swanage and Upton 
do not allow for a circular walk of 2.3km, 
notwithstanding their wider connectivity. Were new 
developments of this scale to provide a SANG of 
8-16ha it would present significant overprovision; 
with consequential impacts for viability.  

 Suggest modifying Appendix D to identify the 
requirements for (i) strategic SANG and (ii) non-
strategic SANG; the latter allowing greater 
flexibility. 

 With the abolition of 
Regulation 123 the 
Councils will instead 
publish annually an 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement to set out clearly 
where CIL and S106/S111 
monies have been spent.  

 The Councils would 
welcome private sector 
representation in 
overseeing the heathland 
mitigation process. 

 The Councils continue to 
assess each SANG on a 
site by site basis with 
advice from Natural 
England. The 8/16ha 
standards are a guide but it 
is attractiveness of the 
SANG that is more 
important. The threshold for 
SANG provision will be 
reinserted.  

 SANGs may have features 
that compensate for a 
shorter walk such as 
viewpoints (Swanage) and 
proximity to the housing 
(Upton). The Councils are 
not aware of SANGs 
stopping sites coming 
forward on viability 
grounds.  

 Agree that Appendix D 
requires an update in line 
with best practice.  

Actions: 

 Re-insert threshold for 
the provision of SANGs 

 In section 5 and 
Appendix F set out 
clearly the appropriate 
assessment process.  

 Add new appendix with 
references to evidence  

 Ensure Figure 3 is 
consistent with Appendix 
B 

 Update Appendix D.  

Churchill 
Retirement 
Living 

 Agree in principle with the concept, but do not 
agree that an occupancy rate of 1.67 per flat is a 
fair contribution. A fair contribution for retirement 
living would be 1.25 per flat, calculating to be a 
SAMM rate of £201 per flat. Churchill’s evidence 
of its own accommodation illustrates a reduced 

 The SAMMs rate uses 
average occupancy to 
simplify the process. 
Bespoke arrangements as 
suggested cause 
complication and delay and 

208



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

occupation rate of 1.25. The average purchaser is 
a single female. Most purchasers of 2 beds tend to 
turn the second bedroom into a dining room or 
study, and only occupied by a maximum of two 
people. At present, 59% of customers are single 
women, 26% are couples and 15% are single 
men. 

with an average occupancy 
there will inevitably be 
winners and losers.  

Colehill Parish 
Council 

 The Parish Council endorse the response given by 
East Dorset Environment Partnership on the 
Heathland SPD. 

 Comment noted 

Corfe Castle 
Parish Council 

 On the basis there is no change from the existing 
policy the parish council do not have any objection 
to the document.  

 Comment noted 

Cranborne 
Chase 

Area of 
Outstanding  

Natural Beauty 

 

 This AONB supports the principle of having the 
Heathland SPD and the 400m development 
control zone.  The mitigation zone out to 5km 
seems less well founded, potentially confusing 
where it overlaps the AONB, and limiting areas for 
development not just by its existence but by 
requiring further land to be given over to Suitable 
Accessible Natural Greenspace [SANG].  I shall 
comment further on the 5km criterion later.  
Recommend that the 5km zone does not extend 
into the AONB so that mitigation for development 
within the AONB is for AONB purposes and 
outside the AONB mitigation is for heathland 
purposes.  In effect the AONB boundary becomes 
the limit to the heathland mitigation zone. 

 Whilst the provision of SANGs is a laudable 
objective it seems to be a piecemeal, rather than 
strategic, approach to the provision of green 
space of a parkland nature for public recreation.  It 
also has a side effect of taking undesignated land 
that is not of particular environmental or heritage 
value out of the available ‘pot’ of developable land 
in an area where such developable land is very 
limited. 

 The ‘Legislative and Policy Background’ does not 
set out other environmental designations, arguably 
oversimplifying a complicated situation. 

 Section 3 refers to ‘public access to lowland 
heathland, from nearby development’ but it seems 
to be stretching the interpretation of the 5km 
distance to regard that as ‘nearby’.  Studies 
relating to the provision of urban parks and green 
spaces have demonstrated the distances people 
walk in urban situations to recreation and green 
areas.  They are measured in a few hundreds of 
metres and not kilometres.  The 400m limit on 
additional new developments that are likely to 
accommodate active and mobile people seems to 
echo these studies, and seems a reasonable 
measure based on the potential for negative 
impacts.   

 The 400m to 5km zone seems less well founded, 
and seems based on an unsupported assumption 

 The 5km zone is based 
upon evidence and there is 
no justification to adjust it to 
the AONB boundary. 

 Management of the location 
of car parking is used as 
part of access management 
works.  

Action: 

 Update Figure 1 to 
include quantum of 
remaining heathland 

209



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

that occupants of developments spread across  
the zone will, to an equal extent throughout, wish 
to access the heathlands.  If pedestrian access is 
perceived to be a significant issue then 1km is 
quite a walk to and from a heathland site, giving a 
round trip of 2km plus the distance covered on the 
heathland.  A zone out to 2km seems more than 
adequate to cover this aspect. 

 The extension out to 5km seems to be based on 
travel by car to heathland sites.  However, taking 
money from developments to facilitate heathland 
access seems a bit quixotic when limiting parking 
at heathland sites could be a more effective 
means of encouraging car drivers to use other 
green space facilities. 

 In the light of the successes of recent publically 
funded projects to restore heathland the area 
given in Figure 1 of the heathland area in 1996 
should be brought up to date. 

 Section 4 is potentially helpful in explaining how 
development can be enabled.  If SANGs are to be 
effective in attracting inhabitants away from 
heathlands they need to be relatively near the new 
developments as well as being inherently 
attractive and well managed.  An effective master 
planning approach could incorporate those spaces 
within the new developments, making those 
developments more attractive and obviating the 
need to use cars to access SANGs. 

 The information in Figure 3, page 12, is potentially 
helpful.  However the indication that managed 
student accommodation would be permitted within 
the 400m zone conflicts with the statements in 
Appendix B that managed student accommodation 
would not be permitted. 

 Appendix D – it is less than clear how such 
SANGs are managed and maintained in the long 
term.  If developments are to be expected to 
contribute, either annually or as a lump sum, that 
will make developments more costly.  The 
acknowledged housing need in and around this 
AONB is for affordable housing, not more 
expensive housing.  It seems, therefore, there 
could be some unintended consequences from the 
draft Heathland SPD of making newer 
developments less, rather than more, affordable.  
This AONB Partnership does, therefore, advise 
reflection on the wider impacts of the SPD.  A 
number of the details should be adjusted to align 
with adopted AONB policies. 

Dorset Area 
Ramblers 

 

 Support the principles set out in the SPD. 

 Appendix A - Agree with funding a core team to 
coordinate mitigation measures and provide 
educational activities.  

 It is clear from the document that “damage caused 
by domestic pets” is a key component in the 
deterioration of heathland habitats and suggest 

 Support noted.  

 There are no plans to apply 
restrictions to dog owners, 
the strategy aims to 
educate and encourage 
behavioural change.  

210



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

that introducing controls on dog walking would be 
a useful way forward, e.g. by use of public space 
protection orders. If dogs were required to be kept 
on leads it would help protect sensitive sites and 
encourage the alternative use of SANGs instead. 
Dog waste bins should be provided at the 
entrance to sites and also used for general litter. 
Inevitably there is an emptying cost but there 
would be improvements to visitor experience. . 

 Page 26 - The section on “Accessibility - reaching 
the SANG” (p.26) does not mention the possibility 
of visitors using public transport to reach sites. 
Acknowledge that most visit by foot or by car but 
do not think that is a reason not to encourage 
visitors to use more sustainable modes of 
transport to visit new sites. It may involve asking 
bus companies to consider amending routes, as 
well as the provision of bus shelters. In some 
locations access by train might also be possible. 
This would be entirely appropriate in the light of 
Dorset Council’s declaration on the climate 
change emergency.  

 Pages 26/27 - Paths which are too narrow would 
present problems to wheelchair users and those 
pushing buggies. Dog waste bins/general litter 
bins should be provided at all sites. 

 Strongly agree that SANGS should have good 
links to the public rights of way network. Ideally, 
the paths across SANGS should be dedicated as 
public rights of way so that they are available in 
perpetuity and are shown on Ordnance Survey 
maps, enabling those planning routes to make the 
best use of them. 

 Acknowledge that 
consideration is needed on 
how to access strategic 
SANGs by public transport, 
cycling and walking.  

 Agree that where possible 
SANGs should be linked 
into the public rights of way 
network.  

 Dog bins are considered on 
a case by case basis.  

 SANGs are designed as an 
alternative to heathland, so 
wide paths are not a 
requirement, but it is good 
practice to do so. 

Dorset CPRE  Fully support the continuation of robust and 
effective protection of Dorset’s inter-nationally 
important, precious and vulnerable heathland. It is 
vital that this protection should not be weakened 
or undermined in any way. The case for continuing 
to give the heathland the fullest protection is 
reinforced by the declaration of a climate and 
ecological emergency by both Dorset Council and 
the BCP Council. Effective and coherent 
heathland protection policies, including the 400m 
exclusion zone, which is vital to the integrity of the 
heath should be maintained and respected.  

 The designation of a Dorset National Park would 
help to ensure the effective conservation and 
appropriate recreational use and enjoyment of 
Dorset’s heaths 

 Support noted.  

Dorset Dogs  Pages 3 & 20 - Canford Park SANG should be 
added as a good example of a SANG as it is a 
relatively new, extensive and extremely well-used 
SANG that incorporates many ‘best practice’ 
principles and features for an effective SANG. It 
has built on experience from earlier SANGs as 
well as up-to-date knowledge acquired through 
monitoring feedback and expert sources. 

Agree with the suggestions. 

 

Actions: 

 Refer to Canford Park 
SANG in SPD 

 Rename Upton Farm as 
Upton Country Park 

211



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Should ‘Upton Farm’ SANG be renamed so that 
people understand where it is referring to? 

 Suggest amending para 4.10 to read “This is 
through raising awareness of the issues and value 
of the protected sites and includes employing 
wardens to manage visitor pressures on the 
heathland and delivering awareness and 
education programmes in local schools and on 
the heaths and through local communities” to 
encompass work carried out by Dorset Dogs and 
others. 

 P.26 - some current SANGs reportedly do not 
have sufficient free parking, with consequent 
impacts on local roads or visitors reverting to 
heathland use. So the evaluation of what is 
sufficient for anticipated visitor numbers is 
important, especially if some parking in the area of 
a SANG is free at the time of establishment of the 
SANG but may become chargeable in the future. 
There should be safeguards or mitigation methods 
detailed against this occurring.  

 In appendix D there is some contradiction 
between the assertion that grazing management 
may be needed on some SANGs and the 
references to freely available off-lead space 
perceived to be safe by visitors with dogs. In 
practice grazing animals will and do put off visitors 
with dogs so will have an impact on the 
effectiveness of the SANG. Stringent methods 
should be in place so that visitors still feel able 
and safe to use most of the site – e.g. by dog-
proof fencing and only grazing a small portion of 
the SANG for the shortest possible period, with 
clear information about where the livestock are 
and alternative routes provided. Some visitors will 
avoid SANGs if there is grazing in adjacent fields 
too, as livestock fencing is not sufficient, and 
some current SANGs have had problems with this. 

 It would be useful to update the information in 
appendix D or give further links to best practice 
design documents (e.g. provision of water bodies - 
access should be ‘clean’ and with a shallow slope 
into the water, accessible access points, provision 
dog training areas, adequate fencing extends to 
the access points too, provision of shade/shelter 
areas.  

 Amend para 4.10 as 
suggested 

 Review Appendix D 

Dorset Local 
Nature 
Partnership 

 Para 3 is confusing, cumbersome and slightly 
contradictory. For clarity amend to read ‘The 
Councils when granting planning permission have 
to be certain that the proposed development will 
not have an adverse effect on important areas of 
nature conservation. Any net increase in 
residential development within 5 kilometres will 
have an adverse impact on the Dorset 
Heathlands. Therefore, measures must be put in 
place to avoid and mitigate all harm caused.’ 

 Agree with many of the 
suggested amendments to 
the SPD.  

 The ecological networks 
and nature recovery 
networks are best 
considered through the 
local plan process.  

 Nursing homes will be 
considered on a case by 

212



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Welcome chapter 2 setting out of the context of 
the legislative framework. 

 A full review of the SPD will be undertaken as part 
of the development of the new Local Plans – for 
clarity we recommend reiterating this point in para 
2.9 (or 2.10) 

 Welcome Figure 1 which sets out the issues and 
effects more clearly than in the adopted SPD. 

 Figure 3 – agree developments within 400m 
should be agreed on a case by case basis. In 
terms of nursing homes it is not clear if there has 
been consideration of the impact of staff and 
visitors to these homes. Local authorities have a 
key role to play in the health and wellbeing of 
residents and worker within the area. Therefore 
development of this type could impact on the 
heathlands. 

 Figure 3 and Appendix B - Clarity is needed within 
the SPD as to whether student accommodation is 
allowed or not within 400m 

 Para 4.17 – recommend that the Dorset Council 
box on Figure 4 includes the note about this 
relating to the North Dorset Local Plan area only 
to help clarity. The title above is not very clear 
especially because the payment for SAMMs is not 
set out until para 5.5. It is not clear that payments 
within the Dorset Council area are currently 
different in the different local plan areas. We 
recommend this is made clearer in para 4.17 and 
include reference to how SAMMs are to be 
calculated in the areas of Dorset Council outside 
the North Dorset Local Plan area. 

 There seems to be no reference in this section (or 
elsewhere in the SPD) that the requirement for 
HIPs, and especially SANGs, need to be fully 
operational before the first house is occupied? 
Without this requirement new residents will 
potentially get used to visiting heathlands, making 
it harder to change behaviour once the SANG is 
operational and therefore negate its purpose. 
Include this in both this section and appendix E. If 
it is already included then this could be made 
clearer. 

 Figure 5 - The scale of the map does not add a 
great deal to the document other than to underline 
how threatened our heathlands are. The only 
strategic SANG in the East Dorset area is that at 
Woolslope, West Moors. BytheWay, and SANGs 
that are to be created to mitigate the East Dorset 
New Neighbourhoods are local SANGs. 

 Para 5.5 - Clarity is needed for Dorset Council 
contributions taken for SAMMs from CIL. How will 
this be calculated? Further explanation is needed.  

 Para 5.15 - why is ‘in-perpetuity’ considered as 80 
years’ while the current SPD notes 80 and 125 
years.’ If there is a reason for only included 80 

case basis and assess staff 
and car parking impacts. 

 Acknowledge Draft SPD 
was inconsistent regarding 
student accommodation.  

 Para 5.15 refers to in 
perpetuity as 80 years, as 
this is the timeframe being 
used by the Councils to 
secure mitigation projects 

 

Actions: 

Amend the following 
sections: 

 Executive Summary Para 
3  

 Paras 2.7, 4.17, 5.5, 6.1, 
6.4  

 Figures 3 and 5 

 Appendix B 

213



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

years within the revised SPD it should be noted in 
the SPD. 

 Para 6.4 - the phrase ‘where feasible’ in para 6.4 
offers up potential ‘get out’ clause for delivery. 
Both councils have a responsibility for health and 
wellbeing and are part of the Integrated Care 
Network; biodiversity and environmental net gain 
is expected to become mandatory in the 
Environment Bill; and both councils’ have declared 
climate and ecological emergencies and therefore 
projects should deliver multiple benefits. 
Recommend para 6.2 is amended to ‘The 
Councils will ensure that projects accord with 
corporate objectives especially relating to 
supporting healthy lives, adapting to climate 
change and achieving a net gain in biodiversity, 
delivering multiple benefits, working with partners 
organisation as appropriate.’ 

 Recommend that the Urban Heaths Partnership is 
referenced within section 6 – at present it is only 
included in para 3.2 and Appendix A. This lack of 
inclusion gives no assurance to the UHP for future 
delivery. 

 Bottom of page 5 and page 25 - The term 
‘alternative’ not ‘accessible’ seems to be the 
accepted term within Dorset  

 As part of the full review of the SPD, further 
consideration is needed on the scale and likely 
sustainability of future development, related 
pressures on heathlands and the potential 
detrimental impacts to other land of high 
biodiversity value, which may become SANGs to 
avoid degrading other habitats. 

Dorset 
National Park 
Team 

 

 Support the continuation of robust and effective 
protection of Dorset’s internationally important, 
precious and vulnerable heathland. It is vital that 
this protection should not be weakened or 
undermined in any way. The case for continuing to 
give the heathland the fullest protection is 
reinforced by the declaration of a climate and 
ecological emergency by both Dorset Council and 
the BCP Council.  

 Effective and coherent heathland protection 
policies, including the 400m exclusion zone, which 
is vital to the integrity of the heath should be 
maintained and respected.  

 A National Park for Dorset would help to ensure 
the effective conservation and appropriate 
recreational use and enjoyment of Dorset’s 
heaths. 

 The Dorset heaths are internationally recognised 
for their importance, as landscape, habitat, and for 
their cultural associations. Since the nineteenth 
century, 80% of England’s lowland heath has 
been lost to development, afforestation and 
agricultural intensification.  

 Support noted. 

214



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 The Dorset heaths include areas which have the 
greatest biodiversity found anywhere in Britain.  

 The heathlands represent an important part of 
Dorset’s natural capital and therefore play an 
important role in an effective response to the 
climate and ecological emergency. 

 The heathland area’s attraction is reflected in the 
designation of walks and trails. 

Dorset Wildlife 
Trust 

 

 Welcome the revisions to the draft document but 
overall have noted conflicting statements and lack 
of clarity in some instances.  

 Support the DLNP and EDEP comments. 

 Executive Summary – the first para suggests all 
impacts can be mitigated; however, the 
appropriate application of the mitigation hierarchy 
should be encouraged and suggests the SPD 
relates only to ‘housing’ rather than all residential 
development (including tourism development). 
Reword as “The objective of this SPD is to set out 
a strategy for the avoidance and mitigation of 
impacts of residential development upon the 
Dorset Heathlands”. 

 Para 3 does not clearly demonstrate the 
definitions of avoidance and mitigation, which may 
confuse readers of the document. Unavoidable 
adverse impacts can only be prevented by not 
undertaking the action; thus, the paragraph (and in 
particular the final sentence) should be reworded 
for clarity. 

 The final paragraph on page 4 might be moved to 
earlier in the Executive Summary, perhaps 
following the fourth paragraph on page 3, to make 
it clear that a full review will be performed in 
parallel to the Local Plan reviews for both councils 
later in 2020. 

 Para 1.5 - NPPF should be written out in full 

 Para 2.5 - State that the NPPF and NPPG is the 
current February 2019 version (or perhaps include 
a web link). 

 Para 2.6 omits reference to ecological networks in 
the NPPF. Nature Recovery Networks are also a 
key principle in the 25-year Environment Plan and 
forthcoming Environment Bill and are important in 
maintaining the integrity of designated sites and 
their associated features. Many species 
associated with the Dorset Heathlands are not 
solely reliant on this habitat, requiring a matrix of 
well-connected habitats to fulfil their needs. 

 As both councils have declared a climate and 
ecological emergency, greater emphasis must be 
placed on strategic landscape-scale planning, 
taking account of the need for ecological and 
nature recovery networks to maintain species 
populations and allow the natural dispersal of 
species throughout the landscape. Consideration 
of how much development can be sustained whilst 

 Agree with many of the 
suggested amendments to 
the SPD.  

 The ecological networks 
and nature recovery 
networks are best 
considered through the 
local plan process.   

 The applicants have to 
provide sufficient 
information at outline 
planning application to 
enable the Council to 
conclude no adverse 
effects and the agreed 
mitigation is secured 
through section 106, with a 
detailed management plan 
expected at Reserved 
Matters stage.   

 The threshold for the 
provision of SANGs will be 
reinserted. 

Actions: 

 Amend the following 
sections: 

 Executive Summary – 
Para1, 3 and final para. 

 Paras 1.5, 2.6, 2.7, 4.3, 
4.5, 5.5, 5.11, 6.1, 6.4  

 Figures 1, 3, 4 

 Section 6 

 Appendix B, D, E 

215



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

also maintaining the ecological functionality of the 
landscape in the long-term is needed.  

 Para 2.7 - add a para to clarify the Local Plans for 
the two councils are undergoing review, i.e. as per 
Para 5.13.  

 Welcome the greater detail included within Figure 
1 on the main urban impacts and effects on 
lowland heaths in Dorset. Support EDEP’s 
comments in relation to re-ordering these based 
on magnitude, to assist in determining the 
potential effects of developments both alone and 
in-combination. Suggest the addition of  

o Artificial lighting associated with 
developments, roads (i.e. traffic) and 
occupied dwellings, affecting for example, the 
foraging behaviour and life cycles (i.e. 
pheromone production, pupation) of insects; 

o Noise associated with developments, roads 
(i.e. traffic) and occupied dwellings, affecting 
for example, the breeding success of birds; 

o Planting (and thus spread) of invasive non-
native plant species associated with 
developments and occupied dwellings (i.e. in 
gardens) affecting the vegetative structure of 
heathland; and 

o Fireworks associated with occupied dwellings 
leading to fire, noise disturbance and 
pollution. 

 Para 4.3 refers to ‘Table 1’ rather than ‘Figure 1’. 

 Para 4.5 - support the statement that 
developments permitted within 400 m should be 
agreed on a case by case basis. However, 
although DWT accept that residents of “Nursing 
homes within C2 Use Class where the residents 
are severely restricted with advanced dementia / 
physical nursing needs” may not have an adverse 
impact upon the Dorset Heathlands, there appears 
to be a lack of consideration of the impacts 
resulting from staff and visitors to these nursing 
homes. An impact assessment would need to be 
provided in any planning application for this 
development type, with details of how the potential 
impacts resulting from staff and visitors will be 
mitigated. Applications should then be considered 
on a case by case basis. 

 It is also unclear whether student accommodation 
would be permitted within 400 m of the Dorset 
Heathlands, with contradicting statements 
between Figure 3 and Appendix B. Supporting 
evidence would be needed if permitted within 400 
m as there may be a similar footfall by students to 
nearby heathlands as other residential 
developments. 

 Figure 4 - It is unclear whether the supply of new 
homes specified in paragraph 4.14 relates to the 
entire Dorset Council area, or only the area 
covered by the North Dorset Local Plan. The 

216



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

SAMMs calculation outlined in the ‘Dorset Council’ 
box of Figure 4 states this relates only to the area 
covered by the North Dorset Local Plan in the 
figure title but uses the same figure of 1500 
homes specified in paragraph 4.14. The SAMMs 
contributions for the entire Dorset Council area 
thus remain unclear. 

 Para 4.15 also suggests all impacts can be 
mitigated; however, the appropriate application of 
the mitigation hierarchy should be encouraged. 

 Under ‘Part 2: Heathland Infrastructure Projects 
(HIPs)’, emphasise that HIPs (including SANGs) 
are fully operational and accessible prior to the 
first occupation of new residential development, as 
this has been omitted from the revised SPD. 

 Para 5.5, bullet 1, appears to suggest costs will be 
calculated on a case by case basis but this needs 
clarity. 

 Para 5.11 - Further detail is required on the 
threshold/s for the provision of SANGs. The 
current SPD set a threshold of 50 or more 
dwellings for the provision of SANGs. However, 
paragraph 5.11 states that the threshold varies by 
Local Plan area. 

 Para 6.1 should state that mitigation is provided 
before first occupation of new residential 
development. 

 Para 6.4 - Support monitoring of the delivery and 
success of mitigation measures to ensure 
compliance with corporate objectives. However, 
the term “where feasible” might be used in future 
to explain why projects have not met these 
objectives.  

 Appendix D: This section references the 
abbreviation SANGs as “Accessible”, rather than 
the accepted term of ‘Alternative’. Greater 
emphasis must be placed on sustainable and 
strategic landscape-scale planning of the location 
of SANGs taking account ecological network 
maps. Avoid sites of high nature conservation 
value, which may already form part of the 
ecological network essential to maintaining the 
integrity of the Dorset Heathlands and their 
associated features. A greater understanding of 
the impacts of continued implementation and 
delivery of SANGs at a landscape-scale must be 
given if we are to ensure the maintenance of 
species populations, both within our heathlands 
and across all habitats in the wider landscape. 
Consideration might also be given to the visitor 
carrying capacity of existing established SANGs 
and these might be able to support new 
developments. Support the EDEP comments 
about ‘lessons learnt’ in relation to the design and 
delivery of SANGs. 

 Appendix E - This section refers to information 
required at the outline or full application stages, 

217



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

but states in bullet 6 that a “full SANG 
management plan will be required as part of a 
reserved matters application if not previously 
provided at outline stage”. DWT would expect 
details of the security and maintenance of a SANG 
in perpetuity to be provided at outline stage, so 
that the proposed mitigation measures in relation 
to the potential for impacts can be adequately 
assessed. 

Dorset and 
Wiltshire Fire 
and Rescue 
Service 

 Firewise Communities is a multi-agency project 
encouraging communities to work together to 
reduce the risk to homes from wildfires and is 
supported by Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, Dorset Police & Crime Commissioner and 
the Urban Heaths Partnership.  

 The current funding is programmed to cease in 
June, which will place further expansion of this 
positive programme in doubt. 

 Could funding be ringfenced for the Fire & Rescue 
Service to extend Firewise communities to new 
housing/heathland borders across the area? 

 Would BCP Council be willing to work with the Fire 
Service to assist in running a new scheme of Fire 
Bike patrols. This scheme would provide a trained 
group of people with skills and training to help 
reduce fires on the heath and also gain training on 
keeping themselves and others safe should a fire 
occur. 

 With reference to the current document on page 
10, in the section titled ‘Fires caused by human 
actions’ we would like to suggest the following 
additions: 

o Careless disposal of smoking materials. 

o Intentional contractor work, controlled burning, 
vegetation management and resultant fires. 

o Arson / Juvenile Fire-setting  

 The Councils can consider 
this as a potential SAMMs 
project.  

 Arson is already included in 
Figure 1. The other two 
issues are not an issue 
caused by a growing 
population.  

East Dorset 
Environment 
Partnership 

 The revised document is more difficult to follow 
than the current SPD with conflicting statements 
and overlap/duplication throughout. 

 Para 3 - if adverse impacts are unavoidable then 
by definition measures to avoid harm can only be 
achieved by not taking the harmful action. 
Throughout the document the term avoidance and 
mitigation is being used when mitigation within the 
400m – 5km zone is being discussed. Suggest the 
terminology should be explained clearly. 

 It would be helpful if the last sentence of the 
Summary (p4) were moved back and included 
within para 4 (p3) which mentions that this is an 
interim update. 

 The para on the overall objective of the SPD (p4) 
should also be moved back to the early part of the 
Summary and perhaps a link to Habitats 
Regulation 63 included. 

 HIPS final para (p3) should be spelled out in full. A 
glossary would be helpful. 

 Agree with many of the 
suggested amendments to 
the SPD.  

 Discussions with applicants 
can design out adverse 
effects, which is avoidance 
rather than mitigation and is 
recorded in the appropriate 
assessment process. 

 The ecological networks 
and nature recovery 
networks are best 
considered through the 
local plan process.  

 Para 5.15 refers to in 
perpetuity as 80 years, as 
this is the timeframe being 
used by the Councils to 
secure mitigation projects. 

218



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 BCP Council is at a more advanced stage in its 
Local Plan process than Dorset Council. It is 
essential the review meets the needs of both. 

 Para 2.6 refers to NPPF but has not addressed 
the requirement of NPPF 170d to establish 
coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. This is a 
critical aspect of ensuring that a plan or project 
has no adverse effect on the integrity of a site, 
either alone or in combination with other plans and 
projects. Nature Recovery Networks are an 
underlying principle of the Government’s 25 Year 
Environment Plan. The draft SPD has not 
considered the impact of further isolation of the 
heathlands through increasing development on 
the mapped potential ecological network.  

 Current policy treats all sites within the 400m – 
5km zone equally creating a risk of development 
right up to the 400m boundary. It may be 
necessary to set an upper limit for development 
within the 5km zone and establish criteria for when 
development may and may not be permitted within 
it. Cannot keep building and expecting mitigation 
to be effective in preventing risk of further isolation 
of heathlands.  

 The SPD should consider in combination impacts 
at a landscape scale and provide a mechanism to 
deliver the necessary safeguards. Heathland 
species are not restricted to the heaths for all their 
needs and life stages and need natural areas into 
which to move out and expand their range. 
Protection of adjacent habitats is vital to allow for 
example nightjars to fly over heathland and feed 
over woodland and hedgerows.  Climate change 
pressures make the need even more pressing.  

 To comply with NPPF 174, mapped potential 
ecological network should be safeguarded in 
much the same way as mineral resources are. 
This may be premature for this SPD revision but 
should be addressed in the full review later this 
year. 

 Figure 1- Welcome the inclusion of the additional 
column summarising the results of pressure but 
suggest they should be rearranged in order of 
magnitude of the impact. For example, the table 
has moved Reduction in area of the heaths and 
Fragmentation from the top of the table in the 
current SPD to points 7 and 8. Evidence shows 
that these are the most important factors closely 
followed by loss of supporting habitat.  

 Figure 1 – it is not only the change in soil nutrient 
levels caused by fly tipping garden waste that is 
damaging: it also poses a risk of disease, 
introduction of invasive plants, smothering of 
heathland species and overheating which prevent 
germination of seed. Amend Figure 1 accordingly. 

 Flooding events generally 
do not coincide with the 
bird nesting season 
(March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people 
upon protected birds is 
most sensitive. If flood 
events occur in this period 
they are for a short 
timespan compared to the 
wetter winter months.  

 Nursing homes will be 
considered on a case by 
case basis and assess staff 
and car parking impacts.  

Actions:  

Amend: 

 Executive Summary – 
Paras 1, 3 and final para. 

 Paras 1.3, 1.5, 2.6, 2.7, 
4.3, 4.20, 4.21 and 6.1 

 Figures 1, 3 4 and 5 

 Appendix B, D and E 

219



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 There is a need to ensure all planting by 
developers is appropriate and is reviewed 
carefully – not just trees. The risk of harm from 
Invasive Non-native Species (INNS) should be 
included within this table. There should be a 
requirement for all large scale development 
proposals to omit species that are known to cause 
problems. For example, many developers include 
in planting schemes ground cover that, by 
definition, is invasive and also include species 
such as Cherry Laurel (and cultivars), Wilson’s 
Honeysuckle, Cotoneaster  and Snowy Mespilus 
that have a hugely damaging impact on 
heathlands, Heathland Support Areas and SANGs 
and impact worsens as plants mature and seed or 
cuttings get spread more widely. 

 Figure 3 states that managed student 
accommodation would be permitted within 400m. 
However, Appendix B says student 
accommodation would not be permitted within the 
400m zone. Similarly, Fig 3 states that private 
student accommodation would not be permitted in 
the 400m zone and requires mitigation in 400m-
5km zone but then draws a distinction between 
the requirement for payment of SAMMs. This 
distinction is not drawn in the summary table in 
Appendix B. Object to any new student 
accommodation within 400m and question what 
evidence there is to support the proposal that 
SAMMS should not be payable in the 400m-5km 
area? Accept that pet ownership can be controlled 
in on-campus halls of residence.  However, there 
is no evidence students will not cause the same 
recreational pressures as other Class C3 
residences. Policing of use and enforcement 
would be impossible. Economic considerations for 
the University or other educational establishments 
should not over-ride the legislative requirement for 
heathland protection. The SPD should retains the 
requirement for review on a case by case basis, 
and full impact assessment should be required. 

 Figure 3 - Nursing Homes. Both the current and 
draft SPD set a limit of c 40 bed spaces for 
purpose built high dependency nursing homes 
(frail elderly and dementia patients) that could be 
built within 400m of designated heathland.  It is 
not the patients themselves but staff and visitors 
to the home who might then extend their visit to 
exercising on the heath with families and dogs, 
particularly when within a few minutes’ walk. The 
SPD should take into consideration the risk of 
further proliferation of planning applications for 
small nursing homes that are likely to be unviable 
and unable to provide care that meets current 
standards of accommodation and then risk being 
used for some other purpose. The 40 bed-space 
guidance is out of date. Dorset Social Care Team 
advises that from a commercial perspective the 

220



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

optimum number of units is 64 and the need for 
considerably enhanced design to create small 
“household units” requires much larger buildings 
than the SPD has considered. Recommend  

 the SPD retains the requirement for review on 
a case by case basis,  

 full impact assessment should be required not 
blanket prior approval as implied in the draft 
SPD, and 

 on site car parking should be adequate to 
accommodate all staff and visitors and not 
overflow to roads leading to nearby heaths 

 Students, nursing home staff and visitors should 
all be educated on the fragility and importance of 
our heaths and directed to use SANGs or other 
accessible open greenspace for informal 
recreation.  

 Figure 4 and Section 5 are confusing as no 
SAMMs figure set for Dorset. The North Dorset 
sum is applicable across the whole Dorset Council 
area.  

 Para 4.20 supports the principle of Heathland 
Support Areas and the wording of this para. A 
cross reference to the table of possible HIPs 
(Appendix A) would be helpful. 

 Para 4.21 would benefit by clarifying that it refers 
to all three preceding paragraphs and refers to 
UHP partner organisations.  

 Para 5.15 - explain why “in perpetuity” has been 
reduced to 80 years rather than 80-125 years as 
in the current SPD.  Funding must allow adequate 
mitigation to be put in place and maintained.  

 Supports the monitoring programme and 
recommend that more resources should be 
allocated to enable wider coverage of the whole of 
the Dorset Heaths area. This will be essential as 
more SANGs are created and development 
increases.  

 The delivery of the SPD and future review must be 
informed and guided by examples of excellent 
practice and recognition of poor practice. All 
SANG monitoring data should be made readily 
available to the UHP to enable public perception 
to continue to influence best practice design of 
future SANGs and for data comparison across the 
area. As advised below, this requirement should 
be included in Appendix E. 

 Appendix A Suggest removing the examples of 
on-site and access management projects as could 
be interpreted as encouraging people to go to 
heathlands.  

 The full review of the SPD as part of the Local 
Plan process should encompass a total review of 
the whole delivery of heathland mitigation 
including being more proactive in looking for 
SANGs. It should not depend totally on what is on 

221



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

offer from a developer and should be linked to 
delivering Nature Recovery Networks and the 
Dorset Ecological Network mapping. 

 Suggest that there should be some guidance in 
this document as to what would trigger the 
requirement for a SANG in each area 

 Para 6.1 should clarify that for major 
developments this requirement is prior to 
occupation of the first property. 

 Appendix D - Concerned about the extent of 
flooding on existing and proposed SANGs. This 
restricts the extent of useable footpaths. Can also 
damage soil structure. The construction and use 
of SANGs must not result in net harm to 
biodiversity. Concerned that in order to facilitate 
development there is a risk that land that is 
currently featureless is being selected for use as a 
SANG. While tree planting helps, it takes years to 
have the desired impact on a landscape and make 
the area attractive to dog walkers. People won’t go 
to places they don’t like.  

 All planting on SANGs should be native species of 
local provenance and enhance biodiversity not 
compromise it.  SPD Guidance could usefully 
include a list of native species that are appropriate 
with associated soil pH.  The Guidelines should 
make it clear that the prime purpose of the SANG 
is for dogs and that on such sites most of the 
SANG should be free of livestock grazing and 
appropriately fenced so that grazing does not 
deter users or affect safety of SANG users or their 
pets.  

 Appendix E : The following should be added ‘All 
SANG monitoring data should be made readily 
available to the Urban Heaths Partnership to 
enable public perception to continue to influence 
best practice design of future SANGs and for data 
comparison across the area.’ 

 Para 1.3 - penultimate line – remove ‘of’ to read ‘to 
review the strategy. You may also wish to change 
the end of the sentence to ‘can be mitigated 
effectively’ 

 Figure 1 - Reduction in area - Reduction from 
Disruption to hydrology- natural water courses? 

 Para 4.3 last line - type of development 

 Appendix E  -final sentence of first section - insert 
apostrophe in development’s 

 Figure 5 - The only strategic SANG in the former 
East Dorset is that at Woolslope, West Moors. The 
other SANGs are local SANGs linked to the East 
Dorset – i.e. BytheWay. The maps also need to be 
updated to reflect the new urban developments.  

 The importance of Nature Recovery is now widely 
recognised and in the emerging Environment Bill. 
There should be some way of linking the SPD 

222



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

maps to the ecological network mapping and the 
DERC mapping. 

East Dorset 
Friends of the 
Earth 

 It is essential that all new policies are consistent 
with the BCP and Dorset Action Plans for the 
Climate and Ecological Emergency (CEEAP).  

 Protection of existing heathlands must override 
other considerations (i.e. pressures for 
development). 

 There must be a strong presumption against 
development within 400m of heathland or a total 
ban. 

 Comprehensive planning policies need to exist to 
cover the zone up to 5km around heathlands 

 Prevention of damage to remaining sites, and 
restoration of already damaged areas must be the 
underlying principles of these policies. 

 In the absence of a robust research base, and of 
clear mechanisms for evaluating likely impact, 
“mitigation” cannot be regarded as sufficient to 
deal with the threats to remaining heaths. 

 If any net increase in development within 5km “will 
have an adverse effect” and “the Councils … have 
to be certain” that development will not have an 
adverse effect, this suggests that all additional 
development should be avoided. Mitigation is not 
an option. 

 Para 2.7 - Adoption of the Heathland SPD now is 
likely to place it in conflict with the CEEAPs. The 
SPD should only be adopted as an Interim Policy, 
pending the adoption of the CEEAPs and of the 
new Local Plans. 

 Paras 3.3 – 3.4 - Clearly, if the “cumulative effect” 
of further development within 5km of heathland 
will be to have a “significant impact” on designated 
sites, the Councils are bound, under the terms of 
the NPPF para. 8c cited, to prevent such 
development.  It clearly cannot “contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment” if it 
has significant negative effects on designated 
sites.  The priority must be on “avoidance”, 
especially where there is a lack of evidence on 
which to compare the effects of development with 
the efficacy of mitigation in avoiding those effects.  

 Para 4.3 Since mitigation is not possible within the 
400m zone, no development can be permitted. 
Between 400m and 5km mitigation is likely to be 
insufficient to offset the cumulative effects of 
development. As section NPPF 11 b) ii) states, 
there needs to be a mechanism which 
demonstrably measures the environmental, 
economic and social costs and benefits of 
development, and of any proposed mitigation, 
prior to any assumption that development is 
sustainable. 

 The very title of Section 4 of the SPD implies that 
its priority is “enabling development”, whether or 

 HIPs will generally align 
with CEEAPs but have a 
specific purpose that has to 
be effective.  

 Significance is a low 
threshold test, whereby one 
house has a locally 
significant effect in 
combination with others. 
The evidence demonstrates 
that mitigation can avoid 
adverse effects.  

 The SPD provides a 
mitigation for residential 
development (including 
tourism). Other uses are 
dealt with on a case by 
case basis at planning 
application stage. 

223



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

not it is sustainable in terms of the NPPF.  There 
is no evidence that any development can take 
place without a significant effect on designated 
heathland sites. 

 We note that the SPD only refers to proposals to 
develop residential dwellings. It fails to consider 
the impact of other developments such as 
minerals, infrastructure, agriculture, tourism, 
business premises and transport facilities. 

 Para 4.15 - There are clear grounds for requiring 
the developer to provide, and pay for, an 
Environmental Impact Assessment before any 
development takes place within the 5km. zone.  

 Para 4.17- The SAMMs calculations are too 
cheap, and only appear to be charging for some of 
the mitigation measures and not for opportunity 
cost: i.e. the loss of the rental value of the 
environmental services due to heathland damage. 
Including this latter cost would better reflect the 
economic value of heathlands, greatly increasing 
the charge to the developer, and encouraging 
sustainable development, away from important 
biodiversity sites. 

 The Draft SPD is based upon mutually 
inconsistent reasoning.  It assumes that 
“mitigation” is both possible and sufficient to offset 
the inevitable significant and cumulative effects of 
development on heathland, and proposes no 
mechanism for achieving certainty. 

 Revise the SPD to include: 

o a presumption against all development within 
400m of heathland, 

o research evidence on the effects of 
development within 5km of heathland, 

o research evidence on the effectiveness of a 
range of mitigation policies, 

o proposals for a mechanism ( some form of 
cost-benefit analysis) for assessing 
development proposals (in the light of a) and 
b) above).  This should be used to inform 
Policy at the Local Plan stage, and hence to 
guide decision-making at the development 
proposal stage, 

o a requirement for an environmental impact 
assessment for developments within 5km of 
heathland, 

o and that the SPD should then assume the 
status of an interim policy, pending the 
adoption of approved CEEAPs 

Forestry 
England 

 Figure 1: 

o Fire- Failure to include release of carbon as a 
result from fire  

o Enrichment Need to include garden waste 
specifically as an example of fly-tipping of 
organic materials  

 Suggestions welcomed. 

Actions: 

 Amend Figure 1 where 
the suggestions relate to 
residential growth.  

 Amend Appendix A 
accordingly Refer to 

224



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

o Criminal Activities / Antisocial Behaviour - 
Additional activities that could be added to the 
list of human activities are raves/parties and 
lewd behaviour 

o Predation - Under the result of pressure: 
repetition of reptiles  

o Hostility to conservation management - An 
additional, and sometimes forgotten, result of 
pressure is the stress impacts on staff 
managing those sites, due to confrontational 
and, in extreme cases, abusive behaviour  

o Fragmentation of heaths - Additional details 
are required to explain the description of this 
pressure: Other pressures contribute to 
fragmentation 

o Pollution Littering is also relevant. Dogs 
accessing watercourses/ponds lead to 
increase in turbidity, erosion, loss of bankside 
habitats, topical vet treatments entering 
watercourses (e.g. spot-on treatments 
regularly used on dogs) 

o Excavation and extraction. Under the result of 
the pressure, it would be useful to explain that 
appropriate/effective reinstatement post-
extraction and monitoring of the ongoing 
management to ensure it fulfils what was 
promised must be required  

o Roads Pollution run-off should be included in 
the description as an additional item  

o Management costs Also biosecurity risks – 
consideration of non-native invasive species 
reintroductions, such as from garden waste 
(e.g. from ponds) 

 Appendix A: 

o Fire - There is no mention of education to 
reduce arson  

o Monitoring – There is no mention of 
monitoring the habitats or species.  

 Vegetation surveys and bare ground assessments 
could be used to gather evidence of the effects of 
increased trampling. Surveys of protected species 
such as nightjar on the SPA heathlands could also 
provide evidence on the impact of additional 
recreational pressure on those sites 

 This SPD falls short in addressing the need of a 
sustainable mosaic of habitats that can deliver 
multi-purpose benefits to society. Risks a 
piecemeal approach with areas of small additional 
recreation. More joined up approach would use 
funds from all the small developments to pay for 
one substantial area of recreation away from the 
heaths. This would, potentially, draw more people 
to it than a small addition to the existing area of 
heathland, e.g. the creation of new community 
woodlands, in the right location, could be part of 
the solution.  

ecological networks and 
multifunctional land use 

 

225



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 With the current concerns about climate change 
and the carbon agenda, retaining/ increasing 
woodland cover and carbon management is now 
an important factor in deciding appropriate land 
use and management.  

 A healthy natural environment across a range of 
habitats maximises opportunities for nature to 
thrive.  

 Outdoor recreation benefits wellbeing and mental 
health of an increasing population.  

 Therefore the protection of the Dorset Heathlands 
should not be considered in isolation, and a 
holistic approach to land management is required 
to ensure the resilience of our habitats across the 
landscape, as well as providing the necessary 
opportunities for recreation.  

 Heathlands support a significant resource of peat-
based habitats such as mires and wet heathland 
with capacity to store as much or more carbon as 
an equivalent area of woodland. For this reason, 
the Government has also made the restoration of 
peatlands a priority for the UK. 

 Removing trees and scrub from open heathland 
and grassland areas is a continuation of a long 
tradition of heathland management and critical to 
maintaining and restoring the protected habitats 
and species of our heathlands. Opportunities for 
the use of heathland arisings must be sought to 
ensure the sustainability of our heaths.  

 The potential impacts of new developments and 
associated infrastructure insufficient buffering and 
lack of holistic approach. It is inevitable that public 
recreational pressure will increase on the nation’s 
forest (land managed by Forestry England) as a 
consequence of the development of the 
neighbouring land and we are keen to find a 
positive way forward to factor in the increase in 
recreational pressure at the same time than 
protecting special habitats and species.  

 Design the associated green infrastructure, 
including green space and woodlands, as well as 
public footpaths and cycle ways to build on the 
evolving network of green infrastructure linking the 
adjacent conurbations to the countryside. 
Opportunities for woodland habitats can be 
created in a far greater range of landscapes both 
locally and nationally. It is therefore important to 
target areas most suitable for woodland expansion 
and creation and to secure the remaining rare 
heathland habitat where we have the ability to do 
so. 

 The government’s 25-year Environment Plan has 
an emphasis on Biodiversity Net Gain and the 
creation of a Nature Recovery Network across 
England. This is an opportunity to explore ways to 
embrace a constructive collaboration between 
BCP Council and Dorset Council, developers and 

226



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Forestry England in respect of delivering a truly 
sustainable development in the Council that could 
be viewed as a model project by central 
Government. 

Fortitudo  Welcomes the continuation of the Framework. The 
draft is timely and offers the new Councils scope 
to align practices. Commend the streamlining of 
the document to reflect the general acceptance 
and understanding of the pressures upon 
heathland sites and the current approach to 
mitigation. 

 The SPD needs to better articulate alongside the 
HRA process the connection between new 
development, potential in combination effects and 
proposals. 

 Para 2.4 presents an opportunity to explain how 
the Councils undertake Appropriate Assessment 
when considering planning applications including 
use of relevant templates.  

 Para 5.9 should consider sites that are zero rated 
for CIL purposes as their impact still needs to be 
mitigated to satisfy an Appropriate Assessment. 
Ideally, in the interest of simplicity, a consistent 
approach should be adopted across the area. 

 Disappointingly the Evidence section does not cite 
the evidence or how it has influenced the 
summary table in Figure 1. 

 Figure 3 - guidance on managed student 
accommodation would be welcomed. What is 
meant by ‘… run on their behalf …’ as it would 
seem anti-competitive if the judgement was to rest 
with the established universities? 

 Appendix B is inconsistent and contradicts figure 
3, so needs adjustment. 

 Figure 4 - the average occupancy figures have 
been derived from research into the occupation of 
new homes. In considering SAMM provision, it is 
unclear whether baseline occupancy trends for the 
existing stock have been taken into account, 
which if falling might create headroom when 
considering the recreational pressures arising 
from new homes. 

 Welcomes that Dorset Council (excluding the 
north Dorset area) will collect financial 
contributions towards both SAMMs and HIPs by 
means of CIL. Infrastructure lists (formerly Reg 
123) will need to be amended accordingly, as this 
approach was previously only adopted in Purbeck.  

 Welcome that BCP will accept upfront 
contributions towards SAMM secured through 
s111 of the Act, thereby restricting the need to 
enter into S106 agreements which are frequently 
cause for delay. 

 Support noted.  

 Agree that explanation of 
the appropriate assessment 
process would be helpful to 
applicants.  

 The evidence is cited in 
footnote 4 and through 
various habitats regulations 
assessments and 
monitoring work undertaken 
for local plans.  

 For housing proposals that 
are zero rated for CIL, para 
5.12 and Appendix F set 
out mechanisms for how 
mitigation can be secured. 
With time following local 
government reorganisation, 
different approaches to 
mitigation in each local plan 
will become more 
consistent, and this will 
certainly become 
necessary through the local 
plan process.  

 The section on university 
accommodation is 
inconsistent and will be 
amended.  

 The baseline occupancy for 
existing housing stock is 
not taken into account as 
under the precautionary 
principle of the Habitats 
Regulations, average 
occupancy could also rise 

 With the abolition of 
Regulation 123 the 
Councils will instead 
publish annually an 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement to set out clearly 
where CIL and S106/S111 
monies have been spent. 

Actions: 

 In section 5 and 
Appendix F set out 
clearly the appropriate 
assessment process.  

 Add new appendix with 
references to evidence  

227



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Ensure Figure 3 is 
consistent with Appendix 
B 

Godshill Parish 
Council 

 Support the proposals to provide greater 
protection for Dorset heathlands.  

 Request that a paragraph addressing the impact 
of development in Dorset on the New Forest 
National Park in Hampshire be added, e.g. as per 
Policy 2, Main Modification 1 in the New Forest 
District Council Local Plan. 

 Support noted.  

Action:  

 After para 3.4 refer to the 
New Forest National Park  

Highways 
England 

 No comments to make  Noted.  

Holt Parish 
Council 

 No comments, but wish to continue to be part of 
the consultation process especially when a full 
review is undertaken. 

 Noted.  

Hurn Parish 
Council 

 The Parish of Hurn contains extensive areas of 
heathland. These are greatly valued by residents 
and visitors. Councillors are in general agreement 
with the planning policy and agree it is very 
important to protect this unique environment and 
the rare species  

 Support noted. 

Kingfisher 
Resorts 

 The proposal to redevelop the Knoll House Hotel, 
Studland has included a detailed assessment of 
the potential for significant effects on the 
designated areas within 400m of the site. The 
proposal will result in a reduction in the number of 
people accommodated on site compared with the 
existing hotel, but will provide premium facilities 
and more space per visitor (but fewer bedspaces).  

 Supportive of measures to protect and, where 
appropriate, mitigate any impacts on the Dorset 
Heathlands and, therefore, the broad principles of 
the SPD are supported.  

 There are certain circumstances such as with 
Hotels and guest houses where the approach will 
be considered on a case by case basis within 
400m of the designated sites. Similarly, 
replacement dwellings will also be acceptable in 
such locations. In these circumstances, it is 
implicit that the key issue is one of impact rather 
than the development itself and this should be 
made explicit within the SPD.  

 Whilst there be a partial change of use within the 
redevelopment of Knoll House, which will include 
a net increase in C3 units, this will be offset in the 
reduction of number of guests when compared 
with the current hotel. There will also be a range of 
additional facilities which will provide a realistic 
alternative to the use of the Heathland for 
recreational purposes (providing a net benefit) and 
a range of enhancements in respect of education 
and signage focused on Heathland Conservation.  

 Each planning application 
will be considered on a 
case by case basis, but the 
approach to the 400 metre 
heathland area has been 
consistent since 2007, and 
there is no evidence to 
depart from this blanket 
approach.   

Land Trust  Para 5.16 - SANGS and HIPs can be owned by 
bodies other than the Local Planning Authority.  

 Agree about wider 
ownership of SANGs. 

228



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Para 4.19 – does this mean that all strategic 
SANGS will have a 5km catchment regardless of 
the size?  

 Request that privately owned SANGS can be 
funded via a bespoke funding mechanism 

 Service charges or estate rent charges are not 
suitable funding mechanisms for SANGS as they 
are a planning requirement and the cost of which 
should not be borne by residents of new 
developments, particularly as SANGS attract 
existing residents that do not live within the new 
developments. 

 There is no indication of how funding will be ring 
fenced and guaranteed in perpetuity - is it a 
commuted sum? 

 Support para 5.16 but add that ‘service charge or 
estate rent charges are not suitable funding 
mechanisms for SANGS’. 

 Will indicate how far people 
travel to visit a SANG once 
it is in place. 

 The SPD doesn’t preclude 
bespoke funding 
arrangements and there 
are a number of different 
methods used for existing 
SANGs, agreed on a case 
by case basis. Some 
developers prefer to use 
service charges and others 
a commuted sum for 80 
years.  

Actions:  

 Amend Paras 5.16 to refer 
to wider ownership. 

 

Langton 
Matravers 
Parish Council 

 The parish council is generally supportive of the 
document, and of the principle of protecting local 
heathland as a priority. 

 Support noted. 

Lulworth 
Estate, 
Redwood 
Property & Mr 
Andrew 
Jackson 

 Promoting the ‘Wool Urban Extension’, a draft 
Purbeck Local Plan allocation.  

 Generally support the overall direction and content 
of the SPD and welcome the Council’s joint 
approach to updating the existing SPD which is 
essential to facilitating the delivery of much 
needed homes. 

 To be successful it is essential that the SPD 
provides the requisite level of certainty and 
consistency to allow the costs associated with 
development to be transparent and understood, 
particularly given the heightened importance of 
viability matters.  

 Paras 5.11 and 5.16 - support the statements as 
intend to provide a SANG at Coombe Wood as 
part of the development.  

 Appendix D and E continues the existing 
guidance, although it would benefit from the 
inclusion of some more quantitative criteria. 

 Para 5.13 - there appear to be inconsistencies 
with the SAMM contributions that need resolving. 

 Support noted. 

 Appendix D and E need 
updating to reflect best 
practice. 

 The Councils are looking to 
rectify any inconsistencies 
in the application of 
mitigation, but this will be 
led by the policies of extant 
local plans.   

 

Action: 

 Update Appendices D 
and E 

Marine 
Management 
Organisation 

 Planning documents for areas with a coastal 
influence may wish to make reference to the 
MMO’s licensing requirements and The South 
Marine Plan to ensure that necessary regulations 
are adhered to.  

 Noted 

Mark Hinsley 
Arboricultural 
Consultants 
Ltd. 

 

 Some of the mitigation money should fund the 
planting of 50m wide native deciduous woodland 
shelter belts around the edges of the heathlands 
that interface with residential areas. These would 
have several benefits: 

o By discouraging people from passing through 
it onto the heath.  

 Acknowledge these 
suggestions for project 
proposals. 

 

Action:  

 Consider any specific 
projects through the 

229

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/south-marine-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/south-marine-plans


APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

o Deciduous woodland does not burn and 
would therefore act as a fire break between 
heathland and residential areas. 

o Native deciduous woodland would increase 
the biodiversity of the site – particularly along 
the woodland/heathland edge. 

o The woodlands would act as windbreaks – 
something that is likely to be needed as 
climate change causes more frequent and 
stronger high winds. 

o Domestic cats would be unlikely to range 
beyond the woodland out onto the heath. 

o As the woodland fringes develop their 
effectiveness could be monitored which, in 
time, may allow a change in policy regarding 
the acceptable uses in the 400m/5k bands, 
thus helping ease the development pressure 
on other areas. 

Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan. 

Natural 
England 

 Support and welcome the SPD in principle. 

 Para 2.1 The final two designated sites are Dorset 
Heaths not heathlands. 

 Para 3.1 Insert a new sentence at the end: “Some 
of these effects are direct impacts on the 
designated sites but many such as recreational 
use will be ongoing for the duration of the 
development. In the case of additional housing the 
effects arising are considered to be permanent 
requiring ongoing mitigation measures. 

 Fig 1. Additional points in Result of Pressure 
column: 

o Fire : Increased costs of site management 

o Criminal Activities/Antisocial behaviour : 
Increased costs of site management 

o Fragmentation : delete current bullet and add 
in “Loss of connectivity and functional 
ecological interactions 

o Supporting habitats : delete current bullet and 
add in “Reduced foraging opportunities for 
mobile species”, “Increased vulnerability of 
designated sites to external adverse effects”, 
“Increased adverse effects relating to 
fragmentation” 

o Management costs : reword to be consistent 
with above To “Increased costs of site 
management due to increased visitors and 
adverse effects arising from additional 
housing” 

 Para 3.3 - Consider making the paragraph more 
explicit “the cumulative effect of a single dwelling 
up to 5km…” 

 Para 4.1 - Should this refer to 5 years or rather 
2024 or what ever is the two authorities deadline 
for Local Plan adoption? 

 Para 4.3 - At the end of the first paragraph please 
insert “however many of the effects listed in Table 

 Support noted and 
suggestions welcomed.  

 The Monitoring, Projects 
and Implementation Plan 
will set out the project list.  

 

Actions  

Amend as suggested: 

 Paras 2.1, 3.1, 3.3, 4.1, 
4.3, 4.5, 4.7, 4.23, 5.10, 
5.13, 6.4  

 Figure 1 

 Appendix B and D 

 Add new appendix with 
references to evidence 

230



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

1 will act together (synergistically) to create effects 
which can be worse than each individual effect.” 

 Para 4.5 - Insert a sentence to read “The uses 
outlined in Figure 3 are indicative rather than 
definitive.” To allow for consideration of mitigation 
proposals. 

 Para 4.7 - Insert at the end “The authorities policy 
position within 400m and in the 400m to 5km area 
are mutually supportive in enabling appropriate 
development which does not adversely affect the 
integrity of the designated sites.” 

 Para 4.16 Natural England will work with the 
authorities to ensure that the SAMM element of 
the mitigation measures is appropriate and 
functionally effective. 

 Fig 5 - Natural England concur with the defined 
5km area set out by the authorities. 

 Para 4.23 - Insert “prior to commencement” at the 
end of the third sentence. 

 Para 5.5 - This could be shortened by simply 
referring to Fig 4. 

 Para 5.6 - Are similar administrative costs required 
by DC? 

 Para 5.10 - At present the authorities have not set 
out an Implementation Plan which is a key part of 
the strategic approach. The work relating to this 
part needs to be done prior to the implementation 
of the SPD so that Natural England and the 
competent authorities are aware that the 
measures are of a suitable nature, located well in 
relation to development and the designated sites 
and deliverable in the appropriate time scales 
relative to forthcoming developments. 

 Para 5.13 - make reference to recent ECJ rulings, 
Sweetman 2 Wind over people and the Dutch 
Nitrogen case as well as the Holohan case which 
all reinforce the need for a rigorous approach. 

 Para 6.4 - make reference is made to the Climate 
Change Emergency adopted by both councils as 
well as the need to secure carbon 
neutrality/offsetting measures where appropriate. 

 Appendix A - Will Dorset Council assist in 
populating examples from the wider area outside 
BCP where a number of projects have been 
delivered? 

 Appendix B – it is worth reiterating here that early 
engagement with the planning authority/Natural 
England is always worth while. The final row of the 
table needs to be reconsidered re: Student 
accommodation within 400m. 

 Appendix D – this needs some minor adjustments 
where there are inconsistencies e.g. over walked 
distances. 

 It is advised that the SPD have a references 
appendix, this will be useful to include more recent 

231



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

evidence reports such as the review carried out by 
Purbeck. 

National Grid  One or more proposed sites are crossed or in 
close proximity to National Grid assets. National 
Grid is able to provide advice and guidance to the 
Council concerning their networks and 
encourages high quality and well-planned 
development in the vicinity of its assets. 

 Noted that mitigation 
projects will need to take 
into consideration the 
National Grid Guidance.  

National Trust 

 

 The Trust continues to support the aim of 
protecting areas of sensitive heathland, 
particularly given the pressures of new housing 
development. 

 There are ongoing management, project and 
capital costs for the managers of designated 
heathland sites. At present, the funds raised 
through the Dorset Heathlands SPD go chiefly to 
site monitoring / awareness raising, and to 
heathland infrastructure projects rather than to 
supporting conservation work on the designated 
sites.  

 As an example the interim mitigation strategy for 
Rodborough Common SAC (Stroud district) funds 
scrub removal on National Trust land. One 
potential project that could benefit from this is the 
grazing project at Arne/ Hartland. 

 Whilst it is important to manage and control 
potential additional recreational impacts on the 
heathlands, there may be some benefit in specific 
diversification projects (small-scale, sustainable, 
appropriate to spirit of place) – as long as the 
funds were designed to benefit nature 
conservation. This is something that is currently 
being explored in the emerging Visitor 
Engagement Strategy for the soon-to-be-created 
Purbeck Heaths NNR (i.e. income from visitor 
accommodation providing funds for conservation 
work). 

 By contrast, some large-scale commercial 
development proposals within the 400 metre zone 
(e.g. re-development of a hotel site to include 
residential apartments) may get viewed with more 
flexibility by the councils despite the ostensibly 
strict controls set out in the current SPD.. 

 The mitigation strategy 
focusses on managing 
recreational impact rather 
than conservation work.  

 Each planning application 
will be considered on a 
case by case basis, but the 
approach to the 400 metre 
heathland area has been 
consistent since 2007, and 
there is no evidence to 
depart from this blanket 
approach.   

New Forest 
National Park 
Authority 

 The National Park Authority welcomes and fully 
supports the strategic approach to mitigate the 
impacts of new development on the internationally 
designated sites. 

 Supports the proposed use of a combination of 
strategic access management measures and 
heathland infrastructure projects to provide 
mitigation. Whilst recognising in para 5.12 that 
each application will be considered on a case by 
case basis, it would be helpful to clarify the 
proportion of the overall mitigation strategy that 
will be dedicated to each of these two main 
components. 

 Support noted. 

 The spend will be set out in 
the Monitoring, Projects 
and Implementation Plan 
enabling it to be updated 
and scrutinised annually. 

 The visitor accommodation 
referred to all falls under 
the term ‘self catering’ so is 
covered.  

232



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 The clarification of the types of development which 
will be permitted and those which will not be 
permitted within 400 metres and up to 5 kilometres 
from the protected sites in Figure 3 is useful. 
Whilst self-catering, caravan and touring holiday 
accommodation are mentioned, we wondered 
whether new camp sites, static caravans, holiday 
parks and newer forms of visitor accommodation 
such as lodges, glamping and pods should also be 
covered on the basis that all forms of new visitor 
accommodation add recreational pressure to the 
protected sites.  

 Welcome the requirement to provide mitigation for 
the lifetime of the development but the amount of 
funding required for the 80 year in-perpetuity 
period has not been identified.  

 The Authority has operated a Habitat Mitigation 
Scheme since 2012 to secure mitigation measures 
from new development. Consultation on a revised 
Scheme SPD closes on 19 February 2020.  

 Research on the wider impacts of planned 
development on the New Forest SPA and SAC is 
due to be completed shortly and will provide a 
framework for the preparation of a more strategic, 
cross-boundary approach to habitat mitigation for 
the New Forest. 

Open Spaces 
Society 

 

 All public rights of way should be well maintained, 
properly recorded and signposted and 
waymarked. 

 For wardening, consider other models of 
community engagement through voluntary effort, 
so that local residents cooperate with those who 
are employed by the councils. 

 There should be a detailed ongoing monitoring 
plan prepared, with staged results, before 
additional funds are spent. 

 Oppose the creation of SANGS on existing open 
spaces and instead provide genuinely new public 
open spaces. Developers should be required to 
provide this before being given consent. 

 There is also the opportunity for developers 
voluntarily to register land as town or village green 
within development, which gives local people 
rights of recreation and protects the land in 
perpetuity (Commons Act 2006, section 15(8)). 
Require this in exchange for approving 
development. 

 Monitoring is a key part of 
the evidence that supports 
this strategy.  

 Investment in some open 
spaces can provide 
effective mitigation.  

 Agree that town or village 
greens are an option. HIPs 
are also protected by in 
perpetuity by legal 
agreement.  

Pennyfarthing 
Homes Ltd 

 Generally support the overall direction and content 
of the SPD and welcome the fact that the Councils 
have been able to identify a strategy which will 
allow development to proceed, to maintain the 
prosperity of the region 

 The draft SPD removes 50 or more units threshold 
for providing SANGs, thereby removing a degree 
of certainty which is important to provide clarity 
and consistency across proposed developments. 

 Support noted.  

 The threshold for HIP 
provision will be reinserted. 

 Specific locations and 
spend will be set out in the 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan. 

 The occupancy levels are 
based on census data. The 

233



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Appendix A of the draft SPD provides guidance on 
types of SAMM measures and HIPs but does not 
provide detail on proposed strategic locations of 
such measures or projects nor how this will be 
monitored. The SPD should detail the specific 
locations for such mitigation measures and the 
proposed Monitoring, Projects and Implementation 
Plan should be published to provide this guidance. 

 There is limited information provided to quantify 
the 5 years of SAMM projects and costs for 
respective Councils.  To be successful it is 
essential that the SPD provides the requisite level 
of certainty and consistency to allow the costs 
associated with development to be transparent 
and understood, particularly given the heightened 
importance of viability matters.  

 There is no justification for occupancy rates of 
2.42/house and 1.65/flat across the region. 
Similarly, the ‘assumed % house/flat split’ is not 
qualified. This should relate to the planned 
housing mix over the relevant (Plan) period, rather 
than previous trends. 

 The SPD is not clear which approach CIL/planning 
obligation approach is correct. 

 In accordance with Para 16 of NPPF, policies 
should be clearly written and unambiguous and 
should not be used to add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development.  

SAMMs have been 
calculated on assumptions 
of house/flat split. The 
workings were considered 
too complex and 
unnecessary for inclusion in 
the SPD.  

 There is no right approach 
in respect of CIL or 
planning obligation. Each 
Council has chosen a 
different method and these 
methods will be reviewed 
through the local plan 
process.  

Action 

 Re-insert threshold for 
the provision of SANGs 

 

Primetower 
Properties 

 Welcomes the continuation of the Framework. The 
draft is timely and offers the new Councils scope 
to align practices. Commend the streamlining of 
the document to reflect the general acceptance 
and understanding of the pressures upon 
heathland sites and the current approach to 
mitigation. 

 The SPD needs to better articulate alongside the 
HRA process the connection between new 
development, potential in combination effects and 
proposals. 

 Paragraph 2.4 presents an opportunity to explain 
how the Councils undertake Appropriate 
Assessment when considering planning 
applications including use of relevant templates.  

 Para 5.9 should consider sites that are zero rated 
for CIL purposes as their impact still needs to be 
mitigated to satisfy an Appropriate Assessment. 
Ideally, in the interest of simplicity, a consistent 
approach should be adopted across the area. 

 Disappointingly the evidence is not cited, nor how 
it has influenced the summary table in Figure 1. 

 Figure 3 - guidance on managed student 
accommodation would be welcomed. What is 
meant by ‘… run on their behalf …’ as it would 
seem anti-competitive if the judgement was to rest 
with the established universities? Appendix B is 

 Support noted.  

 Agree that explanation of 
the appropriate assessment 
process would be helpful to 
applicants. 

 The evidence is cited in 
footnote 4 and through 
various habitats regulations 
assessments and 
monitoring work undertaken 
for local plans.  

 For housing proposals that 
are zero rated for CIL, para 
5.12 and Appendix F set 
out mechanisms for how 
mitigation can be secured. 
With time following local 
government reorganisation, 
different approaches to 
mitigation in each local plan 
will become more 
consistent, and this will 
certainly become 
necessary through the local 
plan process.  
The section on university 
accommodation is 
inconsistent and will be 
amended.  

234



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

inconsistent and contradicts figure 3, so needs 
adjustment. 

 Figure 4 - the average occupancy figures have 
been derived from research into the occupation of 
new homes. In considering SAMM provision, it is 
unclear whether baseline occupancy trends for the 
existing stock have been taken into account, 
which if falling might create headroom when 
considering the recreational pressures arising 
from new homes. 

 Welcomes that Dorset Council (excluding the 
north Dorset area) will collect financial 
contributions towards both SAMMs and HIPs by 
means of CIL. Infrastructure lists (formerly Reg 
123) will need to be amended accordingly, as this 
approach was previously only adopted in Purbeck.  

 Welcome that BCP will accept upfront 
contributions towards SAMM secured through 
s111 of the Act, thereby restricting the need to 
enter into S106 agreements which are frequently 
cause for delay.  

 The baseline occupancy for 
existing housing stock is 
not taken into account as 
under the precautionary 
principle of the Habitats 
Regulations, average 
occupancy could also rise 

 With the abolition of 
Regulation 123 the 
Councils will instead 
publish annually an 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement to set out clearly 
where CIL and S106/S111 
monies have been spent.  

Actions: 

 In section 5 and 
Appendix F set out 
clearly the appropriate 
assessment process.  

 Add new appendix with 
references to evidence  

 Ensure Figure 3 is 
consistent with Appendix 
B.    

Public Health 
Dorset 

 Spending time in natural environments is 
associated with a range of positive physical and 
mental health outcomes. Ensuring that new 
development provides access to natural 
environments is an important consideration for the 
planning process as set out in the NPPF.  

 Support the overarching approach and policies set 
out in the draft SPD, including the mechanism for 
delivering Heathland Infrastructure Projects to 
ensure that Dorset residents are provided with 
access to safe, high quality natural environments 
as an alternative to visiting Dorset Heathlands. 

 Support noted.  

RSPB  The RSPB has supported the Planning 
Framework since its inception in 2007, and are 
keen to be involved in the forthcoming strategic 
review as part of the local plan process.  

 No substantive comments on the proposed SPD, 
which as stated above is effectively a roll forward. 

 However reference to the EU directives and the 
current Habitats Regulations will need to be 
updated once the new legislative programme is in 
place, which is likely to be within the 5 year period 
of the SPD. 

 Would like to receive further details of the remit 
and constitution of the Advisory Group 

 Note possible area of minor confusion with 
SANGS being described as both Suitable 
Accessible Natural Greenspace and Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace. The RSPB would 
advocate the use of the latter term throughout. 

 Support noted.  

 

Actions: 

 Add to para 4.1 that a 
review may be earlier 
than 5 years 

 Amend references to 
‘Accessible’ 

235



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Save Land 
North of Merley 

Assesses the proposed SANG as part of Planning 
Application APP/19/00955 for land north of Merley. 
Concerned that the proposed SANG does not fulfil 
the criteria set out in the SPD. In particular in 
Appendices D and C regarding the design of new 
SANGs: 

 The land is floodplain and not suitable for all year 
round use.  

 To offer year round walking an excessive amount 
of boardwalk would be needed which is likely to 
detract from the site’s natural feel 

 The SANG is narrow in places, prone to flooding 
from the adjacent river  

 The urban feel from the close proximity to the A31 
is not consistent with the SPD and the provision of 
an equivalent “air of relative wildness”.  

 The possible circular walks conflict with usage by 
rowing coaches and are prone to flooding, 
including the Carriageway which floods from 
heavy rainfall.  

 The increased river-side footfall and the increased 
presence of dogs will pose a very real threat, with 
a consequence of permanent disturbance, loss of 
habitat and diminished biodiversity contrary to the 
SPD 

 The limitations of the proposed SANG, with its 
proneness to bogginess and flooding and with its 
lack of large open spaces (in particular the narrow 
eastern area) not be able to function as a SANG 
without principle leading to a net harm to 
biodiversity 

 Flooding events generally 
do not coincide with the 
bird nesting season 
(March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people 
upon protected birds is 
most sensitive. If flood 
events occur in this period 
they are for a short 
timespan compared to the 
wetter winter months.  

 In general SANGs are 
taken out of agricultural use 
and include an element of 
re-wilding to improve 
attractiveness for users, so 
have the potential for 
significant biodiversity 
benefits compared to the 
existing agricultural use.  

 In terms of this particular 
SANG at Merley, it has the 
support of Natural England 
as providing suitable 
mitigation for the adjacent 
housing proposal (Site UE1 
North of Merley). 

 

Action 

 Clarify the issue of 
flooding in SANG design 
in Appendix D 

SGN  Have no comments to make  Noted 

Sibbett 
Gregory 

 Would it not have been a good idea to have 
widened the scope to include the issue of nitrates 
and coastal waters?  

 Has anybody given any thought to the fact that it is 
people who cause adverse impacts NOT houses? 
What is the rate of population growth compared 
with increase in houses/households? 

 The mitigation strategies for 
Dorset Heathlands and 
Poole Harbour are currently 
set out as three separate 
mitigation strategies in 
three SPDs, with 3 
associated costs to 
developers. Combining 
these strategies into a 
single mitigation charge 
could be considered in the 
future.  

 The Councils work on the 
basis that if the homes are 
built they can be fully 
occupied at some point in 
the future, and use average 
occupancy as the basis of 
the mitigation. As 
population may change 
during the lifetime of the 
home (in perpetuity) this is 
seen as precautionary 

236



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

approach as set out in the 
Habitats Regulations 

Sport England  Whilst Sport England supports the aims and 
objectives for the most of the SPD, concerned that 
balance needs to be addressed for protecting the 
heathlands and allowing sport to take place.  

 Support the remarks around BMXing (paragraphs 
4.19, 5.17, Part 2 (appendix A) and in the 
guidelines for SANGs (appendix B). However this 
appears to be unorganised, almost recreational 
BMXing and motor sports.  

 If organised sport, which may have been 
happening for years is stopped it can have a 
detrimental impact on the sport locally.  

 There is a focus on housing, which I accept, but 
there are sports facilities which will need to 
develop their club houses and ancillary spaces.  

 The SPD could be interpreted as a presumption 
against development; and appendices E and F 
could put a local club’s aspirations in financial 
jeopardy. 

 The SPD needs to provide sound guidance to D2 
use with Sport England advice in its preparation. 

 The heathlands help deliver the government’s 
health and well being agenda by being a 
destination for people to ramble, walk, cycle. 
Again there has to be a balance between these 
activities and protecting the heathlands.  

 Appendix D is a start, but other elements should 
be included such as use of technology, areas for 
rest, accessible paths and toilets. 

 Heathlands are protected 
through legislation and this 
will effect some existing 
uses.  

 Access management on 
the heathland and the 
provision of HIPs 
elsewhere can provide 
attractive alternatives that 
mitigates the impact.  

 The SPD is aimed at the C 
Use Classes (residential). 

 Good practice will mean 
that a number of the 
suggestions are 
incorporated into SANG 
design.   

Studland 
Parish Council 

 The Parish Council welcomes the SPD and 
supports effective protection of the precious 
Heathlands including the retention of the 400 
metre exclusion zone.  

 The Council recognises the internationally 
important Heathlands as an area deserving the 
highest level of protection. The significant loss of 
the Heathlands over the last 200 years needs to 
be fully recognised and measures taken to ensure 
no further losses in particular due to development 
of and associated with the areas of heathlands.  

 The designation of a National Park for Dorset 
would assist in the effective conservation of the 
areas of heathland. 

 The Council requests that a robust approach is 
taken to the quality assurance of mitigation 
measures, and that such an approach is subject to 
independent evaluation. 

 Support noted.  

 The advisory group and 
publication of an annual 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan will 
enable proper scrutiny.  

Swanage 
Town Council 

 The Council is in support of the update of the 
current SPD and the rolling forward of the existing 
strategy and has no further comments to make at 
this stage. 

 However, the Council wishes it to be noted that it 
is looking forward to engaging in the full review of 
the strategic approach to avoidance and mitigation 

 Support noted. 

237



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

through the emerging local plans later in 2020 and 
would like more information about this review.  

Talbot Village 
Residents 
Association 

 There are local residents who disagree with the 
Proposed Highmoor Farm Digital Village, and 
residents that want to protect this valuable piece 
of Heathland. 

 The Digital Village will be restricted to B1 Uses 
that are appropriate in a residential area, but what 
will happen if they can’t fill the premises with B1 
Users? 

 Wholeheartedly agree with Cllr Phipp’s statement 
in the press release for this consultation. So why 
allow this Digital Village to be built on our Talbot 
Village Heathland? With electronic communication 
it could be built anywhere on a brownfield site or 
on the university campuses. 

 AUB/Talbot Village Trust plan to park 150 
contractors’ cars on the heathland behind Bishop 
Road for 15 months and install three 20ft Lighting 
Towers behind our residents’ houses. This will 
also present a security risk for Travellers to enter 
the heath. 

 Talbot Village Trust want to erect a Digital Sub 
Station on Highmoor Farm ahead of the 
construction of the Digital Village. 

 All Planning for Talbot Heath should be put on 
hold until the results of the Heathland SPD have 
been agreed. 

 The proposed Innovation 
Quarter is an allocated 
employment site in the 
Poole Local Plan. The land 
identified for development 
is not on the heathland. For 
the Council to grant 
planning permission 
proposals will have to pass 
appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no 
harm the protected sites.   

Talbot Village 
Trust 

 The SPD needs to be supported by more recent 
and extensive evidence.  Results from monitoring 
should be made publicly available as and when 
completed. The Councils have been collecting 
funds for monitoring for more than ten years but 
the SPD only references documents up to 2005 
and there is no obvious public availability of the 
monitoring that has been done since. The 
monitoring results should be made available for all 
to understand how the heathland strategy is 
working. 

 The text makes inappropriate references to the 
‘…avoidance and mitigation strategy of this SPD’, 
when the strategy is already established in the 
local plans.  SPD’s do not set policies or 
strategies, so these references need to be 
amended. 

 The SPD should set out arrangements for 
transparent governance.  This should include the 
terms of reference for the proposed Heathland 
Panel, confirming it will be a public meeting with 
public records. It is unclear how the 
implementation of projects and monitoring has 
been overseen. Decisions on the delivery of 
mitigation projects to be transparent and subject to 
public scrutiny.  

 Accounts should be made public showing the 
SAMM and CIL heathland income and how this 

 Agree that the evidence 
should be listed.  

 Discussions with applicants 
can design out adverse 
effects, which is avoidance 
rather than mitigation and is 
recorded in the appropriate 
assessment process. 

 The advisory group and 
publication of an annual 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan will 
enable proper scrutiny of 
the project list and spend.  

 Details of the advisory 
group is unnecessary for 
the SPD. 

 The threshold for HIP 
provision will be reinserted. 

 Acknowledge Draft SPD 
was inconsistent regarding 
student accommodation. 
Figure 3 wrongly included 
student accommodation 
within 400 metres as there 
is no evidence to show the 
effects are any different 
from C3 housing.  

238



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

has been allocated. The Councils collect 
substantial financial contributions for SAMM and 
are supposed to commit a large first portion of 
their Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) towards 
heathland mitigation. It is presently unclear what 
sums have and are being collected by the 
Councils, and how they are being allocated.  

 The SPD should set out the terms of reference for 
the Advisory Group, including who are the 
participants, and the meetings should be open to 
public view and representation. Minutes of the 
meetings should also be made public.  
Additionally, regular reports should be made 
available on the delivery of mitigation schemes 
and monitoring, including financial expenditure 
and the criteria used to assess which projects are 
progressed. 

 The new SPD should retain the reference made in 
the existing document, to developments of more 
than approximately 50 dwellings being required to 
deliver a SANG.  Smaller schemes should make 
financial contributions through CIL towards 
strategic SANG provision. There is no clear 
evidence supporting why the 50 dwelling trigger 
for provision of SANGs has been deleted and will 
create uncertainty, as it appears all sites are now 
potentially required to provide SANG mitigation, 
whatever their size. This is wholly unrealistic and 
could either slow or prevent the delivery of 
suitable small residential sites.  The SPD should 
therefore be amended to reinsert the threshold 
reference to provide clearer guidance to 
landowners, developers and other interested 
parties. 

 The new SPD should be amended to consistently 
confirm that university managed student 
accommodation can be acceptable within 400m of 
the heaths. Figure 3 and Appendix B are not 
consistent, e.g. student accommodation. The 
Trust supports the existing approach and therefore 
objects to an outright refusal of student 
accommodation within 400m of the heathland. 

 The draft SPD has removed HIPs and states they 
will be replaced by a new, but as yet, unpublished 
document.  The Councils are asked to publish this 
document as soon as possible to identify the HIPs 
to be delivered over the SPD period, as well as 
reporting on progress of those delivered since the 
inception of the heathland policy.   

 The new SPD should include a comprehensive list 
of HIPs to be delivered over the period of the 
document.  Alternatively, accompanying HIPs 
documents should be published and regularly 
updated to reflect new and completed projects. 

 The Councils need to publish clear criteria which 
will be used to measure the suitability of HIPs. The 
Trust considers the Councils should set out and 

 Suggested project noted 
and can be included in the 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan. 

 The 400m consultation 
area would need to be 
altered through the local 
plan process. This is just a 
consultation area and each 
application will be 
determined on a case by 
case basis.  

Action 

 Re-insert threshold for 
the provision of SANGs 

239



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

consult on the criteria used to assess whether a 
scheme is a suitable HIP.  At present it is unclear 
how funds will be allocated, which makes it hard to 
optimise HIP submissions, and provides no 
obvious basis by which to understand funding 
decisions.  For instance the SPD should address:  

o What weight is given to different criteria used 
to allocate resources?  

o Will such decisions be made by the proposed 
Heathland Panel, or by a group, or individual 
officers?   

o Will those proposing HIPs be able to present 
their schemes?   

o Is there recourse to challenge funding 
decisions?   

 The Trust owns land at Talbot Village that could 
be used to help mitigate the impacts of residential 
development on the heaths. Approximately 10 
hectares of woodland to the north of Wallisdown 
Road offers the opportunity to deliver a HIP. The 
woods are open to limited public access, but have 
not been managed to encourage recreational use.  
There is scope to re-imagine this area and provide 
a highly attractive recreational facility. A combined 
plan for Slades Farm and Talbot Woods could 
provide a very effective area for heathland 
mitigation within the very restricted conurbation. 

 The 400m heathland buffer zone should be 
amended to exclude numbers 198 and 190 
Wallisdown Road The update of the SPD provides 
the opportunity to review the 400m heathland 
boundaries to amend anomalies, e.g. numbers 
198 and 190 Wallisdown Road where the 400m 
heathland buffer only just touches the front garden 
of number 198 and does not reach number 190. 
However, the heathland buffer restricts residential 
development on these properties.  For no obvious 
reason, they are the only dwellings north of 
Wallisdown Road which are included within the 
400m buffer.  To reach the heath from these 
houses, someone would have to cross the busy 
Wallisdown Road and travel over 600m, which is a 
distance far greater than used to establish the 
buffer. Additionally, land to the north of the 
dwellings is allocated in the Bournemouth Local 
Plan as suitable for residential development. 
These would be accessed off Alton Road, which is 
outside the 400m buffer. 

 

240



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 

Verwood Town 
Council 

 The Town Council support the document.  Support noted 

Walsingham 
Planning 

 The calculation on the SAMMs excludes 
allowance for the additional classes of 
development set out in Appendix B, e.g. hotel 
bedrooms. . Assuming all anticipated housing to 
be built (and charged) this would result in a 
surplus of payments beyond the anticipated costs. 

 It is an oversimplification to assume that these 
additional classes of development would give rise 
to the same extent and type of use as dwellings. 
For example, dog walking is identified as a 
particular potential impact on the Heathlands but 
the % of hotel guests that bring dogs is very low 
thereby resulting in much lower potential impact. 
Similarly, whilst residents will take a wide range of 
opportunities for leisure activities, including the 
possibility of walking in the Heathlands, visitors 
will have a very different pattern of behaviour to 
permanent residents Likely usage should be taken 
into account in setting any charge, e.g. 10% of the 
charge for a flat – or suitable justified figure. 

 It is unclear how HIP mitigation is to be agreed for 
any particular proposal. Section 5 seems aimed at 
larger scale residential proposals which para 5.10 
suggests may deliver specific SANGs/HIPs. But 
there will be many other schemes that are 
captured. Para 5.9 states HIPs will be delivered 
through CIL contributions – this requires that a 
specific cost will be calculated – assuming that is 
the case this SPD should set how the cost will be 
assessed and distributed between different types 
of proposal. 

 The flexibility set out in para 5.12 to deal with 
cases on a case by case basis is welcomed, but in 
the absence of any guidance does not provide 
clarity about potential liability for prospective 
developers or how the Council(s) will know their 
duties have been discharged.  

 As the number of other 
types of development 
cannot be quantified they 
cannot be included the 
calculations. Any surplus 
will be put towards 
mitigation. 

 The Councils work on the 
basis that if the homes are 
built they can be fully 
occupied at some point in 
the future, and use average 
occupancy as the basis of 
the mitigation. As 
population may change 
during the lifetime of the 
home (in perpetuity) this is 
seen as precautionary 
approach as set out in the 
Habitats Regulations. 

 Where a development pays 
CIL the appropriate level of 
mitigation will be directed 
towards a relevant HIP 
project and this will be set 
out in the Appropriate 
Assessment. If a 
development does not pay 
CIL there are different costs 
depending upon the 
specific mitigation project 
that the development has to 
contribute towards – i.e. a 
SANG in Poole or a SANG 
in Christchurch. These 
costs will be shared with 
the applicant at the time. 
Applicants can contact the 
Council at pre-application 

241



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Merely stating that HIPs will be required without 
setting out a methodology does not assist either 
the Council(s) or prospective developers. 

stage to understand the 
likely project that will 
mitigate their development 
and the proportion of that 
project the developer will 
have to contribute.  

Wareham 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Steering 
Group of 
Wareham 
Town Council 

 Fully support the aim and objectives of the SPD in 
ensuring the mitigation of the effects of new 
development on highly valued heathland.  

 The difficulty in preparing the Wareham 
Neighbourhood Plan concerns achieving a 
deliverable SANG to mitigate development of the 
300 dwelling indicative housing requirement for 
the Town set by Dorset Council. 

 In line with the NPPF the priority is to bring 
forward underused and vacant brownfield land for 
residential development before considering 
greenfield and Green Belt sites. These brownfield 
sites are in multiple ownerships and bringing them 
forward is a challenge. The problem has come in 
providing mitigation arrangements through a 
SANG. The ownership of the brownfield land does 
not include any greenfield land and therefore 
providing a SANG has required negotiation with 
adjoining landowners. The key issue concerned 
the level of financial contributions Welbeck were 
seeking towards the provision of a SANG. 
Welbeck Land preferred bringing forward 
development of land in the Green Belt in Estate 
ownership to meet most of the housing 
requirement which was not something which the 
Town Council supported. 

 Further discussions with Dorset Council and 
Natural England have resulted in an agreed 
Statement of Common Ground which limits 
housing allocations north of the railway line to up 
to 50 units with financial contributions towards 
HIPs and enhancement of an existing SANG at 
Bog Lane for development south of the railway 
line achieved through a financial contribution. 
However, this has considerably delayed progress 
of the Neighbourhood Plan and there remains 
further potential brownfield land north of the 
railway line 

 The key issue which therefore needs to be 
addressed is how mitigation measures are to be 
achieved for brownfield land where there is no 
land available in the same ownership for 
mitigation. There needs to be a simple method of 
discharging the requirement at a financial level 
which recognises the challenging viability 
associated with developing brownfield sites. This 
would best be achieved by the local authorities 
taking a proactive approach in conjunction with 
Natural England, the DWT, etc to provide a 
network of SANGs throughout the area covered by 
the policy. This requires a strategic approach 

 Situations such as this 
need to be resolved at the 
plan making stage.  

242



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

which is linked to the development strategy and a 
greenspace strategy for the whole of South East 
Dorset. Relying on private landowners to provide 
SANGs can lead to a ransom situation which fails 
to bring forward brownfield land in line with 
Government policy. 

 Part of the solution to this problem could be 
through the preparation of the next round of Local 
Plans for Dorset and BDP but it would be helpful 
to address this issue in the current SPD. 

Wareham 
Town Trust 

 The need to protect our precious heathland and to 
mitigate the impacts so as to ensure the protection 
of endangered species is clearly of vital 
importance. 

 Wareham is a highly constrained settlement where 
surrounding land is protected by a wide range of 
designations and the Wareham Neighbourhood 
Plan is seeking to maximise the use of underused 
brownfield land in accordance with the NPPF.  

 Mitigation of brownfield land needs to take into 
account the viability issues associated with 
developing brownfield land. Relying on 
negotiations with private landowners for the 
provision of a SANG is clearly untenable if 
brownfield land is to be encouraged to come 
forward for development in line with government 
policy.  

 Recommend mitigation of brownfield land by 
means of a financial contribution which takes 
account of the viability and that the Council is 
responsible for the provision of SANGs. 

 Situations such as this 
need to be resolved at the 
plan making stage. 

Welbeck  Welbeck, representing the Charborough Estate,  is 
broadly supportive of the SPD 

 It should be noted in the Heathlands SPD that 
mitigation measures will be part of an overall 
package that will ensure much needed 
development is acceptable in planning terms and 
a balance is struck across the three strands of 
sustainable development. The viability of 
payments and mitigation alongside the need for a 
net gain in biodiversity will be vital in delivery 

 Despite the future strategic review of mitigation 
through the local plan there is a lack of specificity 
in the Heathland SPD. The solution is the 
provision of a strategic scale SANG at North 
Wareham in combination with sustainable housing 
development. 

 The Charborough Estate’s extensive land 
ownership provides a rare opportunity to deliver 
development alongside a SANG on land in the 
same ownership.  

 An emerging master plan for the proposed SANG 
at North Wareham will see the creation of over 
19ha of natural greenspace to include: 

o A 3.76 km circular walking route  

o Informal, mown paths  

 Comments noted. Large 
scale proposals will be 
considered through the 
local plans process.  

 Adherence to the Habitats 
regulations trumps other 
planning requirements.  

 The Councils are not aware 
of SANGs stopping sites 
coming forward on viability 
grounds. 

243



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

o Visitor parking for 20 cars 

o Two pedestrian crossing points on Bere 
Road to enable a larger circular walk to be 
achieved 

o Management and enhancement of areas of 
wet grassland and acidic grassland 

o New native tree and scrub planting.  

o New planting along key boundaries  

o 25 m planted buffer to Wareham Forest to 
deter public access 

o Creation of several viewpoints  

o Provision of interpretation boards  

o Protection of the tumuli  

o A secure area for dogs to be off lead 

 The SANG has the indicative capacity for 
approximately 660 new units (or 1,583 population) 
based on 12 ha per 1000 population. There would 
therefore be additional capacity of 505 dwellings 
beyond those being promoted by Welbeck Land. 
Delivery would be on phased basis. 

Wessex Water  Para 4.23 - Would welcome clarification in the 
SPD that Permitted Development Rights afforded 
to statutory undertakers under Schedule 2 Part 13 
of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order are not 
within scope of these requirements. Reference to 
Appendix C for further information on this topic 
should actually be to Appendix F. 

 The SPD only briefly touches on the other 
environmental impacts from development on the 
Dorset Heathlands. As part of the Dorset Heaths 
SAC Judicial Review Process further information 
on the condition of the Heaths and the impacts of 
diffuse and other pollution on their status has been 
put forward. It would be beneficial for section 3 to 
be updated with references to water pollution and 
drainage related issues, with the document 
signposting other relevant measures in place to 
address these impacts (for example, the Nitrogen 
Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD). 

 Consider through the Local Plan process 
broadening the scope of mitigation delivered by 
the SPD beyond solely recreational measures, in 
order to begin to address wider impacts on the 
Dorset Heaths, e.g. surface water drainage, 
flooding, diffuse pollution, nutrient enrichment etc. 
It would be beneficial for SANGs to include 
consideration of multi-benefit solutions to ensure 
that developments cohesively and sustainably 
deal with their impacts to the sensitive habitat, i.e. 
natural capital gains. Such an approach would be 
in line with emerging Government expectations 
towards delivering net biodiversity/environmental 
gain and could support delivery of multiple 
outcomes. 

 This SPD covers permitted 
residential development. 
Other uses and permitted 
development rights have to 
be in accordance with the 
Habitats Regulations. 

 The impacts identified in 
the judicial review are a 
result of historical 
development rather than 
additional development so 
does not need reference in 
the SPD. However, the 
multi functionality of HIPs 
could be highlighted as 
mitigating both recreational 
and nitrate pressures on 
heathlands and Poole 
harbour. 

 

Action:  

 Amend Appendix 
reference in para 4.23. 

 Highlight that HIPs can 
be multi functional in 
Section 4 

244



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

West Parley 
Parish Council 

 Concerned about the impact from staff and visitors 
to nursing homes within the 400 metre area, who 
may well take advantage of the close proximity to 
the heathland to exercise family and dogs. A full 
impact assessment is needed. 

 In addition small nursing homes may not prove to 
be viable leaving an empty building within the 
400m zone.  

 Fully supports the principal of Heathland Support 
Areas. Details of the funding available needs to be 
promoted. 

 The requirement to provide a SANG is not always 
clear to residents and although it is set out in the 
Local Plan, it would be helpful if the SPD set out 
the framework for these areas and their intended 
use.  

 The life of the SANG was intended to be in 
perpetuity but this now appears to have been 
revised to 80 years which appears a retrograde 
step.  

 Equally the requirement for the SANG to be 
operational before the first occupancy should be 
included in the revised SPD. 

 Not all SANG sites selected are considered 
suitable and attractive enough to encourage 
residents to make use of them and away from 
protected areas. Many areas designated as 
SANGS are prone to flooding in Winter and 
unusable. Serious consideration should be given 
to these sites before approval and not accepted as 
the cheapest and closest available to the 
application site. 

 Monitoring of these sites is essential and the 
parish supports the monitoring programme. 

 Developers should be encouraged to plant native 
species and local wild flowers species and not the 
most available non native species, which may 
spread seeds to heathlands. 

 P12 states managed student accommodation will 
be allowed within 400 zone while previous SPD 
states these will be considered case by case. This 
appears a retrograde step. Consideration should 
be given to the level of development within the 
400m-5KM which although generates funding for 
mitigation at present, should the level of 
development increase to a much higher level the 
impact on protected areas will need a greater level 
of protection. 

 Nursing homes will be 
considered on a case by 
case basis and assess staff 
and car parking impacts.  

 The requirement to provide 
a SANG is set out in the 
respective local plans. A 
number of factors are 
considered in assessing the 
suitability of SANGs, in 
particular whether they will 
be attractive and therefore 
effective.  

 Flooding events generally 
do not coincide with the 
bird nesting season 
(March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people 
upon protected birds is 
most sensitive. If flood 
events occur in this period 
they are for a short 
timespan compared to the 
wetter winter months.  

 Acknowledge Draft SPD 
was inconsistent regarding 
student accommodation. 

  

Actions: 

 Clarify the issue of 
flooding in SANG design 
and native species in 
Appendix D 

 Sort out student 
accommodation 
inconsistency 

 Amend para 6.1 regarding 
first occupation 

WH White Ltd  Welcomes the continuation of the Framework. The 
draft is timely and offers the new Councils scope 
to align practices. Commend the streamlining of 
the document to reflect the general acceptance 
and understanding of the pressures upon 
heathland sites and the current approach to 
mitigation. 

 Support noted.  

 Agree that explanation of 
the appropriate assessment 
process would be helpful to 
applicants.  

 The evidence is cited in 
footnote 4 and through 
various habitats regulations 

245



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 The SPD needs to better articulate alongside the 
HRA process the connection between new 
development, potential in combination effects and 
proposals. 

 Paragraph 2.4 presents an opportunity to explain 
how the Councils undertake Appropriate 
Assessment when considering planning 
applications including use of relevant templates.  

 Para 5.9 should consider sites that are zero rated 
for CIL purposes as their impact still needs to be 
mitigated to satisfy an Appropriate Assessment. 
Ideally, in the interest of simplicity, a consistent 
approach should be adopted across the area. 

 It is unfortunate that an appendix identifying 
potential mitigation projects is omitted. Suggest 
that the Riverside SANG be added to the stated 
examples 

 Disappointingly the evidence is not cited, nor how 
it has influenced the summary table in Figure 1. 

 Figure 3 - guidance on managed student 
accommodation would be welcomed. What is 
meant by ‘… run on their behalf …’ as it would 
seem anti-competitive if the judgement was to rest 
with the established universities? 

 Appendix B is inconsistent and contradicts figure 
3, so needs adjustment. In addition the advice for 
C1 uses and C2 residential education, as 
contained in the table set out in Appendix B, is 
unclear (i.e. “Depends”) and should be elaborated 
upon more fully with hypothetical examples.  

 The clarity on approach to HMO’s is considered 
pragmatic. 

 Figure 4 - the average occupancy figures have 
been derived from research into the occupation of 
new homes. In considering SAMM provision, it is 
unclear whether baseline occupancy trends for the 
existing stock have been taken into account, 
which if falling might create headroom when 
considering the recreational pressures arising 
from new homes. 

 Welcomes that Dorset Council (excluding the 
north Dorset area) will collect financial 
contributions towards both SAMMs and HIPs by 
means of CIL. Infrastructure lists (formerly Reg 
123) will need to be amended accordingly, as this 
approach was previously only adopted in Purbeck.  

 Welcome that BCP will accept upfront 
contributions towards SAMM secured through 
s111 of the Act, thereby restricting the need to 
enter into S106 agreements which are frequently 
cause for delay. 

 Figure 2 provides a helpful map showing the 
distribution of the Dorset Heathlands and the 5km 
heathland area and aids the understanding of the 
reader. 

assessments and 
monitoring work undertaken 
for local plans.  

 For housing proposals that 
are zero rated for CIL, para 
5.12 and Appendix F set 
out mechanisms for how 
mitigation can be secured. 
With time following local 
government reorganisation, 
different approaches to 
mitigation in each local plan 
will become more 
consistent, and this will 
certainly become 
necessary through the local 
plan process.  

 Agree about wider 
ownership of SANGs.  

 The section on university 
accommodation is 
inconsistent and will be 
amended. 

 The falling occupancy for 
existing housing stock is 
not taken into account as 
under the precautionary 
principle of the Habitats 
Regulations, average 
occupancy could also rise. 

 Para 5.15 refers to in 
perpetuity as 80 years, as 
this is the timeframe being 
used by the Councils to 
secure mitigation projects. 

 With the abolition of 
Regulation 123 the 
Councils will instead 
publish annually an 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement to set out clearly 
where CIL and S106/S111 
monies have been spent.  

 The Councils would 
welcome private sector 
representation in 
overseeing the heathland 
mitigation process. 

 The Councils continue to 
assess each SANG on a 
site by site basis with 
advice from Natural 
England. The 8/16ha 
standards are a guide but it 
is attractiveness of the 
SANG that is more 
important. 

246



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Pleased to see the reinstatement of the Advisory 
Group but would suggest this includes private 
sector representation. Would also welcome 
informal opportunities for participation in the 
preparation of the ‘Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan’ recognising that the private 
sector has an important role in provision and 
management. 

 Whilst the Appendix D Quality Standards have 
been rolled over from the previous iteration, 
concern is expressed at the lack of parity with the 
quantitative approach adopted in other regions, 
such as the Thames Basin, where a threshold of 
8ha per 1,000 of population is applied.  

 Concern at the lack of flexibility afforded to new 
developments of 50-100 homes with on-site 
SANG. SANGs delivered in Swanage and Upton 
do not allow for a circular walk of 2.3km, 
notwithstanding their wider connectivity. Were new 
developments of this scale to provide a SANG of 
8-16ha it would present significant overprovision; 
with consequential impacts for viability.  

 Suggest modifying Appendix D to identify the 
requirements for (i) strategic SANG and (ii) non-
strategic SANG; the latter allowing greater 
flexibility. 

 Not clear why the SAMM contribution for 
Christchurch and East Dorset is set to increase 
markedly (by circa 60%)? 

 It is unclear why paragraph 5.16 distinguishes 
between Council controlled sites and SANG’s 
delivered by the private sector as all need to be 
secured in-perpetuity and that funding is secured 
to maintain them. 

 Concerned by the disparity in the thresholds 
applied to settlement extensions and / or 
greenfield sites as these are not clearly defined in 
Local Plan policies. 

 Para 19 - support the distinction being drawn 
between ‘Strategic’ and ‘Non-strategic local’ 
SANGs in para 19 and the basic premise that 
draw / catchment is a determining factor. The 
Riverside SANG is sufficiently attractive to draw 
persons from an extensive area and support its 
identification as a ‘Strategic’ SANG in figure 5. 
However, the SPD should adopt a more 
transparent approach to the identification of 
Strategic SANGs and their potential role in 
enabling future development. Draw is influenced 
by quantitative. Factors like overall scale, number 
of circular walks available, availability of facilities 
and qualitative factors like landscape setting, 
tranquillity, connectivity and convenience. The 
draft SPD contains no assessment of how ‘draw’ 
(existing or likely) has been assessed by the 
Council’s in pulling together figure 5. With respect 
to the qualitative aspects, it is evident that 

 SANGs may have features 
that compensate for a 
shorter walk such as 
viewpoints (Swanage) and 
proximity to the housing 
(Upton). The Councils are 
not aware of SANGs 
stopping sites coming 
forward on viability 
grounds.  

 Agree that Appendix D 
requires an update in line 
with best practice. 2.3km is 
a correction for consistency 
with the evidence.  

 SAMM contributions have 
been re-calculated on basis 
of the new Council area 
and have changed 
accordingly for consistency.  

 Each SANG is assessed as 
part of the planning 
application, and good 
practice is a learning 
experience as set out in 
Appendices D and E. 

 Para 5.15 refers to in 
perpetuity as 80 years, as 
this is the timeframe being 
used by the Councils to 
secure mitigation projects 

Actions:  

 Amend Paras 5.16 to refer 
to wider ownership. 

 Action – In section 5 and 
Appendix F set out 
clearly the appropriate 
assessment process.  

 Appendix A - Refer to 
Canford SANG as a good 
example 

 Ensure Figure 3 is 
consistent with Appendix 
B.    

 Update Appendix D. 

 Amend paras 1.3, 2.1, 4.3, 
5.8 and Figure 5 as 
suggested.  

 Add new appendix with 
references to evidence  

247



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

professional judgement needs to be exercised. 
Underpinning judgements should be published in 
a table as an appendix to the SPD, thereby 
enabling scrutiny. Surprised by the inclusion of the 
UE1 SANG and smaller SANGs shown in east 
Dorset.  

 Para 6.4 presents an opportunity to refer to the 
Stour Valley Concept  

 Para 1.3 – delete ‘of’ in final sentence. 

 Para 2.1 – insert ‘(SAC)’ after Conservation. 

 Para 4.3 – delete the first ‘to’ in the final sentence. 

 After para 4.11, it might be helpful to draw 
distinction between SAMM and the landowner’s 
statutory obligations for biodiversity management 
consistent with the SAC / SPA objectives. 

 Figure 5 - exclude SANG link at Canford. 

 Figure 5 show HSA to the south of Magna 
Business Park. 

 Para 5.8 clarify means of indexation as a footnote. 

 Appendix D: The reason for altering 2.2km to 
2.3km is unclear? 

 Support the fourth paragraph on page 26, but 
highlight that Natural England and the Council has 
been reticent to engage on matters such as SANG 
capacity, although recent discussions on the 
future role of SANGs has proved constructive. 

 Appendix E: it is unclear why the guidance on 
perpetuity meaning 80-125 years has been 
removed? 

Woodland 
Trust 

 For the later full review of the SPD we would like 
to see an integrated, strategic approach to nature 
recovery embedded in the Local Plan process. 

 A Green Infrastructure Strategy should integrate 
the requirements for protected species and sites 
with a strategic approach to safeguarding and 
enhancing the wider ecological networks of which 
they are part, whilst unlocking wider benefits 
(ecosystem services) to people and nature. 

 The emerging Environment Bill requires local 
planning authorities to develop and deliver on 
Nature Recovery Strategies, the commitment to 
Nature Recovery Networks in Government’s 25 
Year Environment Plan and the work of the Local 
Nature Partnership in coordinating a collaborative 
approach to nature recovery across Dorset. 

 In combination effects must be considered not 
only on the protected heathlands, but the wider 
ecological networks of which they are part and 
which help sustain them. The draft SPD does not 
currently reflect the impact of further isolation of 
the heathlands through increased development. 

 In the SPD refer to the existing mapped potential 
ecological networks, with Nature Recovery Plans 
to be wholly integrated in the full review later this 
year. 

 Suggestions for the local 
plan process are noted.  

 Action: Refer to the 
Ecological Network in the 
SPD 

248



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Wyatt Homes  Welcome that both councils intend to review the 
overall approach as part of the preparation of their 
new local plans. In any such review assessment is 
needed of the financial viability impacts of any 
proposed development contributions to ensure 
that policy requirements do not undermine 
deliverability.  

 Consider through the local plan process the 
opportunities to bring forward large scale 
development, at sustainable locations, that can 
deliver significant new areas of green 
infrastructure, including on-site SANGs to mitigate 
the impacts of both new and existing development 
on the Dorset Heathlands e.g.  

 Dudsbury Golf Course, south of Ferndown (Dorset 
Council) provides the opportunity to deliver a new 
neighbourhood to Ferndown of around 700 
dwellings and 24 hectares of green infrastructure. 
It could include a strategic-scale SANG, 
connections to existing green infrastructure links, 
including the Stour Valley Way, a new connection 
across the river to the Millhams Mead Nature 
Reserve and improved linkages between SANGs 
and other green infrastructure along the Stour 
Valley. 

 Higher Clockhouse Farm, west of Bransgore (BCP 
Council) provides for a new neighbourhood of 
around 300 dwellings, adjacent to the west of the 
village of Bransgore. Some 20 hectares of public 
open space, including the opportunity to create a 
new strategic-scale SANG for the northeast of the 
BCP area and for the village of Bransgore. 

 Pages 2-3 - support the reference to Wyatt Homes 
Frenches Farm development as being a ‘good 
example’ of a SANG.  

 Figure 3 is not consistent with Appendix B 
resulting in Figure 3 presenting a significantly 
more restrictive approach than is envisaged by the 
detailed guidance at Appendix B. For C2 
development to be potentially acceptable within 
400 metres it is not necessary for it to comprise 
‘nursing homes’. In order to address this 
inconsistency revise Figure 3 as follows: 
‘Permitted within 400 metres: Certain types of 
development within C2 Use Class where there is 
an element of close care provided on site 24 hours 
a day, or where, by the nature of the residents’ 
disabilities, they are unlikely to give rise to any 
significant effect on heathlands. Not permitted 
within 400 metres and requiring mitigation 
between 400 metres and 5km: Development 
within C2 Use Class where no element of close 
care is provided on site 24 hours a day, or where 
residents’ level of activity is likely to give rise to a 
significant effect on heathlands.’  

 Para 4.16 refers to Appendix A (part 1), which 
provides a general description of the possible 

 Comments noted. Large 
scale proposals will be 
considered through the 
local plans process.  

 If there is only an element 
of close care then this is C3 
development and not 
appropriate in the 400 
metre heathland area, e.g. 
Nursing homes and 
specialist facilities (Use 
class C2) can be clearly 
differentiated from extra 
care or retirement housing 
(Use class C3).  

 The cost changes to 
SAMMs reflect the fact that 
the costs have been 
amalgamated into two 
Council areas. The 
advisory group and 
publication of an annual 
Monitoring, Projects and 
Implementation Plan will 
enable proper scrutiny. 
Furthermore, the SPD 
includes a caveat that it can 
be reviewed within the 5 
years. 

249



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

types of SAMMs measures. Thus there is no 
information to justify the overall cost figures set 
out within paragraph 4.16. The currently adopted 
SPD quotes a total cost of SAMMs measurers 
over a 14 years period as £4.3 million (average of 
£0.307 million per year). Concerned this has now 
increased to £2 million for 5 years (average of 
£0.4 million per year) a 30% increase without clear 
justification. The CIL Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) require that planning obligations are 
“fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development” 

 Concerned that the overall contribution cost per 
dwelling has increased even more steeply than 
the overall aggregate costs (when averaged). 
Taking the contribution for houses, the increase 
set out within Figure 4, over the current 
contribution rates is as follows: 

 BCP: Current rate for houses = £241, new 
proposed rate = £394, giving an increase of £153 
per dwelling or a 63% increase.  

 Dorset (applicable through s106 to those affected 
areas in the North Dorset Local Plan area): 
Current rate for houses = £241, new proposed 
rate = £406, giving an increase of £165 per 
dwelling or a 68% increase. The Draft SPD 
provides no justification for these very significant 
increases which is a concern for developers. The 
cumulative impact of all of the various planning 
obligations and CIL has the potential to harm the 
viability of otherwise sustainable and much-
needed residential development.  

 Paragraph 4.21 (page 14) Support the guidance 
that in some cases promoters of larger 
developments may wish to deliver bespoke 
measures which will be considered by the 
Councils with advice from Natural England. Some 
larger sites will provide particular opportunities to 
provide strategic SANGs which could be of benefit 
to a wider section of the community than those 
occupying the new development and can improve 
linkages to existing green infrastructure assets. 

 

  

250



APPENDIX 2 

Responses from the public: 

 
Respondent Comment Officer response 

Abernethie, 
Ann 

 Excellent! Comprehensive, detailed, good 
information. From the perspective of a non-
specialist, just a Verwood resident! Thanks to 
all who have worked so hard and contributed 
to this plan. 

 Support noted. 

Amey, Jo  Concerned there is a presumption that 
development is the way forward and that the 
negative impact of such development can be 
counteracted in various ways.  

 Surely BCP Council’s climate emergency 
implies that protection of our remaining 
natural environment must take priority over 
other issues.  

 Include a condition for developers of any site 
within 5 km of heathland to fund an 
independent baseline bio-diversity survey 
carried out by a reputable organisation and 
this survey is to be submitted with their 
application. 

 Commercial development should not be 
considered within the 5 km zone as 
commercial needs are rapidly changing and 
any benefits would not be worth the damage 
caused to the environment. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.  

Arkell, 
Vivienne 

 Concerned with the effectiveness of SANGs. 
By-the-way is a good example but others are 
not, in particular the proposals on UE1 North 
of Merley which are at odds with the 
statements in the document as this proposed 
SANG is totally unsuitable to be used for 
mitigation purposes. The UE1 SANG: 

o Does not ‘avoid sites of high nature 
conservation value’ which this is.  

o Floods regularly every year for many 
months it is narrow in places and has an 
urban feel with the roads. Where will 
they go for the months it is unsuitable? 
The nearest and driest being the 
Heathland. The extent of board walks 
needs make that unsuitable as well, 

o The biodiversity of the area close to the 
river would make it unsuitable for dog 
walkers.  

o Only one circular walk exists all year and 
the length is 0.9km under the 
recommended guidelines, a significant 
percentage. 

o The area is rich in wildlife including Great 
Crested Newts, otters, kingfishers, night 
jars, bats and much more. The delicate 
balance needed to ensure their 
protection will be under threat by people 
and pets.  

 Flooding events generally do not 
coincide with the bird nesting 
season (March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people upon 
protected birds is most sensitive. If 
flood events occur in this period 
they are for a short timespan 
compared to the wetter winter 
months.  

 In general SANGs are taken out of 
agricultural use and include an 
element of re-wilding to improve 
attractiveness for users, so have 
the potential for significant 
biodiversity benefits compared to 
the existing agricultural use.  

 In terms of this particular SANG at 
Merley, it has the support of 
Natural England as providing 
suitable mitigation for the adjacent 
housing proposal (Site UE1 North 
of Merley). 

Action: 

Clarify the issue of flooding in 
SANG design in Appendix D 

251



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

o It is estimated that 1 in 4 households 
have a dog which would result in 125 
more dogs in that area potentially. 

Barraclough, 
Andrew & 
Trishia 

 The overall strategy is a move in the right 
direction with regard to harm avoidance and 
mitigation.  

 However, we are concerned that this applies 
only to residential and tourist related 
development and does not cover 
developments to use for the purposes of 
retail, industrial or academic institutions, 
particularly if these are sited close to existing 
lowland heathland for instance Highmoor 
Farm in relation to Talbot Heath, where the 
impact of such development would be 
significant in the following regards: 

 Reduced carbon sink from building on 
farmland as well as increased CO production 
related to construction 

 Loss of species rich buffer zone 

 Pressure on existing infrastructure 

 Increase in traffic and associated pollution 

 Loss of future green space utility within the 
conurbation 

 The cavalier approach of development at 
Highmoor farm in December 2019 
contractors excavating a trench for fibre-optic 
cabling not only cut through an underground 
electricity cable but disturbed the hibernation 
site of slow worms (a protected species) as 
well as letting stock roam through a gate left 
unsecured. 

  

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites. 

Bateman, 
Helen 

 

 Object to the digital village at Highmoor Farm 
BCP Council has stated that the climate 
emergency is a priority. 

 There is no need for a digital village so close 
to Talbot Heath when there are numerous 
empty commercial units nearby - Wallisdown 
rd, Alder Rd, Branksome - rejuvenate these 
existing sites and the dying town centre 
instead of ruining what little green space is 
left in the area? 

 In a few years it is likely to be surplus to 
requirements as the demand for residential 
university study is replaced by 
apprenticeships and remote courses.  

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Baylis, J  SSSI land should be protected but not by 
making the land around it unusable.  

 Where there is a 'hard' barrier such as a main 
road between SSSI and other land, it should 
be possible to have new residences within 
reasonable amounts. Domestic pets will not 
survive crossing a main road with constant 
traffic. 

 Fencing around development is 
not an effective mechanism in 
perpetuity due to maintenance and 
its appearance as it has to be high 
to stop cats.  

 Businesses are allowed within 400 
metres heathland area provided 
the Council’s can be assured that 

252



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Small businesses should also be allowed 
providing they do not effect the air, pollute 
water or create noise. 

 The heathland can be protected by fences 
around small developments. 

 Information notices could be placed to inform 
the public and in certain places request that 
they do not let dogs off leads and to remain 
on the paths. 

 Do not have car parks near sensitive parts of 
heathland. Despite not allowing development, 
people drive to heathland areas for walks, 
cycling and riding. 

 During sensitive times e.g., ground nesting 
birds, the nearby car parks could be closed 
and information notices placed. 

 Development such as sheltered 
accommodation for elderly people could also 
be allowed, where they are not likely to have 
domestic pets. 

 Applications for redundant farm buildings for 
residential purposes could also be 
considered, where there would be very little 
risk to surroundings. 

 Mitigation to pay for heathland rangers could 
be made. 

 Barriers need to be placed on the access to 
footpaths and bridleways to prevent fly-
tipping.  

 'One size does not fit all', each application for 
development should be considered with 
honest regard and whether barriers e.g. 
roads, rivers, fencing, reduced car parking 
could be effective to allow development close 
to heathland. 

employees will not access the 
heathland. 

 The SAMMs payment includes 
signposting and raising awareness 
of bird nesting season and 
controlling dogs at this vulnerable 
time for birds. It also pays for 
wardens (rangers). 

 Managing the location of car 
parks, by providing alternative car 
parks in less sensitive areas is part 
of the mitigation approach. But 
closing car parks is difficult as they 
are often privately owned. 

 The blanket approach to 
residential use in the 400 metre 
heathland area provides certainty, 
although each application will be 
considered on a case by case 
basis. The redevelopment of 
redundant farm buildings for a 
residential use within the 400 
metres heathland area is not 
allowed for the reasons set out in 
the SPD.  

Benson, Ian  Because of the predation of cats, houses 
should be kept at least 3 miles away from the 
heathland. Cats kill an enormous number of 
birds. At least 80% of the area should be 
fenced off and inaccessible to dog walkers. 

 The evidence shows that a 400 
metre buffer is a sufficient range to 
discourage cats from visiting 
heathland. Due the CROW Act 
giving rights to open access of 
land fencing cannot be used to 
discourage access. 

Black, Karin  There are so many alternative sites to Talbot 
Village for that can be used for a Digital 
Village that won’t cause such a detrimental 
effect to wild life and local residents 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Brown, Greg  Object to any measure, policies or plans that 
will result in the building of new homes on 
Dorset’s heathland areas. The areas are 
precious and need to remain green spaces 
for the enjoyment of all, not a means to an 

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 

253



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

end of this government to build yet more 
homes that are just not required. 

have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

Casey, 
Desmond 

 Object to using the precious Talbot 
Heathland for the provision of a digital village. 
With the horrors of climate change and 
increasing carbon footprint surely we should 
preserve the heathland. How relevant it 
would be to plant indigenous trees and 
bushes instead of siting more buildings, 
roads and associated services. For the sake 
of your and our children/grandchildren and 
the rare fauna and Flora please consider 
siting this development somewhere else 
where it would have less impact on a 
treasured facility and the population. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Casey, 
Susan 

 Object to the siting of a digital village on the 
heathland in the Talbot area and spoiling this 
area of pristine heathland by building not only 
offices and work stations on it but also 
access roads to, from and within it. Once the 
heathland has been destroyed there will be 
no way back.  

 Surely there are empty premises in the 
Poole/Bournemouth area which could be 
used? 

 The Council should preserve this unique 
landscape and its habitat not to despoil it by 
not only building on it but making it 
accessible to motorised vehicles.  

 What happens if the industry for which it is 
being constructed decides it would rather be 
located closer to transport links, presumably 
it will be turned over to light industry and 
storage units. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Cassels, 
Anne 

 Object to the proposed Digital village on 
Talbot Heath  

 The Council has declared Climate 
Emergency so this will be in the forefront of 
your minds when deciding about protecting 
the Heathlands and how crucial they are to 
our environment, amongst the other impacts. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites. 

Colman, 
Andrew 

 The council has already allowed building on 
an area at Bearwood which was part of the 
feeding area of nightjars from the SSSI. This 
area which was part wetland also supported 
bats, frogs, toads, palmate newts and a large 
selection of insects. More care must be taken 
in planning, once you have destroyed the 
habitat you cannot replace it. 350 new 
houses here will also add to the footfall on 
the heath.  

 The area set aside as SANG has spent most 
of the winter underwater and is not usable by 
the public? 

 The former Borough of Poole 
Council only granted planning 
permission for 324 homes to the 
south of Magna Road as the 
possible adverse effects of the 
development will be mitigated. 
Alternative foraging land has been 
secured in perpetuity to the south 
of the development near to the 
heathland. Residents will not have 
direct access onto Canford Heath 
and a SANG has been provided 
which is proving to be very 

254



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

attractive to walkers whom may 
otherwise visit the heath.  

 Flooding events generally do not 
coincide with the bird nesting 
season (March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people upon 
protected birds is most sensitive. If 
flood events occur in this period 
they are for a short timespan 
compared to the wetter winter 
months.  

Action: 

 Clarify the issue of flooding in 
SANG design in Appendix D 

Cooper, Bob  Object as the NPPF and the Habitat 
Regulations require that consideration is 
given to any application for Development 
which may have an effect on a protected 
habitats site. 

 The draft SPD does not comply with the 
NPPF because it only covers residential 
development. The SPD should be extended 
to include policies which cover the potential 
effect of that ANY type of proposed 
development 

 This document is a strategy for 
mitigating the impact of housing. 
For the Council to grant planning 
permission all proposals (not just 
housing) will have to pass 
appropriate assessment to ensure 
that there is no harm the protected 
sites.   

Cooper, S  Object to development by Talbot Village Trust 
of the areas boarding Talbot Heath,  

 How the BCP council can declare a climate 
emergency then allow such a vast destruction 
of our green space for commercialism? 

 We need all the existing the green space, 
without this, the area will continue to choke 
its self with congested roads, infrastructure 
and energy use. The region is already over 
developed, over populated and cannot 
sustain anymore growth. 

 All development should be halted until we are 
able to see significant improvements in 
climate change, locally as well as nationally. 

 The 'Innovation quarter would be better 
placed in the many empty shops that occupy 
Bournemouth and Poole, to revive the towns 
and bring in increased footfall. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Cox, 
Dorothy 
Joyce 

 Please preserve all heathland in Dorset there 
is so much protected wildlife and it must be 
saved. There used to be an area on Turlin 
Moor at the end of Junction Road and 
Dartford Warblers lived there until the council 
cut it down. Please be more aware of the 
damage caused by allowing vegetation to be 
removed, wildlife need homes as well. 

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 
have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

Dobbs, Nick  The reality is that even for sites with 
protected designations we really don’t 
accurately know what we are mitigating for 
because of the lack of up to date baseline 
data from which to assess the impact of any 

 To satisfy the Habitats Regulations 
the SPD sets out a mitigation 
strategy to ensure there are no 
adverse effects. There is no 
requirement for a net gain in 

255



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

development in terms of net gains (or losses) 
in biodiversity.  

 In any planning application that has the 
potential to impact a site with designation it is 
Natural England’s submission that is 
regarded by Councils as prima facie. Why? It 
is well reported in the media that Natural 
England is significantly under resourced on 
the frontline; consequently and by their own 
admission, Natural England has very limited 
understanding of how wildlife is faring (e.g. 
species present/population fluctuations) – 
even on nature reserves with supposed 
protected designations. 

  Despite both Council’s declaring a Climate 
Emergency in only one place in the entire 
draft SPD document (para 6.4) is there a 
reference to the Council’s desire to achieve 
net gains in biodiversity.  

 Submits a flowchart for how the planning 
system can deliver a net gain in biodiversity.   

biodiversity to mitigate the adverse 
impact of urban pressures. 
However mitigation projects by 
their very nature provide 
opportunities to re-wild countryside 
and improve biodiversity and 
therefore the strategy is likely to 
have a positive effect. The Council 
is the decision maker and relies 
upon Natural England for advice 
before reaching a decision. Part of 
the SAMMs payment is used for 
monitoring of bird populations on 
protected sites and human access 
patterns. 

Farrell, Nigel  Object to the proposed digital village on land 
at Highmoor Farm as development is likely to 
harm the adjacent heathland which is one of 
the few remaining green areas in the 
conurbation. It should be protected rather 
than creating increased risks of fires and 
further encroachment. 

 There would also be traffic and amenity are 
also issues.  

 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.   

Gawler, 
Keith 

 As a parish councillor, support the strategy as 
proposed.  

 However, suggest that better quality mapping 
of the heathland areas will be helpful to 
everyone including health walkers around 
Verwood. 

 The maps are small scale due to 
the nature of the SPD, but are set 
out in greater detail on Local Plan 
Policies Maps.  

Glazer, Holly  Object to the planning permission. The roads 
will not cope with the increased traffic. 
Wallisdown is already gridlocked / moving at 
a snails pace.  

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

Green, Tara  No development should be allowed on the 
heathland and agree with limitation on 
development within a further 400m distance 
around it. 

 The issues regarding degradation and 
erosion of the heathland habitats, particularly 
highlights the need to ensure further 
provision is made for additional public open 
space and SANGs in Corfe Mullen.  

 Non-heathland pockets of public open spaces 
in Corfe are limited by grazing animals, poor 
maintenance and poor drainage (i.e. unable 
to get through as often overgrown or 
waterlogged - such as the walks through the 
Happy Bottom Nature Reserve areas and 

 Comments noted.  

256



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

further overuse - such as the Badbury Rd rec 
and the play area behind the Coop.  

 Retain open spaces around Corfe Mullen as 
an alternative to the heathland, esp. the 
Corfe Mullen, Badbury Road recreation 
ground - the entire rec. (incl. the end field 
which borders the main Wimborne Rd / 
Higher Merley Lane and the western edge of 
Stour View Gardens end as well as the fields 
/ wildflower meadow and adjacent field 
bordering to the NE part of Rectory Avenue). 
This valuable recreation space is the only 
place where dogs and children can stretch 
their legs and run and play in any sort of 
reasonable space.  

Gunn, John  The SPD will need to undergo Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. 

 The Sweetman judgement will also apply 

 Can SANGs be more biodiverse e.g. create 
patches of heathland in Queens Park, 
Bournemouth 

 The payments for SAMMs are too low and do 
not take into account the full cost benefit 
analysis 

 Can protected sites be monitored by CCTV? 

 The SPD provides guidance to 
poilicies set out in higher level 
local plans. The local plans were 
subjected to habitats Regulations 
Assessment.  

 Each planning application also has 
to undergo appropriate 
assessment as a result of the 
Sweetman judgement  

 SANGs have a particular purpose, 
but opportunities to improve 
biodiversity are encouraged. 

 The SAMMs cost reflects the 
mitigation costs only as the 
mitigation has to ensure no 
adverse effect, rather than site 
improvement.  

 CCTV would be costly.  

Gundry, J 

 

 Development in close proximity to 
conservation areas especially Heathlands, is 
particularly undesirable – the impact of 
people could prove extremely adverse in 
many ways. It is most certainly the case that 
our local heathlands should be respected and 
protected. We do indeed have a legal duty to 
safeguard our environment. 

 New development would not be 
permitted if it were to have an 
adverse effect upon the Dorset 
Heathlands. 

Guntrip, 
Rosa 

 Strongly disagree with any proposed building 
work on the Heathland, soon there will be no 
green spaces left! 

 Comment noted 

Harris, Matt  The proposed development is a great idea for 
the conurbation. The University has been a 
success for the region and it makes sense to 
collocate digital businesses around these 
thought centres as many other university 
cities across the country have. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan. 

Heward, 
Julie 

 Under no circumstances build on them or 
reduce them as it is our leisure and pleasure 
place to unwind and get back to nature. All 
this council want to do is build build build and 
build again. I live in Broadstone but go to 

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 

257



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Corfe Mullen as Broadstone is so over built 
up, too many cars. It has lost its identity. 

have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

Hudson, 
Martyn 

 

 Natural England has too much influence 
whereby the exclusion zones force 
unnecessarily large areas of genuine Green 
Belt to be de-classified so that substantial 
housing estates can be created with 
insufficient improvement in the surrounding 
infrastructure.  That position cannot be 
maintained if we are going to be able to 
house the population that require it. 

 Suggest reducing the zones to 300m or even 
250m and exclude Natural England from any 
influence within village envelopes, so that we 
can maximise the inhabitable content of a 
village or small town, where existing 
infrastructure can absorb the development 
permitted.  We are not utilising to the fullest 
extent possible the areas that we already 
inhabit, before we use open land to build 
even more houses. 

 The heathland areas are based 
upon evidence. To amend these 
areas would require new 
compelling evidence of which 
there is none.  

Keats, Chris  The precious Dorset Heathlands house, feed 
and protect many wild creatures and plants 
and it is essential that this continues through 
the next few centuries, irrespective of 
housing requirements for humans.  After all, 
the wildlife have inhabited Dorset much 
longer. 

 Perhaps there is an argument for designating 
certain restrictions for new housing?  Like cat 
owners ensure their animals wear bells to 
warn creatures, especially birds and smaller 
mammals like shrews, etc. of their approach? 

 Perhaps voluntary wardens or rambling 
groups could be recruited to advise home 
owners of their responsibilities if they end up 
living so close to Heathland areas? The new 
BCP Council was the first in the U.K to really 
do something for wildlife, rather than talk 
about it. Pet-free homes might be rather 
refreshing to lots of people. 

 The suggestions for cats are not 
currently enforceable. 

 Developers will fund wardens to 
raise awareness, but equally the 
role of the voluntary sector should 
be encouraged.   

Kenward, 
Robert E. 

 In a democracy, conservation requires 
consent of citizens who elect decision makers 
and citizens need to appreciate the value of 
heathland in order to support future 
conservation. The value that heathland’s 
international designation has created in 
planning terms (for preventing over-
development around Wareham) is 
inestimable, but the CIL (with integral SAMMs 
and HIPS) adds to planning costs for local 
householders as well as on developers. If 
local people gain aesthetic appreciation from 
SAMMs, and health benefits through SANGs, 
citizen consent may be sustained. 

 The Habitats Regulations are UK 
law. 

 The proposals seek not to stop 
people from doing as they wish, 
but encouraging a change in 
behaviour over time by offering up 
alternative places to visit and 
educating people on the benefits 
of protecting heathland sites. The 
Habitats Regulations ensure that 
development does not have an 
adverse effect upon the protected 
sites so is not aimed at improving 
the heathland sites, although the 
projects have the potential to 

258



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 It is therefore important that tourism is not 
unduly constrained by pets. The science 
shows an association between proximity to 
households and disturbance of wildlife, but 
not the causal mechanism for that 
association. Dogs might be involved, and 
poorly controlled dogs are undesirable, but 
there is more evidence in general for wildlife 
impact from cats, and plenty for generalist 
wild predators (foxes, badgers) that may 
benefit from bird-tables and worming on 
lawns. It is therefore good that, in the 
strategic plans (p.7-8) that tourist (and 
student) accommodation is permitted within 
400m of heathland, given mitigation (and 
supervision), especially because tourists are 
probably more likely to bring their dogs than 
their cats. 

 Anomalous therefore that Table 2 HIPs 
projects focus on dogs rather than heathland 
connectivity projects that could enable 
rewilding processes. 

create the wider health and 
environmental benefits as 
suggested.  

Lees, Clare  Appendix D – In light of the declaration of a 
climate emergency reconsider the statement 
that most visitors to SANGs arrive by foot or 
car. Housing sites should be selected with 
the possibility of providing SANGS alongside. 
It should be considered undesirable to 
provide an attractive destination accessible 
only by car. 

 Agree, ideally everyone would 
walk to SANGs but this is not 
possible in all cases, particularly 
those functioning as a strategic 
SANG. Car parks are necessary 
until such time as the access 
behaviour of the public shows a 
significant modal shift e.g. to 
cycling/buses/e-cars etc. 

Action: 

 ·Amend Appendix D. 

Lloyd-Jones, 
Stephen 

 A prerequisite of SANGS should be that they 
are able to offer sufficiently stable mitigation 
for large developments. The Canford Park 
SANG patently does not as it is necessary to 
close it due to flooding during spells of heavy 
rain.  The knock on effect is of course much 
greater use of the heathland for the exercise 
of dogs during the winter months.  

 Flooding events generally do not 
coincide with the bird nesting 
season (March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people upon 
protected birds is most sensitive. If 
flood events occur in this period 
they are for a short timespan 
compared to the wetter winter 
months.  

Action: 

 Clarify the issue of flooding in 
SANG design in Appendix D 

McManus, 
Theresa 

 There should be no further development. 
Neither increasing the urban density nor 
extending its footprint, until healthy wildlife 
numbers are re-established. 

 A threshold of 5km should be redundant. 
However, if one is required, dog owners 
probably drive 10 miles.  

 Given the precarious state of the Dorset 
Heathlands, and their lack of 
interconnectedness, highlight areas which 
could over time be developed as green 

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 
have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

 Acknowledge that linking 
heathlands through green 
infrastructure is an important 

259



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

wildlife corridors between the patches of 
heathland and apply 10 miles to these 
potential heathland connectors as well. 

 SANGs seem to be sited in peripheral areas 
that would not have had any value as 
development land, are where people are 
likely to drive to them (carbon footprint), and 
may be unattractive for several months of the 
year due to flooding 

 SAMMs charges -why are they so low, and 
why aren't they being used to encourage 
affordable development? Why not charge 
£1K per bedroom (as the potential footfall is 
the problem) with fee of just £500 for each 
affordable home? 

strategy for the upcoming local 
plans to address.  

 SANGs use wide open rural areas 
of similar attraction to heathland, 
which necessitates using land 
around the edge of the 
conurbation, along the Stour 
Valley.  

 The flooding on SANGs is 
generally outside of nesting 
season.  

 The SAMMs charges are based on 
the costs of mitigating the impact 
and to ask for more from 
developers would be unlawful..  

Mellor, 
Carolyn 

 Object to the proposed Digital Village. The 
extra traffic and activity is detrimental to the 
residents and to the wildlife. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.   

Miles, 
Robert 

 The EU produced a badly worded document 
which instead of dealing with the proposal at 
which it directed, allowed it to be applied 
universally, which has resulted in the loss of 
44% of potential development land in Poole 
and 66% in the Isle of Purbeck.  

 There are hundreds of serviced building plots 
available within the existing urban framework 
which could be developed rather than provide 
new roads and services to Green Belt land at 
a time when we are all are concerned about 
the planet, yet here we are utilising Green 
Belt, which helps to heal our planet.  

 The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (the 
Habitats Regulations) transposes 
EU legislation into law in the UK. 
This UK law ensures that any plan 
nor project does not cause harm to 
a protected wildlife interest. 

Mitchell, 
Susan 

 Our heathland is a most important habitat 
and it is upsetting that a lot has been lost 
through arson. The creatures and plant that 
live in these areas are unique and we should 
do all we can to care for them. 

 Comments noted.  

Monsell, 
Suzy 

 No mention of the Climate Emergency and its 
impact on heathland 

 No suggestions as to how the heathland will 
be made safer in the future from fire 
breakouts 

 Plan to "wet" the heaths to avoid fire spread 

 Revise this document in the light of the 
Government’s plan for Climate Change 
Action  

 Provide manpower/volunteers to develop 
these strategies and groundforce taskforces 

 Reducing arson events is an 
important part of the mitigation 
approach - through wardens and 
education in schools as set out in 
Appendix A.  

 The heaths are protected and the 
suggestion to change dry heaths 
to wet heaths would not support 
certain protected species. 
Furthermore in summer the rivers 
are low and water extraction is 
restricted. 

 Developers will fund wardens, but 
equally the role of the voluntary 
sector should be encouraged.    

260



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Action:  

 Refer to the Council’s 
commitment to the Climate 
Change Emergency.  

Oswald, 
Carol 

 Am strongly against any further building on 
Dorset heathland. These are vital areas that 
need 100% protection. Once the area is 
covered in concrete it will be lost forever, as 
will all the wildlife that depends on it.  

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 
have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

Phillips, 
George 

 

 Generally in favour of this framework, but not 
convinced this will provide sufficient housing 
to allow the younger generation to get 
established on the housing ladder.  

 Offer alternatives but do not block people or 
their dogs from enjoying the heathlands. If 
‘managing access’ or ‘manage visitor 
pressure' means stopping walkers and their 
dogs from going on to the heathlands, then 
not only will this cause a lot of friction, but it 
will be unfair on the walkers.  

 Lone Pine Park seems to be adding dozens 
of higher density housing, including dogs with 
another 15 still to be installed. This has been 
at the expense of dozens of trees, some with 
retrospective TPO permission.  

 The strategy enables the Council’s 
to grant permission for housing. 
Without this strategy the Council 
would not be able to do so.  

 Management is about influencing 
people’s behaviour over time so 
that people become more 
understanding of the risks to 
protected species and choose to 
change their behaviour 
accordingly.   

 Lone Pine Park benefits from 
deemed consent without condition 
or limitation. Thus the provision of 
additional caravans on the site 
would not require planning 
permission but would need to 
comply with the details contained 
in the current site license. 

Piot, 
Bernadette 
Richmond 

 The local heathlands should continue to be 
protected as areas of natural beauty and 
interest with birds and animals. They are also 
areas much used by local people and visitors 
for recreation and sport. 

 It is vital to keep and protect the Dorset 
Heathlands and not to use the land for 
building more houses. The roads in the area 
are saturated and it would cause even more 
problems and pollution. 

 Comments noted. 

Pope, 
Marion 

 Significant damage has been caused to 
Canford Heath by industrial development: 
household waste processing and inert 
recycling facilities adjacent to White's Pit. The 
SPD should be enhanced to mitigate against 
damage caused to protected sites from both 
housing and industrial developments. 

 It is unfortunate that the Government reduced 
the CIL rate for North Poole from £175 per 
sq. metre proposed by the Council to £115 
per sq metre. Doubtless it was done to 
encourage developers to commit to opening 
up the sites but SAMMs are only one item to 
be met from a CIL rate which is now little 
more than it has been for years. 

 The evidence does not illustrate 
that a mitigation strategy is needed 
for the in-combination effects of 
industrial uses. Each planning 
application will be determined on a 
case by case basis and may 
include bespoke mitigation to 
avoid adverse effects upon the 
Dorset Heathlands.  

 The Councils prioritise the funding 
of heathland mitigation from CIL 
before the majority of other types 
of infrastructure. If the Council had 
insufficient funds for up-front 
mitigation the housing would not 
be allowed.  

261



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 Where SANGs are built on flood plains, they 
can be unusable for many months while the 
rivers are in flood. When that happens, local 
populations will revert to using heathlands 
which somehow defeats the object. 

 The SPD will only be effective if its policies 
are rigorously adhered to. Too often in the 
past, damage has been caused to lowland 
heath habitats and protected species by the 
LPAs themselves. Those preparing the SPD 
should first read the Proof of Evidence of the 
late Dr John Underhill-Day - APP/13/00272/P 
3 February 2014). It is a great pity that his 
evidence has largely been ignored. 

I should be grateful if you would let me know 
where these comments, and those of other 
residents, will be published. 

 

 Flooding events generally do not 
coincide with the bird nesting 
season (March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people upon 
protected birds is most sensitive. If 
flood events occur in this period 
they are for a short timespan 
compared to the wetter winter 
months.  

 The late Dr Underhill Day’s 
research (and others) provides the 
evidence of urban pressures upon 
the Dorset Heathlands. This 
evidence is paramount to 
preparing the mitigation strategy 
set out in this SPD.    

Action: 

 Clarify the issue of flooding in 
SANG design in Appendix D 

Price, Hazel 
J 

 If any more homes are built in Bearwood, 
Canford Magna or Merley there will be 
gridlocked roads, ruined heathlands 
destroyed wildlife habitats and excessive 
flooding on the land meant to absorb high 
water levels during the winter months. 

 The SANG area designated on the old river 
course is closed due to flooding and this will 
continue for most of the winter months so this 
in no way compensated for the loss of land 
for housing. 

 All open areas and habitats should be 
protected for future generations of both 
humans and wildlife  

 Flooding events generally do not 
coincide with the bird nesting 
season (March-July) when the 
adverse effect of people upon 
protected birds is most sensitive. If 
flood events occur in this period 
they are for a short timespan 
compared to the wetter winter 
months.  

Action: 

 Clarify the issue of flooding in 
SANG design in Appendix D. 

Smith Jennie   The reason our heathland is under pressure 
is because little by little you are allowing 
developers to encroach on green areas.  

 Look for building opportunities on empty 
industrial estates, brownfield sites, etc. and 
stop land grabbing the few remaining green 
areas we have for leisure purposes.  

 Comments noted.  

Stewart-
Jones, 
Harriet 

 

 Development has been allowed to eat away 
at our precious lowland heathland in Poole 
over the past 40 years. Please let’s put a stop 
to heathland destruction now. 

 On Talbot Heath the universities have been 
allowed to encroach gradually, nibbling away 
at the farmland on Highmoor Farm, removing 
the buffer between the heathland and 
buildings. And if the proposed “Digital Village” 
were to be given permission to go ahead it 
would seriously impact the heathland further. 
I’m opposed to the use of the farmland as a 
light industrial innovation park. There are 
other more suitable locations for this. It does 
not need to be near the university. 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.   

262



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

 I believe it is time to cease construction in 
this area. Leave the green fields for grazing 
and as a taste of the natural world for 
residents and future generations. And for the 
wildlife that currently uses it. 

 The BCP Climate and Ecological Emergency 
plan currently in preparation will surely 
mandate the planting of trees and use of 
heathland edges as carbon sinks. It is 
necessary to make room for these measures 
by taking them into consideration in the SPD. 

Thomas, Jo  As a nearby resident to Upton Heath for over 
50 years, notes: 

 Fire danger to the Heath was high from the 
motorbikes, this has been stopped by notices 
and the presence of wardens. Further fire 
danger has been low, and usually accidental. 

 The greatest continuing danger to the wildlife 
is from loose dogs. Many people let the dog 
off the lead on reaching the heath. Many of 
these dog-walkers park their cars in Beacon 
Road. Suggest making Beacon Road a no-
parking zone, with residents having parking 
permits. 

 Dog-walkers could be entirely restricted to 
the heathland area next to Springdale Road, 
where there is a car park, and the 
undergrowth is in process of being cleared.  

 This change would need widespread 
publicity.  

 Walkers on Upton Heath seem to keep to the 
established footpaths, and notices requesting 
that could accompany the above publicity. 

 The restrictions on changes to established 
residences, and the building of new homes, 
could therefore be viewed more leniently. We 
need more homes for young people and 
families – at a price they can afford. The 
result of present restrictions is that 
Broadstone is becoming overwhelmed by the 
elderly  

 It might be possible to forbid the keeping of 
pet dogs or cats in any new build?  

 Comments noted. 

Tuffin, J  The Heathlands are desperately important to 
all of us in Dorset. We need these lungs of 
green between areas of residential 
development. The variety of wildlife and the 
environmental balance must be maintained 
for future generations. 

 Highmoor Farm, (Talbot Village), is an 
important local resource. Could we have 
some "City Farms" providing a learning 
resource for local schools ? 

 The Digital Village would replace this last 
local farm and the heathland at Talbot Village 
would be surrounded by development. Why 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

263



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

could it not be developed on the universities 
sites? 

Vincent, 
Nicola 

 

 Object to plans for the Digital Village on 
Talbot Heath. The UK has lost 95% of its 
lowland heathlands since the time of the 
Talbot Sisters (Victorian) and the amazing 
and unique wildlife that exists upon them. 
Talbot Heath is definitely worth preserving for 
future generations.  

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

Waite, Julia  Have concerns about existing pressures from 
people and animals on nearby heathland, 
and do not any assessment of how effective 
mitigating measures were, which is surely 
critical if you are doing more of the same (i.e. 
allowing development within 400 metres). 

 Do not think existing proposals for mitigation 
are strong enough: appointing some wardens 
and visiting a few schools seems very little if 
you are trying to change local behaviours.  

 Why not get local children involved and make 
them junior wardens who can help out at 
weekends? Or adult volunteers to replace/ 
supplement the wardens? Has anyone asked 
the RSPB, Dorset Wildlife Trust or any other 
relevant organisation if they would help in 
protecting the sites for birds and other 
wildlife?  

 And rather than just visiting schools and 
talking at teachers and pupils, why not 
identify an area of heathland for class visits, 
where children can see for themselves the 
birds, animals, reptiles and insects that live 
there, and link this to the climate emergency 
and how valuable these natural spaces are? 

 The council may go through the motions of 
mitigation and as a result, what is done may 
be ineffective and cause the heathland to 
deteriorate as an environment for wildlife.  

 A full review of the effectiveness of 
mitigation will be considered 
through the local plan process. 
Local organisations manage a 
number of the heathlands and thus 
are already play an important role 
in their protection. Note the 
positive suggestions for educating 
children.  

Walford, 
Leigh 

 To maintain the wildlife richness of this area, 
it is important to respect and protect the little 
remaining heathland that we have. 

 While the document was clear about 
residential development, it did not discuss 
commercial development which is more 
dangerous to Talbot Heath. Recently we 
have examples of developers attempting to 
building <400m from the Heath and trying to 
take advantage of permitted development to 
break ground before planning was approved. 

 This SPD focuses on mitigating the 
impact of housing. Commercial 
development still has to undergo 
appropriate assessment at the 
planning application to ensure that 
there would be no adverse effect 
on the heaths.  

264



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

Webber Jill  One of the pressures you highlight is 
disruption of hydrology. The increase in 
tarmac & paved areas is significantly 
affecting the water table & increasing floods 
in all areas not just the heathlands.  

 There should be the ability in planning 
conditions to ensure water permeable 
surfaces are used in ALL new developments, 
small & large. Also ensure ground water 
drainage is an integral part of all new 
buildings, instead of surface water going 
down drains. Especially in flat developments, 
where car parks can have a major impact.  

 The conditions should remain with the 
building so future owners can't just tarmac 
over everything. 

 Comment noted. 

Welch, 
Gregory 

 Currently in a Climate Crisis, a Policy 
adopted by the BCP Council. 

 Losing any more green space/biodiversity 
would be calamitous and so unnecessary as 
a Digital Village could be placed on a brown 
site elsewhere in the conurbation e.g. at the 
top of Alder Road behind Homebase  

 The increase in traffic increase pollutants 
from vehicles 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.   

Wellman, 
Sue 

 If there is evidence to prove harm to our 
precious heathlands then we should not allow 
development within 5kms under any 
circumstances 

 There are still plenty of brownfield sites that 
can be adapted and used for development, 
more higher raised flats within urban areas 
and with new tax legislation that will start to 
discourage owners to have buy to let 
mortgages and rent/own a second home, 
which may well reduce second home 
ownership, that there should be other 
options. 

 The bush fires and floods around the world 
are being blamed on climate change 
reminding us to be aware of the importance 
of protecting our nature and environment 
before it is too late. 

 Would be greatly saddened if further 
development (even if mitigating action was 
taken) were permitted to these precious rural 
areas and green belt and heathlands are not 
protected. 

 The Councils have to balance the 
delivery of housing to meet needs 
with the protection of the 
environment. New development 
would not be permitted if it were to 
have an adverse effect upon the 
Dorset Heathlands. 

Worthy, Mr 
& Mrs 

 

 Object to the proposed Highmoor Farm 
Digital Village which is a valuable piece of 
Heathland close to the town centre and must 
be protected. The proposed site would be 
some 240m from Talbot Heath Nature SSSI. 

 Why it is necessary to replace an area of 
heathland with a digital village when there are 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites 

265



APPENDIX 2 

Respondent Comment Officer response 

numerous other areas that would be more 
suitable such as existing brown field sites. 

 We also understand that Highmoor Farm is 
recognised as an essential buffer zone for the 
heath and is currently a tenanted farm that, if 
maintained, could be turned into a valuable 
learning centre for local schools. 

 Public access to real nature on their doorstep 
has enormous benefits to public wellbeing 
and health. 

 Why cant this be built on the university 
campuses? 

 Additional traffic will cause further congestion  

Young, 
Daniel 

 Strongly reject the planning for a proposed 
digital village on Highmoor Farm as the area 
is full of wonderful birds, animals and 
creatures The disruption of the current 
building is bad, this would be ginormous. 
Parking and noise just to make a few. Also 
flood lighting, would be bad for the houses 
backing onto the farm like us. 

 The area cannot cope with the extra cars.  

 The expansion of the university is 
compromising the environment. Every last bit 
of land is being build on. Talbot village is 
being engulfed by university buildings 

 The proposed Innovation Quarter 
is an allocated employment site in 
the Poole Local Plan.  

 For the Council to grant planning 
permission proposals will have to 
pass appropriate assessment to 
ensure that there is no harm the 
protected sites.   

 

266



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 2020-2025 

Meeting date  18 March 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  
The Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Capital Investment 

Strategy (Non -Treasury) 2019-2022 (CIS) was approved by the 

Shadow Authority Executive Committee on 12 February 2019 prior 

to the creation of BCP Council on 1 April 2019. 

The revised strategy has been updated to reflect the new Corporate 

Strategy and investment ambition of Bournemouth Christchurch 

and Poole (BCP) Council. 

The strategy sets out the basis by which the Council wishes to 

assemble and hold a portfolio of investments assets that reflect its 

values and priorities in order to; 

 promote the financial health of the organisation by generating a 
target return across the portfolio; 

 make a positive contribution to the current or future delivery of 
services, in terms of scope, quality or cost; 

 contribute towards a Sustainable Environment;  

 deliver socio-economic benefits to the town; and/or 

 create Dynamic Places through strategic regeneration or 
redevelopment opportunities. 

It provides a means of developing alternative sources of income to 

offset cuts to Council spending arising as a consequence of the 

Government’s austerity programme and to provide a degree of 

protection to frontline services. 

The CIS approved by the Shadow Authority referenced not only 

investment assets but other legacy authority assets which 

generated an income such as finance leases and ground rents, 

however these will fall within the business as usual estate 

management remit of the Council and will be managed in 

accordance with the BCP Council Corporate Asset Management 

Plan. 

The investment portfolio has therefore been realigned to consist of 

only the key assets acquired or held solely for investment purposes 

267

Agenda Item 11



and includes legacy Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole assets 

and it is appropriate to provide an updated financial projection.  

A financial appraisal attached in Appendix B focuses on the current 

position in relation to the two largest multi-tenanted investments 

within the portfolio, Mallard Road Retail Park and Wessex Trade 

Centre.  

 

Recommendations That Cabinet:  

 Approves the Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 
2020-2025 attached to this Report at Appendix A. 
 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The purchase of investment assets assists with the management of 
sound finances and increases the Council asset base, providing a 
legacy for future generations. 
 
It is appropriate that this Strategy is refreshed to ensure it aligns 
with the new BCP Council Corporate Strategy and reflects the 
current investment ambitions of the organisation. 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Mark Howell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration and Culture and Cllr David Brown, Finance  

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economy  

Report Authors Sarah Longthorpe, Strategic Projects and Investment Manager 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole Council had separate 
Investment Strategies as part of their Corporate Asset Management plans. 
Christchurch Borough Council had neither an Investment Strategy nor Corporate 
Asset Management Plan. 

2. Pending Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) a BCP Capital Investment 
Strategy 2019-2022 (Non-Treasury) known as the CIS, was drafted to align the 
legacy authorities investment criteria and ambition. This was approved by the 
Shadow Executive Committee on 12 February 2019 as part of the approval for the 
Shadow Authority’s MTFP 2019-2021 and Budget 2019/20.  

268



3. This strategy has now been revised to reflect BCP Council’s investment ambition and 
the objectives of the Corporate Strategy and is intended to cover the period from 
2020 -2025.  

4. A copy of the proposed revised Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 2020- 
2025 is attached at Appendix A. 

5. This strategy should be viewed in the context of the Council’s Corporate existing 
fixed asset base, which had a combined value of £794.2 million as at 31 March 2019, 
this includes legacy Council investment assets. The new BCP Corporate Asset 
Management Plan will provide the framework for the management of the Corporate 
Estate with decisions taken in accordance with the Councils financial regulations. 

6. The CIS focuses on investment assets only, not the wider Corporate Estate portfolio and 
builds on the effective asset management arrangements that have been embedded by the 
legacy Councils through the adoption of the Corporate Property Strategy and Asset 
Management Plans, and follows the guidance provided by both Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS). 
 

7. The previous CIS approved by the Shadow Authority referenced other legacy 
authority assets which generated an income such as finance leases and ground 
rents. Each legacy authority viewed what constituted an investment asset slightly 
differently and for consistency purposes these will now fall within the business as 
usual estate management remit of the Council and will be managed in accordance 
with the BCP Council Corporate Asset Management Plan. 

8. As a result the Investment Portfolio has been realigned to consist of only the key 
assets acquired or held solely for investment purposes and includes legacy 
Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole assets. Assets within the portfolio will be 
reviewed regularly to determine the suitability of their inclusion. The current 
investment portfolio is detailed by value and sector in Appendix 1 of the CIS. 

9. There are two sections to the CIS; 

Section 1 – Property Investment (Commercial & Residential) 

Section 2 – Property Development 

10. Section 1 deals with commercial and residential property investment as an integral 
part of the Council’s asset management function and is aligned with the medium term 
financial planning of the Council which requires the Council to diversify the revenue 
base by securing alternative sources of income to better support the budget position. 
The financial objectives are only part of the rationale for acquiring investment 
property assets. An acquisition should also support other key corporate plan 
objectives such as economic development or regeneration. 

11. Section 1 also supports the early delivery of the Council’s strategic housing 
ambitions through the acquisition of a portfolio of private rented sector residential 
properties. The Strategy will only apply to the Council’s General Fund, with the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) assets being managed separately.  

12. Section 2 covers circumstances where the Council purchases investment 
development opportunities which give the Council ownership of land or buildings in 
support of the delivery of the Council’s strategic aims and objectives.  

269



13. Both sections of the CIS share a commonality of purpose but the principles and risk 
profile under which they each operate are different and will be explored separately 
under each section. 

14. An Investment Panel acting in an advisory capacity only will consider investment 
opportunities in accordance with this strategy. It is proposed the panel consist of the 
Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Corporate Property Officer 
(currently the Chief Executive), Director for Regeneration and Economy, Director 
Development and be attended by the Leader of the Council, Deputy Leader of the 
Council and the Cabinet Members with the responsibility for Corporate Estates and 
Finance, or their nominated substitutes. Other officers may attend at the invitation of 
the Chair.  

15. The Investment Panel will be chaired by the Chief Executive. 

16. When considering investment or disposal opportunities, the Investment Panel will 
adopt a triple bottom line evaluation approach to consider the economic, social and 
environmental impacts. These impacts will be considered as part of the overall 
business case to ensure opportunities contribute towards a sustainable environment 
and deliver socio-economic benefits to the conurbation. This evaluation method will 
also assist the Council to identify any human resources, equality, sustainability and 
public health implications. 

17. This evaluation will form part of the overall business case presented for consideration 
when the necessary approvals are sought. 

18. The Investment Panel was consulted on this Strategy at their meeting on 7th 
February 2020 and approved its content. 

Options Appraisal 

19. To not approve the Strategy. The Council could continue to rely on the use of the 
existing strategy approved by the Shadow Authority, however this would not align 
with the objectives of the new Corporate Strategy and does not match the ambitions 
and aspirations of the new council. 

Summary of financial implications 

20. The principle of investment in all types of property assets is to ensure investment is 
undertaken prudently at all times. Each acquisition including the funding strategy will 
be considered on a case by case basis and will be subject to separate Corporate 
Property Offer, Cabinet or Council approvals in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations. 

21. As per item 14, opportunities for acquisition or disposal will be recommended by the 
Investment Panel based on consideration of the economic impacts such as the 
projected income costs and resulting contributions to the MTFP, the debt profile and 
the risk profile as well as the social and environmental impact. 

22. All decisions to acquire or dispose of investment assets will be made in accordance 
with the Financial Regulations of the Council. 

23. The existing CIS included appropriate provision for voids and bad debts. The 
amendments to this strategy leave these arrangements unchanged.  The Investment 
Panel is responsible for making recommendations on the level of this provision.   

270



24. The CIS is consistent with the Council’s ambitions. However, it should be 
acknowledged that innovative and enterprising approaches are not without risk. 
These risks will need to be fully appraised via the due diligence process outlined in 
the CIS before any transactions are concluded. 

25. The CIS is fully compliant with 2018 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) Investment guidance, including investment indicators and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code as outlined in Appendix 5 Financial Overview and Indicators 
of the CIS. 

26. It is recognised that each legacy Council reported on the performance of their 
individual Investment portfolios, focusing on their individual high value multi-tenanted 
investments and it is therefore now appropriate to provide an update in relation to the 
realigned BCP Investment portfolio. The two key multi tenanted investments within 
the Portfolio are Mallard Road Retail Park and Wessex Trade Centre. A financial 
appraisal in Appendix B outlines the position as at 31 December 2019 in relation to 
these assets.  

Summary of legal implications 

27. Various statutory powers exist which enable a local authority to acquire property, or 
interests in property, including for the purposes of investment. These powers include 
specific treasury management powers relating to investment, for which specific 
Guidance exists, and wider powers to invest for the purposes of regeneration and 
creation of economic growth for example. In addition, the Localism Act 2011 provides 
a general power of competence enabling local authorities to undertake activities for 
which a specific power may not have previously existed.  

28. Specific legal advice will be considered in respect of each proposed investment as 
the legal implications of each proposal will be different. The proposed governance 
structure ensures that legal officers will be engaged in the process and that decision 
making will be in accordance with the legal and constitutional requirements. 

Summary of human resources implications 

29. There are no human resource implications associated with the approval of this 
strategy. 

30. The Investment Panel governance structure outlined in section 4 of the CIS remains 
unchanged. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

31. The Council has signed up to the climate change emergency and as such it is critical that 
decision makers consider the sustainability and environmental impact of their decision. An 
Environmental Impact Assessment will be completed for each investment proposal and 
reported on a case by case basis.  

Summary of public health implications 

32. The public health implications of each investment proposal will be considered and reported on 
a case by case basis. 

Summary of equality implications 

33. An Equality Impact Needs Screening Tool has been completed and this shows that 
there is no direct impact in terms of equalities in updating the CIS.  Indirectly, 

271



however, it is likely to have a positive effect as income from investment assets will be 
used to underpin essential services, often provided to the most vulnerable in the BCP 
area.  There may also be a positive impact if future investments deliver non-financial, 
socio economic benefits. An equality assessment will be undertaken for each 
investment opportunity and any such benefits will be detailed in future Cabinet 
reports considering such investment proposals. 

Summary of risk assessment 

34. An initial risk assessment has been completed and shows the principles set out in 
the CIS to be high risk.  This is principally due to the large sums of money involved 
with implementing the strategy and the risk of adverse media coverage.  The specific 
risks associated with investing in property are documented within Appendix 4 of the 
CIS, along with the arrangements to monitor and manage that risk. 

35. The strategy envisages a degree of flexibility in the Council’s appetite for risk to 
enable the Investment Panel to consider assets with a higher risk/reward profile 
where these are balanced by secure income flows elsewhere in the portfolio.  At all 
times the Panel will need to ensure that the blended risk profile over the portfolio falls 
within prudent limits.   

36. It should be noted that there is the potential for considerable reputational risk if 
investments under-perform.  In an extreme case, an individual asset could produce a 
shortfall of income compared to the Council’s borrowing costs and be a financial 
drain on the council’s revenue budgets.  There is also a financial risk since this could 
impact on the Council’s credit rating, meaning that future borrowing becomes more 
expensive.  Whilst the Investment Panel will need to ensure full financial due 
diligence is completed on individual investment proposals and be as certain as it can 
be about the merits of its recommendations, it is not possible to eliminate these risks 
entirely.  However, the risk is mitigated through a larger portfolio, where any under-
performing assets will generally be balanced against those performing well, so that 
the overall returns from the portfolio make a positive contribution to the council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).   

37. There is a risk of adverse media coverage since there may be a perception that the 
Council is diverting financial resources away from direct service provision.  However, 
using prudential borrowing to support asset investments does not affect the Council’s 
ability to progress other projects so long as these asset investments are, overall, 
entirely self-financing. It will also have a positive impact on the MTFP.  This risk will 
be mitigated by press releases explaining the strategy of the Council and the 
resulting benefits of the investment.   

38. The investment portfolio will need to be managed effectively in a commercial 
environment by reacting quickly to secure opportunities and deliver services that 
meet the expectations of tenants.  Dedicated staff with commercial experience are 
critical to mitigating this risk.   

Background papers 

MTFP 2019-2021 and Budget 2019/20 which includes the Capital Investment Strategy 2019-

2022 approved by the Shadow Executive Committee. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=478#mgDocuments 

272

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=478#mgDocuments


Appendices   

Appendix A - Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 2020-2025 

Appendix B - Investment Portfolio Summary Financial Appraisal   

273



This page is intentionally left blank

274



 
 

1 

 

 

 

Capital Investment Strategy  

(Non -Treasury) 

 2020-2025 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Author:  Sarah Longthorpe 

Version:  V0.5 

Date:   04/03/20 

 

275



 
 

2 

 

 

1. Introduction  
 

 

1.1 In April 2019 Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP Council) was 
created, becoming the 12th largest unitary Local Authority in England with an 
urban population of nearly 400,000 residents and a strong commercial and 
tourist economy. 
 

1.2 The Council wishes to hold a portfolio of investment assets that reflect the 
Values and Priorities of the Councils Corporate Strategy including the following: 
 

 promote the financial health of the organisation by generating a target 
return across the portfolio; 

 make a positive contribution to the current or future delivery of services, 
in terms of scope, quality or cost; 

 contribute towards a Sustainable Environment;  

 deliver socio-economic benefits to the town; and/or 

 create Dynamic Places through strategic regeneration or redevelopment 
opportunities. 

 
1.3 This strategy should be viewed in the context of the Council’s Corporate 

existing fixed asset base, which had a combined value of £794.2 million as at 
31 March 2019. The new BCP Council Corporate Asset Management Plan will 
provide the framework for the management of the Corporate Estate with 
decisions taken in accordance with the Councils financial regulations. 
 

1.4 The investment portfolio is included within this figure, with property investment 
assets valued at £121.9 million. This strategy focuses on investment assets 
only, not the wider Corporate Estate and builds on the effective asset 
management arrangements that have been embedded by the Council through 
the adoption of the Corporate Asset Management Plan, and follows the 
guidance provided by both Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). 
 

1.5 This strategy will be implemented predominately though an Investment panel, 
acting in an advisory capacity with all decisions taken in accordance with the 
Councils financial regulations. 
 

1.6 There are two sections to the Council’s Capital Investment Strategy (Non – 
Treasury) known as the CIS. 
 
Section 1 – Property Investment  

 Commercial property, investment acquisition and disposal 

 Acquisition of a portfolio of private rented sector residential 
properties 

 
Section 2 –Property Development 

276



 
 

3 

 

 Commercial development opportunities 
 

1.7 Section 1 deals with commercial and residential property investment as an 
integral part of the Council’s asset management function and is aligned with the 
medium term financial planning of the Council which requires the Council to 
diversify the revenue base by securing alternative sources of income to better 
support the budget position. The financial objectives are only part of the 
rationale for acquiring commercial property assets as an acquisition should also 
support other key corporate plan objectives such as economic development or 
regeneration. 
 

1.8 Section 1 also supports the early delivery of the Council’s strategic housing 
ambitions through the acquisition of a portfolio of private rented sector 
residential properties. The Strategy will only apply to the Council’s General 
Fund.  
 

1.9 Section 2 considers the scenario where the Council purchases commercial 
development opportunities which give the Council ownership of land or 
buildings in support of the delivery of the Council’s strategic aims and 
objectives.  
 

1.10 Both sections of the CIS share a commonality of purpose but the principles and 
risk profile under which they each operate are different and will be explored 
separately under each section. 

  

277



 
 

4 

 

2. SECTION 1 – PROPERTY INVESTMENT  
 
2.1 Principles and approach - Commercial Investments 

 
The Council will take the following approach to acquisition, holding and 
disposing of commercial investment assets by adopting the following principles: 
 
2.1.1 Investment will be in assets with a net revenue stream from tenants of 

good covenant strength (Multi – let investments may have an overall 
good covenant profile but individual tenants may fall below this 
standard), capable of contributing a positive sum to the MTFP for a 
sustained period, but for a minimum of 5 years. Investments will show 
good prospects for capital growth over an initial ten-year period. 

 
2.1.2 The Council will aim to invest in a diverse portfolio across the 

traditional commercial sectors of offices, industrial, retail and leisure. 
The opportunity to diversify into hotels and hospitality, medical 
facilities, care homes, and car parks will not be ruled out.  It is the aim 
of the Council to limit the investment in any particular sector to no 
more than 25% by value. This may not be possible to achieve until 
such time that the Council has acquired a larger portfolio of properties. 
The current spread by sector of the investments held by the Council 
is shown at Appendix 1. 
 

2.1.3 The Council will be advised in the acquisition, disposal and 
performance management of investment assets, not only from its own 
in - house team of property professionals but from the external advice 
that it deploys. External advisors will be skilled in commercial 
investment property acquisition and will provide assurance to the 
Council that they are acting in accordance with the governance and 
code of conduct of their respective professional bodies.  
 

2.1.4 Investments will be located in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole conurbation. Investments outside of this geographic area will be 
considered in exceptional circumstances, particularly in relation to 
investing in sustainable and carbon offsetting initiatives. 

 
2.1.5 Where appropriate the Council will move to a common procurement 

of its commercial managing agency services in order that it might take 
advantage of economies of scale. 
 

2.1.6 The principle of investment in all types of property assets is to ensure 
it is done prudently at all times. The funding strategy for an acquisition 
will be considered on a case by case basis. 

 
2.1.7 The Investment Panel will recommend an acquisition or disposal 

based on a triple bottom line evaluation approach considering the 
following impacts): - 

 

278



 
 

5 

 

 Economic  

 Social  

 Environmental  
 

2.1.8 All decisions to acquire or dispose of investments will be made in 
accordance with the Financial Regulations of the Council and the 
financial thresholds it contains in determining the approval process 
required. 

 
2.2 Principles and approach - Residential Investments 

 

The Council will take the following approach to acquisition, holding and 
disposing of residential investment assets by adopting the following principles: 

 
2.2.1 The Council will consider strategic acquisitions where the reason for 

purchase is to contribute to Council objectives through the acquisition 
of a portfolio of private rented sector residential properties with the aim 
of supporting the Council’s statutory housing functions and improving 
choice in the housing market.  

 
2.2.2 As with commercial property investment, the principle of investment 

in residential assets is to ensure that it is undertaken prudently at all 
times.  
 

2.2.3 The Council will aim to utilise its wholly owned trading subsidiary 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited for the letting and 
management of the residential investments that it holds. 
 

2.2.4 Residential development and refurbishment works may be 
undertaken when works will result in enhanced incomes, more energy 
efficient/sustainable homes or market homes for sale. 

 

2.3 Acquisition – Commercial Investment 
 

2.3.1 For commercial acquisitions, detailed investment criteria are attached 
at Appendix 2. There are some circumstances when all the criteria will 
not be met but the acquisition should still be progressed. The rationale 
for departing from the adopted criteria will be captured in the business 
case for acquisition. 
 

2.3.2 Each investment acquisition will be assessed on its own merits and in 
the context of its contribution towards a sustainable environment and 
the delivery of socio-economic benefits as well as the wider portfolio’s 
financial position.  

 
Assessed on a case by case basis; it will be subject to a rigorous 
financial appraisal which will identify: - 

 

 Income from the investment 

279



 
 

6 

 

 Costs of purchase 

 Costs of servicing the debt and managing the investment 

 Cost of improving the efficiency of investment 

 Resultant contribution to the MTFP 
 

2.3.3 In making an investment decision, the Council will take a balanced 
portfolio approach. This means that it may acquire or develop assets 
that deliver lower financial returns, or even make a loss, if the overall 
benefits of individual investments, including the socio-economic 
factors, justify this approach. Such acquisitions will be subject to 
sufficient uncommitted financial cover being available within the 
portfolio. Alternatively, the Council may acquire high-risk, high-reward 
investments provided that the blended risk across the whole portfolio 
is considered prudent. 

 
2.3.4 Some assets, such as care homes, are traded by selling the shares 

or in the use of Special Purchase Vehicles (SPV).  They are typically 
sold as a “going concern” and will transfer the goodwill of the business, 
staff and other assets.  However, they also transfer with the debts and 
liabilities of the company and therefore require additional due 
diligence.   

 
2.3.5 The business case for the purchase of existing SPVs or “going 

concerns” will need to consider whether the purchase is made by the 
Council in its name, or whether there is a more advantageous 
ownership structure for which specialist advice will be sought. 

 
2.4 Acquisition – Residential Investment 

 
2.4.1 The same assessment principles of acquiring commercial investment 

properties outlined in 2.3 apply to the acquisition of residential 
property acquisition for investment purposes. The detailed guidelines 
and criteria are attached at Appendix 3.  

 
2.4.2 The Council has established Seascape Homes and Property Limited 

(SHP) as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Seascape Group Limited 
(SGL).  Unlike the Council, SHP can grant Assured Shorthold 
Tenancies which is the most appropriate form of tenure for the private 
rented sector market.   

 
2.4.3 The establishment of SHP has the added benefit of improving the 

quality of the offer in the private rented sector and improving the range 
of housing choices of people who would not qualify for traditional 
Council housing. 

 
2.5 Disposal of BOTH Commercial and Residential Investment Assets 

 
2.5.1 Although the Council aspires to take a long-term view to its investment 

and development assets, it will consider the disposal of assets: 

280



 
 

7 

 

 

 to achieve a balanced portfolio  

 to proactively manage risk 

 to refocus investment activity on different market sectors and 
where they are under-performing against the criteria identified in 
Appendix 2 or for residential property Appendix 3 

 to generate capital receipts to reduce debt exposure (gearing) or 
for reinvestment in Council priorities 

 to contribute towards a sustainable environment  

 deliver socio-economic benefits to the conurbation 
 

2.5.2 Any disposals will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s 
Financial Regulations. 

 
2.6 Financing and Funding of BOTH Commercial and Residential Property 

Investment Assets  
 

2.6.1 It is intended that a new investment will be funded primarily through 
prudential borrowing.   

 
2.6.2 Wherever possible (and prudent to do so) the Council will undertake 

to make an early repayment of the principal sum which will assist in 
reducing the debt to value ratio. In any event, loans from the Public 
Works Loan Board are conditional on a payback policy being 
implemented which is known as the Minimum Repayment Policy or 
MRP.  
 

2.6.3 The Council may be in a position to make acquisitions without the 
need for borrowing. The opportunity cost of such purchasing and 
funding decisions needs to be fully understood in advance of a 
purchase. 

 
2.6.4 In all purchases, the “exit strategy” should be considered as part of 

the business case for the acquisition. Whether this is higher 
alternative use, owner occupation or sale. 
 

2.6.5 The Council will act prudently, and its investment activity will be 
affordable for future administrations. This means that the Council will 
be taking a progressive approach to investment and new borrowing 
will only be undertaken if the resultant investment portfolio is forecast 
to generate positive financial returns. The Financial Overview and 
Indicators in Appendix 5 expand on these principles. 

 
2.7 Holding BOTH Commercial and Residential Investment Assets  

 
2.7.1 Investment assets will be held if: -  

 

 they continue to meet the Investment Criteria attached at 
Appendix 2 or Appendix 3 for residential investments. 

281



 
 

8 

 

 they continue to enhance the performance of the strategic aims 
and objectives of the Council. 

 
2.7.2  Actions to be taken in support of the management of the existing 

portfolio will include: - 
 

 undertaking an annual valuation (RICS Valuation and 
Professional Standards or “Red Book”) 

 the assessment of performance of the investment portfolio will be 
undertaken at least on an annual basis.  

 reporting annually to the democratic entity with responsibility for 
oversight (e.g. an overview and scrutiny committee) with advice 
from internal or external investment advisors on:  
 
o the mix of assets within the portfolio 
o the rate of return on individual properties and across the whole 

portfolio 
o the risk profile and whether there is a heavy reliance on income 

that is derived from a single tenant or market sector 
o proposed acquisition and disposal plan to achieve a balanced 

portfolio   
o the adequacy of the provision for voids and bad debts, held as 

a reserve against future liabilities 
 

282



 
 

9 

 

3. SECTION 2 –PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 
 

3.1 The Development Property Strategy identifies opportunities for the Council to 
assemble a portfolio of developable assets which meet the fundamental criteria of: 

 delivering socio-economic benefits to the conurbation. 

 enhancing future strategic regeneration or redevelopment opportunities 
in pursuit of the council’s corporate strategic objectives. 

 and/or contributing to cost avoidance in relation to the provision of 
services. 

 
3.2 Development Property: Principles and Approach  

 
3.2.1 All decisions to acquire or dispose of development opportunities will 

be undertaken in accordance with the Financial Regulations of the 
Council and the financial thresholds it contains in determining whether 
delegated or Member Decisions are required. 
 

3.2.2 The Council will engage in construction activity on existing or newly 
acquired development assets only when fully supported by a viable 
business case. 
 

3.3 Acquisition and Disposal of Development Property  
 

3.3.1 Strategic developable properties lend themselves to a detailed, “one 
– off” business case analysis and set criteria cannot be identified for 
both the acquisition and future disposal or strategic hold. 
 

3.4 Financing and Funding of Development Property Assets 
 
3.4.1 As a rule, assets purchased for development do not produce an 

income with which to service debt therefore it is more usual for the 
Council to find alternative means of funding in lieu of debt financing 
from the Public Works Loan Board. 

  

283



 
 

10 

 

4. SECTION 3 - LINKS TO OTHER EXISTING STRATEGIES  
 
4.1. There are other Strategies and Plans with which this Capital Investment Strategy are 

aligned.  These are: - 

4.1.1 The Corporate Property Strategy and Plan – this is the overarching 
Strategy for all corporate property and asset management decisions 
and monitoring of which this Strategy forms part.  

 
4.1.2 Medium Term Financial Plan - the Council is responding to the 

reduction in central government funding for local authorities by 
strengthening its funding base. The acquisition and management of 
investment portfolios to provide a commercial return will give the 
Council greater flexibility in its medium-term financial planning. This 
portfolio will provide additional revenue and capital income to underpin 
service provision, so long as the returns continue to exceed the cost 
of borrowing. 

 
4.2.   In addition, the CIS is linked to the new Council’s emerging: 

 Corporate Plan 

 Corporate Asset Management Strategy 

 Treasury Management Strategy  

 Economic Development Strategy 

 Housing Strategy 

 Climate Emergency Agenda 
 

5. SECTION 4 - GOVERNANCE 
 
5.1. The Investment Panel will act in an advisory capacity only, any decisions in relation to 

investment assets will be made in accordance with the Councils Financial Regulations 
and approval sought accordingly. 

5.2 The Investment Panel will be chaired the Chief Executive/Corporate Property Officer a 
statutory post in accordance with the scheme of delegation. Other attendees will include 
the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Corporate Property Officer, Director for 
Regeneration and Economy, Director Development and will be attended by the Leader 
of the Council, Deputy Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Members with 
responsibility for Corporate Estates and Finance, or their nominated substitutes. The 
panel will oversee the implementation of this Strategy. Other officers may attend at the 
invitation of the Chair.  

 
5.2 The Investment Panel will;  

 be guided by the terms of this Strategy and any changes will need to be 
approved by Cabinet. 
 

284



 
 

11 

 

 meet at not less than quarterly intervals to consider new opportunities, 
monitor progress on the delivery of approved projects/investments, and 
review performance of the whole portfolio in accordance with this Strategy. 

 

 consider recommendations for disposal of existing assets and consider the 
effectiveness of its property management arrangements. Appendices 2 and 
3 of this Strategy contain detailed investment criteria to guide the Investment 
Panel in assembling and managing an investment property portfolio.  
 

 review acquisitions purchased for development, as they arise, on a case by 
case basis.  

 
5.3 Appendix 4 of this Strategy sets out the risks that the Panel should consider when 

recommending decisions to acquire, hold or dispose of non - treasury investments or 
development assets. 

 
5.4 Any properties considered suitable for purchase by the Council will be considered first 

by the Investment Panel.  The Investment Panel will determine whether an offer should 
be submitted.  Any offers will be submitted by the Corporate Property Officer on a 
conditional basis.   

 
Offers will be subject to contract and: - 

 all necessary surveys  

 an assessment of necessary capital works 

 a formal “Red Book” valuation  

 benchmarking with comparable transactions 

 an agreed “exit strategy”  

 legal due diligence  

 financial due diligence including credit information for all tenants 

 the requisite Council approvals 
 

5.5 This means that the Council will not be legally committed to proceeding with the 
transaction by submitting an offer however, to be at pace with the market, the Council 
should use its best endeavours to complete necessary due diligence following 
acceptance of an offer and before proceeding to completion of a contract. 

 
5.6. The Investment Panel will make recommendations on any amounts to be set aside as 

a provision for voids and bad debts, which will be a first call on the income after the 
Council, has met its borrowing costs.  In making its recommendations, the Panel will 
review the monies set aside from previous years and, if appropriate, recommend the 
release of any over-provision.  These monies will then be available for distribution via 
the MTFP and reported in annual performance management of the strategy by the 
relevant committee with democratic powers of oversight. 

 
5.7 All decisions to acquire or dispose of property assets are recommended by the 

Investment Panel but they are to be taken in accordance with the Council Financial 
Regulations. 

285



 
 

12 

 

Appendix 1 - Analysis of current Investment Portfolio 

The Investment portfolio has been realigned to consist of only the key assets acquired or held solely 
for investment purposes and includes legacy Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole assets.  

Assets which are considered to fall under the remit of this strategy will be reviewed regularly to 
determine the suitability of their inclusion.  

The previous CIS approved by the Shadow Authority referenced other legacy authority assets which 
generated an income such as finance leases and ground rents. These fall into the business as usual 
estate management remit and will be managed in accordance with the Corporate Asset Management 
Plan. 

Portfolio Analysis – Value £m as at 30/09/2019 

SECTOR £m % 

Residential - PRS £12,083,000 10% 

Residential - Student Accommodation  £27,000,000 23% 

Industrial £15,475,000 13% 

Leisure £1,500,000 1% 

Mixed Commercial £1,995,986 2% 

Retail £59,955,000 51% 

 £118,008,986 100% 
 

The Residential Sector which totals 33% contains a commitment to a residential sector private rent 
scheme acquisition at St Stephens Road* which is under construction and due for completion in 
October 2020.  

It should be noted this total differs from Table 2 in Appendix 5 which is as at 31/3/19 and does not 
include the St Stephens Road PRS scheme. 

Sector Analysis as % of Portfolio  

 

10%

23%

13%

1%2%

51%

Sector %

Residential - PRS Residential - Student Accommodation

Industrial Leisure

Mixed Commercial Retail

286



 
 

13 

 

Appendix 2 

GUIDELINE INVESTMENT CRITERIA FOR COMMERCIAL PROPERTY PORTFOLIO 

Performance   To achieve a NET return on assets of circa 1.5% or 
more per annum (net of the costs of borrowing) in 
the first five-year period of ownership. 

Income yield   Maintain the portfolio income NET yield of at least 
1.5% per annum over the costs of borrowing in the 
first five years of ownership. 

 To focus on maintaining a low void rate and a 
resilient income yield.  

 Ensure held properties / new acquisitions have 
reasonable capital growth prospects. 

Property type   Target core property holdings in primary or good 
secondary sectors with a balanced proportion of 
exposure to properties that will allow active 
management to generate improved performance. 

Geographic allocation   Within BCP Council area. Investments outside of 
this geographic area will be considered in 
exceptional circumstances, particularly in relation to 
investing in sustainable and carbon offsetting 
initiatives 

Sector allocation   To spread investment across a range of 
commercial sectors. 

 No more than 25% by value will be held in any one 
sector, once the investment portfolio has been 
assembled. 

Investment size   Ideally, no single asset will comprise more than 
20% of the value of the investment portfolio.  
However, it recognised that this will not be the case 
whilst the portfolio is being assembled.  

Tenants   In a mature portfolio, to ensure that the rent from 
any single tenant is 10% or less of rental exposure 
at point of decision.  It is acknowledged that in 
assembling an investment portfolio, this will be 
exceeded temporarily.  

 The Council will endeavour to target assets where 
the cost of borrowing is covered by tenants with a 
minimum financial/credit rating of “good” dependant 
utilising the Council’s financial credit rating tool and 
risk analysis as well as an analysis of the tenant 
company’s financial statements. 

287



 
 

14 

 

Lease length portfolio   Target new assets where the lease expiry profile 
fits with the existing profile of the investment 
portfolio.  

 Seek to maintain lease expiries in any one year 
below 10% of the fund’s lease income.  

Development to enhance 
income 

 Development may be undertaken where the major 
risks can be mitigated, and the risk/reward profile is 
sufficient to justify it.  

Debt   Up to100% debt funded. 

 This will improve year on year as repayments 
reduce the underlying debt (see MRP policy 
Appendix 5). 

 Other sources of funding may be utilised, where 
possible. E.g. Income strips.  

 Structure of debt to be based on Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Council’s Treasury 
Management strategy. 

Triple Bottom Line Evaluation 
 
Economic, Environmental and 
Social Governance 

 Assets that deliver wider socio -economic benefits 
will be targeted, either in terms of capacity to 
deliver new jobs or to drive redevelopment, either 
now or in the future. 

 The Council will seek to promote energy efficiency 
and sustainability in its portfolio to contribute 
towards a sustainable environment. In particular, it 
will invest to improve Energy Performance 
Certificate ratings where it is financially viable. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

288



 
 

15 

 

 

Appendix 3 

GUIDELINE INVESTMENT CRITERIA FOR RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY PORTFOLIO 

Performance   To achieve a return on assets that fully covers the costs 
of borrowing in the first five-year period of ownership. 
Income growth at greater that inflation. 

Income yield   To focus on maintaining a low void rate and a resilient 
income yield.  

 Ensure held properties / new acquisitions have strong 
capital growth prospects  

Property type   Target core property holdings in sustainable locations 

 To prioritise acquisition of freehold and long leasehold 
studio, 1, 2 and 3 bedroom flats; 2, 3 4 and 5 bedroom 
houses and HMO’s/hostels 

Geographic allocation   Within BCP Council area, any deviation from this can 
only be done with a decision substantiated with a 
business case. 

Sector allocation   Sector to not exceed 25%, once the investment portfolio 
has been assembled. 

Investment size   Ideally, no single asset will comprise more than 20% of 
the value of the investment portfolio.  However, it 
recognised that this will not be the case whilst the 
portfolio is being assembled.  

Tenants   Mix of tenant types proposed, from tenants reliant on 
housing benefit to private rental sector which is 
unsupported.   

 Homeless clients will be accommodated within properties 
acquired specifically for the Homeless Housing 
programme in order to assist the Council to discharge its 
statutory homeless duty; this is separate to this 
investment strategy for the residential portfolio. 

Lease length/terms  New leases/subleases to be granted to Seascape Homes 
and Property Limited, typically for periods of 25 years. 

 SHP to grant Assured Shorthold Tenancies. 

 The Council will retain FRI responsibilities for these 
leases. 

Development to enhance 
income  

 Development may be undertaken where the major risks 
can be mitigated, and the risk/reward profile is sufficient 
to justify it.  

Debt   Up to 100% debt funded 

289



 
 

16 

 

 This will improve year on year as repayments reduce the 
underlying debt (see MRP policy in Appendix 5) 

 Other sources of funding will be utilised, where possible 

 Structure of debt based on Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole Council’s Treasury Management strategy  

Triple Bottom Line 
Evaluation 
 
Economic, Environmental 
and Social Governance 

 Assets that deliver wider socio -economic benefits will be 
targeted, either in terms of capacity to deliver new jobs or 
to drive redevelopment, either now or in the future. 

 The Council will seek to promote energy efficiency and 
sustainability in its portfolio to contribute towards a 
sustainable environment. In particular, it will invest to 
improve Energy Performance Certificate ratings where it 
is financially viable. 
 

  

290



 

17 

 

Appendix 4 - Commentary on Investment Property - Risk and Returns 

1. At its simplest, property is an investment in a piece of land or a building giving 
the investor a return as rental income and/or capital value growth. Capital growth 
may come through time either by holding the asset and/or be driven by asset 
management initiatives and development.  

 
2. Risks and returns in property investment come both at a market level and from 

individual asset choice. The choice of location and the choice of property sector 
influence the risks and returns associated with the investment.  At an individual 
asset level, there are asset specific risks and opportunities.  The owner has the 
opportunity to add value through initiatives to improve buildings and manage the 
tenant roster.  Asset specific events, such as the loss of an important tenant, 
illustrate the risks at an asset level.  

 
3. The rental income returns from property have, historically, shown little volatility. 

Over the last 25 years the rental growth has never exceeded 10% in any one 
year nor has fallen by more than 5%.  (Source: IPD1 UK monthly index) 

 
4. However, this is the position at the macro level and this can mask a degree of 

volatility at a local level.  In a rising economy, most market sectors tend to 
perform well with rent increases matching or outpacing inflation.  However, in 
recession the adverse effects are most keenly felt in secondary locations.  As 
leases come to an end, either by effluxion of time or as a result of tenant business 
failure, liability for business rates and other costs associated with empty property 
drives landlords of investments with little tenant demand to re-let them at 
whatever price they can achieve in order to defray these costs.  This not only 
drives down rental income but also has an adverse effect on the investment 
yields used to capitalise these rental flows.   

 
5. It is this link between rents and yields, the latter being driven by market 

confidence and returns available elsewhere that mean the capital growth 
component of property returns is variable.  Real property prices do not show the 
rapid price fluctuations of quoted equities but on a longer time scale, price 
movements can be just as significant.  Long term UK capital growth component 
hides years of significant fluctuations, both up and down, and a policy of a long-
term hold should mean that the investments will be less affected by fluctuations 
in the general property market as the assets can be held to meet a rising market. 

 
6. Effective asset management can help smooth out these peaks and troughs.  

However, they cannot be eradicated completely, and any property investment 
involves an acceptance of the risks attached to such activities.  

7. Capital values of commercial property are very dependent upon the covenant 
strength of the tenant and the unexpired term of the lease.  An asset with a 
financially secure tenant occupying under a significant unexpired term with no 

                                                           

 

291



 

18 

 

break options will command strong values, even in a difficult market.  However, 
poorer quality tenants and/or shorter leases will detrimentally affect the asset 
value.  

 
8. The value of an investment can fall as much as 30% if a tenant decides not to 

renew a lease. Correspondingly, it will rise again if a new long-term tenant is 
signed up.  An effective business model aim should be to deliver short-term 
capital growth.  An established private equity property strategy is to seek out 
buildings that are vacant or with short leases, to refurbish some parts, re-let and 
re-gear the leases, then sell realising the capital appreciation arising from the 
new longer leases. However, a typical first-time investor would seek to acquire 
more stability than this with strong covenants and long leases in place.  

 
9. In practice, property investment can be structured to create a range of different 

risk/reward profiles from stable annual income performance to volatile, high 
risk/reward development returns.  They can also be structured to ensure that any 
foreseeable lease renewals or voids across the entire portfolio are evenly spaced 
so avoid a significant impact in any one financial year. 

 
10. Acquisition Risks: 

10.1 The current low yields from traditional investments, such as bonds, mean that 

there is strong competition in the property market for investment opportunities. It 

follows that it is highly likely that there will be several bidders for any good-quality 

asset. One factor that is increasingly emerging is competition amongst local 

authorities looking to invest on a nationwide basis. This increased competition 

means it is inevitable that some bidders will be an unsuccessful and it also raises 

the possibility of local authorities distorting the investment market, driving up 

prices fuelled by the availability of low-cost borrowing.  

10.2 Due to the nature of the property market, decisions may need to be taken quickly 

in order to put offers forward. Of course, offers can be subject to conditions and 

due diligence before exchange of contracts. 

11. Cost Risks: 

11.1. Abortive costs, including legal costs, survey fees, professional adviser’s fees, 

and officer time, may be incurred in connection with initial feasibility 

investigations and unsuccessful bids.  It is also possible that issues will be 

identified during due diligence that will prevent a transaction from progressing.     

12. Property Market Risks: 

12.1 Property has a different risk profile from other investments because of its physical 

characteristics, which need to be managed and maintained. Whilst most property 

sectors have historically demonstrated good long-term returns, particularly in 

relation to underlying capital growth, fluctuations in the market or local economy 

and tenant/property-specific issues can affect short-term returns. The property 

292



 

19 

 

market is not a certain market and the Council may not always achieve its target 

returns. 

12.2. Many investment transactions happen without being offered for sale in the 

market. These are known as off-market transactions.  Information is key and 

getting to know about properties for sale is important and as it becomes known 

that a purchaser is active in the investment market, many such opportunities are 

presented by agents seeking a finder’s fee, usually a maximum of 1% of the 

purchase price. Alternatively, the investor can be proactive by contacting 

property owners and agents directly. Consideration can also be given to 

engaging a specialist investment agent to act on the investor’s behalf. 

12.3. Lack of suitable sites/buildings – the local property market is restricted and is 

dominated by secondary or tertiary assets that may not be of the quality the 

Council would acquire. There may therefore be a shortage of suitable stock in 

the conurbation. 

12.4. Liquidity: Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult 

to sell and convert to cash at short notice and can take a considerable period to 

sell in certain market conditions. The investments made to date are either historic 

properties held by the Council for a number of years or are new investments with 

a view to retention for the foreseeable future. Although liquidity is important, no 

investments made to date affect the ongoing liquidity of the organisation.  

13. Capacity, Skills and Culture 

13.1 Statutory officers and Elected members: The Investment panel consists of 

statutory officers and is attended by elected members. Their role will be to look 

at potential investments as well as manage the current portfolio. The board will 

make recommendations to Cabinet and Council for any future investments.  

13.2 Commercial deals: Specialist staff are employed by the Council to ensure the 

knowledge and skills are held in house when dealing with significant commercial 

deals. The Council also consults with specialist firms for further independent 

advice. At all-times officers from the Council ensure that all commercial deals 

follow the principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime 

within which Local Authorities operate.  

14.   Corporate governance: This has been covered in Section 4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

293



 

20 

 

Appendix 5 – Financial Overview and Indicators  

This appendix has been developed to cover the requirements of the 2018 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Investment 

guidance, including investment indicators. It also has regards to recent 

guidance issued by in CIPFA’s Prudential Property Investment.  

 

Introduction 

The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes: 

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 

when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 

management investments), 

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 

organisations (service investments), and 

 to earn investment income and generate other benefits such as employment 

and regeneration to the local area (known as commercial investments 

where this is the main purpose). 

This appendix will focus on the second and third of these categories.  

Treasury Management Investments  

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) before it pays 

for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves for future 

expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of Central Government. These activities, plus 

the timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in accordance with 

guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  

Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the 

Authority is to support effective treasury management activities.  

Further details: Full details of the Authority’s policies and its plan for 2019/20 for treasury 

management investments are covered in a separate document, the treasury management 

strategy.  

Service Investments: Loans 

Contribution: The Council lends money to its subsidiaries, local business and residents to 

support local public services and stimulate local economic growth.  

The most significant loan is to the Bournemouth Development Company LLP of £3.4m which 

was a loan to purchase a building situated on the proposed Winter Gardens development. 

The other partner in the partnership has also provided a matched £3.4m loan to the 

294



 

21 

 

partnership. The loan supports the Council’s long-term ambitions within the Bournemouth 

Town Centre Vision.  

Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to 

repay the principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit this risk, and ensure that total 

exposure to service loans remains proportionate to the size of the Authority, upper limits on 

the outstanding loans to each category of borrower have been set as follows:  

Should the Council want to increase the approved limits in the table below, relevant reports 

detailing the value and reason for these loans would go through the appropriate Cabinet and 

Council democratic process which in turn and following approval would adjust these limits 

accordingly. 

Table 1: Loans for service purposes  

 

Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside a loss allowance for loans, reflecting 

the likelihood of non-payment. The figures for loans in the Authority’s statement of accounts 

from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss allowance. However, the Authority 

makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit control 

arrangements in place to recover overdue repayments.  

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst 

holding service loans.  

The loans made to the Council’s wholly owned subsidiaries were to ensure that the working 

capital for the companies can be maintained. The loans are given at a rate that is compliant 

with EU regulations in respect of State Aid and reflect the level of risk involved. These 

working capital loans are being reduced year on year as the companies establish 

themselves. As the companies are wholly owned and managed by the Council an 

assessment of risk is carried out as part of its normal financial processes.  

The following bullet points cover the further areas the Council would consider as part of its 

risk assessment:   

2020/21

Balance 

owing

Loss 

allowance

Net figure 

in accounts

Balance 

owing

Loss 

allowance

Net figure 

in accounts

Approved 

Limit

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Bourenmouth Development Company LLP 3,400 0 3,400 3,400 0 3,400 3,400

Wholly owned Council Companies 550 0 550 425 0 425 1,000

Local Business 105 (46) 59 63 (46) 17 63

Local charities and trusts 220 0 220 100 0 0 100

Housing associations 42 0 42 40 0 40 40

TOTAL 4,317 (46) 4,271 3,928 (46) 3,882 4,603

Category of borrower

31/03/18 actual 31/03/19 actual

295



 

22 

 

 State Aid considerations to establish the minimum interest rate and 

compliance with State Aid criteria. 

 Assessment of cash flow forecasts and relevant income streams – if available 

 Consideration of the company structure. Any limitations which may affect the 

distribution of assets, company control and distribution of surpluses from the 

entity 

 A review of the company accounts, business plan and cash flows to assess 

the risks of the company’s key sources of income (including volatility and 

consistency of any forecast income). 

 An appraisal of the loan terms to determine if the implicit rate in the 

agreement is at a commercial/market rate to ensure there are no state aid 

issues associated with the arrangement 

 A full assessment of the ability of the entity to service the finance agreement 

and their underlying credit quality and risk of default. 

 Assessment of the collateral which is provided as security for the loans.  

 Assessment as to whether the Market Operator Principle can be applied to 

the loans proposed  

 A review of the relevant credit references, existing charges and debt 

obligations.  

 Advice on the level and/or value of the relevant loan covenants and an 

explanation for the levels and associated risk. 

 The identification of any relevant matters of a legal or accounting nature which 

may have implications for the manner in which it is proposed to make the 

loan. 

 The identification of alternative powers that may be relied upon by the 

Authority to support the making of the loan, together with a detailed 

explanation of factors that would enable an alternative power to be considered 

and adopted by the Authority. 

 

The Council would also look to consult with its external Treasury Management 

advisors to help support the items above.   

Commercial Investments: Property 

MHCLG defines property to be an investment if it is held primarily or partially to 

generate a profit.  

Contribution: The Council invests in local commercial and residential property with the 

intention of making a profit that will be spent on local public services.  

The most significant property investment to date was in the Mallard Retail Park in 

Bournemouth at a cost of circa £49m. This property investment was driven by not only 

providing a sound investment for the Council but also ensuring the safeguarding of a key 

296



 

23 

 

employment and economic site within Bournemouth. It is projected to provide an extra £400k 

(net of borrowing and other costs) a year towards helping to safeguard existing services for 

residents and businesses.  

Table 2: Property held for investment purposes 

 

 
 

Security: 

In accordance with government guidance, the Authority considers a property 

investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its purchase 

cost including taxes and transaction costs. 

A fair value assessment of the Authority’s investment property portfolio has been made within 

the past twelve months, and the underlying assets provide security for capital investment. 

Should the 2019/20-year end accounts preparation and audit process value the portfolio of 

properties below the total portfolio purchase cost, then an updated investment strategy will 

be presented to full council detailing the impact of the loss on the security of investments and 

any revenue consequences arising therefrom. (For information the Mallard Road total 

purchase cost also included Stamp Duty Land Tax and other due diligence fees which are 

over and above what is taken into account for valuation purposes and show as a downward 

loss until the asset is revalued in future years based on rent receivable.) 

Risk assessment:  

The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding property 

investments by identifying the key risks associated with these type of investments: 

Acquisition Risks: 

The current low yields from traditional investments, such as bonds, mean that there is strong 

competition in the property market for investment opportunities. It follows that it is highly likely 

Actual

Purchase 

cost

Gains or 

(losses)

Value in 

accounts

£'000 £'000 £'000

Mallard Road Retail Park 49,065 (2,190) 46,875

Madeira Road Student Accommodation 18,734 8,266 27,000

Citrus Building, ground floor Turtle Bay 1,338 162 1,500

Wessex Trade Centre 9,960 940 10,900

Parkway House 1,996 0 1,996

Dolphin Centre Historic 0 11,690

Saxon Square Historic 0 1,380

Airfield Industrial Park Historic 0 4,575

TOTAL 81,093 7,178 105,916

Property

31/03/19 actual

297



 

24 

 

that there will be several bidders for any good-quality asset. One factor that is increasingly 

emerging is competition amongst local authorities looking to invest on a nationwide basis. 

This increased competition means it is inevitable that some bidders will be an unsuccessful 

and it also raises the possibility of local authorities distorting the investment market, driving 

up prices fuelled by the availability of low-cost borrowing.  

Due to the nature of the property market, decisions may need to be taken quickly in order to 

put offers forward. Of course, offers can be subject to conditions and due diligence before 

exchange of contracts. 

Cost Risks: 

Abortive costs, including legal costs, survey fees, professional adviser’s fees, and officer 

time, may be incurred in connection with initial feasibility investigations and unsuccessful 

bids.  It is also possible that issues will be identified during due diligence that will prevent a 

transaction from progressing.     

Property Market Risks: 

Property has a different risk profile from other investments because of its physical 

characteristics, which need to be managed and maintained. Whilst most property sectors 

have historically demonstrated good long-term returns, particularly in relation to underlying 

capital growth, fluctuations in the market or local economy and tenant/property-specific 

issues can affect short-term returns. The property market is not a certain market and the 

Council may not always achieve its target returns. 

Many investment transactions happen without being offered for sale in the market. These are 

known as off-market transactions.  Information is key and getting to know about properties for 

sale is important and as it becomes known that a purchaser is active in the investment 

market, many such opportunities are presented by agents seeking a finder’s fee, usually a 

maximum of 1% of the purchase price. Alternatively, the investor can be proactive by 

contacting property owners and agents directly. Consideration can also be given to engaging 

a specialist investment agent to act on the investor’s behalf. 

Lack of suitable sites/buildings – the local property market is restricted and is dominated by 

secondary or tertiary assets that may not be of the quality the council would acquire. There 

may therefore be a shortage of suitable stock in the conurbation. 

Liquidity:  

Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell and convert 

to cash at short notice, and can take a considerable period to sell in certain market 

conditions. The investments made to date are either historic properties held by the 

Council for a number of year or are new investments with a view to retain for the 

298



 

25 

 

foreseeable future. Although liquidity is important, no investments made to date effect 

the ongoing liquidity of the organisation.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture 

Elected members and statutory officers: The Council operates an Asset 

Investment board which consists of elected members and statutory officers. Their 

role will be to look at potential investments as well as manage the current portfolio. 

The board will make recommendations to Cabinet and Council for any future 

investments.  

Commercial deals: Specialist staff are employed by the Council to ensure the 

knowledge and skills are held in house when dealing with significant commercial 

deals. The Council also consults with specialist firms for further independent advice. 

At all-times officers from the Council ensure that all commercial deals follow the 

principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime within which 

Local Authorities operate.  

Corporate governance: This has been covered in the preceding Asset Investment 

Strategy.  

Investment Indicators 

The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 

and the public to assess the Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its 

investment decisions.  

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total exposure to 

potential investment losses. This includes amounts the Authority is contractually 

committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down and guarantees the Authority has 

issued over third party loans. 

Table 3: Total investment exposure 

 

How investments are funded: Government guidance is that these indicators should 

include how investments are funded. Since the Authority does not normally associate 

particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with. 

However, the following investments could be described as being funded by 

Total investment exposure
31/03/18 

Actual

31/03/19 

Actual

31/03/20 

Forecast

£'000 £'000 £'000

Treasury management investments 68,997 51,356 65,000

Service investments: Loans 4,271 3,982 3,600

Commercial investments: Property 79,097 83,049 83,049

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 152,365 138,387 151,649

Commitments to lend 0 0 0

Guarantees issued on loans 0 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSURE 152,365 138,387 151,649

299



 

26 

 

borrowing. The remainder of the Authority’s investments are funded by usable 

reserves and income received in advance of expenditure.  

Table 4: Investments funded by borrowing  

 

Table 5: Other investment indicators 

 

*Commercial Income is only in relation to properties which have required borrowing to fund 
initial purchase.  

 

Investments funded by borrowing
31/03/18 

Actual

31/03/19 

Actual

31/03/20 

Forecast

£'000 £'000 £'000

Treasury management investments 0 0 0

Service investments: Loans 0 0 0

Commercial investments: Property 73,710 75,375 75,375

TOTAL FUNDED BY BORROWING 73,710 75,375 75,375

Indicator
2019/20 

Forecast

2020/21 

Forecast

Debt to net service expenditure ratio 36% 34%

Commercial income to net service 

expenditure ratio*
1% 1%

300



   Appendix B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

301



This page is intentionally left blank

302



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Grass Cutting, Wildflower &  Grassland Habitat Management 
Policy 

Meeting date  18 March 2020 

Status  Public Report 

Executive summary  There are over 2,500 hectares of open space within the combined BCP 

area. Of this, a significant percentage is grassland which requires some 

form of management, depending on location, use or designation (e.g. 

highway verge, sports pitches or conservation areas) 

The type of area managed, and the method used influences a number 

of factors including the time and resources required and the 

sustainability of the operations. 

At present, there are a number of different methods used across BCP. 

This is largely influenced by the type of area being maintained, however 

there can be variations in the approach to these methods between 

historic authorities, for example, differences in the frequency of cutting 

highway verges. 

A consistent approach to grass management is required throughout 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  Financial pressures and the 

Council’s declaration of a climate and ecological emergency will require 

the development of policies and practices that recognise and address 

these factors in front line operations.  

Future policy will aim to increase biodiversity and carbon capture 
through the promotion of sustainable land management 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

(a) Endorse the development of a long-term BCP Council 
policy on grass management, taking into account financial 
and environmental impacts and public expectations; 

(b) Support recommendations in order to ensure that grass 
management practices are sustainable and contribute to 
the Council’s declaration to become carbon neutral by 
2030; 

(c) Support trials to determine best practice and feasibility of 
grass management methods; 

(d) Endorse the implementation of procedures that have the 
potential to increase biodiversity and carbon capture. 

  

303

Agenda Item 12



Reason for 
recommendations 

To recommend a range of procedural and operational changes 
throughout BCP Councils open spaces that have the potential to 
reduce our Carbon footprint, increase carbon capture and increase 
biodiversity, by promoting changes in grass cutting, wildflower 
meadow development and grassland habitat management. This being 
in line with the Council Climate Change and Ecological Emergency 
Action Plan. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Dr Felicity Rice Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Climate Change 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan – Environment and Community 

Report 
Authors/Contributors 

Lucy Giles Townsend 

Andy McDonald, head of Parks & Bereavement Services 

Wards  BCP Wide 

Classification  For Recommendation and Decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. The management of grass areas is an important grounds maintenance function with a 
significant amount of time and resource allocated towards it.  
 

2. There are different management methods used throughout Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole. This is largely determined by the designation and use of the land. The adopted 
management practice for a given area will influence a number of factors. These are as follows: 
 

a. Time required to carry out operations 
 

b. Resources needed, including the requirement for dedicated teams and machinery 
 

c. When to undertake operations i.e. time of year and frequency  
 

3. Management of grass areas will also have an impact on wildlife and the environment and this 
varies depending on the method used.  
 

4. Increased environmental awareness, ongoing financial pressures and the Council’s 
declaration of a Climate and Ecological Emergency (and pledge to become carbon neutral by 
2030) has resulted in a need to review the management of grass areas throughout BCP and 
implement sustainable, ecologically sound practices.  
 

5. These grass management practices must contribute to the required reduction in carbon 
emissions whilst remaining within current and future budget constraints, and also meet 
approved levels of public satisfaction.    

6. Implementation of agreed management methods will also contribute towards consistency of 
operations throughout the combined Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council area.  
 

7. A full description of current methods of management are outline in appendix 1  
 

304



Summary of Current Management Methods 

 
8. There are a range of grass management methods used throughout BCP, each with a varying 

degree of impact on the environment and the use of resources. In some areas a combination 
of grass management methods are used. This highlights the need for a grass management 
strategy that recognises the different operational methods required to achieve a desired 
outcome, whilst also addressing the issue of environmental sustainability. 
 

9. Any future grass management policy will need to be linked to the Green Infrastructure 
Strategy, Climate Change & Ecological Action Plan and other policies relating to climate 
change mitigation, such as fleet replacement programmes as well as the National Pollinator 
Strategy and B-Lines 
 

Proposed Future Management of Grassland and Factors for Consideration Prior to Adopting 
Changes 

 

Establishment of Grass Meadows 

 

10. Regular cutting of amenity grass areas, irrespective of location and the amount of use they 
receive is a traditional practice largely undertaken to maintain an accepted appearance.  
 

11. In parks and open spaces this has resulted in many hectares of ‘green desert’; expanses of 
closely mown grass that are rarely used for the types of recreational activities where short 
grass is essential. They can also lack diversity with regards to visual appearance and the 
species that they support.  
 

12. In recent years, an increased awareness of environmental issues has already resulted in a 
change to some traditional practices. One of these is to identify areas, generally within amenity 
grass and highway verge, and manage them as grass meadows.  
 

13. The establishment of grass meadows can have a number of potential benefits. For example 
 

 
a. Increase in biodiversity. By creating conditions that support a range of plants and 

wildlife, in particular pollinators which have suffered widespread decline. 
 

b. Reduction in atmospheric pollution. By trapping potentially harmful airborne 
particulates. 
 

c. Carbon sequestration. By removing CO2 from the atmosphere and storing it in the 
soil. 
 

d. Redeployment of resources to priority areas. For example, to areas that do require 
more frequent cutting such as sports pitches.   
 

e. Reduction of CO2 emissions. If there is an overall reduction in machinery usage. 
 

f. Reduction in operational costs. If an overall reduction in the use of resources is 
achieved. 
 

305



g. Reduction in soil nutrients. Produces less vigorous growth resulting in a reduction 
of arising requiring disposal. Aids in the establishment of a variety of species rather 
than supporting predominantly vigorous grasses.  
 

14. A major consideration for the establishment of meadows in relation to the Council’s declaration 
of a climate emergency is their importance in carbon sequestration and increasing biodiversity.  
Grassland (which includes highway verge and public open space) has a significant role in 
carbon capture and storage. 
 

15. Research suggests that cutting grass and removing the clippings (best practise for meadow 
management) does not have a significant negative impact on carbon levels in grassland 
because most of the carbon is stored in roots and organic matter in the soil.  
 

16. Species rich grasslands are thought to store more carbon than those that are less diverse 
further highlighting the benefits of increasing biodiversity. 
 

17. Although the frequency of cutting a given area would be significantly reduced by creating a 
meadow, these areas still require a degree of management. This involves the cutting and 
removal of arisings (clippings) at least once per year.  
 

18. Depending on the size of the meadow, this operation often requires the use of specialist tractor 
mounted or tractor trailed machinery. The cost of this equipment can range from £15,000 to 
£63,000 for larger capacity machines.  
 

19. An increase in the size and number of grass and floral meadow areas across BCP will result 
in the need to invest in appropriate machinery. 
 

20. SANGs (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces, established to protect internationally 
important areas of nature conservation) often feature large meadow areas. An increase in the 
number of SANGs and a general change in ethos to create more semi-natural areas when 
developing open spaces has already highlighted the need for more suitable equipment in order 
to maintain these sites.  
 

21. Cutting and collecting large areas of meadow can be a resource intensive operation. Further 
analysis would be required to determine the carbon emissions of annual cut and collect 
operations compared to regular mowing throughout the growing season.  
 

22. There is a relatively small window of opportunity to cut and collect meadow areas. It is usually 
undertaken in late summer through to early autumn, with operations needing to be completed 
before ground conditions become unsuitable for heavy equipment. This means that demand 
for machinery during this time is very high, limiting it’s availability for other tasks.  
 

23. Extending the cut and collect period and starting operations earlier could result in additional 
cuts being needed if there was a lot of regrowth. Any additional grounds maintenance 
operations using diesel powered machinery will result in an increase in carbon emissions. 
 

24. The sowing of Yellow Rattle could be used to impede grass growth.  If good establishment is 
achieved, there will be a reduction in material to be removed and will also therefore be quicker 
to cut. This will also reduce further as the nutrients become depleted. The plant itself also 
provides a source of nectar. 
 

 

 

306



Increase in Number and Size of Floral Meadows 

 

25. Floral meadows have the same potential benefits as grass meadows. In addition to this, a 
wider diversity of species can be established in a shorter space of time and the seed mix can 
be chosen for specific colours and plant types. 
  

26. The creation of perennial meadows should only require the ground to be prepared once in the 
first year (with the right growing conditions and appropriate maintenance) compared to the 
need for repeated ground preparation and sowing over several years for the establishment of 
annual meadows. Therefore, the establishment of perennial meadows uses less resource long 
term with the potential to reduce carbon emissions. 
 

27. The ecological benefits of flower meadows are well documented. However, there tends to be 
a reliance on the use of herbicides to prepare the areas ready for sowing.  A clean, weed free 
seed bed is crucial to the successful establishment of flower meadows and the application of 
herbicides in ground preparation is a cheap, effective and reliable method of achieving this. 
Wildflower seed is relatively expensive compared to grass seed costing between £250 and 
£750 more per kilo. It is important to ensure that any money spent on the seed isn’t wasted 
as a result of poor preparation.  
 

28. There are other options for ground preparation such as the physical removal of existing 
vegetation and topsoil or deep cultivation of the ground to bury any weed seed. The efficacy 
and impacts of these methods would require further investigation.  
 

Reduction in Cutting Frequency  

 
29. An alternative to managing areas as meadow would be to reduce the cutting frequency to two 

or three times a year. Rather than remove the clippings they would be left on the ground to 
break down naturally. 
 

30. This could result in some of the same benefits of managing areas as meadow, such as a 
reduction in CO2 emissions, carbon sequestration, redeployment of resources and the 
potential reduction in operational costs.  
 

31. Reducing the frequency of cuts will result in the need to mow areas of longer, thicker grass. 
Again, investment in more appropriate machinery would need to be considered. For example, 
flail mowers are better designed for cutting longer grass than some traditional rotary mowers. 
A new ride-on mower costing in the region of £25,000 will typically be £1000 more expensive 
if fitted with a flail deck. This would need to be accounted for in any future machinery 
replacement budget. 
  

32. Without removing the cut grass, an increase in biodiversity and the associated benefits would 
be harder to achieve with this method of management. Also, by continuing to return nutrients 
to the soil through the breakdown of the clippings the rate of growth would remain unchanged.   
 

Reduction in Backing Up 

 

33. The frequency of backing up around obstacles could be reduced, saving time and focussing 
the use of resources elsewhere.  
 

307



34. Backing up around mature trees could be discontinued in many locations. Allowing grass to 
grow around tree bases would reduce the risk of damage to the trunk and roots from grass 
cutting machinery. Compaction of the ground under the canopy of the tree could be prevented, 
helping to maintain a healthy root system. 
 

35. Discontinuing the application of herbicides to suppress growth around obstacles and along 
fence lines would support the Council’s long-term commitment to phasing out the use of 
chemicals wherever practicable.  
 

36. However, the application of herbicide to suppress the growth of grass around obstacles can 
significantly reduce the time taken to complete a grass cutting round. Stopping or reducing 
backing up around some obstacles will speed up operations, however not cutting around 
features such as benches and low knee rails could result in them becoming unusable or 
unsafe.   
 

37. If there is still a requirement to maintain shorter grass around obstacles, without the use of 
herbicides, this would need to be carried out manually. Seasonal agency workers are often 
employed to undertake backing up operations on grass rounds. In some cases, the use of 
herbicide to manage grass growth around obstacles has removed the need to employ 
seasonal staff, resulting in a saving for the authority.  In some locations, it may be possible for 
local communities to maintain specific sites. 
 
 

Hay Meadows 

 

38. Another option could be to explore the potential to manage some areas as hay meadow. This 
has been done successfully on some countryside sites. It is often a mutually beneficial 
arrangement whereby the contractor harvests the hay to sell and the Council benefits by 
having the area cut and the arisings removed at no cost to the authority. This is in addition to 
the environmental benefits of hay meadows. At times some of the hay harvested by the 
contractor has been retained by the Council. It is utilised for Countryside management 
activities and is also sold to members of the public.  
 

39. The value of the hay cut from hay meadows depends on its quality. This can be affected by 
the plant species present within the meadow and also the level of contamination. Caution must 
be taken that the hay does not include toxic plants such as Ragwort, if it is to be sold as forage. 
If the hay meadows are in an area that can be easily accessed by the public there is a risk of 
contamination from litter and dog faeces. Atmospheric pollutants can also contaminate the 
meadows. For these reasons, location is a key factor in the ability to harvest the hay.  
 

40. Hay also has a market value that can go up or down. If the market value or the quality is low, 
then the contractor may charge to harvest it.  
 

41. Specialist equipment is required to harvest the hay. Contractors use their own equipment for 
this activity. Further research would be required to determine if investment in this machinery 
would be a viable option for the Council going forward.  
 

Disposal of Arisings (Clippings) 

 
42. Managing areas as meadow according to best practice requires the removal of arisings. This 

can generate a large amount of green waste that needs to be disposed of.  
 

308



43. It costs the Council approximately £45 per tonne to send green waste to a recycling centre to 
be composted. In Poole alone just under 170 tonnes of green waste was removed from grass 
meadow sites last year. This also involves transport from the site of cutting to the site of 
disposal, adding to the carbon footprint. 
 

44. Disposing of arisings on site and letting them break down naturally is a more economical 
option. However, it may not be possible to dispose of clippings on all sites, especially if there 
is a large quantity.  
 

45. To determine suitability for onsite disposal a number of factors need to be considered: 
 

a. Proximity to properties and water courses. Decomposing grass can produce 
unpleasant odours and leachates. Grass piles should be a suitable distance away from 
houses and water courses. 
 

b. Position. Large piles of decomposing grass can be considered unsightly so should be 
located out of view of properties, roads and footpaths etc.  

 
46. Fly-tipping of green waste on public open space is a common problem and the Council will 

take enforcement action against offenders if there is sufficient evidence. By tipping large piles 
of grass clippings on site the Council could be at risk of giving conflicting messages to the 
public. 

 

Other Changes to Cutting Regimes 

 
47. In addition to establishing meadows in accordance with best practice (cutting and collecting 

at least once per year) and reducing the frequency of cuts to two or three times per year, there 
are many other potential variations on the management of amenity grass and highway verges 
with the aim of improving financial and environmental sustainability. For example, some areas 
could be left uncut indefinitely (in effect rewilding the sites), cut and collected every other year 
or cut annually leaving the clippings on the ground. 
 

48. Limiting factors such as the availability of resources and the ability to dispose of clippings 
means that there is a need to explore a number of grass management options. Conducting 
trials of various methods will enable the feasibility and impacts to be assessed. 
 

49. Taking a strategic approach to grass management will help to ensure that future operations 
are financially and environmentally sustainable and that they remain so long term.  
 

Public Expectations and Communications 

 
50. Grass areas are widespread and are often in highly visible locations such as along roadsides 

and in residential areas. Therefore, changes in management are noticed by a significant 
number of residents and visitors to the area. How grass areas are managed can be an emotive 
subject, especially if people are opposed to any changes in procedure.  
 

51. In the past there has been strong public reaction to changes in grass management in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  
 

52. It is not uncommon for a reduction in cutting frequency or establishment of a grass meadow 
to result in an increase in complaints received by the Council. Local media has been used to 

309



voice the dissatisfaction of some residents in the past. Other residents have organised 
petitions and lobbied Cllrs with the aim of reinstating more regular cutting schedules.  
 

53. A number of reasons are often given for the objection to areas of long grass. Common 
concerns or reasons are: 
 

a. Areas are unsightly 
 

b. Increased fire risk of long grass in hot weather 
 

c. Dog owners would find it difficult to pick up after their pets or would simply choose not 
to bother 
 

d. Depriving public of space intended to be used for recreational activities 
 

e. Increased risk of tick and/or snake bites due to their (perceived) presence in long 
grass. 
 

54. Previous changes in grass management have also resulted in positive feedback from 
residents who support the Councils objectives of increasing biodiversity and improving 
conditions for wildlife. 
 

55. Examples of positive feedback are: 
 

a. A noticeable increase in bird and insect numbers 
 

b. Pleasure at seeing wildflowers in bloom 
 

c. Public have been inspired to create meadows in their own gardens 
 

d. Pleased that the Councils are implementing measures to protect wildlife  
 

e. Being able to enjoy wildlife with children with increased biodiversity on the doorstep. 
 

56. Increasingly the Council is being contacted by residents who would like to see more areas left 
uncut. Some people complain that certain sites are still regularly cut and feel that the Council 
is not doing enough to protect the environment.  
 

57. Being clear on the reasons why changes to management practices are needed is important in 
order to manage public expectations. Making sure this information is freely available on the 
BCP website and social media pages help to promote the Councils commitment to tackling 
climate change.  
 

58. On site notices and interpretation boards can be used to explain why an area has been left 
uncut and proved to be highly effective through changes for verge management by Dorset 
County Council. Public engagement activities can help to promote the reasons for establishing 
meadows or making changes to cutting regimes. 
 

59. A consistent message from all areas of the Council is needed for the long-term success and 
acceptance of changes to grass management practices. 
 
 

60. In order to maintain a level of support, changes can be introduced on a trial basis initially, prior 
to being carried out on a larger scale. This helps to gauge public opinion and if necessary 

310



communications can be developed to address concerns or adjustments to the management 
practices can be made.  
 

61. Although complaints are still received for some areas that had the cutting frequency reduced 
many years ago, an increased awareness of environmental issues and meadows becoming a 
more familiar feature, has led to greater acceptance and a reduction in the number of 
complaints overall.  
 

Next steps 

 
62. In order to change our practices in the management of grassland areas, the next steps are 

proposed:  
 

a. Identify areas for the establishment of grass meadows. For a list of suggested 
sites for changes in grass management methods please see appendix 2 
 
Suitability of these sites to be based on the following criteria: 

 

i. Ideally, there must be a suitable location to dispose of arisings on site i.e. out 
of view and an appropriate distance away from watercourses and properties.  
 

ii. There must be sufficient access for maintenance machinery 
 

iii. Target areas with richer diversity 
 

iv. Larger sites to have a border cut around the perimeter and mown pathways as 
appropriate. 

 
v. Must be close to, or border other amenity space so that residents and visitors 

still have access to areas for recreational use 
 

vi. If in open spaces the area must be large enough to accommodate a meadow 
without having a major impact on recreational use.  
  

63. Conduct trials in order to analyse the impact of various grass management methods. 
 

64. Discontinue the use of herbicide to supress growth around obstacles 
 

65. Discontinue cutting grass around the base of mature trees 
 

66. Reduce backing up operations in areas that won’t have a negative impact on safety. 
 

67. Identify areas for the establishment of perennial meadows to increase biodiversity 
 

68. Convert existing annual meadows to perennial meadows where practicable 
 

69. Discontinue use of herbicides for ground preparation of meadow sites and conduct 
trials of alternative methods.   
 

 

 

311



Summary of financial implications 

 
70. Further analysis would be required to determine specific financial implications of 

recommendations. There is the potential to save money from reduction in operations, fuel 
costs and reduced spend on agency staff; however, some investment in materials, machinery 
and equipment is likely to be needed. 
 

Summary of legal implications 

 

71. There is a requirement to register a U13 exemption with the Environment Agency to dispose 
of clippings on highway verge 

 

72. Grassland management regimes must take due consideration to statutory requirements under 
the Highways Act to maintain sight lines around junctions and major intersections. 
 

Summary of human resources implications 

 
73. There are no human resource implications arising from these recommendations 

 

Summary of sustainability impact 

 
74. The aim of the recommendations in this report is to reduce carbon emissions and herbicide 

use and increase carbon capture and biodiversity.  
 

75. The recommendations are intended to contribute to the Council achieving carbon neutral 
status by 2030 and improve conditions for wildlife. 
 

Summary of public health implications 

 
76. The recommendations are intended to increase biodiversity and mitigate the negative impact 

of climate change therefore improving public health and wellbeing. 
 

Summary of equality implications 

 
77. There are no equality implications arising from the recommendations. 

 

Summary of risk assessment 

78. There is a potential for reputational risk to the Council if there is strong opposition to 
recommended changes in management and a lack of public support. Meadow areas may be 
perceived as untidy or neglected. Good communications and a clear rationale on the need for 
change will help to mitigate this risk and garner public support. 
 

 

 

312



Background papers 

79. Natural England Research Report (2012): Carbon storage by habitat: Review of the evidence 
of impacts of management decisions and condition of carbon stores and sources (NERR043) 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/1412347 
 

80. Plantlife Publications (2019): Managing Grassland Road Verges: A Best Practice Guide 
https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk/our-work/publications/road-verge-management-guide 

 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Current grass management methods 

Appendix 2 – Proposed sites for changes to grass cutting maintenance regimes 

  

313

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/1412347
https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk/our-work/publications/road-verge-management-guide


Appendix 1 – Current Grass Management Methods 

1. General Amenity Grass  
 
1.1. Includes areas within parks and open spaces that are predominantly used for recreation but 

have no specific management requirements unlike other areas such as sports pitches and 
floral meadows. 
 

1.2. Along with highway verge general amenity grass makes up the majority of total grass areas 
manged by the Council. 
 

1.3. A significant amount of time and resource is spent maintaining these areas. Amenity grass 
tends to be cut short on a regular basis throughout the growing season, usually as part of a 
maintenance round. The current cutting frequency is approximately every 5-6 weeks 
throughout Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. Grass is cut, and the clippings are left on 
the surface to break down naturally. During the winter months many of these areas also have 
the edges cut back to prevent grass encroaching onto adjacent footpaths.  At present 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole have 9 grass cutting teams dedicated to maintaining 
these areas for much of the year. A range of equipment is used, and this includes 18 ride-on 
mowers plus vans, strimmer’s, blowers and pedestrian mowers. Tractors and gang mowers 
are also used to cut larger areas of amenity grass.  
 

1.4. Currently all machinery used on the grass rounds is diesel or petrol powered. Battery powered 
hand-held machinery is used for other grounds maintenance tasks such as hedge cutting. 
Further investment in more battery powered equipment is planned and this will include 
machinery used on grass rounds. 

 
2. Backing Up 

 
2.1. Backing up involves cutting around obstacles such as bollards, benches and trees and any 

other area that the larger mowers have not been able to reach. It also involves clearing cut 
grass off of footpaths etc.  
 

2.2. Ride-on mowers can back up larger areas cut by tractor mounted machinery. Most areas of 
highway verge and amenity grass are backed up using petrol powered strimmer’s and 
blowers.  

 
2.3. Backing up is a key element of amenity grass management. Grass cutting teams often have 

staff dedicated to this task throughout the growing season. 
  

2.4. Grass around obstacles and along fence lines can also be treated with herbicides to supress 
its growth, reducing the need for cutting. 

 
3. High Amenity 

 
3.1. Include areas of fine turf (e.g. golf greens and ornamental lawns) and sites that are cut 

frequently for a more formal appearance. These areas tend to be in higher profile sites such 
as Lower Gardens, Poole Park and New Zealand Gardens and are often cut several times a 
week during the growing season. 
  

3.2. Other operations to maintain these areas can include, weed or disease treatments, 
application of fertilisers, aeration, and renovation works. This can involve the use of powered 
machinery, hand tools and the use of some chemicals. 

 
 

314



4. Sports Pitches 
 
4.1. A number of sports pitches are maintained within the BCP area. These include football, rugby 

and cricket pitches. The cutting of football and rugby pitches can be incorporated in amenity 
grass cutting rounds or they may require additional cuts depending on usage. A combination 
of tractor mounted/trailed, ride-on and pedestrian equipment is used to maintain these areas. 
When football pitches, rugby pitches and cricket outfields are cut the clippings are left on the 
ground. On cricket squares the clippings are removed. Other maintenance requirements are 
similar to those of fine turf and high amenity areas. 
  

4.2. The Council also manages Queens Park Golf Course which includes areas of fine turf, high 
amenity and amenity grass and sections of more natural grassland. Each of these areas 
requires specific management practices. 

 
5. Grass Meadows 

 
5.1. A number of grass meadow sites exist throughout Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 

These areas are generally cut once a year and the arisings (clippings) are collected. The 
clippings are disposed of on site in areas allocated for this purpose or they are taken off site 
and treated as green waste. 
  

5.2. The perimeters of some meadows are cut to prevent vegetation overhanging paths. This also 
serves to convey a “maintained” appearance by showing that the meadow has been left uncut 
intentionally rather than being missed. Footpaths are also often cut through larger meadow 
sites. 
 

5.3. Grass meadows are created in areas that are known to have desirable plants already present 
or where the aim is to increase the number of different species (i.e. increase the biodiversity) 
throughout the site. This is achieved by leaving the area uncut throughout most of the year 
allowing plants to establish. This will not only benefit the plants themselves but will also 
support populations of insects, birds and mammals.  
 

5.4. Nutrient levels within the soil of grass meadows need to be managed and this requires the 
removal of cuttings after the plants have flowered and set seed. There is the potential for 
more vigorous plants to outcompete desired species if nutrient levels are too high. If the areas 
are left uncut indefinitely there is a risk that unwanted plants can become established. 
 

5.5. Depending on the size of the meadow, the equipment used can include tractor mounted, 
tractor trailed or ride-on cut and collectors. Very small areas can be cut with pedestrian 
mowers.  
 

6. Flower Meadows 
 
6.1. Flower meadows (often referred to as wildflower meadows, although not technically correct) 

are areas, usually within highway verges or amenity grass that have been sown with an 
annual or perennial flowering seed mix.  
 

6.2. To improve the chances of successful germination the seed has to be sown onto a clean, 
weed free seed bed. It is common practice to treat areas with herbicide to remove existing 
vegetation as part of the preparation process. 

 
6.3. Annual meadow areas may need to be prepared and re-sown annually for several years in 

order to build up enough seed in the ground to achieve the desired display, although this 
might be viewed as a high-risk strategy as without a degree of soil disturbance, annuals will 
be depleted. 

315



 
6.4. Perennial meadows also require a clean seed bed prior to sowing and the preparation is the 

same as for annual meadows. In the right conditions and with appropriate management, 
perennial plants will bloom year after year, therefore these areas do not need to be prepared 
and reseeded annually.   
 

6.5. Maintenance involves cutting and removing the vegetation after the majority of plants have 
flowered in order to manage nutrient levels in the soil, periodic removal of weeds as and when 
required and allows for additional seed drop.  This is a time-consuming and relatively 
specialist task as it requires species identification and then careful and effective removal, 
especially when over a large meadow area. 
 

7. Highway Verges 
 
7.1. The management practice for highway verges tends to be determined according to their 

location, size and the classification of road. Verges on high speed roads or main arterial 
routes that require traffic management in order to undertake work may be cut less frequently 
than verges on quieter roads in residential areas. 
  

7.2. Some sections of highway verge are managed as grass and flower meadow. Some verges 
and roundabouts in high profile areas may be managed in a similar way to high amenity sites, 
with a higher frequency of cut and removal of clippings.   
 

7.3. The majority of verges are cut on a cyclical basis as part of the general grass cutting rounds.   
 

7.4. For safety, site lines at the approaches to junctions are mown on all verges to enable road 
users to see oncoming traffic.  

 
8. Conservation/Natural Habitat Grass Management 

 
8.1. Some countryside/natural habitat sites are grazed as part of their management. This includes 

areas of heathland, salt marsh, water meadow and grazing pasture. 
  

8.2. Other areas are managed as grass or hay meadow. Hay is harvested by an external 
contractor, bailed and taken off site. Hay meadows may also be managed using a 
combination of cut and collect and grazing.  This regime will also allow for additional seed 
drop. 

  

316



Appendix 2 

Sites identified for potential changes to grass cutting maintenance regimes 

This list needs further development to implement a programme over a 5-year period. Initial trials will 

be undertaken to achieve a greater understanding of methodology, operational practice, machinery 

requirements and lessons learnt from successes or failure to establish a meadow culture. The number 

and location of sites subject to changes in maintenance may therefore change overtime based on our 

continued learning. These sites will be in addition to areas already managed as meadow or where 

cutting frequency has already been reduced. 

Legacy Bournemouth 

Sites currently cut 6/7 times per growing season.  Identified as suitable trial areas to leave uncut 

throughout the growing season. The grass will then be cut and left on the surface. Boundaries and 

footpaths through the sites will be cut where feasible. 

O/S Brook Road  

O/S Brook Road Junction with East Howe Lane 

O/S Howeth Road Junction with East Howe Lane 

Highlands Crescent grass crescent area 

O/S Green Lane (school field verge) 

O/S South Kinson Drive (opposite Paget Road) often parking on this verge 

O/S South Kinson drive Junction with Montgomery Ave 2 plots 

O/S Kinson Road Junction with East Howe Lane opposite Erickson Rd 

O/S St Merrins Close Junction with Merry Fields Lane 

O/S Merryfields Lane end of  

O/S Draper Road (Trac)  

O/S Pilot Hight Road areas either side of alleyway to Moore Ave  

Batchelor Road/ Batchelor Crescent – crescent of grass cut football & paths (Trac)  

Turbary Park Ave edge alongside Turbary Common past West Howe Industrial Estate to Poole Lane. Also 

across Turbary only cut one path at Dawes Ave end – check if fire break 

O/S Verney Road Junction with Fernheath on Fernheath Valley side 

O/S Holloway Ave Junction with Poole Lane strip outside school 

O/S Durdells Gardens Old play area (have tried to leave by received complaints this time cut pathways?)  

317



O/S Ansty Close on Linmead drive side  

O/S Creasey road two plots on School side at Woodfield Road end 

O/S Deacon Gardens by play area 

O/S Poole Lane Opposite Moore Ave 

Kinson Manor strip round edge of field (would need to discuss with resident sports club) 

Keeble estate grass block at rear of play area 

Keeble estate area round basket ball  

O/S Oxford Lane at end meeting with Junction Townsend Close 

O/S Roosevelt Crescent island at Berrans Ave end 

O/S New Road Junction with Wimborne Road 

O/S Northbourne Ave Junction with Wimborne Road 

O/S Northbourne Ave Junction with Leybourne Ave either side of junction 

O/S Leybourne Ave Junction with Hoxley Road 

O/S Brierley Road Junction with Leybourne Ave either side entrance Brierley 

O/S Brockley Road Junction with Leybourne Ave either side of entrance to Brockley 

O/S Western Ave Plots along between Hoxley Road and Saxonhurst Road 

O/S Saxonhurst Road between Western Ave and Leybourne Ave 

Leybourne Ave linking with Long Road crescent grass area at end of road plus patch by Aldridge Road and 

Long Road opposite crescent 

O/S Gilham Road both sides and large bank area 

Weston Ave from Gilham Road to East Howe Lane plots on Western Close side and one on other side just 

before entrance to Western Close 

O/S Alongside East Howe Lane from Western Ave to Laybourne Ave on Western close side 

O/S Junction of East Howe Lane and Leybourne Ave on the three sections one either side East Howe Lane 

and one on closed off road leading to continuation of Leybourne Ave  

Pine vale Crescent Pathway from to Redhill Ave (cut pathway) 

O/S Garsdale Close Junction with Wimborne Road Entrance walkway to Millhams Mead LNR pathway 

needs to be cut 

O/S Pearl Road two plots on insides of Junctions with Sunningdale Crescent  

318



O/S Sunnymoor road Junction with Canford Ave  

O/S Tozer Close Junction with Canford Ave on Turbary side  

O/S Bascott Road Junction with Canford Ave right at end 

O/S grass areas between Downey Close and along rear of Ivamy Place (running alongside Canford Ave) 

O/S Forsyth Gardens on Walton Road side 

O/S Old Mulberry Close 

O/S Ridout Close  

 

 

Legacy Christchurch Area 

Hoburne 1 - create fields of biodiversity to include cutting outer perimeters and to include pathways to walk 

Hoburne 2 - To be left on the gang round for a picnic/ recreational  play area while the other local area’s in 

Hoburne are trialled for meadow 

Hoburne 3 - create fields of biodiversity to include cutting outer perimeters and to include pathways to walk 

Woodfield Gardens - cut outer perimeter off road only 

Nea Meadows - create fields of biodiversity to include pathways to walk. Under supervision of Robin Harley 

(HWPC) 

Mudeford Wood - in the area of mounding north and east of the play area  

Knapp Mill - create fields of biodiversity to include pathways and to cut away from play park (CTC) 

Bernards Mead - create fields of bio diversity in the area closest to wildflower mound, cut other areas as per 

usual. Leave the triangle of amenity grass closest to Barrack Road for recreational use  

River Way - create small field of bio diversity the opposite end of the football goals and leaving enough room 

Arena - cut the flats areas and bmx track only, as a high volume of wild flower grows there. Under the 

supervision of Robin Harley 

Meridians - under supervision of Robin Harley and EA 

Dragoon Way - cut pathways only 

Somerford Road - slip road margins reduced 

 

Legacy Poole Area 

319



Dorchester Gardens – Reduce to one cut per year. Cut and leave clippings. 

Sections of Russell Coates Playing Field – Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Sections of Haskell’s Recreation Ground - Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Parkstone Heights – Leave area to left of entrance. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on 

site. 

Mill Lane – Leave large panel between footpaths. Cut boundary 

Alton Road (junction with Conifer Avenue) – Leave middle three panels uncut 

Broadwater Avenue – area next to Broadwater Pond. Reduce to one cut per year. Cut boundaries and 

footpaths. Cut and leave clippings 

Potters Way – Large area opposite no. 6. Cut perimeter only 

Harford Road Open Space – Leave large panel between footpaths adjacent to Rossmore Road 

Mannings Heath Road – Leave for Bee Orchids and Ox-eye daisies. Cut site lines if needed 

Astbury Avenue/South Park Road – Leading to Bloxworth Avenue. Cut footpaths only. Cut and collect once 

per year. 

Stanley Green Park – Leave banks and area around MUGA. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of 

arisings on site. 

Christopher Crescent/Fleets Lane – Area around fruit trees. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings 

on site. 

Johnston Road - Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. Cut boundary and footpaths 

St Georges Playing Field – Area around trees. Cut and collect. Aim to dispose on site. 

Sterte Esplanade – Increase area managed as meadow. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings 

on site. 

Hamworthy Recreation Ground (behind Library) – Leave large sections. Cut boundary and footpaths. Cut 

and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Cobbs Quay – open space along waterfront. Cut boundary of path. Cut and collect once per year. Aim to 

dispose of clippings on site 

Dawkins Road – Open space under tree line. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Napier Road – Section of open space leading to Turlin Moor. Cut path boundary. Cut and collect once per 

year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Harbour View/Rockley - Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Turlin Moor Recreation Ground – Leave sections behind flats. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of 

arisings on site. 

Harbourside Park – Cut bunds once per year. Cut and drop. Extend existing meadow area. Cut and collect 

once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

320



Queen Anne Drive/Magna Road verges – Combination of cut and collect and cut and drop 

Rempstone Road – Verge parallel to no. 59. Cut and collect 

Sopwith Crescent Open Space – Cut footpaths and boundaries where necessary. Cut and collect – identify 

areas for disposal of clippings.  

Dukes Drive – Triangle under trees. Cut and drop 

Broadstone Way verges – Cut and drop.  

Sandford Way – Junction with Lytchett Drive. Cut and collect once per year.  

Martin Close – Area next to no. 38. Cut and drop. 

Upton Country Park SANG – Increase existing meadow areas. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of 

arisings on site.  

Plainfield Farm – Leave sections of field uncut. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Sherborn Crescent - Leave sections of field uncut. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Learoyd Rd Open Space - Leave sections of field uncut. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings 

on site. 

Bourne Valley Park – Increase areas managed as meadow. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings 

on site. 

Turners Nursery - Leave sections of field uncut. Cut and collect once per year. Dispose of arisings on site. 

Haskell’s Recreation Ground - Leave sections of field uncut. Cut and collect once per year. Identify areas to 

dispose of clippings. 

 

321



This page is intentionally left blank

322



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Tackling street-based anti-social behaviour 

Meeting date  18 March 2020 

Status   Public Report   

Executive summary  Street-based anti-social behaviour, such as begging, street drinking 
and discarded needles, has a visible impact on the appearance of, 
and feelings of safety in, our Town Centres.  To date, there have 
been slightly different approaches to tackling these issues across 
the preceeding authorities. 
 
With the introduction of Community Safety Accredited Officers into 
Poole Town Centre there is an opportunity to harmonise our 
approach based on a balance of enforcement and support.  Using 
legal tools and powers where necessary but also through better 
engagement, ensuring there are referral pathways into support 
organisations.  In order to seek such a harmonised approach, it is 
proposed to review the Public Spaces Protection Order which 
applies to Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay area, and specifically 
to consult the public, businesses and partners on varying the 
conditions applied. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 1. BCP Council adopts a consistent approach to tackling 

street-based anti-social behaviour as detailed within 

paragraphs 16 – 24 of this Report; 

 

2. The Director of Communities is authorised to undertake 

consultation on varying the Public Spaces Protection 

Order covering Poole Town Centre as set out in 

paragraphs  25-26 of this Report; 

3. Cabinet considers the outcome of the consultation at a 
future meeting with a view to making recommendations in 
respect of the Public Spaces Protection Order in light of 
the consultation process. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To implement a balanced approach which is fit for purpose for the 
whole of BCP, applying effective solutions to a complex issue which 
seeks a reduction of harmful behaviours that impact negatively on 

323

Agenda Item 13



the wider community, whilst placing the needs of vulnerable people 
at its heart. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Lewis Allison – Tourism, Leisure & Communities  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director Environment & Community 

Report Authors Andrew Williams, Head of Safer Communities 

Wards  All Wards in particular Poole Town  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 
1. Street-based anti-social behaviour by adults, such as begging, street drinking and 

discarded needles, has seen a visible increase in our town centres over several 
years.  Across the preceding councils, different approaches to tackling street-based 
anti-social behaviour have been developed in response. 
 

2. Across BCP, in particular in Bournemouth and Poole where these issues are most 
prevalent, there has been a clear and long standing commitment to adopting 
balanced approaches where both enforcement and support are at the heart of the 
models applied.  
 

3. In Bournemouth, there has been a mix of enforcement and support, with the Anti-
Social Behaviour team working closely with the Rough Sleeper team and other 
support/treatment agencies.  Individuals who are identified as causing anti-social 
behaviour are challenged, through the use of Community Protection Notices and 
Anti-social Behaviour Injunctions.  Often these require the individual concerned to 
engage in positive interventions such as addiction assessments alongside 
requirements to stop negative behaviours. 

 
4. In March 2018, the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) was introduced 

into Bournemouth Town Centre, after proving successful in Boscombe.  This 
provides 2 dedicated, uniformed patrol officers, with delegated powers from the Chief 
Constable.  The powers accredited to the individuals through both BCP Council and 
CSAS accreditation are; 

 
 The power to require name and address for those acting anti-socially 
 The power to require name and address for those who are begging 
 The power to remove alcohol from those under 18 
 The power to confiscate alcohol from those acting anti-socially 
 The power to require name and address for a qualifying offence 

 
5. Alongside the enforcement powers that they have, CSAS Officers are able to engage 

with individuals who are rough sleeping, or whose addiction issues are causing anti-
social behaviour, to sign-post and make appropriate referrals to support agencies.  
They work closely with our services commissioned to tackle rough sleeping and 
substance misuse. 

324



 
6. The CSAS approach in Bournemouth is a multi-agency partnership approach with all 

relevant agencies, with an emphasis on full commitment from Dorset Police and BCP 
Council, including co-located staff, joint briefings and open communication using 
Airwave radio.   
 

7. In Poole, the same mix of enforcement and support has been carefully adopted 
alongside the use of Injunctions and Community Protection Notices. In addition, a 
Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) was introduced by the former Borough of 
Poole Council in April 2018, in an attempt to address street-based ASB in the town 
centre and Holes Bay area.  This PSPO restricted the following: 

 

a. Drinking alcohol in public, whilst behaving in an anti-social manner 
b. Begging 
c. Sitting or loitering in a public place with a receptacle used to contain monies 

from the public 
d. Leaving unattended personal belongings such as bedding or bags  
e. Causing an obstruction in shop doorways, or car park or public area such as 

hallways, stair wells etc 
f. Possession, supply or use of intoxicating substances 
g. Behaviour which causes harassment, alarm or distress. 

 
8. Individuals behaving in such a manner can be asked to leave the designated area for 

up to 48 hours.  Failure to do so, may result in a fine or Fixed Penalty Notice. 
 

9. The measures in the PSPO were adopted following careful consideration by the 
legacy council and with the aim to prevent and tackle any identified and reported 
issues.  They do not target any specific group but the behaviours that impacts 
negatively upon others.  Any enforcement of the PSPO is allied to support, 
particularly regarding the street community and vulnerable people. In real terms the 
application of the PSPO has been limited with the emphasis to the approach being 
concentrated on the other measures.  

 
10. Subsequently in response to high profile anti-social behaviour incidents relating to 

Poole Bus Station, in particular, a proposal to introduce CSAS Offices in Poole Town 
Centre has been agreed, with regular patrols due to start in April 2020   

 
11. In Christchurch the levels of anti-social behaviour are much lower, however there are 

still issues relating to begging and street drinking.  The approach taken is much the 
same as in Bournemouth; to target those individuals with Injunctions or appropriate 
legislation, whilst also sign-posting to support agencies.   

 
Review of current approaches to tackling street-based anti-social behaviour 
 
12. The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Communities, Tourism and Leisure committed at full 

Council in July 2019, to a review of the approach to tackling street based anti-social 
behaviour across BCP in order that a harmonised approach is adopted and applied.  
This review has been undertaken, looking at the evidence of engagement and 
enforcement activities in the two town centre areas and the levels of reported anti-
social behaviour in the areas.  National research into tackling begging and street 
based anti-social behaviour was also assessed.  

325



 
13. The review has concluded that there is evidence that the Poole PSPO and 

associated interventions into tackling street-based ASB have had an impact in the 
area.  However, in Bournemouth using patrolling CSAS Officers, there is a much 
greater engagement with those who are causing anti-social behaviour, which in turn 
leads to larger numbers being referred into support services.  Ultimately it is through 
addressing the underlying causes of the anti-social behaviour, such as addiction, that 
we will see change. 

 
14. It is clear that with the introduction of CSAS Officers in the Poole Town Centre, there 

is an opportunity to harmonise our approaches to tackling street-based ASB and 
have a bigger impact on this issue. 

 
15. The proposals being made continue to ensure that the balanced approach remains 

and that the benefit of collaborative partnership working to tackle these complex 
issues, is maximised. 

 
 
Proposals to implement a harmonised approach to tackling street-based anti-
social behaviour 
 
16.  With the imminent introduction of CSAS officers in Poole town centre there is an 

opportunity to harmonise the policies and procedures for tackling street-based ASB. 
 

17. It is proposed that the approach adopted focuses on targeting individuals who cause 
the most problems, using CSAS Officers to gather evidence that can be dealt with 
swiftly by the ASB Team, through formal action such as ASB Injunctions or 
Community Protection Notices where necessary. 

 
18. CSAS Officers will also make appropriate referrals into support agencies for 

homelessness, mental health outreach and addiction support and conduct joint visits 
to engage those seen regularly in the town centres. 

 
19. The uniformed presence both deters behaviours and allows officers to collate 

evidence for formal anti-social behaviour actions. Officers are also able to issue 
formal anti-social behaviour warnings where behaviour is persistent and detrimental. 
The approach of being assertive, persistent and consistent in challenging 
behaviours, whilst supporting individuals is seen as key to the progress being made. 

 
20. In addition, the Homelessness Reduction Board for BCP has recently established the 

Reducing Begging & Street ASB Action Group which will oversee work to tackle 
these issues in a more co-ordinated way.  An improved tactical response to street 
ASB will be based upon a balance of enforcement and support, early intervention, 
more co-ordinated resources and a plan of communication and engagement. 

 
21. The Group, which includes Police, voluntary and business sector partners, are 

looking into implementing a more integrated enforcement and intervention strategy 
for dealing with individuals who are persistently begging.  The Group is also looking 
at the introduction of contactless giving, as a means of the public donating to 
homelessness charities.   

 

326



22. As part of the establishment of the BCP Community Safety Partnership a new 
Partnership Co-ordinating Group has been formed.  This is the operational multi-
agency arm of the Community Safety Partnership, which co-ordinates activities 
against repeat victims, offenders and locations.  It is overseeing the work around 
Poole Bus Station, West Hill and the Lower Gardens in Bournemouth.   

 
23. There is also an initial discussion taking place with the Police & Crime Commissioner 

and other current and potential CSAS funders to develop a wider CSAS strategy for 
BCP in order that the partnership approach to CSAS can be maximised to achieve its 
full potential. This includes consideration of broadening the key partner cohort, 
ensuring that funding is sustainable, resources are sufficient and workforce planning 
is addressed to ensure the positive recruitment and retention of staff in these 
challenging roles.    
 

24. It should be noted that there is an option for additional CSAS schemes to be applied 
within BCP, where evidence to justify them exists. The need for additional schemes 
will therefore be kept under review and considered as required. At present, the focus 
remains on the three schemes currently in place and ensuring that these are as 
effective as possible. 

 
25. It is further proposed that consultation is authorised so that the Public Spaces 

Protection Order in Poole Town Centre can be varied to remove a number of the 
restrictions, which would no longer be needed with the introduction of the CSAS 
scheme.  It is proposed that specifically, consultation is undertaken with a view to 
removing clauses b) to e), but that clauses a), f) & g) would remain in force. 

 
26. The consultation will last 28 days and will entail a mix of online engagement and 

direct contact with ward Councillors, local residents, businesses and other 
stakeholders in the area currently covered by the Poole PSPO.  
 

 
Summary of financial implications 
 
27. There is a net nil impact on the budget as a result of the introduction of CSAS 

Officers in Poole as the costs are being jointly funded by BCP Council, Poole BID, 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, More Buses and the Dolphin 
Centre. 

 

CSAS 

Scheme 

CSAS Officer 

Resource 

Cost Funding 

Poole 
Town 
Centre 

3 FTE’s – recruitment 
in progress 

£34,574 Salary plus 
on-cost 

Uniform/Equip £500 

Total £105,000 

£25,000 PCC 

£68,000 Poole 
BID/ Dolphin 
Centre 

£14,000 More 
Bus 

 

327



28. The current funding position for the Bournemouth & Boscombe CSAS scheme is: 

 

CSAS 

Scheme 
CSAS Officer 

Resource 

Cost Funding 

Boscombe 

Precinct 

2 FTE in post £70,000 £20,000 Dorset 

Police & PCC 

£20,000 Coastal 

BID 

£30,000 base 

budget 

Bournemouth 

Town Centre 

2 FTE in post 

1 additional FTE 

being recruited 

following approval of 

Fixed Penalty Notice 

pilot 

 

£105,000 £70,000 base 

budget 

£35,000 income 

expectation from 

FPN pilot 

 

Summary of legal implications 

29. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced Public Spaces 
Protection Orders (PSPOs) to tackle a wide range of anti-social behaviour issues.  
The Act gives councils the authority to draft and implement PSPOs in response to 
the particular issues affecting their communities, provided certain criteria and legal 
tests are met.  Under the legislation, PSPOs need to be reviewed every three years, 
meaning the Poole Town Centre Order would need to be reviewed before April 2021 
in any occasion. 

 
30. Before introducing, extending, varying or discharging a PSPO, local authorities are 

obliged to consult with the local chief officer of police; the Police and Crime 
Commissioner; owners or occupiers of land within the affected area where 
reasonably practicable, and appropriate community representatives. 

 
31. The Council has been challenged by way of Judicial Review in respect of a number 

of the conditions set out in the Public Spaces Protection Order.  Whilst the Council is 
able to respond to this challenge, a stay in proceedings has been agreed with the 
Applicant in order to avoid wasting public money and Court time should there be a 
change in approach taken which would negate the purpose of the challenge in any 
event. 
 

32. CSAS schemes can only be established where there is an evidence base to support 
their need and this needs to be agreed with the Chief Constable.  Any further 

328



development of CSAS across BCP will need to be an evidence based response to 
need. 

 

Summary of human resources implications 

33. There are no human resources implications  

Summary of sustainability impact 

34. The CSAS Officers in Bournemouth Town centre are soon to be piloting a litter 
enforcement role, with an additional Officer being recruited.  If successful, this will 
have environmental benefits which could be extended to other areas of BCP. 

Summary of public health implications 

35. What is clear from national research and local engagement is that those who cause 
street-based antisocial behaviour or beg are some of our most vulnerable 
individuals. They often have a range of complex needs and experience severe and 
multiple deprivation.  Through better engagement and support into existing services, 
this proposal aims to help tackle these complex needs.   

Summary of equality implications 

36. Those engaged in street-based anti-social behaviour often have multiple and 
complex needs, such as addiction and mental health issues.  Their vulnerability 
needs to be addressed in any programme aimed at tackling the wider harm that may 
be caused to the community through begging, street drinking or associated ASB.  
Having patrolling Officers who are able to engage and signpost to support 
organisations is a more effective mechanism to achieving real change.   
Enforcement action will only be taken where it is appropriate and proportionate to 
the behaviour causing harm.  These proposals apply to adults only, as different 
approaches would be taken for working with children and young people. 

Summary of risk assessment 

37. The implementation of the CSAS scheme in Poole will entail a rigorous risk 
assessment aimed at keeping staff safe and ensuring that any risks are mitigated. 

Background papers 

None   

Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report. 

329



This page is intentionally left blank

330



 

CABINET  

 

Report subject Recommendations from the Transportation Advisory 
Group 

Meeting date 18 March 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary This covering report asks the Cabinet to consider 
representations made in response to the advertisement of a 
number of Traffic Regulation Orders.  

Additionally, Cabinet is asked to approve the sealing and 
advertisement of a number of other Traffic Regulation Orders. 

The reports have been considered by the recent meeting of 
the Transportation Advisory Group.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

(a) Confirms that permission be granted to create an 

order to record the unprotected footpath from 

James Road to Sheringham Road as a Public Right 

of Way as set out in the TRO report; 

(b) In relation to the Branksome Park and Canford 

Cliffs Residents Association Road Safety Petition 

approves: 

i. Acknowledgement of the petitioners concerns 

and they be advised that in the absence of any 

significant accident record in this area we 

could not justify any road safety engineering 

interventions at present; 

ii. Forwarding of the petitioners concerns to 

Dorset Roads Traffic Policing Unit for their 

consideration relating to speed enforcement;  

iii. Informing the petitioners that the Council will 

investigate and assess options to enhance 

pedestrian and cycle facilities in the area but 

that no funding has been identified for 

implementing this work; and  

331

Agenda Item 14



 

iv. Advising the local resident group which 

submitted the petition that its bid for 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Neighbourhood Portion funding is to be 

considered alongside all other similar bids 

received and a decision on potential funding 

will be made in due course. 

(c) Approves the advertisement of Traffic Regulation 

Orders as set out in TRO sub-report A; 

(d) Approves the advertisement of changes to on-

street disabled bays as set out in the TRO sub-

report B; 

(e) In relation to the Anti-Idling Outside Primary 

Schools Campaign appoves: 

i. an Anti-Idling Campaign be undertaken at a 

small number of primary schools using 

allocated DEFRA funding; 

ii. appropriate enforcement action be used but as 

a last resort; 

iii. should the campaign prove successful, it will 

be rolled out to additional schools across the 

BCP area in future years; and 

iv. that officer include information to schools 

about the carbon footprint of different types of 

transportation methods to educate parents on 

the impact of how journeys are made. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The reasons for the recommendations are set out in the 
following reports.  

332



 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley, Portfolio Holder Transport & 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director Regeneration 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin, Growth & Infrastructure 

Contributors 
Chris Parkes, Team Leader - Traffic Management 

Steve Dean, Traffic Management Engineer 

Wards Various 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The Council is required by statute to undertaken public consultation in respect of 

Traffic Regulation Orders it wishes to make. 

2. It has the power to advertise, consult upon and make Traffic Regulation Orders 

and related Highways Orders for a variety of different purposes. 

3. There are a number of approvals sought by Cabinet for approvals to consult and 

make Orders and these are set out in appendices attached to this covering 

Report. 

4. This covering Report is provided to enable the items to be considered as one 

agenda item and assist councillors and the public in the presentation of the 

matters for consideration. 

5. The approvals requested have already been considered by the Transportation 

Advisory Group at their meeting on 26 February 2020, a copy of the minutes and 

recommendations from that meeting are appended to this report as Appendix 1. 

Summary of financial implications  

 

6. None specifically relating to this covering report. 

Summary of legal implications  

 

7. The Council is required to follow the statutory process in respect of making the 

relevant Orders, and seeks legal advice where required. 

Summary of human resources implications  

 

8. None relating to this report. 

333



 

 

Summary of environmental impact  

 

9. There are no environmental impacts arising from this report. 

Summary of public health implications  

 

10. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications  

 

11. There are no new equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment  

 

12. There are risks associated with the Orders as requested not being approved, and 

any risks are set out in the appendices. 

 

Appendices  
Appendix 1 - Minutes and recommendations of the Transportation Advisory Group – 
26 February 2020 

334



– 1 – 
 

TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY GROUP 
 

WEDNESDAY, 26TH FEBRUARY, 2020 
 
 
Present:  
 

Cllr A Hadley – Chairman 
Cllr Dr F Rice – Vice-Chairman 
 

 Cllr S Bull, Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr M Howell and Cllr T Trent 

 
 
Officers: 

 
Julian McLaughlin, Director of Growth and Infrastructure 
Martin Baker, Senior Road Safety & Network Management Engineer 
Philip Elias, Senior Rights of Way Officer 
Gary Powell, Head of Engineering Services 
Steve Hoyle, Sustainable Design Team Leader 
Chris Parkes, Traffic Management Team Leader 
SImon Philp, Highways Design Team Leader 

 
Members of the Public in Attendance: approximately 30 
 

12 Apologies  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr N Brooks, Cllr N Geary and Cllr M Greene. 
 

13 Substitute Members  
 
Cllr T O’Neill substituted for Cllr M Greene. 
 

14 Declarations of Interests  
 
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest made on this occasion. 
 
Other interests which Members wished to declare 
Cllr A Hadley had been to visit the access route in question that related to Agenda Item 6 and 
had spoken to neighbours. 
 
Cllr F Rice had also visited the aforementioned site and spoken to neighbours in the vicinity. 
 
 

15 Confirmation of Minutes  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2020 be confirmed and 
signed by the chairman as a correct record. 
 

16 Public Issues  
 
The Chairman reported that one question had been received and three statements as follows: 
 
Question from Vicky Moss 
Is the Canford Cliffs Ward included in the Local Walking and Cycling Improvement Plan that is 
currently being developed? 
 
Response by Senior Walking and Cycling Officer 
Yes. The proposed Strategic Cycling Network (SCN) is the top tier of cycling routes. They 
were shown on maplets for the Canford Cliffs area in green above and were currently being 
audited and assessed for potential improvements. Stakeholders will be invited to comment 

335



– 2 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
and suggest improvements of their own. All schemes will be costed and prioritised into a long-
term investment programme: The Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 
 
Secondary cycling routes and local access routes will be reviewed in the future. These haven’t 
been developed yet because the process for developing proposals is very resource intensive. 
 
Three Core Walking Zones (CWZs) comprise the top tier of walking routes – one for each of 
the main town centres. The western edge of the Bournemouth CWZ is shown as a solid black 
line, with a 2km buffer shown as a dashed line; the 2km buffer for Poole is shown on the left. 
Key Walking Routes (KWRs) between the buffer and the CWZ are shown in blue and are 
currently being audited and assessed for potential improvements. As with the SCN, 
stakeholders will be invited to comment and suggest improvements of their own. All schemes 
will be costed and prioritised into the LCWIP. 
 
Other, lower tier CWZs will be reviewed in the future, including the local centre on Haven 
Road. It’s been necessary to break down the CWZs into different tiers because the process for 
developing proposals is very resource intensive. 
 
Statement from Vicky Moss 
The Canford Cliffs Ward within the BCP Area is particularly strategically located and the 
network of footpaths, bridleways and cycle routes that lead from the more intensively 
populated areas of Branksome, Parkstone, Penn Hill and Westbourne to the Beaches are 
currently under-utilised due to inaccessibility caused by: 
 

 Lack of safe pedestrian points across roads with high volume/high speed traffic Lack of 
signage for footpaths Lack of traffic calming/speed enforcement Flooding on footpaths 
caused by run off from development. 

 

 Lack of public transport around apartments with high concentrations of over 65yrs + 
Inaccessible pedestrian routes to/from Branksome Station & Penn Hill due to the 
above. 

 
This leads to reliance on car usage around this area, is in turn leading to 
congestion/pollution/unhealthy lifestyles/social isolation. 
 
Statement from Jerry Mogg 
My family have lived at 22 James Road for 5 years. This is not a truthful application with any 
recent use and it is not supported by the majority of James Road residents.  
 
There is a private right of way at the James road section which we wish to remain for access 
only.  I have never seen anyone transit the route of this application.   
 
We already have serious security issues in the area and this would only exacerbate the 
situation giving an unlit thoroughfare to and from James Rd.   
 
This adds no benefit whatsoever to the residents of James Road 
 
Statement from Margaret Kay 
I live at 47 Wroxham Road corner of Sheringham Road directly opposite the proposed 
footpath. I don’t understand why the council wish to open a footpath that has not been used to 
my knowledge, for at least twenty years according to local residents.  
 
My reasons for objecting are as follows: 
A) It only leads to a road that is a cul-de-sac and therefore is of no benefit to anyone. 
B) It invites anti-social behaviour, and as crime in the area is on the rise, it seems a 
detrimental step in trying to keep the area safe. 

336



– 3 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
 

17 James Road to Sheringham Road, Record Unprotected Footpath (currently blocked) as 
a Public Right of Way (PRoW)  
 
The Senior Rights of Way Officer presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to 
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 
 
Mr Atherton and Mr Haywood, Objectors, were invited to express their views as to why to the 
order should not be made. 
 
Mr White and Mrs O’Brien, Supporters, were invited to express their views as to why to the 
order should not be made. 
 
Cllr Johnson, Ward Councillor expressed his views and indicated that on this occasion he was 
not supportive of the proposal. 
 
 
Officers responded Members’ comments and questions, details included: 
 

 The access in question was now overgrown and had been for some time and was 
impassable at certain times of the year. 

 Consistent usage of an access route over a period of 20 years gave rise to it becoming 
a public right of way. On this occasion, the 20-year period was cut off at 2017, when 
the owner/occupier of a neighbouring property blocked off the access. 

 If the Order was made as advertised, the pathway would have a use because it would 
connect two roads that were otherwise disconnected which would benefit local 
residents that were otherwise having to walk around to access local facilities. It was 
unlikely that the public at large would use the pathway. 

 It was inevitable that the prospect of anti-social behaviour occurring as a result of the 
order being made could raise some concerns, but legal framework that was in place 
did not allow rights of way officers to consider such implications. 

 It was possible for land to be a public right of way regardless of its ownership. 

 The rights of way team had visited the site in question twice and despite, restricted 
access at the time of both visits, had felt satisfied that he was able to determine the lay 
of the land. 

 Ordinance Survey Maps often referred to access routes as “FP”, however, this had no 
legal standing.  

 When determining matters of this nature, it was not possible to consider crime in terms 
of the evidential test. There was the possibility of utilising a public spaces protection 
order to block the path usage (if confirmed) at a later date, although this was a lengthy 
process.  

 If the order was made, it would be the Council’s responsibility to ensure that the right of 
way was passable and was kept that way, which would be an ongoing cost. 

 
Mr Atherton summed up his views and reiterated that he had not done anything unlawful when 
blocking access, as the strip of land concerned belonged to him and the access route was not 
regularly used. 
 
Mrs O’Brien summed up her views and reiterated that despite other claims, the access route 
was commonly used, was passable and no steeper than the road. 
 
 
 
 
 

337



– 4 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
RECOMMENDED that: 
Permission is granted to create an order to record the unprotected footpath as a Public 
Right of Way. 
 
Voting: For – 5         Against - 2 
 
 

18 Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Residents Association Road Safety Petition  
 
The Senior Road Safety & Network Management Engineer presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
Vicky Moss, lead petitioner, introduced herself and set out the reasons for bringing the petition 
forward which primarily came down to the safety of residents and exercising a desire to apply 
to spend CIL monies on making improvements to the cycling and walking network 
 
When asked about the involvement of Ward Councillors, the Lead Petitioner explained that 
she had liaised with Cllr Haines who was fully supportive. She had also contacted Cllr Iyengar, 
but had not received a response to date, although he had previously indicated that 
applications for CIL monies could stand more chance of success if a particular area was 
focussed upon, which the Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Residents Association was not 
prepared to do because this was an issue that affected a large geographical area and 
therefore needed to be looked at as a whole. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarification, details included: 
 

 It was not possible to provide Road safety statistics for the BCP area at this meeting as 
they were not to hand, although the number of KSI’s had been reducing over the years 
and currently were at their lowest historical figures, although there were still a 
significant number of hotspots across the conurbation. 

 
Cllr T Trent declared that he was a Member of the CIL Panel, as did the Chairman and the 
Director of Growth and Infrastructure 
 

 CIL charges could not be levied against development projects based on direct impacts 
that would occur as a consequence of a development being built, instead this was left 
to a Section 106 Agreement which would be agreed as part of the planning application 
process. 

 The neighbourhood element of CIL was administered through a poole-wide bid 
process. The strategic element of CIL had a timescale for officers to come back with a 
strategic position – this was “a separate pot” based on the level of development. If the 
council determined that there was a strategic need in terms of highway infrastructure, 
then this could be added to a list. It would be competing against other strategic needs, 
such as school places. There was a need for the council to be compliant with 
government criteria.  

 On the current round of TCF funding, whilst some measures were conurbation-wide, 
the area in question was not included for specific infrastructure, partially due to 
constraints made by the Government during the bidding process, although this did not 
prohibit funds being sought in the future.  

 
In summing up, the Chairman stated that he welcomed the work undertaken by the Residents 
Association in trying to promote walking and cycling within the area, and that there was a need 
to bid for any available funding for such measures, CIL was a limited pot of money, and the 
bid would be considered as part of that process. 
 

338



– 5 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
Vicky Moss summed up her views and highlighted that she felt that the CIL application form 
was overcomplicated and that it was her aim to ensure area was funded better in terms of 
road safety. 
 
The Director of Growth and Infrastructure stated that he would liaise with the petitioner to 
establish where there had been difficulties with the CIL form in order to help streamline the 
process for future bidders. 
 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet approves: 
 
a) Acknowledgement of the petitioners concerns and they be advised that in the 

absence of any significant accident record in this area we could not justify any road 
safety engineering interventions at present. 

b) Forwarding of the petitioners concerns to Dorset Roads Traffic Policing Unit for their 
consideration relating to speed enforcement. 

c) Informing the petitioners that the Council will investigate and assess options to 
enhance pedestrian and cycle facilities in the area but that no funding has been 
identified for implementing this work. 

d) Advising the local resident group which submitted the petition that its bid for 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Neighbourhood Portion funding is to be 
considered alongside all other similar bids received and a decision on potential 
funding will be made in due course. 

 
Voting: Nem. Con 
 

19 Traffic Regulation Orders  
 
The sub-reports were considered by the Transportation Advisory Group individually. 
 

20 Traffic Regulation Orders - Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P2, T1 & S1 
2020)  
 
The Highways Design Team Leader and Traffic Management Team Leader presented a 
report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and request for clarification, details included: 
 
Talbot Drive  

 Reference was made to a plan displayed on screen and it was explained that the 
proposed 3 metre reduction of available parking would provide a safe access for 
cyclists travelling along Wallisdown Road and allow them to enter Talbot Drive to allow 
access to the quieter Mossley Road route. This would involve creating a build-out 
which would allow cyclists re-joining the carriageway to see around parked cars before 
re-entering it. 

 As this was only seeking to advertise, it was still possible for officers to see if there was 
an opportunity to allow parking elsewhere along the road or in the vicinity to address 
the concerns raised about loss of parking relating to use of the sports field. 

 
Heathlands School 

 The maximum ramp ratio for speed bumps was 1 in 12 although it was more common 
for speed bumps to be 1 in 15, although this was 1 in 20 on bus routes to provide bus 

339



– 6 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
users with a more comfortable journey. There was a limitation of 75mm for the height 
of the hump. 

 Installing a zebra crossing at the junction of Springwater Road had not been 
considered due to increased costs associated with installation. Raised crossings also 
had a higher profile although a zebra crossing could be installed retrospectively if there 
was a need identified. 

 
St Stephen’s Road 

 In response to a general query, an officer confirmed that notices would be displayed in 
the vicinity of the area from at start of 21 day of public consultation or in some cases, a 
day or two before. 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
The changes outlined in the appendix are advertised and implemented if no objections 
are received. 
 
Voting: Nem. Con. 
 
 

21 Traffic Regulation Orders - Advertisement of Changes to On-Street Disabled Bays (Ref 
P1 2020)  
 
The Highways Design Team Leader and Traffic Management Team Leader presented a 
report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and request for clarification, details included: 
 
Aylesbury Road 

 Aylesbury road was currently unrestricted parking which would be replaced with a 24hr 
parking space for a permit holder. 

 
Fortescue Road 

 This would be removing a disabled bay that was no longer needed. 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
The changes outlined in the appendix are advertised and implemented if no objections 
are received. 
 
Voting: Nem. Con. 
 
 

22 Anti-Idling Outside Primary Schools Campaign  
 
The sustainable transport and passenger accessibility officer presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'E' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarifications, details included: 
 

 Recommendation b) would use the powers that permitted Local Authorities to issue 
PCN’s to road users that do not switch of engines when asked to do so. Officers were 
hopeful that both teachers and parents of children at those schools within the trial 
programme could encourage car-users to get on board, without the need for 
enforcement action. 

340



– 7 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 

 Enforcement action, if needed, would be undertaken by Civil Enforcement Officers as 
only local authority officers had the power to issue PCNs. 

 Work would still be undertaken to encourage modal shift. 
 
Cllr F Rice moved to add a recommendation that would include information to schools about 
the carbon footprint of different types of transportation methods to educate parents on the 
impact of how journeys are made which was duly seconded. 
 

 Recommendation c) was a proposal for all primary schools across the BCP area, but 
the council would need to work with schools to ensure that they were engaged with the 
project. 

 The Director for Growth and Infrastructure was currently reviewing enforcement 
officers operations as part of the strategic car parking review, the intent being to review 
that the entire process was fit for purpose. 

 Some money already used to purchase air quality monitors and there were resources 
available to install signs to “get the message across” 

 
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet approve: 

a) An Anti-Idling Campaign be undertaken at a small number of primary schools using 
allocated DEFRA funding; 

b) Appropriate enforcement action be used but as a last resort; 

c) Should the campaign prove successful, it will be rolled out to additional schools 
across the BCP area in future years; 

d) that officers include information to schools about the carbon footprint of different 
types of transportation methods to educate parents on the impact of how journeys 
are made 

 

Voting: Nem. Con. 
 
 

23 Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP): Programme Update  
 
The Head of Engineering and Sustainable Design Team Leader presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'F' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. A powerpoint presentation was also given, which provided 
Members with site illustrations of the schemes within the DLEP programme. 
 
Officers responded to Members comments and requests for clarification, details included: 
 

 Officers had led an extensive consultation event for the Boundary Road Roundabout 
improvements in 2018 which had received over 3000 responses, there had also been 
face to face interviews conducted.  

 Tree removals were sent out via press release and Officers had not taken removal of 
trees lightly and were undertaking a tree replacement programme. Works were due to 
commence in spring 2020 for a period 10-12 months on a phased basis, which would 
be confirmed at a later date once the tendering process was complete. All key 
stakeholders and indeed the public would be kept updated. 

 Diversion routes would be advertised in advance during the construction period. 

 Cycling accidents were not concentrated on one particular arm of the roundabout but 
there were certain hotspots spread out across the roundabout, collisions tended to be 
down to cars not observing cyclists already on roundabout. The improvements would 
narrow lanes for entry and exit onto roundabout in order to slow vehicles down. 

 

341



– 8 – 
Transportation Advisory Group 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
The Chairman thanked Officers for the update report. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted 
 

 
Voting: Nem. Con. 
 
 

24 Forward Plan  
 
The forward plan was noted. 
 
 
 
Duration of the meeting: 7.01  - 9.33 pm  
 

 
Chairman at the meeting on 

Wednesday, 26 February 2020 

342



Transportation Advisory Group 

 

Report subject James Road to Sheringham Road, record unprotected 
footpath (currently blocked) as a Public Right of Way 
(PRoW) 

Meeting date 26 February 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To obtain permission to permit an Order to protect the 
currently obstructed path from James Road to Sheringham 
Road as a Public Footpath. 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 Permission is granted to create an order to record the 
unprotected footpath as a Public Right of Way. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

It is a legal duty for all surveying authorities to make and 

maintain a Definitive Map and Statement for their area, to 

continually survey the area for possible Public Rights of Way, 

and to make Orders upon the discovery of evidence that a 

Public Right of Way has arisen from long use. 

Public Rights of Way can come into being for various legal 

reasons, however most commonly it is through statutory 

inference of dedication. In plain terms, if a path has been 

walked by the public uninterrupted for a period of 20 years, 

and the use has been without force, without deception and 

without having been granted a specific express permission 

from the landowner, then they acquire a right to pass and 

repass.  

Portfolio Holder(s): 
Andy Hadley - Portfolio Holder For Transport and 

Infrastructure  

Corporate Director 
Bill Cotton - Corporate Director for Regeneration and 

Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin, Growth and Infrastructure 

Contributors 
Zak Cusens - Rights of Way Officer  - Regeneration and 

Economy  

343



Wards Alderney and Bourne Valley  

Classification For Decision 

Title:  

 

 

Background: 

 

1. BCP Council was infomed via an application made by a member of the public 

that public rights have arisen through long use of the path between James 

Road and Sheringham Road.  

 

2. The path appears on historic maps from 1931 onwards and is labelled on 

them as a footpath from 1941 onwards. In 2017 the path was fenced off by 

the occupier of 104 Sheringham Road.  

 

3. A non-statutory pre-order consultation has been carried out and has had 

mixed response with ten people supporting the protection of the path and 

seven people claiming the path does not exist. 

 
User evidence: 
 
4. A summary of the years that members of the public have accessed the path 

can be seen in Appendix E. The period of user evidence extends between 

1957 and 2018. Most user evidence is more recent, having taken place within 

the last fifteen years, however there remains more than one witness who 

claims to have used the path between 1960 and 1980, then from 1987 

onwards. 

 
5. Six of the witnesses claiming to have used the path state to have used the 

path until 2018, however the validity of this end date is unlikely due to the 

path having been fenced off since 2017 and having been overgrown for 

several years prior to this. It is unclear as to when the path would have 

become unpassable due to vegetation growth. There is also a young Oak 

tree growing in the path. 

 
6. Whitelock Group, who own the properties at Nos. 49 and 51 Wroxham Road, 

claim to have accessed the stretch of the path that adjoins No. 49 on a 

regular basis from 2010 up to 2017 for the purpose of the maintenance of the 

property boundary. The Whitelock Group submission also highlights that in a 

2006 planning application for the redevelopment of their properties, the 

footpath is referred to as follows: “The status of the footpath is not completely 

clear except that it has been in this position, and presumably therefore in use 

344



as a right of way since the Ordnance Sheets of 1954. There are no rights 

reserved in the Deeds of the proposed site, of which the footpath clearly 

forms a part. However, this footpath is not disputed”. 

 
7. There are seven users who submitted evidence claiming to have neither used 

the path nor seen anybody using the path at all. 

 
8. During the 20th Century, 49 and 51 Wroxham Road served a retail purpose 

as corner shops, thereby acting as a draw for local pedestrian traffic from 

those living on James Road. 

 
Legal submission from Mr. Michael Atherton, occupier of 104 Sheringham 
Road: 
 
9. In his statement, Mr. Atherton outlines that he believes that use of the path 

has not been ‘as of right’. He alleges that only some landowners have a ‘right 

of way’ mentioned in their Title and that this would imply that the path has no 

Public Right of Way designation, however as no Public Right of Way has 

been recorded yet, this would not have appeared in any Title, so does not 

serve to undermine its status. 

 
10. It is alleged that as the longest period of time that any of the properties has 

been owned is 14 years, that the statutory period is not fulfilled, however this 

argument has no relevance as no single user is required to fulfil the statutory 

period on their own and not all witnesses live adjoining the path in any case. 

 
11. The statement goes on to claim that the evidence shows that the route has 

not been used by “any members of the public for very many years, if at all. 

There certainly is not any evidence which shows 20 years of uninterrupted 

use”. These claims are contradicted by the evidence submitted in the 

applicant’s submission which claim a continued pattern of public access 

beginning in 1957. 

 
12. The forms submitted claiming a lack of knowledge of the existence of the 

path or lack of observation of use of the path would not appear to undermine 

the claim as these witnesses only appear from 1988 onwards and as public 

surveillance of paths is likely to be a largely incomplete record, this cannot be 

relied upon to negative the existence of a path, especially due to the small 

number of witnesses (seven). 

 
13. The statement refers to videos of the path submitted that show the path in an 

overgrown and impassable state. The Rights of Way team make two main 

observations from the videos. Firstly, although overgrown at head height and 

345



obstructed at the end, the path appears to be well defined on the ground in its 

width and linearity and is reasonably clear of obstruction in parts for the first 

2-3 metres off the ground. The density of overgrowth demonstrated in the 

video does not indicate a path that has always been obstructed, this level of 

overgrowth is to be expected within 5 years without maintenance. 

 
14. The statement further alleges that the strip of land was used by a previous 

owner as a vegetable patch or was only constructed for the purpose of wall 

maintenance. It seems unlikely that an overshadowed strip of land like this 

would be used for the purpose of vegetable growing, or that land would be 

set aside purely for wall maintenance – almost all residential properties 

maintain their boundaries without such access. 

 

15. A petition was produced by Mr. Michael Atherton to object to the creation of a 

public right of way between Sheringham Road and James Road. The action 

desired by those who had signed the petition was for the DMMO application 

to be dismissed. The petition is signed by 54 people. 

 

Potential for Extinguishment 
 

16. It is possible in principle for BCP Council to extinguish Public Rights of Way 

where they have fallen into such disuse that they are considered to be no 

longer needed for use by the public. In the case of this application, the 

claimed path appears to have fallen into disuse through lack of public 

demand, therefore there exists at least a possibility for a member of the 

public to apply to have the path extinguished. It is also possible that the path 

is not used because it is currently obstructed. 

17. Any extinguishment would require a public consultation and advertisement of 

an Order which could be objected to by the public. In any arising Public 

Inquiry, the Inspectorate would consider not just the likely need of the public 

for the path but also the impact of an extinguishment on adjoining 

landowners. It is therefore suggested that if an application for extinguishment 

is to be considered, that all landowners adjoining the path would need to be 

in agreement to the proposal. 

 

 
Conclusion 
 

18. The evidence as reviewed by the Rights of Way team suggests that user of 

the path as claimed gives rise to the status of a Public Footpath being 

reasonably alleged to subsist. 

 

346



Summary of financial implications  

19. If the Order is contested, BCP Council could be required to go through a 

Public Inquiry, which would incur the costs of external legal representation. 

20. Failure to make progress in complying with the duty placed on the authority to 

survey and prepare a map for a Public Right of Way could attract a Judicial 

Review procedure if an external party felt sufficiently aggrieved by lack of 

progress. There are several interest groups with interest in this matter. The 

minimum financial costs attached to a contested Judicial Review would be 

circa £30,000. 

Summary of legal implications  

21. Failure to make progress in complying with the duty placed on the authority to 

survey and prepare a map for a Public Right of Way could attract a Judicial 

Review procedure if an external party felt sufficiently aggrieved by lack of 

progress.  

Summary of human resources implications  

22. If the order is contested the matter could escalate to the Planning 

Inspectorate for a decision and confirmation of the order, which in turn may 

result in a public enquiry.  Legal representation would be required to 

represent as well as technical officer time.  The Officers would also be 

required to notify all interested parties and host the inquiry. 

Summary of environmental impact  

23. No substantial environmental impact but could encourage increased walking 

leading to a slight reduction in carbon emission. 

Summary of public health implications  

24. This will have no substantial public health implications but would encourage 

walking with associated health and wellbeing benefits for users.  

Summary of equality implications  

25. An equalities impact assessment has been undertaken and identified that this 

will have positive benefits to persons regarding the following protected 

characteristics; age, disability and socio economic. 

Summary of risk assessment  

26. Failing to record Public Rights of Way could lead to the possible loss of 

paths, and in turn pedestrian urban permeability. It would also prejudice BCP 

Council’s key objectives as set out in chapter 2 of the Rights of Way 

Improvement Plan. 

347



Background papers 

Bournemouth and Poole Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2017-2026 (Legacy 
Policy) https://www.poole.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/cycling-and-walking/public-
rights-of-way/  

Appendices  

Appendix A - Plan of claimed path at James Road 
Appendix B - Historic map extracts  
Appendix C - Summary of consultation responses 
Appendix D - Extract from video of path facing North West, M. Atherton, 2016 
Appendix E - User evidence chart 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

348

https://www.poole.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/cycling-and-walking/public-rights-of-way/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/cycling-and-walking/public-rights-of-way/


Appendix A – Map of Claimed Path 
 

 
 
 
 

349



 
 

Appendix B – Historic Maps 
 

 
 

OS Maps  1931 – 1940 

© Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100024248.  Air photography - © Getmappingplc 2012. 

350



 
 

OS Map 1941 – 1950 
 

© Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100024248.  Air photography - © Getmappingplc 2012. 

351



 
 

OS Maps  1951 - 1960 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100024248.  Air photography - © Getmappingplc 2012. 

352



 
 

OS  Map 1961 – 1980 
 

 
  

© Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100024248.  Air photography 

- © Getmappingplc 2012. 

353



Appendix C 
 
 

Summary of Representations 
 

The Advertisement prompted: 
 

 6 Objections including legal representation from a resident affected by the 

creation of the path. 

 10 people giving evidence of their usage of the path. 

 

All of the objections state either that they have never seen anyone using the path or 
that to their knowledge the path is private either because they were informed as such 
by residents or because they had never noticed the path. 
 
The evidence received in support of the path totals up to 61 years continuous user 
on foot. 
 
If members wish to see the responses they are available within normal office hours 
Monday – Friday in room 159 at the Civic Centre in Poole.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

354



Appendix D – Extract from video submitted by Mr. M. Atherton, view of path 
facing North West from East end of 104 Sheringham Road garden, taken 2016. 

 
 

 

355



Appendix E – Claimed witness period 
 

 
 
 

356



 

TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY GROUP 

 

Report subject Branksome Park/Canford Cliffs Residents Association 
Road Safety Petition 

Meeting date 26 February 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To consider an e-Petition from local residents to address 
safety concerns in their area 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

(a) Acknowledgement of the petitioners concerns and 

they be advised that in the absence of any 

significant accident record in this area we could 

not justify any road safety engineering 

interventions at present.  

(b) Forwarding of the petitioners concerns to Dorset 

Roads Traffic Policing Unit for their consideration 

relating to speed enforcement.  

(c) Informing the petitioners that the Council will 

investigate and assess options to enhance 

pedestrian and cycle facilities in the area but that 

no funding has been identified for implementing 

this work. 

(d) Advising the local resident group which submitted 

the petition that its bid for Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Neighbourhood Portion 

funding is to be considered alongside all other 

similar bids received and a decision on potential 

funding will be made in due course. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

BCP Council receives large numbers of requests for road 
safety measures. Current levels of funding only allow us to 
treat a small number of these locations each year. We 
prioritise requests on the basis of casualty evidence and 
there are more than 90 hotspot locations where there is an 
identified casualty accident record. None are in this area. 

357



 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley Portfolio Holder for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton Executive Director Regeneration and Economy 

Julian McLaughlin Service Director Growth & Infrastructure 

Contributors Martin Baker Senior Engineer Road Safety & Network 
Management 

Wards Canford Cliffs 

Classification For Update and Information 
Title:  

Background  

1. The Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Residents Association have recently 

submitted a paper and an online e-Petition regarding various road safety issues 

in their area. 

The petition, which was also posted on the ‘Pines and Chines’ website, is worded as 
follows: 

“A Petition to Improve Pedestrian and Cyclist Safety and Inhibit Excessive Vehicle 
Speeds in the Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Area.  

We the undersigned petition the BCP Council to fulfil their statutory duty, in 
accordance with The Highways Act 1980 section 130 and in fulfilling that duty to: 

1. Install Pedestrian Crossing Points where footpaths transverse the roads and 
at the community hubs identified on the Highway Hazards Map 

2. Improve and expand Cycle Routes with better road markings/different 
coloured tarmac/Signage 

3. Improve Footpath Signage (including where cycling is not permitted). 

4. Improve the layout of hazardous junctions identified on the Highway Hazards 
Map 

5. Implement a programme of measures to Inhibit Excessive Vehicle Speeds 

Refer to the ‘Highway Hazard Areas Map of BPCC’ for locations of particular concern 
where lives have been endangered and/or people say they frequently feel unsafe”.  

(The Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Petition “Highway Hazards Map” can be 
found at Appendix 1). 

The e-Petition ran from 30/09/2019 to 05/01/2020 and by the closing date a total of 
78 people had signed via the online BCP Petition portal page. The online e-Petition 
was a list of names in support of the proposal but included no individual comments.  

In addition to online version, a paper petition was submitted with identical wording. 
The paper version of the petition contained a total of 184 signatures from local 
residents, of just under a half (83) gave accompanying comments. These comments 
can be summarised into the following main groups: 

 63 were concerned about vehicle speeds (36% of residents) 

 10 were concerned about difficulties in crossing the road (5%) 

358



 

 10 had concerns about various issues including lack of drop kerbs, requesting 

traffic calming, poor visibility at junctions, poor parking, lack of warning 

signage, safety of children and safety of cyclists (5% in total) 

 91 made either no comments or non specific comments, such as “safety first” 

or “really necessary” (53% of total). 

The “Highway Hazard Areas Map of BPCC” included with the petition identified 42 
separate locations on the map which were seen by the residents as having road 
safety or other related issues: 
 

 12 sites where excessive speeds were of concern; 

 19 sites where pedestrian safety were considered to be an issue; 

 11 sites where junction visibility, bends, or reduced visibility were a concern. 

The hazards map has also been highlighted to indicate certain places of local 
interest such as the Branksome Park Tennis Courts, All Saints Nursery and Canford 
Cliffs Library. In addition further annotation has been added to emphasize specific 
areas of concern such as “Public Footpaths – no crossing points”, or 
“Accidents/Damage to Property and Trees” 
 
The hazards map shows a rectangular area approximately 2.4km (1.5 miles) by 1.5 
km (0.9 miles). The hazardous locations identified by the petitioners are contained 
within an area bounded by The Avenue in the east, Pinecliff Road/Haven Road in 
the south, Canford Cliffs Road in the west and Lindsay Road in the north. 
 
Current cycling and walking/public footpath provision across this area is shown at 
Appendix 2 and 3 for information. 
 
2. Allied to the petition, the local residents group submitted a bid for CIL funding 

through the Neighbourhood Portion round 4 which closed on 24 January 2020.  

The bid was for a total of £1.7M, which was based on a range of budget costs from 
£600k to £2M indicated by officers. The bid included a sum for a ‘high level’ audit of 
the sites by an external highways consulting engineer. It did not include for any 
subsequent public consultation or detailed design and supervision costs for each 
individual site identified on the ‘Hazard Map’.  
 
The local residents group indicated that they did not want the local highway authority 
to carry out the initial high level assessment because they felt that there would be a 
‘conflict of interests’ and also that the concerns of residents would only be fully 
addressed by employing an independent consultant. This consultant would be 
responsible for identifying and estimating the costs for ‘remedying the deficiencies in 
infrastructure’. The residents also wanted the most cost and time efficient solution to 
deliver the infrastructure recommended by the audit, whether that be the local 
authority or an third party engineering contractor. 
 
At this stage it is not possible to give an indication of how successful the CIL bid is 
likely to be as at this stage no decision has been made on the allocation of funds. 
Larger awards (i.e. over £100,000, which are deemed to be allocated only in 
‘exceptional circumstances’) are decided by BCP Council’s Cabinet. 
 

359



 

3. The road traffic accident data held by BCP Council is supplied by Dorset Police 

from detailed, validated information held about reported injury crashes.  

Over the most recent ten year period for which validated road traffic injury accident 
data is available (1 July 2009 to 30 June 2019), there have been 95 recorded 
accidents resulting in 124 separate casualties across the area identified on the 
hazard map. Of these, a total of 18 were serious in nature and none were fatal. No 
records are kept of non-injury accidents, i.e. were there was only damage to other 
vehicles and/or other property. 
 
The majority (two-thirds) of those injured in this area were motor vehicle occupants – 
either as drivers or passengers. Of the more vulnerable road user groups reported: 

 8 pedestrians were injured (2 seriously); 

 22 cyclists were injured (4 seriously); 

 13 motorcyclists were injured(2 seriously); 

 21 accidents were suspected as having speed as one or more of the 

contributory factors. 

 

4. Examining the locations identified on the Hazard Map in more detail and, in 

particular, where these locations were within 50 metres of a recorded injury 

accident in the last ten years (as shown at Appendix 4 and summarised at 

Appendix 5): 

 Only one speed-related accident occurred near a location identified as having 

excessive speeds (Lindsay Road, slight injury only due to aquaplaning); 

 Six pedestrian accidents were identified as being within 50 metres of a 

Pedestrian safety concern site. At two of these sites, a pedestrian was 

seriously injured (one was a pedestrian who jumped in front of an 

approaching HGV and the other was a child pedestrian struck on the 

Branksome Chine Puffin Crossing by a cyclist who ignored the red light); 

 Seven accidents were identified as being within 50 metres of a location with a 

concern about junction visibility, bends, or reduced visibility. There was only 

one serious injury (an elderly bus passenger who stood up while the bus was 

moving, fell and was injured). 

In summary therefore, at the 42 locations identified on the hazard map only 14 could 
reasonably be associated with having any sort of accident record and only three of 
these accidents resulted in serious injuries. A record of those injured in the area of 
the hazard map over the last 10 years by class of road user has been reproduced at 
Appendix 5. 
 
5. There are concerns about vehicle speeds (and volumes) in so many of the 

Borough's roads that BCP Council can only justify introducing traffic calming 

measures at those locations where we could demonstrate that we would be 

addressing a significant history of accidents.  

 
Therefore BCP Council prioritises road safety requests on the basis of actual 
casualty evidence.  There are currently 92 locations around BCP Council where 

360



 

there is a significant casualty accident record over the most recent 5 year period for 
which data is available. The intervention level is where there are seven or more 
casualty accidents within a 50m radius (a hotspot or cluster site) and current levels 
of funding will only allow us to treat a small number of these cluster sites each year.  
 
There are several reasons for this: 
  

 Traffic calming is expensive and we're only given very limited funds for 
schemes that will actually show a casualty reduction; 

 To be fair to everyone, we have to be able to demonstrate why we've 
introduced calming in one road but not in another and we use accident 
records as the indicator for this; 

 Traffic calming is not always welcomed by all of the residents and we can only 
defend a scheme against those residents that oppose it by showing its safety 
benefits. That's often debatable unless you can show an  objective measure 
like accident reduction; 

 The calming features could present a potential hazard in themselves; if we 
introduce them in a road where there have been no accidents; it is quite 
possible that the accident record could go up. 

 
A plan showing current cluster sites/hotspots across the BCP conurbation can be 
found at Appendix 6. 

Summary of financial implications  

6. The total cost of implementing engineering measures at all of the locations 

identified on the Highway Hazards Map has not been calculated in detail but a 

preliminary assessment indicates that to satisfy every request would require 

capital expenditure in the region of up to £1.6M excluding fees. 

For information the current annual budget for road safety across the whole of the 

BCP Council area is £295k. The Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Residents 

Association has submitted a bid for funding from the CIL Neighbourhood Portion 

for the sum of £1.7 Million.  

Included within the bid application is a quotation from a private consulting 

engineers to carry out a ‘high level traffic survey/audit’ but this quote does not 

include for any public consultation, detailed scheme design or site supervision 

which would be required for a scheme of this impact. It is likely that if BCP 

Council were to carry out the design and supervision then this would cost in the 

region of £250,000 based on the size of the CIL bid.  

Summary of legal implications  

7. The petition references Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980 but it is not 

pertinent to this situation.  

As the local highway authority, a council’s delivery of its service to the public is 
subject to basic statutory duties contained within the Highways Act. Under Section 
130, the Council has a statutory duty, in respect of all highways, to assert and 
protect the rights of the public to the use of all highways for which they are the 
highway authority (that is all except trunk roads), to prevent, as far as possible, the 

361



 

stopping up or obstruction of those highways; and to prevent any unlawful 
encroachment on any roadside waste composed in a highway. 
 

Local authorities do have various statutory duties in relation to road safety under a 

number of other Acts of Parliament.  

The Road Traffic Act 1988 (Section 39) requires local authorities in Great Britain to: 

• take steps both to reduce and prevent accidents 
• prepare and carry out a programme of measures designed to promote road safety 
• carry out studies into accidents arising out of the use of vehicles on roads or part of 
roads, other than trunk roads, within their area 
• take such measures as appear to the authority to be appropriate to prevent such 
accidents 
 
The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (Section 122) requires local authorities in 
Great Britain to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular 
and other traffic (including pedestrians) 
 
The Traffic Management Act 2004 (Section 16) requires local authorities in England 
and Wales to manage and maintain their road networks to: 
 
• secure the expeditious movement of traffic on, and the efficient use of, their road 
networks 
• avoid, eliminate or reduce road congestion or other disruption to the movement of 
traffic on their road network or a road network for which another authority is the 
traffic authority. 

Summary of human resources implications  

8.  Resources required in order to carry out the necessary detailed investigations, to 

develop briefs, carry out public consultations and deliver/supervise the 

construction works on site for any of the locations have yet to be identified. 

Currently the existing teams are fully committed on delivering the current LTP 

capital programme and, potentially, the Transforming Cities Fund. 

Summary of environmental impact  

9. There would inevitably be some negative short term impact on the local 

environment from the installation of so many separate engineering features in 

one go. There may also be a negative impact on air quality and CO2 emissions 

by vehicles failing to drive economically through any traffic calming. This could 

potentially be offset in the longer term, however, by carbon reduction if those who 

currently drive to local amenities, shops and businesses are motivated and 

encouraged to walk and cycle as a result of their provision.  

Summary of public health implications  

10. If more people take up cycling and walking it will bring significant public health 

benefits to the local community. For example active travel research indicates that 

362



 

just three hours of cycling per week may reduce the risk of heart disease and 

stroke by half. 

Summary of equality implications  

11. There are currently no equality implications. 

Summary of risk assessment  

12.  A full and detailed risk assessment will be carried out in the event any funding is 

identified for any of these schemes. 

Background papers  

None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Highway Hazards Map Branksome Park and Canford Cliff for Petition 
Appendix 2 – Map of cycleway provision across Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs 
Appendix 3 – Map of Footpaths and Rights of Way across BPCC 
Appendix 4 – Map of Hazards against existing recorded 10-year road casualty data 
Appendix 5 – Summary of Casualty Data for BPCC area over the last 10 Years by 
class of road user 
Appendix 6 – Map of current 5-year BCP Council Casualty Hotspots  

363



 

 
 
Appendix 1 – Highway Hazards Map Branksome Park and Canford Cliff for Petition 

 
 
  

364



 

 
Appendix 2 – Map of cycleway provision across Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs 

  

365



 

 
Appendix 3 – Map of Footpaths and Rights of Way across BPCC 

 
 
  

366



 

 
Appendix 4 – Map of Hazards against existing recorded 10-year road casualty data 

 
 
 
  

367



 

 
Appendix 5 – Summary of Casualty Data for BPCC area over the last 10 Years by 

class of road user 
 

  

368



 

 

 
Appendix 6 – Map of current BCP Council Casualty Hotspots* 

(*seven or more casualty accidents within a 50m radius in a 5-year period) 

369



T
his page is intentionally left blank

370



 

Transportation Advisory Group 

 

Report subject Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic 
Regulation Orders (Ref P2, T1 & S1 2020) 

Meeting date 26 February 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic 
Regulations Order (TRO) as requested by members of the 
public, councillors and council officers 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The changes outlined in the appendix are advertised and 
implemented if no objections are received 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To advertise new restrictions for the delivery of the council’s 
Local transport Plans, Active Travel & Travel Safety 
Measures projects. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton – Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin – Growth & Infrastructure 

Service Unit Head Richard Pincroft – Transportation  

Contributors Chris Parkes – Team Leader Traffic Management  

Simon Philp – Highways Design Team Leader 

Steve Hoyle – Road Safety Engineering Team Leader 

Wards Various 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The restrictions listed in Appendix 1 are required to enable delivery of the 

Councils Local Transport Plan (LTP) Active Travel & Travel Safety Measures 

projects. If not detailed within Appendix 1, the specific restrictions to be 

371



 

advertised will be developed within the preliminary design process. Scheme 

details will be determined prior to the advertising of any orders.  

  

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the consultation and implementation of the Traffic 

Regulations Order (TRO) will be covered by the LTP Capital Budget.  

Summary of legal implications  

3. Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders 

(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory 

consultation process to make any change to a TRO. This process will include 

notifications to all relevant ward councillors and all statutory consultees (including 

emergency services, disability groups, local public transport providers, national 

transport associations and various council departments) and a three week public 

consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily Echo, on the council’s website and 

by on-street notices in the relevant locations. 

4. All representations received will be formally considered. 

Summary of human resources implications  

5. None 

Summary of environmental impact  

6. None 

Summary of public health implications  

7. None 

Summary of equality implications  

8. Any Equality and Diversity Impact assessments are enclosed in the background 

papers. 

Summary of risk assessment  

9. Any initial risk assessments that have been completed have been classed the 

proposals as low risk. 

Background papers  

LTP Capital Programme 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – List of schemes 
  

372



 

Appendix 1 
 

Traffic Measures requiring Advertisement 
 

Legend:  NWAAT – No Waiting At Any Time (double yellow lines), DYL – Double Yellow Line, NLAAT – No Loading/unloading At Any Time (double kerb blip), 
SPP – Street Parking Place, DPP – Disabled Parking Place, SYL – Single Yellow Line, NRT – No Return Time, TRO – Traffic Regulation Order 

 

 
Road Name Existing 

Restriction 
Proposed 
Restriction 
Description 

Location BCP Wards Comments 

1.  

Wallisdown 
Road 
(between Alton 
Road and 
Wallisdown 
Crossroads) 

SYL 
Mon-Fri 
10am-11am 
2pm-3pm 

DYL  

From 20m East of Alton Road 
along the northern side to 78m 
west of University Roundabout. 
(start of bus Layby) 

Wallisdown & Winton 

West. 

Alderney & Bourne 

Valley. 

Talbot & Branksome 

Woods. 

To prevent parking within the proposed Eastbound cycle 
lane along Wallisdown road and to ensure the A3049 
remains clear of obstructions to traffic. 

2.  Talbot Drive SPP DYL 
Northern end of the northern 
parking bay on east side of 
Talbot Drive  

Alderney & Bourne 
Valley 

To Shorten parking by 3m to enable the installation of 
pedestrian/cycle buildout for safe access to Talbot Drive 
from new shared facility along Wallisdown Road 

3.  St Stephens 
Road  

DYL, 30MPH 

20MPH Zone 
and 
associated 
traffic calming 

From Richmond Hill to Braidley 
Road. 

Bournemouth Central 

Associate to S106. 
To join the existing 20mph zones on Richmond Hill and 
Braidley Road. The 20mph zone will be supported by a 
new raised table at the junction of St Stephens Way and 
St Stephens Road, new speed cushions spaced 
appropriately and widening of the existing footway along 
the southern footway. Existing parking restrictions to 
remain.  

4.  Wellington Road SPP DYL 

From the East side of the 
vehicular access to 9 wellington 
road to the west side of the 
vehicular access to number 5. 

East Cliff & 
Springbourne 

Removal of Parking to enable extension of cycle lanes.  

5.  Holdenhurst 
Road 

On street parking 
and no restriction 

NLAAT 

Southern side, from a point 20m 
south west to a point 40m south 
west of its junction with Victoria 
Place 

East Cliff & 
Springbourne 

Reduction of on street parking bays by 12m and 
installation of NLAAT outside Tesco entrance to increase 
visibility and reduce collisions and casualties. 

373



 

6.  

Heathlands 
Primary 
(Andrew Close, 
Springwater 
Close, 
Springwater Rd)  

DYL 
Traffic 
Calming 

At its junction with Andrews 
Close, Springwater Close, 
Springwater Rd 

Kinson 
Installation of a raised junction to slow vehicle speeds and 
provide a safer crossing point for school children and 
parents. 

7.  St Georges 
Avenue 

Unrestricted DYL 
From junction of Queens Park 
West Drive for approximately 
20m north. 

Queen's Park 
Installation of DYL to enable a cycle bypass to existing No 
Entry, by creation of shared path cross existing footway 
buildout. 

 

 

 

 

 

 374



1. Wallisdown Road 

Existing TRO Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

375



Proposed Plans  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed parking restrictions. 

 

Proposed parking restrictions. 

 

376



2. Talbot Drive  

Existing TRO Plans 

 

Proposed Plan 

To Shorten parking by 3m to enable the installation of pedestrian/cycle buildout for safe access to 

Talbot Drive from new shared facility along Wallisdown Road 

 

200m Existing on-street parking bays. 

 

197m Existing on-street parking bays. 

 

Existing parking restrictions to be 

extended where existing parking bay 

is to be removed. 

 

377



3. St Stephens Road 

Existing TRO Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

378



Proposed Plan 

 

379



4. Wellington Road 

Existing TRO Plan 

 

Proposed Plan 

Removal of parking and installation of double yellows opposite side to Staples 

 

 

Proposed parking restrictions. 

 

380



5. Holdenhurst Road,  

Remove on-street parking outside Tesco Express 

Existing TRO Plan 

 

 

Proposed Plan 

 

381



6. Heathlands Primary 

Existing double yellow lines to remain and crossroads to be raised.  

Existing TRO Plan 

  

 

Proposed Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed raised junction, 

existing parking restrictions to 

remain. 

 

382



7. St Georges Avenue 

New contraflow to be added, double yellow lines to be extended 

Existing TRO Plan 

 

 

Proposed Plan 

 

Existing parking 

restrictions. 

 

Existing parking 

restrictions extended. 

 

383



This page is intentionally left blank

384



Transportation Advisory Group  

 

Report subject Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Changes to 
On-Street Disabled Bays (Ref P1 2020) 

Meeting date 26 February 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic 
Regulations Order (TRO) implementing changes to on-street 
disabled bays. 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The changes outlined in the appendix are advertised and 
implemented if no objections are received 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To advertise new proposed restrictions to amend existing and 
implement new disabled bays. All the requests meet the 
criteria for the provision or removal of disabled bays within 
the Bournemouth and Christchurch areas. 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin – Growth & Infrastructure 

Service Unit Head Richard Pincroft – Transportation  

Contributors Chris Parkes – Team Leader Traffic Management  

Steve Dean – Traffic Management Engineer 

Clare Griffiths – Traffic Technician 

Wards Various 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. Residents who hold a blue disabled badge for parking may apply for a residential 

disabled bay outside their home subject to certain conditions. These can be either 

385



a general disabled bay for use by all blue badge holders or a permit bay for use by 

the permit holder only. 

All the proposed disabled bays in Appendix 1 meet the required conditions and 

have successfully completed the disabled bay application process. All the 

proposed removals have been requested by the applicant or residents and have 

been ratified by Officers. 

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the consultation and implementation of the Traffic 

Regulations Order (TRO) will be covered by the income from the disabled bay 

application fees. The whole review cost is estimated to be £3,000. 

Summary of legal implications  

3. Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders 

(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory 

consultation process to make any change to a TRO. This process will include 

notifications to all relevant ward councillors and all statutory consultees (including 

emergency services, disability groups, local public transport providers, national 

transport associations and various council departments) and a three week public 

consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily Echo, on the council’s website and 

by on-street notices in the relevant locations. 

All representations received will be formally considered. 

Summary of human resources implications  

4.  None 

Summary of environmental impact  

5. None 

Summary of public health implications  

6. None 

Summary of equality implications  

7. Any Equality and Diversity Impact assessments are enclosed in the background 

papers. 

Summary of risk assessment  

8. Any initial risk assessments that have been completed have been classed as low 

risk. 

Background papers  

Initial Risk assessment  
EINA Screening Record 

386



Appendices  

Appendix 1 – List of schemes and associated plans 
 

387



This page is intentionally left blank

388



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Aylesbury Road No. 16 

001 
N.T.S 

New residential disabled bay  

Type: permit 

Location: in front of No. 16 

 

 

Current 

Street Parking Place for 

Cars and Motorcycles 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 102 only 

389



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Curlew Road No. 10 

002 N.T.S 

 

 

New residential disabled bay  

Type: permit 

Location: in front of No. 10 

 

 

Current 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the Disabled 

Permit 104 only 

390



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Fortescue Road No. 23 

003 N.T.S 

 

Removal of residential disabled 

bay  

Location: in front of No. 23 
24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Current 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

TO BE REMOVED 

391



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Ibbertson Way 

004 N.T.S 

 

New residential disabled bay  

Type: permit 

Location:  

rear of No. 33 Ibbertson Road 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 091 only 

Current 24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Waiting Prohibited 

Mon-Fri 10am-11am 

and 3pm-4pm 

392



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Ivamy Place No. 10 

005 N.T.S 

 

Conversion of existing disabled 

bay to a permit disabled bay 

Location: in front of No. 10 

Current 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

24 hours Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 032 only 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 106 only 

393



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale:

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTESIssue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Somerset Road No. 48 

006 N.T.S 

 

1. New residential disabled bay  

Type: permit 

Location: in front of No. 48 

2. Removal of 2.4m NWAAT in 

front of No. 50 to mitigate length 

of new disabled bay (NB map-

ping & on-site do not currently 

match) 

Current 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 101 only 

Somerset Road 

394



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Southbourne Overcliff Drive 

No. 65 

007 N.T.S 

 

Conversion of 6.6m of street 

parking place to residential      

disabled bay  

Type: permit 

Location: opposite No. 65, end 

section of existing bay adjacent 

the double yellow lines  

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 105 only 

Street Parking Place for 

Cars and Motorcycles 

Current 

Proposed 

395



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

St James’s Square 

008 N.T.S 

 

 

 

Conversion of existing street 

parking place to residential      

disabled bay 

Type: permit 

Location: northernmost bay,     

opposite No. 5 

 

Current 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Permit 103 only 

Street Parking Place for 

Cars and Motorcycles 

Street Parking Place for 

Cars and Motorcycles 

24 hours Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

396



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Swansbury Drive No. 46 

009 N.T.S 

 

Removal of residential disabled 

bay  

Location: in front of No. 46 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled  

TO BE REMOVED 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Current 

Proposed 

397



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

Wolverton Road No. 57 

010 N.T.S 

 

Removal of residential disabled 

bay  

Location: in front of No. 57 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

TO BE REMOVED 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled 

Current 

Proposed 

Waiting Prohibited 

Mon-Fri 8am-6pm 

398



Drawing No: 

Drawn by: CG Date: 03.02.2020 

Scale: 

Director - Julian McLaughlin 

Growth and Infrastructure N 

NOTES Issue DATE Checked 

This map is based on Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf 
of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office 
Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 

BCP Council Licence No. 100000019829, 

 

Bournemouth 

Christchurch 

and 

Poole 

Council 

P1 2020 Residential Disabled 

Bay Proposals 

York Place No. 17 

011 N.T.S 

 

New residential disabled bay  

Type: general 

Location: in front of No. 17 

Current 

Proposed 

24 hour Street Parking 

Place for the disabled  

399



T
his page is intentionally left blank

400



1 
 

Transportation Advisory Group 

 

Report subject Anti-Idling Outside Primary Schools Campaign 

Meeting date 26 February 2020 

Status Public  

Executive summary 
 

To seek approval to develop and run an anti-idling campaign 
in partnership with Public Health Dorset and a small number 
of pilot primary schools across the BCP area.    
 
To design and produce a toolkit linked to the national 
curriculum which will be used by teachers and children in the 
pilot schools to encourage parents to switch off their engines 
whilst waiting outside the school, thereby reducing Carbon 
Monoxide, Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate pollution. 
 
To run a behavioural change campaign in the pilot schools 
with the aim of educating, encouraging and working with 
parents, but which could ultimately be supported by 
enforcement action. 

Recommendations 
The Transport Advisory Group is asked to recommend to 
Cabinet that: 

a)  An Anti-Idling Campaign be undertaken at a small 
number of primary schools using allocated DEFRA 
funding 

b) Appropriate enforcement action be used but as a 
last resort 

c) Should the campaign prove successful, it will be 
rolled out to additional schools across the BCP 
area in future years 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To improve air quality outside of schools, thereby reducing 
the harmful effects on children. 

To compliment active travel initiatives, working with those 
who can’t take up active travel but whose actions affect those 
who do. 

To support overall air quality objectives and climate 
emergency initiatives. 

To comply with DEFRA requirements for the spending of 
residual monies from the 2018 air quality feasibility study 
funding. 

401



2 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): 

Cllr Hadley (Transport and Infrastructure) 

Cllr Dr Rice (Environment and Climate Change) 

Cllr Moore (Children and Families) 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Regeneration & Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin, Growth & Infrastructure 

Service Unit Head Richard Pincroft – Transportation  

Contributors 

John McVey (Sustainable Transport Policy Manager) 

Emma Sadiwskyj-Frewer (Senior Transport Planner) 

Ian Selby (Sustainable Travel Officer) 

Sarah Sutton (Environmental Protection Officer [Air Quality]) 

Caroline Fair (Team Manager, Regulatory Services) 

Wards 
Initially the wards associated with the pilot schools selected to 
work on the project.  If the project is successful, then it could 
be rolled out gradually to all schools. 

Classification For Decision and Information 
Title:  

Background  

1. In 2017/18 Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole Council 
received a Ministerial Direction to investigate, and where appropriate, tackle 
roadside nitrogen dioxide levels on a number of road links based on DEFRA 
modelled data; the Councils were amongst 33 councils to do so.    
 

2. DEFRA provided £50,000 to each Council to develop a feasibility study to identify 
measures that could bring forward compliance dates within the shortest possible 
time.  Through the feasibility study each Council used data and further modelling 
to prove nitrogen dioxide levels were within compliant limits and therefore, there 
was no need for measures to bring forward compliance. 
 

3. DEFRA allowed each Council to retain residual funding from the feasibility 
studies but stipulated it be spent on Air Quality measures related to the feasibility 
study.  
 

4. DEFRA approved Bournemouth Borough Council’s plan to spend the residual 
monies on School anti-idling initiatives, alongside Business Travel Network (BTN) 
initiatives aimed at commuter travel across the BTN project area.  DEFRA also 
approved the Borough of Poole’s plan to spend the residual monies on Schools 
anti-idling initiatives, together with the purchase of a number of real-time air 
quality monitors. 
 

5. Comprehensive information about air quality within the conurbation can be 
located within the Annual Status Reports for each town. 

402



3 
 

 
6. Permission is being sought to use the residual monies from the DEFRA funding 

to run an Anti-Idling campaign in partnership with Public Health Dorset and a 
number of pilot schools in the BCP Council area. 
 

Project Outline: 
7. To develop and run a behavioural change, anti-idling campaign in partnership 

with Public Health Dorset and a small number of pilot primary schools across the 
BCP Council area.  To design and produce a toolkit linked to the national 
curriculum which will be used by teachers and children to encourage parents to 
switch off their engines whilst waiting outside the school.  

 
Project Aim 
8. To specifically engage those parents who use the car for the school run, to 

encourage them to switch off their engines whilst waiting or queuing in the vicinity 
of the school with the aim of reducing Carbon Monoxide, Nitrogen Dioxide and 
Particulate pollution. 
 

9. To improve the air quality in the vicinity of schools and hence have a public 
health benefit for pupils, parents, and staff, as well as those residing in the area. 
 

10. The project does not specifically aim to encourage parents/ pupils to switch to 
more active travel modes, however it will compliment other active travel initiatives 
which are already planned/in place. 

 
Project timescales: 
11. The project will be developed in partnership with a number of selected pilot 

schools across the BCP area.  Development and production of the toolkit will be 
carried out in 2019/20 and 2021/22 and the campaign will be launched and 
delivered in schools during 2020/21 and 2021/22, in line with appropriate school 
timetabling requirements/restrictions. 
 

12. The toolkit will be designed so as not to be ‘date bound’ and could therefore, if 
successful, be rolled out to additional schools over the coming years. 

 
The toolkit: 
13. Initially, a small number of schools will be invited to work on the project to 

develop an anti-idling toolkit to be delivered in Primary schools.  Partnership 
working with the schools will identify where the project links to key national 
curriculum principles and will encourage buy-in from the schools.   
 

14. The toolkit will be developed through a series of partnership workshops with the 
selected schools, Public Health Dorset, Local GP surgeries, and the air quality 
and transport teams from BCP Council.  
 

15. The toolkit will take the form of: 
i. Lesson/Assembly plans to introduce the principle of air quality and 

pollution 

403



4 
 

ii. Citizen Science Week 1 – to gather baseline data about the number of 

cars idling outside of the school and any relating citizen science activities 

carried out by the pupils 

iii. Development and delivery of a communications campaign – designed and 

delivered by the pupils, using the toolkit, to educate parents about air 

quality and pollution, and the effect of car idling 

iv. Citizen Science Week 2 – repeat of previous citizen science tests to 

identify any change 

v. Feedback – Communications campaign designed with the pupils to 

feedback the results to parents 

 
Schools selection criteria: 
16. A small number of schools will be selected for participation in the development of 

the toolkit and to pilot the delivery of the campaign: 
 

17. Selection of schools will be based on a mix of the following criteria: 

 Schools who have completed the School Audit Survey (Bournemouth schools) 

 Schools who have completed and are administering a School Travel Plan 

 Schools identified as having issues around pick up and drop off times 

 Schools identified as having issues for pedestrians/scooters/cyclists 

accessing the site 

 Schools participating in road safety/sustainable school’s campaigns (i.e. 

STEPS / Living Streets / Bikeability Training 

 Modal split – Schools with relatively high car use but who are also working to 

increase active travel, including those with a high percentage of walkers 

 Schools with issues around parking and congestion 

 

Summary of financial implications  

18. The project will be completed using residual funding from that issued by DEFRA 
in 2017/18 to carry out Air Quality Feasibility Studies.  This funding was originally 
received by the former Bournemouth Borough and Borough of Poole Councils; 
now BCP Council, this funding has been pooled to finance this project, which will 
also cover Christchurch. 
 

19. The residual DEFRA funding will be used to develop and produce the toolkit and 
purchase any supporting materials and resources.   Staff time used to deliver the 
campaign will be covered under normal staffing revenue budgets. 

Summary of legal implications  

20.  The council has a legal duty to support Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives 
under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. 
 

21. Rule 123 of The Highway Code looks at ‘The Driver and the Environment’, stating 
that drivers must not leave a parked vehicle unattended with the engine running 
or leave a vehicle engine running unnecessarily while that vehicle is stationary on 
a public road. 

404



5 
 

 

22. BCP Council will seek to identify relevant legislation through which it can be 
assigned as a designated authority in order to issue Fixed Penalty Notices 
(FPNs) in relation to anti-idling.  It is important to note that the intention of this 
project is to educate and encourage drivers to switch off their engines in the first 
instance, issuing of FPNs will only be considered if a motorist refuses to switch 
off their engine off when asked to do so by an authorised person following an 
educational campaign. 
 

23. The use of FPNs is one of many tools which would be used as part of this project 
to seek compliance of parents in switching off their engines, however, it is 
intended that this would be used as a last resort. 

Summary of human resources implications  

24.  The project does not require any additional human resource. 
 

25. The project will be delivered by BCP Council officers in partnership with Public 
Health and Local GP surgeries. 

 
26. Should BCP Council be designated the authority to issue FPNs, relevant officers 

will require training.  

Summary of environmental impact  

27.  The primary pollutants released from an automobile exhaust pipe are Nitrogen 
Dioxide (abbreviated NO2), Carbon Monoxide (CO), particulate matter emissions 
(primarily the fine particles designated PM2.5), and Volatile Organic Compounds 
(VOCs,), compounds such as formaldehyde and other hydrocarbons. Each of 
these emissions work both in isolation and in concert with one another to produce 
several negative human and environmental effects, including but not limited to 
irritation of asthmatic symptoms, global climate change, and ground-level ozone 
formation1.  
 

28. This project seeks to reduce the emissions of Carbon Monoxide, Nitrogen 
Dioxide and Particulate matter, specifically PM2.5, outside of schools. 
 

29. Whilst the Council does not have an exceedance of the compliance threshold of 
Nitrogen Dioxide it would be beneficial to reduce this even further, thereby 
improving air quality. 
 

30. Alongside improvements in air quality the project should see knock-on benefits of 
reduced noise from engine idling. 
 

31. Whilst the project does not specifically aim to encourage modal shift to more 
active travel, it is likely to have beneficial knock-on effects as pupils and parents 
become more aware of sustainable travel options, alongside the improved 
environment and air quality outside of schools. 

                                                      

1 UNC Institute for the Environment: Idling Gets You Nowhere: Turn off Your Engine, Spring 2010 

 

405



6 
 

 

32. This project supports the Council’s work in line with the recent declaration of a 
Climate Emergency. 

Summary of public health implications  

33. The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the 
UK is estimated to be around £16 billion2.  
 

34. According to Public Health England, air pollution is the biggest environmental 
threat to health in the UK, with between 28,000 and 36,000 deaths a year 
attributed to long-term exposure3 
 

35. Children take in more air than adults per pound of body weight, thus making them 
particularly susceptible to the dangers of vehicular exhaust4. 
 

36. NOx, CO, PM2.5, and VOCs, work both in isolation and in concert with one 
another to produce several negative human and environmental effects, including 
but not limited to irritation of asthmatic symptoms, global climate change, and 
ground-level ozone formation.   

 
37. Children and adults with respiratory conditions will benefit most. 

 

38. If the project sees a shift to more active travel modes further health benefits could 
be realised through increased physical activity. 

 
39.  Working in partnership with Public Health Dorset will also provide more 

opportunities for parents to access the LiveWell Dorset service. 
 
40.  Local GP’s will be invited to take part in promoting the project, strengthening the 

anti-idling message and improving links within the community. 

Summary of equality implications  

41.  A full Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and the project has a 
number of positive equality impacts for a variety of protected 
characteristics/groups.  There are however a small number of possible perceived 
negative impacts. 

 
42.  Improved air quality and health outcomes are identified as positive impacts 

specifically in relation to the protected characteristics of age, disability, pregnancy 
and maternity, and socio-economic characteristics. 

 
43.  Perceived negative impacts are in relation to certain protected 

characteristics/groups, specifically the misconception of being targeted by the 
campaign due to mode of transport.  The project will be carefully designed and 
communicated to ensure the focus is on anti-idling and not mode of transport to 

                                                      

2 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013 
3 Public Health England. Review of interventions to improve outdoor air quality and public health, March 2019 
4 UNC Institute for the Environment: Idling Gets You Nowhere: Turn off Your Engine, Spring 2010 

406



7 
 

take into consideration these perceived impacts.  The project design and delivery 
will also take into account where, due to any protected characteristic, there is a 
need to continue idling.    

Summary of risk assessment  

44.  Reputational risk – associated with concern around air quality outside schools 
which the project may cause if not communicated carefully.  The project will be 
delivered with the support of the Council’s Communication Team and the 
Communication Team from Public Health Dorset. 
 

45. Reputational risk of not being able to evidence improvement in air quality when 
funding is there to do so. 
 

46. H&S risks associated with carrying out the campaign.  A full risk assessment will 
be carried out and all those working on the project, including children, will be 
issued with appropriate PPE and working guidelines, with appropriate supervision 
at all times. 

Background papers  

Environment Act 1995- (Published Document) 
The Highway Code - (Published Document) 
BoP Road Traffic Vehicle Anti-Idling Enforcement – TAG paper 10 January 2019 
 - (Published Document) 
Anti-Idling Outside Primary Schools Campaign EIA 
 
 

Appendices  

There are no appendices 

407



This page is intentionally left blank

408



Document is Restricted

409

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Community Governance Review - Throop and Holdenhurst – Final Recommendations
	7 Wessex Fields Site Development Strategy
	8 Arts and Culture development in BCP Council
	Enc. 1 for Arts and Culture development in BCP Council
	Enc. 2 for Arts and Culture development in BCP Council

	9 BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme
	Appendix 1 - Results of Consultation
	Appendix 2 - BCP Council Street Works Permit Scheme Document
	Appendix 3 - Street Works Permit Scheme Income and Costs Summary

	10 Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix 1 - Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Report

	11 Capital Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury) 2020-2025
	Appendix A - Capital Investment Strategy Non-Treasury 2020-2025
	Appendix B

	12 Grass Cutting,€Wildflower &€ Grassland Habitat Management Policy
	13 Tackling street-based anti-social behaviour
	14 Recommendations from the Transportation Advisory Group
	Appendix 1 - Minutes , 26/02/2020 Transportation Advisory Group
	Sub Report - James Road Footpath
	Sub - Report - Petition - Branksome Park and Canford Cliffs Residents' Association
	Sub - Report (a) - Approval to advertise TROs (Ref P2, T1 & S1 2020)
	Sub Report (a) Appendix P2 2020 TRO Plans TAG Combined
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG
	P4 2020 TRO Plans TAG

	Sub - Report (b)- On-street Disabled Bays (Ref P1 2020}
	Sub - Report (b) Appendix P1 2020 TAG Plans Combined A4.3
	Sub - Report - Anti-Idling Outside Schools

	18 Kerbside Recycling Collection Service (Bournemouth)

